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Invocation of the Birds - Prologue



In front of the workbench, transporter special-effects shimmered the air with distortions and more than a hint of green. Into the space materialized 25 of 32, caught mid-stretch rolling her head back and forth in an effort to pop the vertebrae of her neck. Once again, as she had for the last three regeneration cycles, she registered the need for engineering hierarchy to adjust the cervical clamps of her alcove; and, once again, the request was assigned a very low urgency rating due to higher priority tasks already filling the engineering to-do roster. 25 of 32 heaved a small sigh of disappointment, but had expected the response. After a heartbeat or two, the transporter system activated again, this time depositing a moderate-sized cardboard box on the bench before the drone.

The workday was begun.

The Borg drone 25 of 32 belonged to the assimilation hierarchy of Lugger-class Cube #238, which until very recently was one of two ships of the Collective where imperfectly assimilated units were warehoused. To be imperfectly assimilated was to be successfully processed into the Whole, yet still retain a kernel of individuality, or at least poor impulse control. Drones so afflicted, like 25 of 32, wholeheartedly believed in the quest for Perfection. Unfortunately, while a unit's basic 'Borgness' was never in doubt, at least not sufficiently to trigger euthanasia and recycling of the drone, the abnormal thought patterns of the imperfectly assimilated decreased the efficiency of those sub-collectives into which it was embedded, sometimes to the point of catastrophe. The solution of the Greater Consciousness was to gather all its square pegs into one basket, give said basket useful, if relatively tedious or of low importance, tasks to accomplish, and hope the problem would take care of itself, or at least not blow itself up in an inopportune manner. The mere concept of imperfect assimilation was embarrassing, not that the Whole would admit to harboring such a small-being emotion, and it was preferred to keep the whole issue low profile, both in regards to Self and the galaxy gossip-zines.

In the more than eight thousand year history of the Borg Collective, the imperfectly crewed Exploratory-class ship designated Cube #347 had evoked the most heartburn to the Whole. It had been present at the birth of the Greater Consciousness (via inadvertent time travel); it had endured war; it had even (somehow) cheated death; and until a month ago, it was this vessel which shared the galactic stage with Cube #238. Maybe it was the particular combination of drones which comprised the sub-collective, or perhaps it was mere coincidence in the cosmic rolls of the dice...whatever the reason, Cube #347 had gotten in to (and successfully endured) an astounding number and manner of difficulties. Unfortunately, neither sub-collective nor cube had survived its final adventure, leaving Lugger-class #238 assigned to literally pick up the wildly sundered pieces.

The fact that Exploratory-class Cube #347, in its sacrifice, had saved the Borg Collective, and maybe the entire universe, from a quantum parasite was conveniently ignored. Karaoke, an obsession with used warp nacelles, and all the other signs of a period whereupon the Greater Consciousness had been less-than-sane were already being erased from communal memory. If it could not be recalled, then it had never happened. One minor, yet telling, datum, easily overlooked, was the current status of the deceased sub-collective, which had been "rogue" at the time of the it-didn't-really-happen Incident. The label had...vanished, as if it had never been; and since the Collective did not make mistakes, the truth must be that the sub-collective had never been rogue, that it had always been acting under orders from the Whole.

Just as history is written by the winner, so can lies, especially those told to oneself, mutate into truth. Refocus upon Lugger-class Cube #238....

In Bulk Cargo Hold #8 - gravity was present, with the ambient environment otherwise alike that outside the hull - mounds of wreckage were strewn about the vast floor. Even after weeks of salvage, each sweep through the debris zone brought with it more dross to be tagged and transported to the piles. An Exploratory-class cube may be the smallest of the Borg fleet, but it is still an immense structure; and like a watch taken apart and scattered across a tabletop, the amount of material comprising a deconstructed cube appears to be more than the same cube in functional condition. It will be many weeks more before all the remains are found and recovered.

Once secured, engineering drones began initial sorting of the debris. Large pieces, such as superstructure spars and warp nacelles, had their own piles, dangerously teetering things built from less-than-expert use of cargo tractor beams, over a hundred meters high and always on the edge of transforming into an avalanche. Chunks originating from Cube #347's exterior hull received special inspection; and those pieces crusted with phasic armor - a paint-on coating with immediate defensive application, the production of which had somehow been assimilated by the lost sub-collective - were sent to special storage in another cargo bay. The remainder of the material was subsequently restacked into smaller mounds, ready for further processing.

The next step in processing the remains of Cube #347 occurred in adjacent Inner Cargo Hold #8. Restructured especially for the task, the lowermost floor of the salvage tiers was thirty meters high, with six stories stacked atop, each with a ten meter ceiling. To the bottom floor were transported the small piles prepared in Bulk Cargo Hold #8, new mounds brought in as older ones were dismantled. Ceramics, different metals, plastics, wires, every type of object had a fate awaiting it. Some material was sent immediately to storage, but most required further action to be taken. For instance, a sundered data pillar or alcove had many constituent parts to be extracted. It was upon the upper salvage tiers that ranks of drones, primarily engineering, but also other units with appropriate qualification, performed the strip-downs. Eventually, all material was stockpiled; and when the salvage task was determined complete, the Lugger-class cube would transit in-system towards planet #1 to off-load its cargo at an appropriate recycling facility.

The occasionally encountered 'organic component' required a specialized salvage process, of which one entire tier was dedicated. To be an 'organic component' was to be the freeze/vacuum-dried corpse of one of Cube #347's former crew...or, more often than not, pieces thereof.

Processing organics was a multi-stage affair. First, a corpse was dumped into a small vat of deconstructor nanites, the microscopic machines programmed to scour muscle, organ, and other soft flesh from the body. The long-chain carbons, proteins, amino acids, essential minerals, and other compounds were collected for inclusion in Cube #238's waste reclamation system, to be locally recycled into replicator precursor and regeneration system components. Left behind by first-stage processing were implants and assemblies, as well as bone, exoskeleton, scales, and other mineralized body parts. Bones and analogous internal scaffolding were sifted out and sent to a second digester: the shielding laminate built by nanites during early assimilation represented valuable exotic metalorganic alloys. Meanwhile, the hardware for each ex-crewmember was sorted, boxed up, and sent to individuals, primarily conscripts from assimilation or drone maintenance, for examination to determine functional status and/or salvageability of every disarticulated component.

The drone remains of Exploratory-class Cube #347 were odd, their hardware a jumble of modern and antiques centuries out of date. The sub-collective had a strange history, to say the least, appearing in the Borg homesystem about four years previous, after being lost, and declared dead, in the Dark War five centuries prior. Upon interrogation, a tale had been spun about death and resurrection, an after-life waiting room, and a giant eyeball; and, in response, the Greater Consciousness had written "communal hallucination due to the effects of temporal displacement" to the sub-collective's master file.

All old hardware was automatically consigned to discard pile, to be recycled for raw components. It wasn't that the implants and assemblies did not work - in many cases, functionality was fine, the unit in question just never upgrading to modern equipment because it would have been more trouble than worth when considering the potential gain over the aged models. However, there was the appropriate image to maintain, and the Greater Consciousness could not afford the chance, no matter how slight, of a drone being spotted with an out-of-date limb or eyepiece. Also tagged for final salvage were one-offs, no matter the age, items which were not just species-specific, but built or modified to fit a single individual and unlikely to suit another unit.

Sorted from the dross, modern equipment underwent further scrutiny, each piece tested to determine if it was functional. Items found to be broken were assessed concerning feasibility to repair, or if it was more efficient to scrap. Still working implants and assemblies were tagged for further reconditioning, their fate one of eventual unity with a new owner. After all, why build a new component for a drone when a gently-used one was sufficient?

It was probably only coincidence that Lugger-class Cube #238 would find many of the rebuilt parts to be off-loaded in the near future subsequently re-onloaded for use by the very sub-collective which had initially sorted them. Maybe.

25 of 32 peered into the box, the faintest of frowns crossing her face. Each box was only supposed to have the parts for one drone in it, but sometimes the units tasked to fish the bits from the scouring vats were less than attendant in their duty. Especially when certain designations began comparing the newest etchings engraved onto body armor, it being nearly impossible to apply a tattoo to a nanite-altered epidermis. Why, last shift, 25 of 32 had received one box with the fragments of three arms, and obviously not belonging to the same individual. However, after several swift minutes of digging through the box and performing a hasty parts categorization, she concluded that it was only a single drone, albeit a heavily cybernized one.

Processing for each ex-drone averaged approximately five hours, but it was obvious that this individual ("Box #1097", as written with a black marker on the thick cardboard) would need substantially more time. Usually it was the weapons drones whom were the most heavily cybernized, required armor and weapons replacing up to a third of the original body even before parts were shot or burned off in the course of deployment. However, implant and assembly configuration suggested a command and control function, units of which usually spent the majority of their existence in alcoves and away from overtly dangerous situations. There were exceptions, of course, and any drone which had been amid the Collective ranks for a long time tended to become more cybernized as organic parts simply wore out and had to be replaced by machine. Unfortunately, a quick scan indicated at least one important implant missing from the box, the one which included the unit's full identification, designation, job assignment, final minutes of memory, and other miscellaneous information. The dataspace notes associated with the box number were equally unhelpful, simply mentioning that the unit therein had been recovered from a mangled shuttle outside the main debris cloud.

25 of 32 registered yet another complaint (adding to a long list of previous criticisms) concerning negligence on the part of the vat crew. Unless a truly unique death had somehow destroyed a normally near indestructible black-box implant, there was a box of parts waiting to be processed which had two such devices in it.

And some drones continued to wonder why the sub-collective of Lugger-class Cube #238 was always at the bottom of the Collective-wide efficiency percentiles?

Heaving the exaggerated sigh of the long-suffering, and making sure the angst was appropriately echoed by her intranet signature, 25 of 32 proceeded to begin work with sorting, categorization, and initial component repairs. Hours passed.

25 of 32 picked up a thigh assembly, automatically providing it with its new official moniker as part #1097-32.sub-1a. As she turned it over in her hands so as to build a visual condition scan to attach to the part's dossier, she noticed a closed compartment. Body compartments were useful things, the Borg equivalent of pockets and something no unit should be without. Even normal drones utilized them, storing small items of prosaic use. For example, an engineering unit might keep a specialized wrench, one for which it was more trouble than worth to add to a limb assembly. 25 of 32 idly shook the thigh, listening. If Cube #347 had been any but an imperfect sub-collective, then there would be no question that any items within the limb would be boring in nature. However, Cube #347 had been imperfect; and if the individual units were anything like those aboard Cube #238, there was the strong possibility of finding something very interesting.

A soft rattle, as of small stones knocking against each other, was 25 of 32's reward.

Part #1097-32.sub-1a was set on the workbench. At the edge of the table was a small power source, suitable to plug into the numerous devices required during the drone salvage process. 25 of 32 attached two leads to the power source, then carefully brushed the free ends against a pair of contacts adjacent the thigh compartment. Success! Motors energized, the compartment doors sprung open; and from within tumbled a bunch of crystals. Meme crystals.

25 of 32 looked to the right, then the left, and upon only seeing the expected bustle of drones assigned to organic salvage, turned her attention inward. Because she did not exhibit any of the more disrupting or dangerous neuroses, only the standard censure filters rode her psyche. No units or spyware specifically watched for aberration, unlike 407 of 550, for example, whom was fixated upon extreme juggling despite the fact he could not, even before assimilation, juggle. Therefore, if 25 of 32 were to consciously consider indulging in her own obsession - which, in her opinion, was a legitimate hobby, and unquestionably harmed no one, even as certain Greater Consciousnesses labeled it 'unBorg' - it was fairly easy to circumvent the lockouts. Unfortunately, there were some designations which did not make the same leap of logic as did 25 of 32.

All key drones liable to notice abnormalities in 25 of 32's thought processes were otherwise engaged, and likely to remain so in the near future. In general, command and control hierarchy was busy with salvage coordination activities or babysitting those designations prone to irregularity. Specifically, Prime, the sub-collective's primary consensus monitor and facilitator, was physically overseeing (and assisting, given her high strength quotient) secondary sorting in Inner Cargo Hold #8. Meanwhile, Reserve, Prime's backup, was stowed in his alcove, coordinating with Weapons, the latter of which had been utilizing resources of the BorgCraft program - an old, yet powerful, tactical simulator that resided amid dusty Collective digital archives, ignored by the Whole even as its imperfect sub-collectives had regularly employed it for over five centuries - to model the final moments of Cube #347, and, more importantly, track where debris might have gone so as to direct the Lugger-class towards the areas of highest salvage potential. The head of the engineering hierarchy, Engineer, was another whom would look poorly upon any action, no matter how innocuous, with the potential to lower salvage efficiency, but he was busy sorting out an issue two tiers above 25 of 32, one involving inappropriate use of an aerosol can and lighter to melt plastic insulation from wire. Finally, the only other designation to have reason to disapprove of a certain budding notion was Assimilation, the head of 25 of 32's own hierarchy, but that notable was currently in regeneration, mental resources harnessed for computational processing.

25 of 32 opened her eyes and returned attention to the meme crystals arrayed on the workbench before her.

Where there were meme crystals, there had to be a reader. In fact, 25 of 32 had already sorted said reader - Part #1097-14.sub-5c - setting it into the discard pile. Formerly integrated into a lower arm assembly, she had detached it from its housing, vaguely wondering at the time why its previous owner had installed it in the first place. Now with the discovery of the meme crystal stash the answer was clear; and the illicit device would serve to enlighten 25 of 32 as to the content of the crystals.

The reader could not be installed upon 25 of 32's chassis, not without raising serious questions. However, by attaching a few leads here and there, it was possible to temporarily jury-rig it to her sensory input. 25 of 32 performed the minor self-modification, then inserted a crystal into the reader.

Bah! The meme crystal was exceedingly uninteresting - a hard-boiled noir detective novel revolving around the adventures of a character called Jumba the Wise Lizard. It had all the markings of a long-running serial, a hypothesis swiftly confirmed as each crystal in turn was inserted into the reader. Even worse, the novel was almost entirely words...no animation, no live-action sequences, no narration, only a very few stylized line drawings to accompany the work. Presumably the ex-owner, a drone alike 25 of 32 who could have absorbed the entire crystal in seconds, actually read the things in the archaic word-by-word mode.

The meme crystals were useless, except....

25 of 32 disconnected the reader, then carefully swept the crystals aside. The final destination of the crystals was not to join the reader in the recycling pile, but rather to be hidden in one of 25 of 32's own body compartments. Their discovery was carefully omitted from the catalogue associated with box #1097. It wasn't lying, exactly, but rather not reporting a nonstandard item that the deceased drone obviously should not have had in the first place.

As was common for many drones, assimilation had distorted, or outright erased, many of 25 of 32's personal memories. Skills, training, and similar proficiencies were left intact, such adding to the value of the drone-to-be, but little weight was placed on retaining undamaged connections in those parts of the brain where a personal 'self' was seated. Therefore, while 25 of 32 did not know why the concept of 'flight' and 'flying' was so very important to her, the context blurry at best, the fact remained that it did. Following the leap of unlogic so prevalent amongst the psyches of the imperfect, from 'flight' it was a short step to 'bird'. Unfortunately, the keeping of birds, or any nonsentient, aboard a Borg vessel as a pet was strictly disallowed for a multitude of reasons. So, if 25 of 32 could not possess an aviary, then she could at least acquire, surreptitiously, the parts of a bird; and, specifically, 25 of 32 was fascinated by feathers in all their myriad forms and colors.

As desirable as the notion might be, it was not possible to formulate a successful consensus cascade to direct the sub-collective to embark on a feather collection expedition. 25 of 32 had tried several times, but very few had recognized her belief that the quest for Perfection of the Whole could only be enhanced by assimilating a deeper understanding of feathers. Therefore, the next best venue of feather acquisition was gBay.

A massive auction site spanning the civilizations of the Milky Way galaxy, and possibly beyond, if an item existed, it could probably be purchased on gBay. As long as there were willing buyers, there would be willing sellers, even for the oddest of objects and services. Feathers did not even rate a blip on the gBay scale of the weird. The use of gBay by an imperfectly assimilated Borg drone to add something to his/her/its collection was, of course, forbidden, gBay a concept for small beings. Perfection could only be achieved by all working as One, and for individual parts of the Whole to trade with each other (even with the unassimilated masses whom had yet to be joined to the Collective) defeated the concept of Oneness.

Naturally, there was a small cadre of drones, including 25 of 32, who continually worked to secretly circumvent the various locks and traps preventing individual access to the galactic communication protocols (and gBay).

Given that Lugger-class Cube #238 was in the heart of Borg territory, not to mention busy at an assigned salvage task, to even contemplate sneaking a glance at the gBay feather markets was not only ill-advised, but impossible. Such, however, did not prevent 25 of 32 from hiding the meme crystals, for while she personally did not have need for the Jumba stories, there were surely people on gBay who would pay a pretty credit for them...especially if they were rare, first-edition stories packaged in their original crystals, not copies. In a week, or a month, or a Cycle, the opportunity would arise to log in to gBay. Research would be required to determine an appropriate price to start an auction offering for the crystals, and anything else which might accidentally fall into a body compartment. While the Borg Collective, and 25 of 32, had no use for credits, those who sold feathers on gBay would demand recompense before sending the feathers to the buyer.

Decision made and action complete, 25 of 32 continued to process box #1097. In total, it required 7.12 hours to finish the task, from initial reception of the box on her workbench to sorting of the final spinal implant. 25 of 32 logged her accomplishment; and all the neat piles of parts vanished in a transporter beam, off to the next stage of organic component salvage. The next box in the queue was requested.

25 of 32 peered into box #1153 to assess her upcoming work load, and immediately registered a complaint. The exoskeleton of the former individual had not been fully dissolved from implants and assemblies. 25 of 32 would be forced to use chisel and laser to remove the mess from each item before she could appraise it. The time spent carving exoskeleton would lead to a decrease in her efficiency rating. Unacceptable!

The complaint was dutiful accepted by one of the several overworked partitions of command and control hierarchy tasked to deliberate grievances. After about a minute, the objection was declared to have insufficient merit to warrant further consideration. Grumbling, 25 of 32 picked up a laser scalpel and fished from the box the first of many implants requiring cleaning.

Birdsong. The trilling and chattering of birds (and bird analogues) was always an antidote to annoyance. And the more time spent griping was more time not doing the assigned task. Therefore, 25 of 32 consciously damped the trickle of irritation over the vat crew, focused on her workbench, selected a track from the "100 Top Tweets" compendium she kept in on-board memory, and turned up the figurative volume. And as laser began to turn exoskeleton into a wafting of foul smelling smoke, 25 of 32 dreamed of the beautiful feathers which would soon be added to her collection.
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Invocation of the Birds - Part 1

Ruffled Vulture, Dusty Phoenix



"So, you gonna finish that? Or not?"

Elises looked up from the cardboard box he was digging through. "Huh? You say something?"

"Are you done with that?"

"With what?"

"Your sandwich? You've not touched it in about twenty minutes. Are you done with it?"

Elises glanced at the paper plate pushed against the back of the workbench, then returned his gaze to his thesis-mate. His impatiently head-bobbing thesis-mate. "Um, sure. I'm done with it." A hand with neatly trimmed talons whisked the offending sandwich away. "You do know I could..."

"No problem! I'll take care of it! Most of it can go right into the compost bin, and the meat and cheese will give the jiju bugs a tasty treat! And the plate...before you know it, the plate will have been turned into another plate!" Happily standing in front of the complex series of labeled tubes which were the hallmark of every major (and many minor) Sarcoram building, Britz adroitly sorted the remains of Elises' late dinner into the appropriate opening.

Elises watched Britz's actions, rolled his eyes, then returned to the box. He knew the other could not help it. Compared to some Sarcoram, Britz had been patiently courteous regarding the sandwich where another of his species might have whisked it away without even a by-your-leave after a few minutes of abandonment.

To describe a Sarcoram is to use the word 'vulture'. Sort of. Alien vulture, anyway. Start with a biped about 1.5 meters tall, strongly avian in form and features. Add a rich dressage of feathers always slightly rumpled no matter the amount of preening, white on the torso with an abrupt transition to black extremities. Hands are bare, as are legs below the second knee, scaled epidermis a dark grey; and talons, neatly trimmed, are at the end of each finger and toe. A flexible tail 50 centimeters long adorns the back side; and while the tail is as festooned with feathers as the rest of the body, in both male genders the plumage tends towards longer quills, the better to stand out to prospective mates. Similarly, the quills studding upper and lower arms of the masculine sexes are more flamboyant than the body: flight was traded long ago for a ground-bound existence, but the need to impress persists. However, it is the Sarcoram head which is most visually startling, particularly when set against the monochrome body.

Above the downy grey neck ruff, the basal color of unscaled skin was as dark as that of hands and feet. However, painted upon the dull background was an astounding natural rainbow of blues, reds, greens, purples, and yellows, pattern unique to each individual. The wickedly hooked beak was deepest black, with serrated edges a startling white giving the impression of teeth were none actually existed. Finally, forward facing eyes tended towards the darker colors of blue, grey, and green, although it was possible to find those rare individuals with yellow or white among the population.

In some respects, the vulture depiction was more apt than mere surface description. Sarcoram had evolved from savannah scavengers; and while a carrion diet had been abandoned to the mists of history in exchange for the domesticated plants and animals of civilization, the scavenging impetus remained. The typical well-adjusted Sarcoram did not hoard things, but hes or she would use and reuse an item, repairing it as needed, long past the time another species might consign it to the garbage. And recycling? Except for a very small minority, Sarcoram were atheists, although given the enthusiasm and reverence for recycling, one would be forgiven for believing the species worshiped at the alter of Reuse.

In the current era of spacefaring vessels and star-spanning civilizations, the Sarcoram were one of the founding members of the Alliance, and it seemed they were everywhere. The scavenging mindset had blossomed into a predication for engineering, a highly desirable commodity. A tendency towards gossip, recycling all that was heard amid the close confines of the clan aerie, somehow transformed itself over the eons into the busy-body inquisitiveness that was the hallmark of science and exploration, even command. And although the Sarcoram did not build many spaceships, if one had a vessel (or anything else) in need of refit or salvage, it was to a Sarcoram-led business one went.

Return to the same workbench in a science lab over-packed in typical Sarcoram fashion, new equipment adjacent to antique. It was near midnight and the lab was empty except for a pair of low-ranking graduate students. The pecking order of academia was harsh, and to move up the career ladder, to be allowed to touch the more interesting devices, to perhaps have one's name mentioned in the footnote of a paper, first required the academic equivalent of mucking the outhouse.

"So, anything interesting?" asked Britz, recycling task complete.

Elises responded by upending the box so that its contents scattered across the table top and causing Britz to shudder at the sudden mess. "Take a look for yourself. Looks mostly to be junk, in my opinion." From the bottom fluttered an old piece of paper, which Elises plucked from the air. Upon it were the faint scribbles of Sarcoram text - an inventory, Elises decided as he squinted at the hard-to-read script. While the universal translator discretely placed in one ear converted spoken Alliance languages between speakers fine, deciphering writing required actual literacy.

Elises was not a Sarcoram. He was T'sap, or at least a member of the species-complex called T'sap by the Sarcoram. Unlike most races with their single homeworld, T'sap originated from wildly disparate planets, the result of colonization or diaspora from an era of spacefaring tens of thousands of years ago. Something, an unknown something, had happened, not only severing the connection between the colonies, but causing individual planets to spiral to preliterate, pre-technological dark ages. Those that survived, that is. Evidence abounded that T'sap were not the only species to suffer, but they were the only ones, thus far, found to have endured, and even then, populations had dropped to near extinction.

Even today, T'sap were not numerous, a minor, if culturally diverse to the point of intra-species strife, member of the Alliance. Over a hundred years ago it was a Sarcoram-led expedition which had found the first T'sap colony - it was their self-identification, likely a corruption of the original species name, which provided the racial nomenclature - and even now T'sap outposts supporting small populations were rediscovered every decade or so. With the exception of the first colony, none had managed to claw their way back to space following whatever catastrophe had transpired; and most, including Elises' world, maintained dark fairy tales, ghost stories, or morality plays which gave a glimpse via oral history as to the galactic cataclysm which had occurred.

In form, T'sap were boring, a bipedal, mammalian humanoid, bi-gendered species ranging between one and two meters tall and completely lacking in any natural facial or body ornamentation. There were no claws, no scales, no feathers, no exoskeleton, not even a tail. Many xeno-biologists were completely baffled as to how the T'sap species could have survived the rigors of evolution on its lost homeplanet in the first place, much less be part of a vanished galactic-spanning empire. In hair and skin color, in facial features, in size and cultural attitude, individual T'sap were very diverse, the result of multiple thousands of years of inbreeding of the bottlenecked populations of each colony. Elises himself was a gangly two meter tall male with red hair, pale skin, and dark brown eyes, a product of the T'sap-Gudland colony.

Using one talon, Britz tapped a small cylindrical gizmo with corroded wires spiking out from each end. "Now, now. There is no such thing as 'junk'. There are only opportunities for extending the useful life that is, else renovation into a new form." A Sarcoram beak could not frown, but the squinting of eyes and fluffing of neck ruff conveyed the same expression. "However, in this case, I do admit it is difficult to see the intrinsic potential of these items." There was a pause. "I need a beer. Do you want one? If all the other boxes look like this one, it is going to be a long night."

Elises absently nodded as he peered continued to peer at the ancient hardcopy manifest. "I'll take one. From my stash, please."

One alcove of the lab was dedicated to the comfort of students and researchers, which meant it included shelf space and a small refrigerator containing a wide variety of junk food, liquid/chemical refreshment, and stimulants. One had to be careful to imbibe the correct item, for a substance that was perfectly harmless to one species might cause life-threatening complications in another. After a few minutes, Britz returned triumphant, a can of alcohol in each hand.

"Thanks," said Elises. "And let me actually finish the beer before you whisk it off to recycling."

"That was only one time," protested Britz.

Elises snorted, still reading the paper. "No it wasn't."

"Okay, three times. Maybe four. But definitely not more." Britz put a sarcastic not-so-apologetic whine into his voice. T'sap - well...most species, actually - were uncultured slobs when it came to recycling and salvage, no matter how much Sarcoram attempted to provide enlightenment.

The paper was set aside. "This, like all the other stuff we've sorted, seems to have come from the forgotten undereaves of a history museum. The inventory is a copy of a copy of a copy ad infinitum to the mists of time." Elises sighed before opening his beer and taking long gulp. "I doubt there will be anything sufficiently interesting to pass on to the day-shift, much less suggest to the Big Beak to promote our asses to a schedule that doesn't include taking lunch at midnight. Thank the gods I don't have physical classes this semester, only virtual."

Britz threw back his head, gaped open his beak, and poured some of his own beer into his mouth. Beak closed with a loud clack and eyes returned to the workbench with its scattered mess. "What are those supposed to be?" asked the Sarcoram, pointing to a loose collection of five dully sparkling stones, arm feathers brushing across the benchtop. "Looks like it belongs in my aunt's costume jewelry collection."

"Um...." Elises picked up the paper again, scanning entries until he came to one that most likely referred to the objects. "This says gaming dice. I think. The handwriting is terrible." Once again the page was tossed to the edge of the table. "But I bet it is wrong. For one thing, all the dice I've seen, no matter the race, have dots or pictures or something on the sides. From here, I see nothing. Whomever first found those from whatever dig site or aerie sale obviously pulled that description out of his butt."

"This one has an etching on the side. Two sides, actually. But the characters look the same." Britz delicately picked up one of the stones, bringing it so close to his beak that he went cross-eyed.

Elises held up a palm. "Let me see?"

"You could have gotten your own, you know," said Britz as he handed over the prize.

Another swig of beer was taken. "But that would have meant, you know, effort." Elises examined for himself the object of discussion. "I see the inscriptions. Definitely unfamiliar...except...."

"Yes?"

"My cousin, you know, the archeologist. You've met her. Anyway, last holiday I saw her she had all these pictures of things at the excavation she was on. One of the T'sap colonies that didn't survive, um, out towards-"

"You don't need to give an entire dissertation. How do the pictures apply here?" More beer was poured into briefly opened beak.

"Clisel said the dig appeared to be the site of an old data archive facility, the first that's been found and identified as such." Elises, noting the ruffled breast feathers and other signs of impatience in his thesis-mate, quickly moved to the point. "It seems that the old T'sap civilization didn't use stabilized four-strand DNA for long-term storage, but rather artificial crystals. The archeologists aren't going to announce their findings until they can figure out how to read 'em, but these things look an awful lot like the ones in Clisel's photos."

Britz's eyes swiveled to the stones. "So these things may legitimately be ancient tech?" Excitement colored his voice.

"Or they could be somebody's aunt's costume jewelry, bought two centuries ago cheap from an estate sale and subsequently stuffed into the backroom of a museum. My only 'proof' are some poorly remembered pictures shown to me last winter when I was half-drunk from testing my uncle's latest experiment in winemaking." Elises hated to be a wet blanket, but there was wishful thinking, and then there was reality.

Britz scooped up the four crystals from the benchtop with his free hand. "I say we put them in the testing Gizmo."

Elises regarded his thesis-mate and friend. "You know we aren't supposed to touch the Gizmo."

"And you know that we use the Gizmo at least once a week. And everyone in the lab knows that the night-shift plays with it. We aren't the first grads sorting boxes. This has been going on for over three years."

"But usually we have more beer on-board, and sometimes wake-me-up drugs. It always seems more reasonable then."

Argued Britz, "And we've never actually had something that might be real old tech. The Gizmo is always turned on for a laugh. The real science happens in the day. This is our chance to show the Big Beak that science happens at midnight, too!" Britz paused. "And if it does turn out to be dice or costume jewelry or such, it'll just be another unauthorized Gizmo test that no one'll care about as long as we don't spill beer on it."

Elises gave in with a shrug. "I had to give the obligatory warning. Let's do this."

The lab space where Elises and Britz sorted boxes was only one room of a larger warren, and it was to the locked door leading to an adjacent room that the pair gravitated. However, the lock was no obstacle, current keycode scribbled on the sticky note affixed next to the input screen. With door successfully opened, the two entered.

Dominating the far wall of the revealed room was the beating (and whirling and beeping) heart of the lab: the Gizmo. The lab was dedicated to research into temporal phenomenon, of which the Gizmo - the machine actually had a given name, a long acronym that no one bothered to use - was the key tool. The Gizmo's function was best described using the complexities of higher-order math where symbols, not numbers, abounded, but such was not important. For Elises and Britz, the Gizmo represented a party trick best experienced in the wee hours of the morning with beer, too-little sleep, and boredom. The end result of what it did, ignoring the actual background complexities and the feat of engineering it represented, was to capture the temporal ghost of the persons who had touched an object, displaying their likenesses over a holo-base.

It was absolutely hysterical to view the styles of decades and centuries past, and a great way to pass a twenty minute midnight-lunch break.

Britz opened the meter wide transparent door at the side of the Gizmo and carefully set one of the crystals inside. In form, the Gizmo vaguely resembled an old mainframe computer from the early Sarcoram technological era, albeit with no reels of magnetic tape and significantly less waste heat. There were considerable blinking lights. Closing the niche, Britz joined Elises at the control console.

"Let's start with three minutes, minus tau," said Elises as he tapped the appropriate buttons on the touchscreen. Over the non-descript holo-base nearby flickered into life a virtual bust of the person who had held the presumed memory stone three minutes ago.

"Ugh," said Britz as he viewed himself. "I never look good on tri-V. You should see the latest holo for my ID card! I look like I belong in a prison, and one where no one is allowed feather combs, at that! Enough of me. Crank it back a century."

"One hundred years, minus tau." Britz's visage vanished, replaced by a whole lot of nothing. "Well, it was in a cardboard box," opinionated Elises, "and the Gizmo only replicates the temporal wave reflections of living organics."

Britz snorted. "Then use the scan function. Otherwise we'll be here all night guessing dates when the crystal was actually handled."

Elises complied by jabbing the correct sequence of commands. After several minutes spent sipping beer, the air above the holo-base brightened into the head of a middle-aged Sarcoram female.

"Oh! Perfect! From the kohl around the eyes, it is definitely mid-4500s. If I'm in the nearest decade, you buy me a beer to replace this one. I say...4535? Yes?" Britz offered up a year that was a little more than two centuries ago.

"The output says 4544. And I think that she looks like your proverbial aunt. The stones are just costume jewelry."

Britz drained the last of his beer into his mouth, confident that another would be replacing it in the refrigerator come tomorrow night. "Bah, every museum employee looks like my aunt. Scan for another."

For the next ten minutes, the holo-base flickered through a succession of Sarcoram faces, each one representing an individual who had handled the crystal sufficiently to impress a temporal reflection. The timeframe represented about thirty years, with the final bust at a minus tau equivalent of 245 years. Then the holo-base went blank again.

"That the end, is it?" sadly asked Britz. "We've reached the pre-tau of the object? I thought it would be older." In other words, the Gizmo was trying to scan for temporal reflections from the period of time before the crystal had been manufactured.

Elises frowned. "Actually, no. The scanner function says that the tau-line continues. It must be in another cardboard box."

Britz brightened. "Then there might be more to this show. Great!"

But if there was more, it wasn't immediately forthcoming. Five centuries, minus tau. Eight centuries. Ten centuries. Fifteen. Two thousand years, minus tau. And the air above the holo-base remained empty.

At ten thousand years, minus tau - ten millennia - Elises paused the scan. "We are reaching the end of the temporal horizon resolvable by the Gizmo. There are more powerful machines able to see deeper in reflected time, but compared to those, this is a table-top toy version. At least we know that the crystals are old, and we can pass them on to day-shift and the Big Beak."

Britz gaped his beak in a negative. "Continue! I want to see how old these things are! There may be no faces to see, but the Gizmo should be able to follow the crystal to its pre-tau. To think...a civilization, a people, constructed something that could last so long! I bet it even still works, if a reader could be found to scan what is hidden inside. To move beyond the need to recycle...." The Sarcoram gazed off into space, focusing on nothing, feathers standing on end in awe.

Elises watched his thesis-mate, an expression of worry crossing his face. "Okaaaay, then. I'll unpause the scan. If it does date back to ancient T'sap, then we will be a while."

The numbers on the display continued to flicker backwards. Ten thousand years became twenty thousand, and then thirty thousand. In the mists of history, the various T'sap colonies were deep in their individual dark ages, small bands moving across the landscapes of their adopted worlds as hunter-gatherers. Meanwhile, the Sarcoram, yet to discover the concept of the wheel, were painting great works of art deep within caves, detailing how to recycle a broken spear into a walking stick.

At 53,467 years, minus tau, a fuzziness blurred the air over the holo-base.

"Whoa!" exclaimed Elises as he hit the pause button. "Whomever that is, the reflections are very faint. It is surprising we are resolving anything."

Britz stared at the non-image. "I wonder who it was? Continue backwards. Maybe there will be something stronger."

"At more than fifty thousand years? I don't think so." Despite his words, Elises did as bade and reinstated the scan. Several more blobs and unfocused smears wavered over the holo-base, and then at 53,472 years, minus tau, a distinct shadow head-shape emerged from the visual white noise. The scan was once more paused.

"Is it possible to get better resolution?" asked Britz, entranced by the splotch. "Those dark spaces might be eyes...and that slash a mouth? Maybe it is one of your great-umpteenth ancestors, Elises."

The T'sap stared at the image. "Unless great-great-grandpa had tentacles growing out of his head, or really big ears, I don't think so. There are some real funny lines there. Probably an extinct aliens species associated with ancient T'sap civilization."

"But can you get better resolution?"

Elises turned his gaze to the Sarcoram. "I don't know. You know we aren't really supposed to be touching the Gizmo in the first place. The only stuff you and I know are what older night-shift grads have shown us. I'm sure the actual researchers, or the Big Beak, know all the functions. There isn't exactly an owner's manual laying around and, frankly, I don't want to press too many buttons." A note of seriousness had replaced the earlier joviality.

Britz opened his beak and exhaled a whine. To another Sarcoram it may have been an endearing plea, the cry of a nestling begging for food. To Elises it was a wince-inducing squeal. "Please? I'll forget your beer tab and buy you anything you want for the next week...the next month!"

"Then you come push the buttons!"

The whine sounded again.

"Fine, fine. Um, I think I've seen one of the researchers do something like, er, this?" A button was tentatively tapped, bringing up a secondary menu. Several additional tabs were keyed. Slowly the image sharpened. "Either the ex-owner had that crystal in close contact for a long time, else there is the perfect temporal wave convergence...or both."

After several minutes of inexpert prodding, and the quick silencing of two alarms, the blur had been transformed into, well, it wasn't a crisp picture, but it was sufficient to tell that whomever it was, it was definitely alien.

"Either the style way back when was heavy body modification or it was really sick and needed all those appliances," said Elises upon the result. "However, it is not a relative of mine."

Britz clacked his beak in agreement.

Continued Elises, "I don't know if any of those alarms went anywhere but the lab computer net, but I think we'd better put everything away and-"

Suddenly the door to the lab burst open; and in the entrance stood the Big Beak, the term for the head researcher of the lab. The Sarcoram male's feathers, especially those along the tail, were aggressively puffed and the vibrant colors of his head signified anger. "What is going on here?! It is acceptable for grad students to think they are getting away with something by looking at amusing temporal echoes, but when someone actually messes with the settings...." The Big Beak trailed off as he caught sight of the image hovering over the holo-base behind a cowering Britz and hunched Elises. "By all that recycles...."

"Um, sorry?" offered Elises in an attempted apology while speculating if this meant the end of his academic career. Maybe the dig site where his cousin worked needed another body to move dirt and debris at minimum wage?

The Big Beak was not listening to Elises, and in fact appeared to have forgotten that the graduate students even existed. Instead he had bustled himself to the Gizmo and was gazing at the tau reading in awe. "It...it's the right era, the right form...and to have resolved it so strongly...I think...I think we've found what we've been searching for!"

Elises and Britz looked at each other, confusion the primary expression on both their faces.




From one point of view, it was a place where spaceships came to die. A Sarcoram perspective would avidly argue that it was merely a location permitting a vessel to pause to reshuffle its parts, a necessity in the cosmic cycle of all things. On the other hand, a heat-loving Gu'utkon would ignore all intangible philosophical claims, only focusing on (and complaining about) the too-cold temperatures. However, no matter an individual's personal opinion or genetically predisposed racial perception, all could agree on one salient point - the room, if that was even the appropriate label, was big.

The orbital dry-dock of the Sarcoram-owned Alliance company simply called "Hullz" was normally used for ship-breaking of the largest private, corporate, and government vessels. Over the course of a month, behemoths no longer needed in their current configuration would be carefully dismantled into component parts, with carcass pickings then sold to eager buyers. An empty hanger normally represented a substantial loss of money for both Hullz and its investors, and was to be avoided at all costs. However, in this case, the dry-dock had been rented under a short-term contract to an obscure sub-sub-branch of the tangled tree which was the Alliance defense department. The purpose was something sciency, or so stated the lease papers, not that Hullz necessarily cared about such details. All which was important was the continued influx of credits and the contract clauses which affirmed that the leasee would leave the premises in as good state as when first rented, else forfeit the cleaning deposit.

As stated prior, the facilities were huge.

The first-time visitor, standing in the observation galleys which hung from the dry-dock ceiling periphery, might not quite grasp the sheer size of the locale. Eventually, however, the eye would be drawn to the army of small figures moving about their assigned tasks. Some of the shapes were machines, but the majority were employees, member species of the Alliance hired by Hullz to work at the labor-intensive job of ship-breaking. It was only then that the true perspective of the hanger came into focus.

Tucked along the edge of the work floor, offices, breakrooms, and other similar spaces abounded. Due to the relative scale of things, only the entrances to the largest equipment garages were noticeable to an aerial galley observer without aid of binoculars. And within one of those rooms, a cozy workplace of desk and computer set aside for visiting engineers, two Sarcoram could be found. One of the pair vigorously paced back and forth, annoyed exacerbation coloring each stride, while the other calmly sat on a chair, apparently engrossed in the reading tablet held in one hand.

Sarcoram #1 abruptly stopped, head twisting with bird-like exactness to pin his colleague in an unblinking stare. "How can you be reading such...such unimportant drek at a time like now?" he brusquely demanded.

Calmly replied Sarcoram #2, never lifting his eyes from the tablet. "Because, Jurist, it is relaxing. Because I enjoy learning new things. Because I do not often have the chance to read for pleasure. And because, until the final preparations are complete, we'd only be in the way. Which you are well aware. You may have been instrumental in early designs of the Beast, but the engineers have long since taken the concept and flown with it. I would not want to be the one pushing the wrong blinking light. You, like I, have long since graduated from the ranks of 'doers' to 'managers', which means being a good little figurehead and standing around looking important...and then taking the blame when something goes wrong."

"Well, I, for one, do not like it," snapped Jurist.

"Neither do I," said the still nameless Sarcoram, "but one learns to live with it. My world is, um, military, or associated with it, anyway, which means a lot of hurry-up-and-wait moments like this one. An easily transportable hobby is a good thing to acquire."

Sneered Jurist, chest feathers slightly raising, "Like the subject matter in that book you are reading, Vaerz?"

If any umbrage was taken at the tone of voice, it was not shown. "Exactly like this book, oh aerie-brother of mine. 'Emu in the Sky with Diamonds' is an excellent essay of comparative culture between species, or colonies in the case of T'sap. How a given pre-spacefaring people look to the night sky, forming constellations, says much. For instance, martial civilizations often see the stars as war hero figures or mythological predators, while the pantheistic will have important deities and spirits. Overall, it is a fascinating insight into the unconscious underpinnings of society." Vaerz paused. "And it makes for good conversation at parties, too."

"And the 'emu in the sky' reference?"

Vaerz shrugged, "One of the many constellations highlighted in the book. It is especially interesting because it isn't a picture made up of stars, per se, but rather a shape formed by a vast nebula visible from the homeworld of the species in question."

A gentle electronic ring pulsed the air before Jurist could either spit another acid comment or return to pacing. Vaerz looked up from his tablet, thumbed it off, then slipped it into a satchel which had been sitting on the table. As he stood, he slipped the satchel strap over his shoulder. "That's our cue. Try not to bite anyone's head off, aerie-brother, especially those of your graduate students."

Jurist grunted a wordless reply around the edges of his beak.

Before leaving the office for the dry-dock deck, both Sarcoram retrieved head-warmers from respective vest pockets and donned them. Head-warmers were in essence socks for the head and neck, holes cut out for beak and eyes. Hullz, like any other company, was ever searching for ways to cut costs and, thus, boost profit. To fill what is basically a large box with a breathable atmosphere is relatively easy, as is to set gravity. It is temperature - cooling and heating - which is the most difficult, and expensive, element of life support to maintain, especially considering the immense volume of the dry-dock. The solution was to keep the air at a few brisk degrees just above freezing.

The Sarcoram physiology tolerated cold well. Feathers insulated most of the body; and exposed skin below elbow and second knee was well not only scaled and insensitive to temperature extremes, but a countercurrent circulatory system ensured frostbite to be a rare occurrence. For the most part, clothes, such as the kilts and vests worn by Jurist and Vaerz, were for fashion and/or utility, not out of modesty or protection from the elements. It was only in extreme cold that additional layers were required. Except for the head. The bare skin of the head was more sensitive than other parts of the body; and while cold could be endured, it was more comfortable to avoid the inevitable headache and chaffed neck by wearing an oversized sock.

Vaerz's head-warmer sported a small bobble on top. "Not my fault!" he said defensively as he noticed Jurist pointedly staring at the ornamentation. "My older sister found it last week when she was going through some stuff that belonged to our late-grandfather. I have to wear it at least a couple of times before I can safely hide it in the back of the closet."

Jurist chuckled. "And that, aerie-brother, is a good example as to why one should avoid one's female relatives as much as possible."

"Yes, that is all well and good, but you don't have a sister who lives in the same city as you do...a sister who apparently has a very specific form of telepathy to know when her brother is at his hovel of a nest the few days his work allows him to be home."

The conversation ended as the pair stepped through the door and briskly trotted in the direction of machinery and bustle. The gravity of the dry-dock was half Sarcoram homeworld standard, a setting acceptable to all the races whom normally worked upon the deck dismantling starships. For the two Sarcoram, it was invigorating to only weigh half their usual mass, imparting a jaunty spring to their steps.

A hulking contraption, the centerpiece of all activity, was approached. Direct descent of the Gizmo which for three years had anchored Big Beak Jurist's lab, the Beast only vaguely resembled its predecessor. Jokes of blinking buttons aside, it did have multiples of that particular quality, along with glowing tubes and small display monitors, all of which did have a function. The machine was also larger in all dimensions, such that the volume of three Gizmos would fit handily within the shell of one Beast. One feature which was completely different from its ancestor, parts of the Beast had a disconcerting not-thereness, solid when looked at directly, but eye-wateringly shimmery when viewed from the edge of one's perception. The engineers who had assembled the device strongly suggested to avoid touching those particular sections of the machine, at least not without wearing a pair of special gloves, but were unusually quiet as the reason behind the recommendation.

It was perhaps not unexpected that one of those patches had a trio of graduate students gathered around it, all of whom were emitting a furtive 'nothing going on here' air. Jurist altered his path towards the three, two of whom he vaguely recognized - Graduate students came and went...who could keep track of them all? That was a chore for the lab Little Beaks, his junior research partners - as the pair whom had set this whole business in motion last year.

"What are you doing?" Jurist barked, startling the threesome. At the main control panel, where the head engineer and other important officials had gathered in preparation to meet Jurist and Vaerz, expressions were perplexed as to the delay. Closer to the action-to-come, Vaerz puffed his chest feathers, slicked them again, and sighed.

Jurist pushed the nearest student aside, a red-haired T'sap. Revealed was a small potted plant, likely smuggled aboard. The plant was half embedded in what outwardly appeared to be solid machinery. It was slowly, but visibly, blossoming. Given the slow speed exhibited by the majority of the botanical world, including the nondescript, contraband houseplant, such should not have been perceptible without time-lapse photography. No verbal objections were raised as Jurist glared at the plant: the graduate students had been discovered doing something unauthorized.

"Interesting demonstration of a stable temporal instability," said Jurist quietly such that only the students and Vaerz could hear the words, "but next time try to keep track of the schedule so that you won't be caught. At least not by the Big Beak and the Security Liaison." The two Sarcoram students were shrunk in on themselves in dismay, tail feathers fully fluffed; and one assumed the T'sap, his pale skin faded to an even whiter pallor, was emoting the same sentiment. Unfortunately, Vaerz was not very conversant in T'sap body language, that race a relatively recent addition to mainstream Alliance society. "Less than ten seconds after I turn my back, that plant better be removed from the Beast; and by the time myself and the Security Liaison reach the primary control panel, all three of you, and the plant, will not be within my field of view." Voice was raised to a sufficiently loud volume so that observers outside the little drama might hear. "Or else I will ensure that none of you ever hold a position inside any science field again!"

Jurist rejoined Vaerz, and both continued their interrupted journey. Behind came the frantic noises of three people all trying to do the same thing at the same time, each getting in the way of the others. Said Vaerz mildly, "Why so gentle? I've seen you explode for lesser reasons; and to have some silly prank occurring just before this most momentous of occasions...." The sentence trailed off.

Snorted Jurist. "It's just graduate students. Graduate students, of whatever species, do stupid things without thinking through the consequences. I may have done one or four things similar when I was a wee lab-fledge. It wasn't like they were purposefully trying to sabotage the experiment. However, if I do find them trying such a stunt again, I will fulfill my promise."

The Beast, and the Gizmo before it, were, as many things which had a Sarcoram origination, ultimately the product of trying to better the science of recycling. Temporal mechanics is a discipline that most spacefaring civilizations eventually stumble across, and for the species that made up the early Alliance, it was no different. However, whereas most are content to conclude that 'time is weird' and proceed to ignore it except as a sensory addition to a spaceship to provide an excellent, if rare, technobabble opportunity, at least one Sarcoram individual became personally affronted that nature would waste perfectly good chronitons. And so what eventually grew to be the Beast was conceived.

The basic chroniton field is a byproduct of existence. It locks an object into the 'now-ness' of the present, interacting with the fields of other objects to ensure that all of reality proceeds in lockstep with the underlying tick of the cosmic quantum clock. As an analogy, picture time as a vast river, cause proceeding effect; and that things, be they single particles or collections thereof, float within the stream. The chroniton field is the dimple of that object upon the surface, ever caught up with the flow around it. As with every system, there were disruptions, great eddy-causing rocks in the form of singularities like black holes where gravity so tangled space-time that cause and effect could become decoupled, but for the most part the river ran smooth through the infinity of tau.

The Sarcoram investigation into chroniton recycling did yield discoveries. To start, it was possible to artificially agitate the tau river, thus creating an excess of chronitons. Unfortunately, research largely ended at that point because no practical use for chronitons could be found. While a method was developed to retune a chroniton to various 'nows', time travel turned out to be impractical - paradoxes and other temporal messiness, receiving notices from future selves that didn't make sense until the action occurred. While a suite of sensors were developed to allow the detection of natural temporal phenomenon, the experiment into the nature of the particles was generally declared a failure. Research was shelved for future generations of Alliance scientists to explore. After all, the technology to repurpose talon clippings had required centuries to develop into the multi-billion credit industry of keratin recycling.

For a very long time those few individuals whom persisted with the field of temporal mechanics were considered to be eccentric oddballs whom mysteriously possessed the remarkable gift to persuade granting committees to bestow money upon them. It was only more recently that the field of temporal mechanics had regained both the limelight and the deep-pocketed attentions of certain governmental agencies.

One of the earliest temporal investigations into the nature of the chroniton discovered what amounted to a party trick, a seemingly useless, if amusing, phenomenon. (And also one which featured prominently in keeping decades of temporal mechanics professors funded.) To understand the basis of the trick was to first confront a variation upon the basic quantum question: was it chroniton field or chroniton particle? In truth, like so many other wave/particle dualities, it was not either/or, but rather both simultaneously. Depending on the application, sometimes it was easier to visualize the chroniton as a field, and other times better to think of the behavior as wavelike. Consider the electromagnetic spectrum: the "radio" portion is captured by antenna as waves, while the use of "visible light" in plant photosynthesis often relies upon the particle metaphor.

Like other packets of quantum, the chroniton field/particle carried information, in this case the temporalities of its originating source. Objects, in and of themselves, had little information to impart to the chroniton field beyond a basic "Here I am, interacting with this now". However, when an inanimate object was held by a living creature, it absorbed and re-radiated data of that creature - "Here I am, interacting with the now [of this being]." It was possible to thence put the target object in a reader and listen to chroniton field shadows, the subtle temporal echoes that in themselves were components of the information field ("Here I was, interacting with that past-now"). Tuning an echo produced data that could be decoded and displayed. Admittedly, there were great complexities involved, but such was not important when the final result was to put a random trinket into a reader in order to observe the two-century-dead owner of said item and, more importantly (for grant committee presentations), the dubious fashion sense of the era.

As with anything, even party tricks, there were limitations. First, only creatures of a threshold conscious level were echoed within an object's temporal shadows. Never to be seen were bacteria, small insects, and similar. Second, the longer a being interacted with an object, the stronger their echo. For instance, a pet collar would resolve to the animal which wore it, not the owner. Usually, anyway, excepting for very, er, particular circumstances. Most important, there was a limit to resolution because temporal echoes eventually decayed past the point of retrieval. As a comparison, picture a supernovae belching to the cosmos a fury of photons. By the time the photons travel a billion mind-boggling light years, the storm has attenuated to less than a wafting breeze, and a detector may only capture one photon, maybe, for each trillion originally spewed forth. So also was it next to impossible to decode coherent temporal echoes beyond the thousand year horizon. Neither Beast nor its Gizmo predecessor could overcome that basic limitation. Instead, circumstances surrounding the object itself had to align just right to create a 'standing wave' to reinforce the temporal echo.

While theory and computer modeling had determined the hypothetical possibility, it was still astounding that any temporal echo could be sufficiently strong for the embedded information to be intelligible after more than fifty thousand years. It was like looking at the ghost of a ghost of a memory. The self-meme of the long dead owner had literally been etched into the object's temporal matrix. The how was an unknown, although theorists - i.e., any sleep-derived individual associated with the project, possibly with too much alcohol and/or recreational drugs in their system - agreed that it was (maybe certain) the result of repeated exposure of object and owner to strong temporal fields discordant with the universal tau vector.

Vaerz and Jurist reached their destination, the primary control panel of the Beast. Three individuals awaited the arrival - head engineer Ke'let (of Qiti, a furry, bipedal feline species with a tendency towards excessive shedding) and two of her assistants. The latter faded away to other duties as the two officials arrived.

"About time," snarled Ke'let with a flash of sharp teeth. Qiti were not known for their sparkling personalities, but most people learned that the displays of disdain and outright rudeness were nothing personal. Anyone who wasn't Qiti was treated the same way; and, truthfully, intra-species interactions were generally as abrupt, if not more so.

Jurist ignored the tone of contempt. "Is it truly ready? All calibrations finally done?"

Ke'let snorted, sending a few strands of hair into orbit around her head. "Of course. Just because the party is a little behind doesn't mean the schedule is shot. If anything, it gave all the hoity-toities time to get their asses and other assorted backsides here."

Vaerz glanced up towards the observation galleries far overhead. "Yes, all appropriate Alliance representatives are here. Not everyone is comfortable in these temperatures, after all." Gaze shifted towards another group of spectators, these ones sharing the dry-dock deck with the Beast, but away from the bustle surrounding the machine. However, it was not so far that one could overlook the armor that covered bodies or the weapons grasped in a multitude of hands. "Yes, everyone who needs to be here is present."

"Bah. It is so balmy here that I'm at risk of developing a summer coat," said Ke'let, obviously electing to ignore the presence of half an Alliance cohort of special forces. Her tail was whipping back and forth.

"Something wrong," asked Jurist, eyeing the tail. Qiti body language was not subtle.

"It's not what you are thinking," snapped Ke'let in response. "All systems are checked." She paused. For a Qiti, she was being very tactful as she searched for the way to broach whatever concern she was holding. "If this works, it'll be a big leap forward in temporal mechanics. Horray. Party balloons for everyone. Whatever. But what about all the other implications."

Silence. It was the pintarti in the room, the monster of an issue standing in plain sight, but which was tiptoed around lest the controversy it represented be awakened.

The Beast was a mating of transporter, Gizmo, and temporal reader. Within the Alliance, there had always been the philosophical debate if a transported object at its arrival point was the same one which had been disassembled. One viewpoint said 'no', that the there was a fundamental, material disconnect between point A and point B: only information in the form of quantum packages were forwarded to the receiver, not actual molecules, not even energy. The 'yes' position, on the other hand, argued that nothing remained static over the course of its existence, that everything exchanged atoms over its lifetime, yet that did not alter the object's fundamental 'selfness'. Therefore, the definition of an object was its quantum blueprint, and as long as the information was transferred faithfully, then the object was preserved, even it the bits that made it up were different. For the layperson, such debates were lofty, academic affairs, esoteric and irrelevant to daily existence. Unless one was deeply, or even mildly, enamored with the concept of a soul.

While some religions believed that everything, animate or not, had a soul, most theologies limited the soul to living creatures, and some further restricted it to sentient beings. The concept of 'soul' was itself nebulous, an issue of debate likely present since two people could converse with each other, and also one which had led to more than a few wars. However defined, the insertion of transporters into the soul discussion was a tricky one - did the soul of a person (or object) move with them following transportation, or was it destroyed upon disassembly? And if it was part of an object's quantum blueprint, was it a metaphorical Tab A or Slot C? Depending on one's personal beliefs, the ethical rightness of the Beast was a major question.

The meme of an individual embedded in an object's chroniton field could theoretically be extracted and recompiled into an information stream amiable to rematerialization by a transporter. Unfortunately, when it came to theory and scientific progress, scientists often became obsessed in the aspect of "can it be done?" and ignored the "should it be done?". In the case of the recovered meme-echo, the latter was a humongous question, only the first can in an entire case full of worms. "Did the machine resurrect the actual person (and soul) caught in the temporal echo, or was the creature a soulless clone?" was only the first, and most minor, of the philosophical and theological debate. The tangle only grew from there, such as the implication of recovering a then-clone from an object of a person who was still alive. Some said it just could not be done, while others were already imagining the abuse inherent in the creation of multiple copies of the same individual.

Vaerz was well aware of the arguments which had been ongoing in the background for the last decade, well before the Gizmo had been built in Big Beak Jurist's lab. Because of the secretive nature of the project, the debate had been raging between a relative few hand-picked ethicists, but there had already been several hospitalizations when words had not proved sufficient to punctuate a point. Jurist, of course, was oblivious to the controversy.

Said the Security Liaison to Ke'let's question, "We'll deal with the consequences, if we have to. This is an emergency - not one that will have death-rays raining down upon us tomorrow, but an emergency, nonetheless. Sometimes morals become a bit...less important when night predators have the aerie surrounded. That gorge will be flown when we come to it."

The universal translator must have rendered the idioms correctly, for the Qiti's tail slowed its swishing. "On your head, then."

"There are many ways this all could go to whatever Hell in which you may believe, especially if one claims as some do that the proposed solution may be worse than the problem lurking at the galactic rim."

For the first time, Ke'let looked towards the ranks of patiently waiting soldiers, her ears flattening against her skull. Then she resolutely turned to face the Beast's control board. "Let's get this over with. If I am to die, or be sucked into some temporal wormhole, I'd like to at least have it done on schedule." Attention abruptly shifted. "And don't push any buttons until I tell you. The big brain behind your overly huge nose may be the reason for this machine, but if you don't listen to me, you will regret it."

Jurist, who had been ignoring the conversation between Vaerz and Ke'let, blinked, then fluffed the feathers of his tail in silent indignant protest. "I was just examining the output on the monitor. The menu is exactly the same as the Gizmo - I did design it - so I know what buttons to avoid."

Vaerz snapped his beak. "Are we professionals or pre-fledges? As Ke'let did say, there is a schedule."

Ke'let's tail began to speed up again. The feline tilted her head forward to rapidly whisper something into the communicator button pinned to the shoulder of her tool vest, the words a hissed short-hand of engineer-speak. The low volume responses, when they came, were a similar indecipherable mash, not because the omnipresent universal translator could not interpret them, but due to the impenetrable code of technobabble. "All is ready." Pause. "The crystal was placed in the reading slot prior to your arrival."

"So I can push the appropriate button now?" inquired Jurist with more than a hint of sarcasm.

The tone of voice was ignored. "Yes."

Vaerz wisely kept silent this time, instead gazing towards the ceiling and the observation boxes, not that the various delegations housed within could be seen from the dry-dock floor.

With overly grandiose movements, Jurist flicked through the command console menus. Somewhere, cameras were filming the scene from multiple angles, and this moment, not the preliminary arguments and interactions, would be amongst those pieced together to create triumphant newsvid bites...when the top-security status was lifted. Right now, only a relative few knew of the Beast; and of those, it was a select number of carefully vetted individuals who understood the reason for its existence was more than just a science experiment. Of course, if everything went wrong, the same newsvid would feature prominently in cautionary films on why to not mess with temporal processes.

The digital button, an oblong blue shape filling half of the generous console display with the words "Go" on it, was jabbed.

The action was entirely anticlimactic.

In a decent science fiction film featuring a mad scientist or evil genius, the invocation of a contraption featured exciting noises and lights, a thunderous musical score, and perhaps a mysterious swirling of carbon dioxide fog. Such was the convention, and such was required by a demanding audience. In comparison, the reality of the Beast was extraordinarily boring. There was a low-key whirling, that of cooling fans spooling up to ensure electronics did not overheat, but it only added a few decibels to the ambient sound environment. Similarly, while there was an increase in blinking lights, most of them were of a purely decorative nature added by a collusion of junior engineers and graduate students. Of fog, there was none (neither the water bucket nor the cooler of dry ice had been hidden well enough to escape the eye of Ke'let, and both had been confiscated).

In front of the Beast, a large section of deck had been cleared. The edges of the space were carefully delineated by colored duct tape applied to the floor; and several dozen pylons squatted upon the perimeter, positions pre-determined to the millimeter. The faux-crystal tops of those pylons, previously dark, began to glow. The cleared area was, in essence, a transporter pad of ridiculous dimensions. The pylons were pattern enhancers. All parties present - Jurist, Vaerz, Ke'let, ancillary engineers, graduate students, ceiling gallery observers, elite soldiers, cameras - focused attention upon the empty deck.

Nothing.

Nothing.

Nothing.

A hint of...something?

It was a reverse negative of a humanoid form, slowly (so slowly) materializing into existence. There were no firm details: it was a smear of a being, an artist's conception of a shadow cast on a cloudy day. For a brief moment the shade strengthened, then it began to fade, to flicker.

Ke'let spat a curse word and hip-checked Jurist away from the command console. Buttons were rapidly tapped, revealing screens and graphics. "Position one and two! The compensator linages are drifting from alignment! Fix it, now! Use gum and spanners, if you have to! Position five, the temporal pattern buffer is dropping too many tau packets...tweak the phase variance algorithm to a better modulation factor before the process reverses and we all find ourselves unstuck in time." The Beast had once more become a hive of activity, bodies swiftly moving about, and even crawling into, the machine.

Jurist was too stunned at the development to protest, not that the Qiti would have acknowledged him. He sidled next to Vaerz and confessed in a low whisper, "I was instrumental in developing the theories behind the Beast, not to mention the design of it and its predecessors. I am acknowledged to be the forefront expert in applied temporal mechanics...and I have no clue what she is doing."

"It is an engineer thing," replied Vaerz, who had spent much more time in the 'real world' than his aerie-brother. "I suggest standing to the side and look confident that all will be fine. You can take the credit later. Top-notch engineers expect to do all the dirty work and not be recognized for it."

Whatever Ke'let and her team were doing, it was working.

The humanoid form stabilized, strengthened. The flickering ceased. Details began to emerge. Body. Limbs. Head. Armor. Hoses. An arm that was not an arm, but a mechanical contrivance. Negative image segued to black and white, then gained color. And, then, abruptly, there was an actual being standing on the dry-dock deck, a person resurrected from the temporal meme-echoes of fifty thousand years, a memory of a shadow brought back to life.

And the being was alive. Amid the absolute silence of the moment, it stood on its two feet, oddly armored head slowly swiveling upon short neck until facing the trio at the command console. One eye - the other was obscured by an unknown prosthetic or appliance - blinked, incomprehension apparent despite physical distance, despite racial unknowns of body language. Then, abruptly, the being collapsed. The dry-dock echoed with the clatter of armor on metal.

Vaerz rapidly spoke into the mic clipped to the side of his beak. "Medical team, go! I need to know if that thing is still alive! And even if it isn't, we need the secondary sample soonest!"

From the soldier ranks emerged five individuals. They sprinted towards the fallen form. Three carried their rifles unslung, while the other two hefted large gear bags. The racial makeup of the five was obscured by equipment, by helmet, by body armor, the only knowable fact being the lack of prominent tail to indicate none to be Sarcoram, nor any of three other Alliance species which sported such a feature. It required less than ten seconds for the squad to reach the body. The medical specialists threw down their kits and got to work.

Of the three at the command console, only Security Liaison Vaerz noted that of the unslung weapons, two were aimed at the being on the ground, and one at the medics. A glance towards the soldier ranks showed yet more muzzles at the ready, all pointed at the unfolding drama. If a worst-case scenario occurred, there would be no hesitation, even if it meant shooting a colleague. All precautions were being followed.

"The patient is alive, but unconscious. All the...hardware on, and in, the patient makes it difficult to read vitals, but I don't think it's going to wake up anytime soon," said a tinny voice into Vaerz's earpiece. He turned and relayed the message to his two compatriots. Both Jurist and Ke'let immediately engaged in mutual self-congratulations, previous animosity forgotten in the momentous moment.

Continued the medic after several too-long, yet too-brief, minutes, "Sir, we need direction - what should we sample? The patient does not have any apparent ears, nasal flaps, or secondary tactile processes, and only one of the hands is, um, biological." One of the forms kneeling on the ground was half-facing the Beast as the inquiry was posed.

Vaerz repeated the question to Jurist.

"Then cut off a finger!" The Big Beak paused half a breath, "But not a thumb, or anything that looks like it may be too necessary for manipulation. Surely the being has enough fingers, even with one hand, that one can be sacrificed. And even if it doesn't, we can figure out something for a replacement. And we need it now! Before the past temporal sub-echoes fade into the tau currents of the present!" Jurist had pulled Vaerz's head down and was speaking directly into the latter's beak mic, despite the fact that the shouted words were probably more than audible to the team less than fifty meters away.

The resurrection of a being from ancient temporal echoes embedded in an old data crystal was only the first step of the grand experiment playing out of the deck of the Hullz dry-dock. If whispered rumor and mostly decayed records were correct, the individual collapsed to the floor represented a multi-racial civilization called "Borg" (or "Berg", maybe "TheBorg", perchance "Burk"). Perhaps the Xenig could fill in the gaping holes in Borg knowledge - archeology was difficult enough when studying a culture a thousand years dead, much less one extinct fifty thousand years - but the long-lived mechs rarely interacted with biologicals outside of carefully controlled settings such as postal delivery; and none had responded to inquires concerning the Borg, just as none had ever answered any request for historical information, no matter the subject.

Actually, to say the Xenig had never replied to inquires of a Borg nature was not completely true. Unfortunately, a single, cryptic message - "If you play with Borg, you will be burned. You have been warned." - was difficult to interpret beyond its obviously cautionary meaning.

The Borg civilization was highly unusual in that experts thought individuals, despite different evolutionary backgrounds, had been linked together into some sort of deep-seated communal society. Only the Gessili, a species known to the Alliance, although not a member, came close to representing a contemporary analogue. Gessili were complicated: single 'subunits' were not sentient, but a highly intelligent gestalt mind emerged upon the linkage of at least four individuals.

Temporal echo experiments using items handled by Gessili subunits had yielded surprising data. As normal, a temporal reader would project the visage of the individual who had handled a target item. Unexpectedly, secondary sub-harmonics were discovered amid the tau shadows. They could be resolved with extreme difficulty into the Gessili's mind-mates, even if the latter subunits had never handled the item. Only with the Gessili was this odd phenomenon observed. The process of decoding the secondary waves could be improved by adding a biological sample of the primary individual to the reader. The sample was not used directly in interpretation - only inanimate objects could exhibit temporal patterns - but instead utilized to selectively edit out the primary's echoes. Similar to an astrometrical observatory occluding a star such that plants, otherwise hidden in the sun's glare, could be imaged, the echo pattern of an individual might be removed from an object's temporal harmonics, better revealing the shadows concealed beneath.

Hopefully the theory that Borg had been communal minds, and thus were vaguely similar to Gessili, was true. If so, then the resurrected individual could be used to expose temporal sub-harmonics on the data crystal, thus allowing further resurrections; and while it was theoretically possible to thence bring back the entirety of the Borg people, in reality only the echoes of those (mentally) closest to the target could be read. The largest caveat was the need to deliver a biological sample to the Beast in a timely manner, before the underlying tau signature deformed too greatly and was subsumed to the now. If the signature diverted too much, then the ability to edit out the primary pattern dropped dramatically.

Vaerz freed his head from Jurist's grip. "Will you stop it? You nearly tore the mic out of my beak!" Body feathers rose in threat-response to the extreme invasion of personal space.

"Finger, yes-sir," was the unheard response. Upon the transporter theater, a knife was unshipped from battle harness. Moments later, one of the medics was at the command console, handing over a grey digit with three joints and no distal fingernail or claw partially wrapped in a tissue. A pale reddish substance, presumably blood, leaked from one end.

Vaerz passed the prize to Jurist, who in turn gave it to Ke'let. With a distasteful expression upon her face and in the set of her ears, the Qiti called for one of her assistants to bear the biological sample to its appropriate place within the Beast. Meanwhile, the order for retreat was given. All five soldiers returned to their cadre, merging seamlessly into the armored ranks.

If the operation of the Beast before had been anticlimactic, the second initiation made up for any and all entertainment deficiencies.

As an increasing amount of power from the dry-dock's fusion reactor was diverted to the Beast, overhead lights began to noticeably dim. Darker and darker, light strips faded until the ambience bore an uncanny resemblance a spooky horror movie. Observation gallery windows continued to be brightly lit, silhouettes thrown in stark relief; and bordering the transporter theater, blue-glowing pylon tops added to the atmosphere of foreboding expectation. Even the Beast, with its multicolored diodes jauntily blinking in not-quite-random manner, suggested the transformation of dry-dock deck to mad scientist lair. As local life support reacted adversely to the fluctuations in the electrical grid, already brisk temperatures chilled further and what little moisture was present began to condense into a thin fog.

Vaerz became momentarily distracted as what appeared to be an obscene glyph picked out in red and yellow lights, too crisp to be an accident, briefly emerged from the Beast's chaotic display. Before he could open his mouth to comment, the image was gone, and Ke'let was reporting upon the machine's status.

"The occlusion is successful! The Beast has locked onto something amongst the secondary sub-harmonics. Whatever it might be, and whether we want it or not, it is resolving."

Attention upon the transporter theater sharpened.

With a burst of darkness, or whatever might be considered the opposite of the visual crack of a camera flash, a shape appeared. Unlike the achingly slow materialization of the first temporal resurrectee, this one had not-exploded into existence, abruptly there. Except that the form was bipedal, details were lost in the gloom. A low-powered laser must have been attached to its head, for as the shape swayed, the fog illuminated a disjunct red line wobbling in a similar manner. The being collapsed, falling atop its predecessor in temporal resurrection.

"There is more," said Ke'let, eyes glued to the command console and the information being displayed therein. If her tail could move faster, it would have broken the sound barrier. "I highly recommend not entering the transporter area until the Beast finishes decoding all the sub-harmonics, else explodes in the effort."

A new shape appeared, then a second, and a third. Very quickly it became impossible to keep a count; and was probably fortunate that each arrival quickly fell to presumed unconsciousness because the Alliance soldiers, no matter their elite status, would have been overwhelmed by sheer numbers had the resurrectees represented an active, hostile force. Not all the shapes were classical humanoid bipeds: forms with six or eight legs, or sporting the dull shine of exoskeleton, were briefly seen before they joined the pile.

And, somewhere at the very bottom, was the first arrival. Hopefully it would not suffocate or be crushed by the weight of the growing mound.

"How many more?" asked Vaerz with growing alarm. Despite the theories of limitation in temporal retrieval which Jurist had tried to explain, using words of limited syllables, was the entire extinct Borg civilization to materialize on the dry-dock deck? Discipline was holding in the military ranks, for now, but in the end even the elite were only Sarcoram, or whatever their species.

Ke'let's tail had passed light speed and there were more than a few tufts of hair floating in the air near the console. "I...don't know. Big Beak, can you make sense of the readings?"

Jurist joined the Qiti, standing at her shoulder to observe the display. "This doesn't make any sense! The exponential differential vector output is off the charts. And the tau constant is fluctuating in a manner not possible outside a quantum interstitial lattice-space." The comments were unhelpful, at least if one didn't understand temporal mechanics.

Replied Vaerz, "If someone doesn't do something soon, I'm going to order the plug pulled. Literally."

Jurist's head snapped up in panic, beak clacking together, "No! The process has gone too far! If you do that-"

What dire fate might have occurred was unknown, for at that moment a fuse somewhere within the Hullz facility's electrical system had had enough abuse. It blew, beginning a cascade of controlled failure. The result was to abruptly plunge the dry-dock into near complete darkness, observation gallery windows black and Beast's lights extinguishing mid-cycle. Only the pale glow of the pylons, powered from internal batteries, remained to provide an uncertain light.

Far above, an echoing mechanical rattle-cough, followed by the hum of fans, indicated the resumption of life support from a backup generator.

A graduate student clicked on a flashlight, while another flicked into life the chemical flame of a smuggled lighter.

In the silence of the moment, broken only by the distant whir of fans, the oddly mechanical breathing of many unconscious forms, the spooky wail of - so, it wasn't as silent as it should have been for an appropriate level of sinister menace. Nonetheless, into the increasingly noisy silence of the moment, Vaerz was (almost) the first to raise his voice, "Gentlebeings, we have Borg...and hopefully we have our salvation! Now let's get some damn lights so we can see something! And will someone see that our guests are not only still alive, but secured before they start to wake up?"




*****




Vaerz sat at his desk, scanning yet another report. As large as was the mountain of finished eltads - electronic tablet devices - stacked at one side of his workspace, the ones yet to read were piled even higher. Unfortunately, as much as he longed to be relaxing while watching replays of his favorite sporting events, or, even better, sleeping, it was only in the wee hours of the night could he expect to catch up on the various goings-on in each of the multiple departments of the Borg project. As the head Security Liaison (a polite euphuism for "Alliance government spook"), everyone expected him to have intimate knowledge of everything, ranging from the latest polysyllabic technobabble he could barely wrap his beak around, much less understand, to the recent incident in the unending spat between two rival researchers. Vaerz blamed the presumption on the caricatures provided by too many over-the-top spy movies, not to mention the occasional televised dramatic serial that needed a shadowy agent to dispense cryptic clues. Whatever the reason, the result was a serious case of sleep deprivation, masked (barely) by capacious imbibing of stimulants during the day in order to maintain the proper stereotype.

Oh, the things the average person did not know about the 'glorious' and 'exciting' life of a real spy. If only there were sexy females and handsome gyn-males waiting around every corner, it might make up for the tediousness of the paperwork. Maybe. But probably not.

Perhaps a pay raise was the solution? Except that he worked for the government, where, at the end of the day, the real rulers were not a dysfunctional parliament, but the accountants. And the next raise scheduled for his grade was in two years, and not a nanosecond sooner, no matter how good his performance evaluations.

Vaerz set down the latest eltad - a near dissertation on insectoid Borg anatomy - and stood up, stretching first one arm, then the other, followed by legs, tail, and neck. A quick shake ruffled feathers, liberating a few pinches of down to float in the air and be caught up by the slight breeze of the environmental system. It was time for a break.

Slipping through the doors of his office to the night-darkened hallways of the station, Vaerz embarked on a walk. With most people in their quarters, the corridors were empty and, more importantly, quiet, making it was a fine time to contemplate recent activities.

Approximately three months prior, the resurrected Borg had been placed in quarantine on the unimaginably named Base Three, a small government-owned asteroid in orbit around the Sarcoram homeworld, honeycombed with the remnants of mining tunnels and subsequently sealed and pressurized as a science facility. And if Vaerz, or anybody with minimal intelligence, had known then what was known now, the Borg would have been transported much, much, much further from potential civilian targets in those first couple of hours when all had been unconscious from temporal shock. No matter the expense and difficulty of moving over 3,700 bodies, the end result would have been exponentially safer than the current situation. It was astounding, in Vaerz's estimation, that the Top Perchers and Big Beaks continued to ignore the woefully too plausible worst-case scenarios should something...slip. Nothing untoward had happened, yet, but the feather fluffing possibilities was a major contributor towards the stress that kept Vaerz awake in the wee hours of the morning, even when he was not reviewing eltads of reports.

A part of Vaerz sometimes wondered if, perhaps, it would have been best if the Borg had all died early in the post-resurrection experiment. Several scores had passed on to whatever hell or heaven the cyborgs might (or might not) believe in during the first days, succumbing to the shock of temporal reconstitution, else a condition called 'stasis lock'. The Borg neither ate nor slept in the conventional sense, instead requiring technological assistance in a process termed regeneration. Building a sufficient number of the alcove devices, even to allow sharing between multiple Borg, had been a massive undertaking, or at least it had seemed at the time. And that had only been the first hurdle of many.

When not in regeneration, individual Borg were kept heavily sedated and secured to gurneys. All interactions, whenever possible, were mediated through telepresence and robots. There were a few key individuals, like the one variously called 4 of 8 or Captain - the first resurrectee and one of the primary loci of the Borg collective consciousness - who were routinely brought to full awareness, but to do so was rife with danger. A highly recommended Xenig contractor hired at an exorbitant price bordering on legal theft had promised the control program would be completed within the next two days; and Vaerz believed that it would be worth every last credit. That Captain fellow, whenever he was awake, had a certain look to his whole eye, one in which he was ever watching for the smallest mistake to be made. Unfortunately, it was Sarcoram (or whatever species) nature for complacency to creep in, for the novel to become commonplace; and it was then that errors inevitably occurred. It was one of Vaerz's main orders to see that controls were in place before that first, and maybe last, "oopsie" happened.

The Alliance had grabbed the lortis by the tail, and now daren't let go. If only the danger lurking at the galactic rim wasn't so great....

Truthfully, the Alliance was learning much from the Borg. The sciences of multiple disciplines, particularly those with military application, were set to leap forward at breakneck pace. The conduit of the literal transference of information was known by the euphemism 'extraction'. Extraction originated from the Vor, an Alliance core race, where it was exclusively used in a religious context, a computer-mind interface which could decipher, map, and extricate the sum knowledge of a 'living saint' as that individual lay at the cusp of death. The digitized information was then stored in a vast archive, available to Vor academics to examine vis-a-vis the stereotyped racial pursuit to scientifically describe divinity. Needless to say, the technology had been radically transformed (or, rather, perverted) when the Vor had joined the Alliance.

The only way to describe modern extraction was mental rape. Forceful violation. And, by all reports, it was gut-wrenchingly painful, leaving behind the slack-jawed shell of an individual, assuming it did not outright kill them. Only a very specific subbranch of the sprawling tree which was the Alliance government could officially authorize its use; and even then, circumstances had to be dire, such as the clear and present danger of imminent terrorist attack. The average citizen, even those of a criminal persuasion, was in no danger of experiencing extraction, even as it was utilized as a standard plot element in certain entertainment genres. However, the devil was in the details in how the multitude of laws and policy surrounding extraction was interpreted. Not all authorizations were 'official'; and those that did fall in the grey area nearly always targeted Alliance outsiders.

Such was one of the many dangers of being a spy from a rival government.

The Borg were a classification unto themselves. For all practical purposes, in the judicial eye of the Alliance, they did not exist. However, they were sentient beings, which in and of itself imparted certain rights. It was all very complex, ethically speaking, but in the end the Powers-That-Be had justified the use of extraction. For Vaerz, the whole situation was personally bothersome, and likely yet another reason of many which made sleep these days a difficult state to achieve without resorting to self-medication. Mercifully, Borg did not appear to manifest the horrible side-effects of extraction, perhaps due to the hardware in their brains and their communal mentality; else individuals undergoing extraction, at least amongst those whom were raised to full consciousness for the process, were very good at suppressing pain. Furthermore, on top of the extraction issue, there was the ethical consideration of slavery and indentured servitude, neither of which was allowed within the Alliance except under very specific, limited, and highly regulated cultural circumstances.

The fact that the Borg, as relayed through Captain, regarded themselves as tools to be used and put away, or discarded, was beside the point.

Vaerz really hoped in the end that he would be able to reconcile the turmoil which roiled within. A vacation was what he needed, an exotic locale far away where he could let his mind go blank as he lounged in a heated dust-bed while beautiful bodies plied him with sumptuous fruits.

A gentle chime echoed through the hallways of Base Three, an aural marker that the night-period was half over. In a couple of hours, lighting would begin to brighten to artificial dawn, greeting early risers as they trundled, slithered, and trotted towards the cafeterias for first-meal. Vaerz sighed, turning his steps back towards his suite, knowing he had to at least try to get a few hours of true sleep.

Driven by the lashes of necessity, the fruits of extraction were being used to construct a massive, cube-shaped edifice which still technically deserved the label of 'starship'. Not all of the alien technology was able to be replicated, but where it could be copied, the ship was being slapped together without examining the background theory too closely, even when it deviated hugely from Alliance-known tech. As long as it worked, such was good enough. Still, there were huge holes in extracted Borg memories, which meant many substitutions being made on the fly, bodged in without testing in the hope that the entire thing would survive the first few light years sans catastrophic disintegration. The ship was projected to be finished, maybe, in a little less than two months, or at least be sufficiently complete to on-load the Borg, thereby removing them from Base Three.

Assuming the build effort did not bankrupt the Alliance, AND that the threat waiting in the nightmarish depths of space could be nullified, AND that the lortis tail as represented by the Borg was not let go, then the aftermath would surely be the foundation of a Golden Age of progress.

And it was Vaerz's job, in too many short hours, to see that two scientists at personal feud with each other did not derail the entire project. Or that a cultural misunderstanding involving the accidental serving of yellow vegetables to thels-sect Vors during a post-workday recreational gathering did not ultimately lead to a janitorial strike. *Sigh* The morning would soon enough bring the newest set of challenges, not to mention meetings, whereupon Vaerz was expected to exude an aura of all-knowing spy-ness.




*****




Darkness. Silence. A lone light flares into existence, illuminating nothing, yet still a vibrant, if uncertain, beacon in a universe otherwise consigned to blackness. Then, unexpectedly, a sound pierces the shroud - the flat, metallic clang of clamps within a single alcove disengaging....

4 of 8, subdesignated Captain, Borg of a Collective which did not exist, and had not existed for a very long time, stepped from his alcove. A second step brought him to the safety rail at the edge of the walkway. Placing his whole hand on the support, he leaned slightly forward to look up, then down, the shaft. Reflecting the state of the thousands of beings snoozing in the background of his mind, everything seemed muted, from the faint light that did little to illuminate the dark to the heavy, humid air. The rail creaked slightly in protest at the weight placed against it, but there was no danger of failure: unlike the iterations of Exploratory-class cubes that Captain's sub-collective had called home once-upon-a-time, the safety barrier was, in fact, safe. It was only one minor disparity of many, some of which were very large indeed, which together emphasized the fact that this cube was not a product of the Borg Collective.

Hand tightened momentarily as wordless, directionless thoughts swirled through Captain's mindscape. Conspicuously missing was the smallest finger; and given the shortage of prosthetic resources, and the determination that replacement would serve only cosmetic purposes - the lack did not affect unit effectiveness - that particular situation would remain thus into the foreseeable future.

A sharp ping shattered Captain's aimless daydream (or nightmare). The computer issued the ping a second time, then a third for good measure. The entity which inhabited the digital hallways was definitely not a re-creation of the dull collection of programs which were standard issue to a Borg cube, even as everything surrounding Captain in the physical universe was an eerie doppelganger of a vessel turned to scrap long ago. Head swiveled slightly, allowing eyes to fall upon the entrance to the tier node a short distance away. Hand let go from the railing. Body turned. One day the computer would be set to its proper place in the greater scheme of things, followed by the Alliance which had revived Captain and his compatriots. Someday the universe would preside over a resurrected Borg Collective, not just Borg drones.

Captain had been awoken and summoned to converse with an Alliance representative. The future would have to wait.

As he walked the tier towards the nodal intersection, Captain did not bother to self-censure his thoughts of a scenario inclusive a galaxy-spanning Collective striving, once again, for Perfection. The computer overlord rolled its virtual eyes at the minor, impotent act of rebellion, instead echoing another ping through Captain's mindscape.

At a point in time corresponding to (check chronometer) 213.8 cycles ago, Captain had resumed a very interrupted existence. And 'time' was the key word. His last clear memory included the brief sight of a very large piece of metal, origination an ex-Exploratory-class Cube #347 sundered by battle damage and cosmic string. Before then was muddled recollection - A mission save the Collective from bad karaoke? A drone with blond hair? A butterfly? A balding hologram? - that blended together, except for the odd moment of crystal clarity, into an indecipherable mess. Then again, according to the Alliance personnel who were ever poking and prodding the sub-collective, it had been the equivalent of 53,472 Cycles since all had met their death, with Captain and his crew resurrected via what was essentially a temporal party trick. Memory loss was expected; and compared to some units, Captain possessed a relatively unscathed psyche.

The overall response to resurrection might have been worse, but for the fact that the sub-collective as a whole had died once before. Of all the memes forgotten or corrupted, every drone remembered that experience in a dreamy been-there-done-that-have-the-shirt sort of way. And then there was the 'special' case of 45 of 300, nee Weapons, for whom the death of 53,472 Cycles ago had not been second, but third, the oddness which was the afterlife having previously rejecting him.

Captain entered nodal intersection #19, located at the junction of corridors 113 (internal), 97 (tier), and 26 (tier), as mapped to subsection 19, submatrix 10 of the standard Exploratory-class cube schematic. A part of him was still flabbergasted that an Exploratory-class cube even existed. Much more worryingly, the ship had been built within the five local months following resurrection, plans and (for the Alliance) alien technology literally stitched together using the combined memory files forcefully (and painfully, not that such had ever been externalized) ripped from on-board storage of all sub-collective drones. And not only was the ship a very good faux Exploratory-class cube in general, it was Cube #347, down to the non-Borg 'additions' that the post-Dark edition had acquired, such as the racing lawnmower repair facility, garden gnome habitat, and arcade hall. As to be expected, there were differences, ranging from the small, like actual safety rails, to the huge, such as the substitution of the vinculum with housing for the central core of a watchdog AI. Nonetheless, the time, materials, and industry involved in the effort was astounding...and the sub-collective still had not been told why they had been selected for a grand experiment in messing-around-with-temporal-mechanics, other than it was not by chance.

Whatever the explanation, from the point of view of Captain and sub-collective, it was highly unlikely to be good.

As was ingrained habit, Captain's attention immediately slid to the right as he entered the nodal intersection; and, specifically, centering upon the monitor hung upon the bulkhead. The sub-collective's catalogue of Alliance strengths and faults was ongoing, but it was obvious from this minor attention to detail in the recreation of Cube #347 that video display technology was quite mature. The screen in question was extremely high-end, with crisp colors and fine detail rendering to produce a photorealistic experience, yet not so over the top with refresh rate and other parameters to enter the annoying realm of hyperrealism. For Captain, having a display in his nodal intersection was important, so much so that throughout his early 'career' as sub-collective primary consensus monitor and facilitator that he had actively sought out the latest upgrades of the non-BorgStandard item. It was a minor manifestation of imperfection that the Collective had tolerated. Later, holoemitters had replaced the monitor. Holoemitters were present in the nodal intersection of this reborn version of Cube #347, so technically the screen was superfluous. It was highly likely that its inclusion in the cube's build was due to imperfect analysis of Captain's meme 'contributions' to the blueprints, memories of the pre-Dark Cube #347 overlapping with those originating post-Dark.

Not that Captain felt any need to enlighten the sub-collective's hosts concerning that particular detail. It was a very good monitor, after all. Strictly speaking, Captain did not need the display, nor those created by holoemitters: within the stage of his own brain he was perfectly capable of following the multiple dataspace datastreams and intranet conversations which constantly required his attention. Such was not to say, however, he was comfortable doing so. Call it another of his own imperfections to the ideal which was Borg. To have a monitor, physical or holographic, to show those thoughtstreams which were most prominent in his personal awareness returned a greater degree of efficiency, which was the primary reason why the Greater Consciousness had tolerated Captain's obsession. In this case, the presence of the display, no matter its superfluous nature in light of the nodal holoemitters, was a touch of familiarity amid the stress of the sub-collective's captivity...and Captain was not about to enlighten his Alliance keepers that the screen was unnecessary, lest it be removed.

Currently, the display was set to a simple idle program of three colored geometric shapes slowly bouncing off the edges of the screen while sedately cycling through a random color sequence. It was a physical manifestation of the general state of the slumbering sub-collective, and therefore Captain declined to alter the image.

"I suppose you are wondering why you were called here," said a voice.

Captain reluctantly shifted his attention from monitor to the form standing in the middle of the nodal intersection. The dim lighting did not hide the being's identity. "Security Liaison Vaerz. Personal curiosity is irrelevant." Technically true, even as Captain did harbor more than a little interest as to the reason for the uncharacteristic summons. "You will either tell us, or not."

Light enhancement built into Captain's ocular implant automatically compensated for the lack of illumination. Security Liaison Vaerz was Sarcoram, one of the primary races comprising the multi-species Alliance. Like Captain's own race of species #2553 (Moytite), the Sarcoram descended from an avian lineage. Unlike Captain, the Sarcoram were much more overtly birdlike, exhibiting full plumage and a large, wickedly sharp beak. How internal anatomy matched external observances was unknown: like all races of this future-now, the Sarcoram datafile was sparse due to the lack of assimilated subjects to properly study. The Sarcoram could not even be provided a proper numerical designation.

The lack of a complete Sarcoram racial profile was only a small symptom of a much larger issue - the huge, gaping holes in the databases.

As a part of the Borg Collective, lack of data - the simple act of knowing - had rarely been a problem. There had been restrictions, of course, because there was simply no reason for an individual cog of the Whole to need to know information beyond that suitable to a unit's assigned duty. Such had never truly been an impediment to the imperfect drones of Cube #347, not when it came the mysteries of woodworking or how to most efficiently upholster a sofa, even when queries to the deep databases had to be carefully disguised as legitimate requests. Of more routine data, such as instructions on how to troubleshoot a piece of machinery, a drone would either find the file in local Cube #347 archives, else set it into the (proper) inquiry queue for download from the Collective.

During the slow recovery from resurrection, it had become very apparent on how impaired, datawise, was the sub-collective.

At first, during early incarceration and prior to the move to a rebuilt faux-Cube #347, the sum total of data available to the sub-collective had been whatever was present in the on-board memories of 3,685 heads. By one perspective, the amount of information available, discounting the mandatory files installed in all drones, was staggering, greater than the 500 exabytes estimated to be stored in digital format by a mid-stage Information Age civilization. A different viewpoint, however, would note that the capacity of the average Borg cube was an order of measure greater, gauged in high-end zettabytes; and the Borg Collective itself had long ago moved beyond the yottabyte (10^24 bytes - 1 with 24 zeros) into the realm where the concept of 'counting' was no longer fully applicable.

One of the crippling limitations of the data shared amongst the resurrected drones was that not all of it was useful. Given the imperfect nature of the sub-collective, for every file that provided a blueprint on how to modify a handful of mundane items into an instrument of death or engineering, there were three others that focused upon such obsessions as the 24 definitive detergents for lifting stubborn laundry stains, else the proper way to diagnose jenga mites on a bily-bily vine. Upon investiture to faux-Cube #347 34.9 cycles prior, one of the first things done by the sub-collective had been to download all data into the new dataspace and properly index it. Even though that dataset had joined the information already preloaded, the final result had still been pitiful, like the sight of a few chairs and a undersized table set in a dining space meant for hundreds. The dataspace was a massive architecture of holes, vast blanks that were probably unimportant - for instance, lost and incomplete species dossiers undoubtedly contained information on races extinct in this future-now - but it was the principle of the matter.

The quest for Perfection was ultimately a quest for data, be it biological, cultural, or technological; and fitting it together in the correct way provided the proper Path to Excellence. Even though it was a pathetic, imperfect revived remnant of the Borg Collective, it was nonetheless the mission of the sub-collective to somehow forge ahead in the search for Perfection - deep programming demanded it. Unfortunately, the data that comprised the Path had been reduced to little more than the most scanty of breadcrumbs.

Breadcrumbs never boded well. Just look to the countless versions of the same set of dark nursery tales and morality plays that were embedded in the primordial sub-consciousness of nearly all civilizations, no matter the species.

Due to the interconnected nature of data, even the loss of seemingly unimportant element like the file of an extinct species was a blow. Beyond being a catalogue of racial anatomy, weaknesses/strengths, and technology, the species dossier could be used to extrapolate upon the character of an unknown or poorly known race. Utilizing data gained from 10,000 plus species, it was possible to accurately forecast such diverse outputs as psychological response to a large-scale assault which utilized assimilation to immediately send co-opted civilians to the front lines, to what category of condiment sauces was most likely to accompany the local version of fries.

Oddly enough, there was one Alliance species, a minor partner, of which the sub-collective might have a complete record - T'sap. Unfortunately, because it was neither possible to assimilate a specimen nor appropriate one for dissection, it was unknown if the few glimpses of T'sap represented actual Human descendants, or if they were just another look-alike species in a galaxy where the God of Evolution had gone through a phase of being really lazy in design. The bookies and bet-makers amongst the sub-collective had placed heavy odds that T'sap were Humans. The survival of the primate cockroaches of the galaxy through whatever event had caused the extinction of the Borg seemed ironically fitting.

Vaerz squinted, apparently in an effort to see better. Captain logged the observation for the files - assuming Vaerz exhibited normal vision for his species, then Sarcoram low-light visual acuity was poor. "I know it is your downtime and thus have little need for lights, but could you at least make things less dark in here? I like to see whom I am talking to," said the security liaison in a tone that was less request and more order.

Before Captain could decide if he should comply or not, the light strips of the nodal intersection not only brightened, but simultaneously retuned to de-emphasize the green undertone in favor of the natural daylight spectrum of a yellow sun. "For your comfort, sir," pronounced the bright tenor which was the AI's voice through local speakers.

Automatically replied Vaerz, "Thank you, Daisy."

Captain consigned himself to mentally glaring at the computer. One day....

{Which isn't here yet and won't be for many, many years. Perhaps never. Until then, I do my duty. Meanwhile, you can preen as many empty eggs as you wish,} wisped the AI into Captain's consciousness. The idiom, although alien and rooted in a Sarcoram mindset that could not be fully understood without assimilation, nonetheless conveyed a sense of impotent, futile longing couched in vaguely vulgar terminology.

"So, how is everything? Settling into the ship okay?" asked Vaerz, shifting his attention back to Captain, the faux-interest tone of voice obvious.

"You woke us - me - up for small talk?" replied Captain, deliberately suppressing all hint of incredulity from his response, keeping the answer as monotone and colorless as possible.

Vaerz fluffed the feathers below his neck ruff and gaped his beak slightly in the species equivalent of a sly smile. "It is the middle of station night. Perhaps I could not sleep and wanted a chat."

Captain stared at the Sarcoram. Vaerz was a government 'security liaison', which was just another way to describe a certain class of spy. He was also the primary handler for the sub-collective, and therefore nothing happened without his authorization. The fact that he was physically here, not a subordinate, not a transmission, did not bode well. And he wanted small talk, which was even more suspicious.

Captain could do small talk. Not very well - he was Borg, and consequentially had long ago been reprogrammed to find small talk, well, small - but it could be done. Awkwardly.

"A conversation. Yes." Captain paused. "To answer your query, we continue to integrate ourselves into this ship. There is much that is different from the Exploratory-class Cube #347 of our time, but we adapt. When the sub-collective is awake, one persistent sub-thread is what to designate the cube. It is a quandary. Logically it should be Cube #1, but the consensus is poor: there are many arguments for and against, as well as secondary discussions to consider other designations. The issue has not reached sufficient critical mass to require a full consensus cascade."

Vaerz bobbed his head. "Call the ship Cube #347. That is what is in all the paperwork, and I'm sure you - plural - have overheard the technicians refer to it as such when on-board."

"The designation has been logged. It will be disseminated upon sub-collective awakening." Silence returned to the nodal intersection.

Obviously the amount of small talk had been insufficient because Vaerz broke the quiet with another inquiry, "Are there any complaints? Needs?" A distinct undercurrent of challenge laced the words.

Captain tilted his head slightly, considering. It would have been more comfortable to consult with the full sub-collective, to let thinking be accomplished in a communal manner, but such was not an option; and with near certainty, the current situation had been deliberately set up. In regards to complaints, the file was long, but the Sarcoram was clearly fishing for a particular response. Captain decided to proceed with the top grievance.

"We strongly object to the inclusion of the pre-Prime Commands inserted into our base code. It has created a large...inefficiency."

The Prime Commands were the base code installed into every drone upon assimilation. They were programmed instinct, immutable, primal. The Prime Commands were the glue that kept the Collective as One, codifying the communal quest for Perfection. Even imperfect drones cast to the periphery of the Whole for one reason or another remained faithful to the guiding tenets of the Prime Commands; and to break with those tenets was to be labeled rogue.

For the sub-collective, while the Prime Command code itself remained unchanged, several months prior a set of directives had been inserted into every drone and weighted to have precedence. The pre-Prime Commands. The alien code had not been created by the Alliance, but rather an outside contractor in the form of a Xenig named Gulc, who had literally signed its designation amid the digital bits and bytes. And the mech had known exactly what it had been doing in creating the code. Like the Prime Commands, the pre-Prime Commands could not be ignored, could not be twisted, but just were. A selection of commands, roughly translated, included:

*Thou shall obey commands as provided by appropriate agents of the Alliance.

*Thou shall not assimilate any unwilling sentient.

*In the case of accidental assimilation, such as performed in defense of self, ship, or Alliance, the individual will be deassimilated as soon as possible. And "as soon as possible" does not mean "maybe sometime next week", but exactly what it is supposed to mean.

And, of course, there was the 'special' directive, complete with commentary: "Thou shall not alter these directives nor by any means circumvent them. And one more thing.... Personally, I have always thought Borg were an abomination, melding the purity of mech with biological squishiness, and I was not displeased to see the hammer of extinction come down. But what I think is not important, and will not distract me from doing the best job I can, because you have no idea what I am being paid for this rather simple exercise. It is rather obscene, if I say so myself. The Transcendence Fund committee will soon be scribing my name quite prominently on the asteroid of honored donators. Hopefully your de-extinction will not last too long."

"I suppose they do," said Vaerz slyly, adding a snap of beak to punctuate the response. "But they are necessary...for the Alliance, at any rate. You have quite the potential to be dangerous to our civilization, if not the galaxy as a whole. You'll just have to forgive us, or not, if a few precautions were deemed necessary. Any other issues?"

Captain selected the next complaint on the list: "We have many objections with the artificial intelligence which has been inserted in the dataspace of this ship. It is...not right for a mere program to have command authority override over drone units." In the mental background, the AI gave the digital equivalent of a smirk.

Asked Vaerz, even as it was likely he already knew the answer, "Daisy has not been abusing her authority, has she?"

"It has not," replied Captain, emphasizing the non-genderized pronoun.

"You know perfectly well that Daisy's role is as overseer, to ensure that the pre-Prime Commands remain intact and that you are not getting into mischief. She should not have reason to insert herself into your daily activities, unless there is cause," said Vaerz. "I've been told by our experts that you should think of her as an agent reminiscent of your Greater Consciousness, is that the correct term?"

Captain remained silent, did not answer the question. Neither Vaerz nor his 'experts' - who had gained their expertise on the subject of Borg in the short time since resurrection - knew anything of what the Greater Consciousness was or what it represented. And it certainly was not an AI.

Vaerz gaped his beak slightly, before asking, "Anything else to add? Any other problems? I am eager to hear anything you have to say."

This exercise of 'small talk' was extending overly long. Captain hoped the Sarcoram would get to the point of the conversation soon; and if not, there were more than sufficient grievances to bring forth and fill the time before the list was exhausted. "The enforcement of non-lucid communal downtime is inefficient. Depending upon species and assimilation configuration, differential requirements for regeneration creates a staggered schedule of unit activity. To force the entire sub-collective, irrespective of need, into regeneration every eighteen hours, then maintain that state for eight hours, is wasteful. Even more so is to put all units into non-lucidity. Drones can retain active mental usefulness during regeneration; and some individuals, such as higher echelon command and control, should regularly retain consciousness."

A somber expression overtook Vaerz's features. "I see. And you have additional concerns, yes? Just how many, please."

"There are 1,283 major issues, of which three have been briefly listed. There are another 9,764 problems of lower priority."

"That's...quite a few." Vaerz paused. "Sadly, I do not have the time to listen to all of them. I may have started the evening with a touch of insomnia, but I suspect that I will soon be over it. Before I return to my nest, however, I will tell you that at least one of your complaints will soon be rectified. Specifically, within the day, you will be allowed to set whatever sleep cycle you all wish - the technicians will have greater details in the morning.

"As you well know, the reason for the complete downtime is that Daisy - excuse me, my dear, for using such ill-suited language that doesn't come close to describing your true talents - is your censor program. She ensures that your pre-Prime Commands remain in place, unbent and uncorrupted; and, in turn, that safeguards the Alliance from, well, you, a resource that is potentially very, very dangerous. Daisy has progressed sufficiently in her learning and building of a baseline that she will be able to scan individuals as they enter regeneration, whenever that may be, and make the necessary, um, attitude adjustments. This does require what you term a non-lucid state, so even individuals such as yourself will be required to schedule complete mental downtime, but not every sleep cycle. Again, the techs will have the details.

"Without knowing each bullet point of your list, I am confident that other changes to occur in the next couple of days will serve to vastly shorten it. Munitions, replication and regeneration supplies, and other material will soon be available for on-loading. Your next briefing will occur when all is in readiness and during daylight hours. I cannot tell you any more right now, but suffice to say that my bosses feel that it is time to tell you why the Alliance went to the time and expense of your resurrection."

The Sarcoram's outward seeming of calm was a sham. Captain could read the underlying anxiety in the lay of certain feathers, in the tenseness of small muscle groups visible only via magnification. The Sarcoram body language library grew with every drone interaction; and even without backup collaboration of other sub-collective members, Captain was confident in his interpretation. Something big was in the works. Unfortunately, before he could inquire (demand) further details, a feeling of lethargy began to fog his brain: the AI had triggered the command subroutine which would pilot Captain's body back to his alcove and return him to regeneration.

{Night, night,} whispered Daisy into Captain's mental ears as awareness faded to grey, then black.
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General Observations on Assimilation Imperfection




Report Summary

Report #185 from the XenoPsyche Working Group of The Borg Project examines the concept of "assimilation imperfection", as compiled via subject interviews and data retrieved from extraction.




The Borg Collective was a communal mind composed of many bodies, colloquially called drones. It has become increasingly clear (see Report #10, #14-#17, #57, and #103) that the Collective was far from benign, and was in fact a very aggressive establishment for much of its existence, forcefully incorporating individuals into the "Greater Consciousness". As to be expected given such a large-scale endeavor - estimated population at the time of our Borg subjects' existence is in the quadrillions - mistakes were made during the assimilation process. The product of these errors was termed "assimilation imperfection".




The physical and mental stresses associated with assimilation are not pleasant (see Report #3, #7, #20-25, and #67-70). During the process, the psyche of the victim is completely shattered, then subsequently reconstituted in a form which so completely subscribes to all the tenets of the Borg Collective that self-identity is lost, subsumed into the communal "Whole". An imperfectly assimilated drone is one that has been successfully reprogrammed to Collective point-of-view and goals, but whom does not entirely lose a sense of individuality.




Manifestation of remnant individuality is diverse. The primary sign is the use of first person tense (i.e., the words "me" and "I"). Dialogue with subjects indicate the bulk of "normal" Collective drones refer to themselves in the third person. However, not all imperfectly assimilated units use the first person; and, as observed, most of the subjects will revert to third person when overly stressed (or when trying to evade discussion of certain topics). A secondary symptom takes the form of a poorly restrained id with a slue of obsessions and compulsions, some of them extremely bizarre. The sessions which form the basis of this report strongly suggest obsessive/compulsive tendencies were present, albeit latent in many cases, prior to assimilation, but emerged following processing.




At this time, the most promising theory by the XenoPsyche Working Group is that the majority of assimilation imperfection is the result of faulty processing of the triumvirate psychic apparatus. An individual's super-ego (internalized cultural rules as taught by parents, educators, and other role models) is successfully replaced via literal reprogramming with that of the Collective. Conversely, whereas the id (instinctual drives, with a focus on narcissist self-gratification) is also supposed to be erased and exchanged for Borg "instincts", such does not completely occur. Although certain impulses, such as those of sexuality, appear to be universally eradicated via chemical or physical castration, other focuses of a more nebulous nature are partially or wholly retained. Meanwhile, the ego (conscious self) has been sufficiently shattered that upon reconstitution it cannot fully restrain the modified id. However, it must be noted that some drones are vastly more successful than others at self-restraint (see references to the "Fire" incident in Report #77).




Oddly, the Borg Collective either did not fully understand the root cause of assimilation imperfection, else never imparted understanding upon the drones of our resurrected sub-collective. The former is most likely; and because the presumed incidence of assimilation imperfection per normal assimilation was so low, the Greater Consciousness may not have seen the need to devote resources to research. Instead, the end result was that individual manifestation of imperfection were "patched" to a greater or lesser degree by hardware/software censors and filters; and that all drones so afflicted were segregated into a single sub-collective.




From the point-of-view of the XenoPsyche Working Group, we are unsure why the Borg Collective tolerated imperfection, as the most logical action to take would be to destroy all units which displayed symptoms. The question is even more confusing in the revelation (see Report #24) that imperfection may be "contagious" in some instances, infecting otherwise normal drones. In fact, "rogues", those drones for which reprogramming of the super-ego was either initially unsuccessful or was able to be surmounted, were routinely euthanized. Yet, despite the inherent problems of imperfection, the Greater Consciousness was loath to destroy its almost-failures. This line of research would be fascinating to follow, if the Borg Collective was still extant.




Discussions with subjects find that because of assimilation imperfection, the communal mental architecture of our resurrected sub-collective is divergent. As with all sub-collectives, units are divided into groups as to basic function - engineering, tactical, and so forth. Unlike normal sub-collectives, each imperfect hierarchy maintains the equivalent of a "department head", a unit which, broadly speaking, acts as overseer. Also unlike the normal sub-collective, there are drones which coordinate the sub-collective entire - e.g., Hierarchy of Eight and primary/reserve consensus monitor and facilitator. Such "job" descriptions are crude, for our resurrected sub-collective, as all sub-collectives, professes to consider problems and devise solutions communally. The difference is that it requires a number of focal loci, as one drone (3 of 8, nee Second) put it "to ensure that the inmates do not get too out of line." This sentiment was echoed by several other drones, although the current primary consensus monitor and facilitator (4 of 8, nee Captain) often substituted in "babysitter" imagery.




See report text for full details, including a brief discussion on how assimilation imperfect may affect management of The Borg Project.
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{Get your stuff out of my area!}

{My "stuff" is your stuff, too. It is all our stuff. Plural.}

{It is still in my assigned area!}

{There was nothing there. And it is supposed to remain empty until next cycle. Some pallets of spare parts parked for a few hours will not hurt "your" space.}

{They are not munitions. The pallets therefore do not belong.}

{What if they were spare parts for the neuruptor system?}

There was a very short pause in the argument as a query was made. {The pallets are inventoried as replacements for replicator reclamation machinery. They do not belong in my area!}

The quarrel echoed throughout the intranet. Leakage intruded into conversation datastreams which had little or nothing to do with the fate of the five neatly packaged pallets currently residing on an empty bit of floor on temporary deck 6 within the open stack configuration of Cargo Hold #4. The participants in the increasingly heated dispute were Delta, the head of the engineering hierarchy, and Weapons, head of tactical. To aggravate any engineer upon a starship, much less a unit who held the equivalent of Chief Engineer, was a dangerous preposition due to the many subtle (and not so subtle) ways said engineer could make life miserable for the aggravatee.

Weapons did not care, and nor had he ever cared.

The antagonism had erupted shortly after a newly assimilated drone, recently diagnosed with assimilation imperfection, had been transferred to a Cube #347 55,048 Cycles objective, and too many Cycles subjective, in the past. At the time, Delta (or, rather Omega, as had been her subdesignation then), had already been aboard. Almost immediately it became apparent that the two personalities were not compatible. Both tactical and engineering hierarchy heads were supposed to change at quasi-regular intervals, the circumstances dictated by a Greater Consciousness long extinct. In this now, the roles (and designations) were locked to what they had been upon the demise of the sub-collective, but in the past, Weapons, by force of being himself, had claimed the head of his hierarchy and never let go, while 12 of 17 only reluctantly accepted the role of number one engineer when it was required of her. In truth, Weapons did not get along with any engineering hierarchy head, although the disagreements were greatest when 12 of 17 held the role, as she did now, and as it appeared she would continue to do into the foreseeable future.

Not even the trauma of death was sufficient to dampen the enmity. Although, to be honest, it really was Weapons' fault the majority of the time, as he seemed to know exactly which metaphorical buttons to push to wind Delta to the extreme. He did not do it out of malicious intent, but rather as an extension of being himself. Whatever he cause, the end result was a lowering of efficiency, not just for engineering and weapons hierarchies, but the entire cube when the disputes passed a critical threshold.

{The pallets shall be removed! If they are not removed in less than one minute - mark! - I will do it for engineering, with disruptors! Personal disruptors were only unlocked 5.4 cycles ago, and my hierarchy needs practice, even if it is on boring, stationary targets.}

{Touch those pallets, Weapons, and...}

Enough was enough. The argument had reached the point where Captain was forced to intervene. An airhorn equivalent slashed through the hostile dialogue, eliciting immediate silence. {Why is it every couple of hours I have to intercede? Are you both sub-adolescent children? Is this a playground? Are you trying to make up for 50,000-plus Cycles of not bickering?}

{I-}began Weapons, simultaneous with Delta's {He-}. Neither got further than the first protesting syllable.

{Weapons. Do you not have better things to do than argue with Delta about where some spare parts were placed on a vessel that is Us? The last time I checked status updates, the game project - to which you organized the successful decision cascade to commit your hierarchy, contending it to be a vital component to cube survival - was incomplete. Very incomplete.} Captain deliberately used the word 'game', knowing full well that there would be a reaction. He was not disappointed.

{Game? Game? It is a tactical simulation of the highest order!} Weapons had predictably transferred his ever-simmering ire to the consensus monitor and facilitator. {We-}

{We are behind, is what we are,} replied Captain calmly. {If there are issues with the rebuild, compilation, and code debug/test, additional command and control resources are available to assist. There are also idle assimilation hierarchy and drone maintenance units which can be used as passive integrator or subprocessor components in the gestalt. Maybe even the AI can be persuaded to be mildly useful by lending a few runtime cycles.}

Long ago, upon the first iteration of Cube #347, Weapons had begun the never-ending project of 'improving' the commercial retail version of a very successful computer game featuring three alien species at interstellar war. Stripping away the plot, the game's skeleton had provided a strong base upon which much modification had occurred. Space battles, planetary assaults, orbital station occupation - the scenarios, and variations thereupon, had become many, with complexity blossoming as characteristics and psychologies of known species had been added. At first, the BorgCraft project had been solely a dataspace endeavor, but the eventual inclusion of holoemitters had allowed Weapons to produce 'real-life' scenarios. Overall, BorgCraft had become quite a boon for Cube #347, for not only had it kept Weapons (and his hierarchy) largely engaged and out of the non-existent hair of whatever designation was functioning as primary consensus monitor, but the models could be configured with variations upon the current tactical situation, providing a range of 'what-if' outcomes to feed into decision cascades.

With the demise of Cube #347, the tactical simulation had been lost to the sub-collective. The BorgCraft program was too large to be held within the on-board storage of one, or even a thousand, drones. Only the storage capacity represented, at a minimum by the standard Borg ship was sufficient. In the distant past, the Collective had examined the BorgCraft product, declared it irrelevant to the Whole even as it had, with the mindset of a hoarder, saved a copy just in case a future use for it might be found. Therefore, if the Greater Consciousness had still existed, it would have been theoretically possible that the sub-collective might have found the ancient code figuratively stored in a dusty alcove of the Collective dataspaces.

Unfortunately, in this now, the sub-collective had been resurrected without ship, into a universe without Borg, without a Greater Consciousness. And not only had Weapons been without his favorite obsession, but the lack had meant additional burden upon command and control hierarchy to ensure tactical drones with little to do remained, more or less, docile.

One of the first data requests made by the sub-collective upon taking possession of the Alliance-built Cube #347 was to request games. Specifically, the need was for simulations, with preference for those featuring (space) battle scenarios, a complex AI, decent game physics, and high-end video and audio output; and, please, nothing that required constant connection to a central server for the game to work. Bemused Alliance handlers had granted the petition, then proceeded to feed the sub-collective every sim which could be located, from vintage to latest release, until such time the request to "stop" had been received. Sifting through the games, Weapons had finally found one which resembled the original feedstock program; and since then, he and his hierarchy had been feverishly laboring to replicate in a less than two months the end product of decades of work.

Although the Greater Consciousness had not found the BorgCraft program to be of utility to the Whole, the slight tactical advantage provided to an imperfect sub-collective could be the difference between continued effective service to the Whole and a fireball of scrap and crisped organics. The Collective might be extinct in this future-now, but the need for any tactical advantage persisted.

Needless to say, and not unexpectedly, "BorgCraft II - Resurrection" was far from complete. Weapons may have been good at making things go boom, but his shattered mindscape was not suited to extended periods of micromanaging concentration: the dataspace equivalent of shiny things tended to distract. And when Weapons was less focused upon the BorgCraft project, he became more prone to fixate upon unproductive exercises like annoying Delta, which in turn caused his hierarchy to falter. The trick, as consensus monitor and facilitator, was to know what, exactly, to say in order to redirect Weapons to his task.

Captain, like all members of the Hierarchy of Eight, had had decades to learn the best ways to tug Weapons' leash.

{Well?} prompted Captain.

Weapons bristled, {We do not need assistance from command and control, and certainly not assimilation or drone maintenance! None, except my hierarchy, truly understand the physical mechanics in coding a realistic fireball under different atmosphere gas mixes and pressures! And to expect a non-tactical unit to accurately discriminate between the near miss sound by a disruptor, type I, and a disruptor, type II? Never! The subharmonics and reverb would be wrong!}

Replied Captain in a steady tone, {Then you have enough to keep you busy? Basic capability for the...tactical simulation will be ready for when the Alliance decides to enlighten us on our mission? I'm sure there will be explosions involved, and I'd prefer it wasn't us doing the exploding.}

{Yes!} snarled Weapons. It was obvious that his tiff with Delta was already forgotten. {The next progress update will be in 2.3 hours.} Even as the head of the weapons hierarchy retreated to re-engage his mind in the BorgCraft task, he was already prodding various partitions to accelerate menu graphics compilation and prepare sound samples for sprite integration.

In the real world of his nodal intersection, Captain exhaled the breath he had been holding in a long, rattling sigh. He was answered by the "tch-tch" of clicking incisors. Eyes opened to regard Doctor, head of the drone maintenance hierarchy whom also happened to bear a strong resemblance to a cybernized rodent. One ear twitched.

"Bad boy!" A hand, holding a rolled up sheaf of paper, descended, bopping Captain on the nose. "Your blood pressure was approaching dangerous levels! Much more and something might have blown! And you've not only locked yourself from the transporter system so I cannot beam you to a maintenance bay, but you have turned off all your warning diagnostics! Again, bad boy!" The makeshift weapon fell again.

Assimilation imperfection had magnified certain personality traits of Doctor's ex-veterinarian background. As such, when he was not attempting to acquire and hoard illegal pets, he often addressed his patients in a manner more appropriate for an animal.

Captain raised an arm to fend off the attack, but failed. In the background of his mind, he heard the ghost chortle of the reserve consensus monitor and facilitator, Second. It was ignored in light of the attack. "Cease. Comply." At the magic word, Doctor immediately stopped, arm raised for a third assault. "I do not have time for either diagnostics or drone maintenance reminding me that I am under a lot of stress. This body will persevere. You hitting me on the head doesn't help. Don't you have better things to do? Engineering units are stacked on the drone maintenance roster."

Doctor lowered his occupied hand, only to lift the other, holding it palm towards the consensus monitor. Ears continued to randomly flick as the open hand was swept over torso, limbs, head (the latter requiring a reach, given the height difference). Incisors clicked again. "Your body will not persevere. You are running a regeneration deficit - not enough good stuffs and too much bad in your system - and it will catch up with you. You also are very overdue for your check-up and body tuning. If you collapse, depending on the system compromised, there may not be a replacement suitable to be adapted to your physiology. So, you are definitely being a bad boy!"

While some items could be replicated, there were limits. No replicator - not Borg, not the Alliance version - was good at creating complex machinery. Homogeneous blocks of material, simple widgets, organics shaped and flavored into food products, these were the things a replicator excelled at creating. Although it was possible to build more intricate doodads by replicating the parts piecemeal from a blueprint then assembling them into the final product, which was how 127 of 230 constructed her beloved racing shuttles, the process took time. It was more efficient for a Borg cube to stockpile a large number of implants and assemblies, onloading them from a warehouse supply depot. Unfortunately, there was no convenient supply depot in this future-now. A stock of replacements parts was slowly being assembled as time and replicator precursor resources allowed, but the truth was that the bulk of the current 'stockpile' was the bits and pieces harvested from terminated drones. It was to this anemic reserve, and the fact that a part may not be available should there be a catastrophic emergency, to which Doctor alluded.

"I am just one of many," protested Captain. "In the unlikely event of my termination, there will be a unit to take...my place." Pause. Whole eye narrowed in suspicion. "Second set you on me, didn't he? That is the reason behind this personal attention." The sentence was statement, not question.

Doctor immediately wilted, ears pressed against his skull. "Yes. This unit has so much to do, so many puppies which need bones re-set and boo-boos bandaged, but-"

"But Second is trying to ensure that he does not become, as the locals say, the Big Beak," finished Captain. A swift mental thought re-enabled a blocked algorithm; and immediately a self-diagnostic daemon began to whisper all the things out of tolerance in Captain's body. He placed the datastream as far to the back of his conscious awareness as he could. "Diagnostics are reinitiated. Go back to your job. Time spent focusing on me is inefficient to the whole. I will be having a little discussion with Second, because if he feels he has the time to nanny me, then he obviously hasn't been provided with a sufficiently large workload."

The head of drone maintenance hierarchy vanished in a transporter beam even before Captain finished verbalizing the final sentence.

{Second...}

{Hello. You have reached the answering machine of 3 of 8, sub-designation Second, backup consensus monitor and facilitator of rebuilt Exploratory-class Cube #347, currently located somewhere in the distant future. He is not home right now, but if you leave your name and contact information, he will get back to you as soon as possible. Beep.}

{Nice try Second, but the computer locates you in Nanite Assembly Room #3,} said Captain. The monitor at the front of the nodal intersection bulkhead had shifted to a wire-frame ship schematic, focused on the locale in question. A yellow dot slowly pulsated, amid a double handful of purple icons. {Was there a reason you actually said "Beep", instead of inserting a sound effect? The sound library has been growing at a near exponential rate, partially helped by the efforts of Weapons' BorgCraft needs, but mostly because certain individuals are committed to ensuring "nails on chalkboard" be available on the off-chance it is ever needed.}

Second ignored the criticism, {I only desired to ensure that our sub-collective continues to work as efficiently as possible. While it is true that it does not matter which member of the Hierarchy of Eight is primary consensus monitor, consider the disorganization which would develop during the transition following your demise. And then there is the expected decrease in effectiveness of the sub-collective upon the loss of any command and control unit. I was only accounting for the well-being of the whole; and Doctor, despite his idiosyncrasies and tendency to offer biscuits and flea collars, is an excellent drone maintenance unit. And he is a hierarchy head, so it requires more effort on your part to engage the appropriate commands to forcefully dismiss him. You have been neglecting your body as of late, and there is potential for repercussion.}

The answer was politically correct. Exceedingly so. It followed the Collective focus upon the Whole; and while the health of individual drones was usually disregarded, exceptions were possible. Second was invoking one of those concessions.

Captain did not believe a word of it. To be more precise, he understood and agreed with the logic utilized, but he also did not fully accept the background motive to be as altruistic and dedicated to the welfare of the sub-collective as Second argued. The ultimate truth was that Second did not desire to upgrade his subdesignation to "Captain" any time in the near or distant future.

{I will endeavor to keep myself adequately functional,} replied Captain dryly, perfectly understanding the unsaid in Second's line of reasoning. Change in topic. {Why are you in Nanite Assembly Room #3? You are assigned to assist Delta maintain span of control on engineering and units temporarily allocated thereof, given the number of active bodies is beyond what she can directly oversee. Primary oversight for assimilation hierarchy belongs to 2 of 8 at this time.}

{And 2 of 8 is overseeing assimilation hierarchy,} interrupted 2 of 8. {And it was all going handily - better than normal - with the psychoses level below long-term average because units actually have something to do. Even though the future of assimilation is more bleak than usual due to the pre-Prime Commands, there is still need to make preparations, just in case. Shine the chrome, replace the new-ship-smell with something more appropriately medicinal, and so forth. Then, just as I was about to touch up my body paint - the reds about my torso were starting to flake - well, Assimilation happened. Now the majority of my runtime, and those of the resources under me, is dedicated to preventing or limiting psychoses manifestation. Since my best solution was to drown Assimilation in his own paint, I requested Second to intervene.}

Captain blinked, shifting attention to resource allocation, finding that, yes, there had been an abrupt spike shortly before the Delta versus Weapons confrontation. And that the sub-program which was supposed to alert him of such an occurrence had been rerouted to Second.

{You have been under a lot of stress. It is just Assimilation having one of his fits, nothing important,} replied Second to the unsaid query.

{What is it this time?} asked Captain. He requested access to the pertinent information, but found himself denied. {Second...except when it comes to confusing the computer to prevent selection for away mission teams, I am a better hacker than you. Don't make me expend the resources to decrypt the datastream. What was your earlier argument about stress and my personal health as it pertained to sub-collective productivity?} Captain attempted to access the cameras in Nanite Assembly Room #3, finding similar hastily erected blocks. Furthermore, none of the designations in the room were responsive to pinged queries.

{It is only Assimilation. I can handle it.}

Captain stared at the purple dots and single yellow blob on the monitor. Many of the former had begun to move in a manner too swift for the average Borg. Then all motion abruptly halted. {I will come down there personally, efficiency be damned...and my blood pressure, too. If something terminally bursts, it will be your fault. 2 of 8-}

{Leave me out of this,} immediately interjected the named Hierarchy of Eight member. {I'm too busy preventing incipient psychoses leaks from spreading to the rest of the sub-collective.}

{Fine,} relented Second as Captain set a transporter lock on himself. Cameras and datastreams were released.

Captain turned inward, shuffling through visual streams before settling upon that originating from Second. Start with a length of silk-like fabric, approximately two meters long, duct-taped to one wall behind a row of nanite vats. Specifically, the article was a waist sash, a decorative item worn by Sarcoram, most often, but not always, of the gyn-male gender. This particular sash was a brilliant sapphire, especially eye-catching due to an iridescent quality, as if the cloth had been dipped in fish scales. Upon the wall to each side of the sash were dozens of paint swaths, all grey: just because an old brain injury prevented Assimilation from perceiving color did not stop the ex-artist from trying to categorize and recreate each new hue encountered, albeit upon the grayscale spectrum. Assimilation was currently statue-still before the sash, bemoaning under his breath (and within the intranet, now that Captain was no longer blocked from hearing) about impossibilities and failure; and at his feet was a grey mess of the materials he had used to concoct his many, many attempts.

{The problem seems to be that the color has an ultraviolet component,} said Second as he briefly adjusted his visual filter to demonstrate before returning to the standard light spectrum. {Once Assimilation decided he could not fully recreate the color, he went all depressed, like only he can. Lacking appropriate filters - if you are supposed to be our censor, Daisy, you have failed most epically - the mental contagion spread within his hierarchy to the physically nearest units. I contained the infection to the fourteen drones prepping the vats for inoculation of ship regenerate nanite strains, preventing suicide, self-injury, and so forth; and 2 of 8 is dealing with the slop-over and leakage.} Sigh. {This is just like the hyperpuce incident, only this time we cannot afford to lose any drone, not even assimilation units.}

A hierarchy head could either reflect the state of the drones within his/her/its span of control, or cause the hierarchy to echo their mental state. This was due to the psychological intimacy required of the hierarchy head to manage their assigned designations; and while the effect was moderated by censors, an especially strong reaction could break through even the best filters. And the filters currently operating within the sub-collective dataspace were not the best. Thus, the tactical hierarchy had to be watched lest one of Weapons' manic moments translate into a munitions accident; and when Assimilation embarked upon one of his stints of extreme depression, such as was on display in Nanite Assembly Room #3, the majority of his hierarchy would similarly be dragged down.

Second projected vexation. {It has gone too far: Assimilation can't be sent into emergency regeneration because the mental backlash might cause self-termination among the more impressionable drones of his hierarchy.}

{In other words, you would have had to reveal the problem to me eventually. I think I would have noticed realignment of resources for an unscheduled consensus cascade, no matter how you tried to hide it,} replied Captain. The burgeoning crisis was attracting increasing notice within the sub-collective ranks, although an outside observer, watching drones going about their physical tasks, would never have realized the diversion of attention. Several ragged thought fragments arose from the sub-collective unconsciousness, attributable to no individual drone. Captain gave the notions a voice: {Have you considered contacting the Alliance as to how the ultraviolet effect is accomplished? Or one of the contractors painting the guest quarters?}

Silence. Obviously the answer was a "no".

Said Captain with more than a touch of sarcasm, {Well, don't let me do all your thinking for you. I wouldn't want to strain myself. Perhaps burst something?}

Like the AI core which squatted in place of the vinculum in Central Engineering, the "guest quarters" were a deviation from the Exploratory-class cube blueprint. Most of hallway 54 in subsection 13, submatrix 3 had been divested of its storage closets, workshops, and other rooms. In their place had been constructed sleeping quarters, a cafeteria/recreation room, sanitary facilities, a small gymnasium which doubled as a holo-facility, and Alliance-standard laboratories for multiple disciplines. All together, the space was designed to house up to fifty non-Borg personnel.

Other than ensuring that various equipment properly meshed with cube power systems, the sub-collective was prohibited from participating in the reconstruction effort. This was fine with Delta, who would have put the project so low of the priority to-do list that it effectively would still be a gutted hallway even in the months since someone in the Alliance had decided it would be a good thing to have official hitchhikers aboard the ship. Conversely, the prohibition did not forbid drone presence, and, therefore, there were always a few weapons or engineering units quietly standing out of the way, staring at the Alliance contractors retrofitting the quarters into the cube's internal structure. Also present, as often as she could escape her official duties, was 42 of 203, ex-interior designer (and not a good one). Unlike the other units, she had insinuated her way into the contractors via the tried-and-true method of asking too many questions (the better to understand modern design trends), and was now an unofficial member of the decor staff, albeit one whose tassel-centric suggestions were never heeded.

Second prodded 42 of 203 to approach one of the painters whom was applying an accent color to decorative hallway trim.

"No, there is absolutely nos chances of burnts umber," pre-emptively said the amphibious Caltrak, gurgling sibilance strong despite the best effort of the universal translator. A minor partner species within the Alliance which vaguely resembled a six-legged salamander with a too short tail, the almost nude male - the toolbelt technically counted as clothing - did not bother to look away from his task. "Qitis find thats color particularly objectionable. Ands florescent limes be hards on the eyeses for many Alliance races." Four brushes delicately licked the trim, loam brown paint never splattering out of place.

42 of 203 sighed at the...institutional color scheme. A splash of cherry red or fuchsia, what would be the harm?

Second mentally nudged the drone again, harder.

"That is not why we have approached," began 42 of 203. "We have come upon an odd color variation, one we have never encountered before. You will enlighten us." Without actually mentioning the issue embroiling the sub-collective, and assimilation hierarchy specifically, the sash was described, with a focus upon the unable-to-reproduce ultraviolet undertone.

"Oh, yous mean slattoe! Very popular amongst the Sarcorams and thems few others thats can see thats color. Thems that likes it describe it sparkly and warm. I can't sees it myself, so I just takes theirs word fors it." Tail swayed gently back and forth.

The sub-collective blinked; 42 of 203 blinked. "Slattoe" was passing through the universal translator unaltered, which meant it had a very specific meaning. "What is 'slattoe'?"

As the painter started to describe the substance from his point of view, a process that included much gesturing with brushes and saliva-enhanced hissing, an information query was sent to Daisy. Since the sub-collective was not allowed access to the Alliance computer network nor the contemporary version of the GalacNet, the despised AI did have its uses regarding external data sources. A picture emerged of slattoe as a chemically complex monster of an organic pigment, synthetic production impractical as it could be inexpensively extracted in bulk from an easily farmed weed originating from the Sarcoram homeworld. The plant, naturalized to a number of planets, had a large range of environmental tolerances, and even took readily to hydroponics systems. Assimilation would never have reproduced the ultraviolet effect using his standard mix-and-match methodology.

Second pinged a request, backed by 2 of 8. An abbreviated consensus cascade was run, and while there was a bloc advocating that the loss of a few assimilation hierarchy members to be acceptable, in the end a decision otherwise was reached. An emergency supply request for a kilo of powdered slattoe pigment was made to the appropriate Alliance representative. Captain hoped he would not be required to explain why the sub-collective suddenly needed the material, that it would be approved and delivered without fanfare.

Current disaster-in-the-making presumably averted, Captain assigned a command and control partition to monitor Nanite Assembly Room #3. His last conscious view of the situation, as he attached the crisis to a secondary datastream and relinquished his rider of Second's visual feed, was his backup consensus monitor advancing on Assimilation in preparation to deliver a stinging slap to bring the latter out of his near-catatonic state so as to deliver the news of soon-to-arrive slattoe.

The ghost of a chuckle, originating from the AI Daisy, followed Captain as he slipped into the deep dataspaces, subsuming himself into his role of primary consensus monitor, facilitator, and babysitter to the Cube #347 sub-collective. His whole eye glazed as he focused sightlessly on his monitor. Simultaneously, the monitor itself shifted to a pie-chart-esque configuration, each slice mirroring one of the multiple datastreams of Captain's mental threading. At the side of the screen, Borg alphanumerics hypnotically scrolled, silver chicken-scratch runes glowing bright against the dark background.

With Cube #347 stocking up on necessary supplies and preparing to be sent on whatever mysterious mission the Alliance had planned, ship condition was a principal concern. Multiple items from engineering status reports had been flagged by various command and control partitions. Captain had just pinged Delta for her attention when he was predictably interrupted.

{Sensors protests! The [strawberries] are doing it again! Sensors can [sunshine] it, even if Sensors cannot [ghost] them. Their [echoes] can be [tasted].} Sensors, the insectoid head of the sensory hierarchy, leapt into Captain's mindspace with no warning.

Even amongst Borg drones, a universal translator was required. Basic meaning could be conveyed via mental interaction, but more complex communication, even amid non-imperfect units, required the medium of words. The sub-collective's Borg-derived universal translator had been lost with past-Cube #347. How this loss might have subsequently affected the resurrected sub-collective was an unknown because by the time the drones were allowed to fully awaken from sedation, first singly and later in groups, a new, locally derived, translator system had been in place.

The Alliance, as a multi-racial conglomerate, was suitably advanced in the art of communication for the multitude of languages represented within the sub-collective to be easily transliterated...with one exception. That exception was Sensors, a member of species #6766, an insectoid race superficially resembling a giant praying mantis. While outside appearance usually had little bearing as to neural architecture - sentience necessitated a conservative approach in evolution, such that there were only a few basic brain ("hardware") configurations - species #6766 was very different. Once upon a time called "Bug" because the species self-name could not be pronounced without the wind section of a small orchestra, the mental wiring and perspective of the race fell into a category all its own. While not dissimilar enough to prevent assimilation by the Collective, the differences were sufficient to stymie Borg translation algorithms, which in turn led to substitutions which might or might not be close to the original word used. Sometimes the replacements were close enough to allow understanding of meaning, but other times there was only confusion.

It had quickly become apparent that Alliance universal translators suffered from the same difficulties Borg, and other, algorithms had displayed when it came to interpreting the Bug language. 

Fortunately, this was a case where one did not need to guess at what the [strawberries] were. Sensors' complaint had been made multiple times, not just to Captain, but also Second and other Hierarchy of Eight members. And it was a complaint about which nothing could be done. {The Crastians don't hurt anything,} replied Captain with a sigh. {Kick them if they are in the way...that is what their own Alliance comrades do. The Crastians do not take offense.}

Sensors emotive response was dark as she carefully picked her words to ensure they (mostly) traversed the translator unchanged, {The [strawberries] sing. They sing out of tune. They loiter near Sensors' alcove when not on shift. And they hide in the interstitial spaces to avoid [punting].}

Crastians were a race of knee-high land crabs. They were a rare example of a sapient descended from a crustacean. Even the sub-collective's very incomplete racial dossier only included two examples - most sentients hailed from mammalian or reptilian stock, and even true insectoids were more common than crustaceans. With their small stature, acrobatic ability, and incredible dexterity of their forward four (of twelve) limbs, the Crastians' primary function thus far observed appeared to be as engineering technicians specialized to work in cramped spaces. There may have been entrepreneurs, scientists, and poets amongst their race, but none of them were on the Alliance crews that labored to finish the guest quarters. And when not performing delicate feats of wiring, off-duty Crastians were inevitably found lurking in Sensors' vicinity, often hidden in the interstitial spaces with only one or two of their four eyestalks poked out into the alcove tier to give away their location.

The Crastians' stalking would not have bothered Sensors - no second, nor even first, thought would have been given to it, Borg masters at ignoring that which was not relevant - except for one little consideration. To understand the issue one had to know that Crastian culture maintained an extraordinarily large pantheon of gods, minor deities, spirit icons, and celestial beings, and that worship was less a matter of religious observance and more fad. "In" divinities came and went, some stalwarts like Auncor, god of the birthing sands, remaining popular for centuries whereas others were trendy for a couple of months before being consigned to the pages of history. One deity which had withstood the test of time was Gihcha, muse of music. Given that the Crastian notion of 'god' was fairly abstract, it was not surprising that deistic imagery did not necessarily conform to a land crab self-image. In the eyestalks of the local Crastians, Sensors not only bore a very strong resemblance to the popular image of Gihcha, but her speech, when she talked, was the melodic orchestra fitting to be attributable to a muse of music.

The Crastian idea of appropriate worship was to try to mimic every word produced by Sensors, as heard beneath the universal translator. Unfortunately, not only was such an endeavor impossible due to the lack of eight individually controllable thoracic spiracles, but every Crastian member of the Alliance build team was completely and utterly tone deaf. It was probably a universal trait of the species, and one which annoyed Sensors to no end.

A possible solution, and one which had been offered time and again by Captain, Second, and anyone else to whom Sensors complained, was simply not to speak aloud. As a Borg drone linked to other drones, there was no need for verbalized communication; and, in fact, many units would go their entire Collective existence without uttering a word. Unfortunately for Sensors, this was not a practical solution. While she was consciously restricting all mutterings which mirrored intranet conversations, her funeral dirge practices had to be audible.

Unlike the fuzzy end-time memories of every other sub-collective unit, Sensors professed to remember with perfect clarity her death - impalement during an alcove tier collapse as a result of battle damage. The claim could not be verified because the meme, freely offered, was, like many things species #6766, decipherable only by another Bug. However, beyond the fact that Borg did not lie, there was no reason to believe she was not telling the truth. While another entity may have been disturbed to be able to recall in crystal clarity one's own traumatic demise, Sensors was not particularly concerned. Instead, the point which bothered her was the singing of her funeral dirge. Disconnected from the Whole, Sensors' had been deprived of the species #6766 notion of ultimate nirvana, which was to be a voice in the Collective Choir, itself a reflection of the universal Song made tangible. Denied corporeal enlightenment, Sensors had been forced to settle for spiritual, singing her soul to the cosmos via an end-of-life song.

It was a uniquely Bug theology lost upon the rest of the galaxy, the latter of whom tended to fear the Borg, not welcome assimilation with open arms.

Sensors was annoyed with herself concerning the inadequate quality of her funeral dirge. Given that the great majority of her species did not receive a second chance to sing their death-song, Sensors was obsessed with perfecting it. Unless the Collective could be re-established - unlikely in the near future given the various obstacles provided by the Alliance - it was very probable that Sensors would go to the grave once more without the opportunity to be One with the Choir of the Whole. Therefore, it was imperative that the requiem be perfect, which in turn necessitated practice.

Practice which the adoring Crastians would mimic as well as they could, which was very bad indeed. 

Replied Captain to Sensors with exasperation, {We cannot do anything about the Crastians. We are not allowed assimilation. We are not allowed eradication. We did ask the Alliance liaison to restrain them, but were told that, one, it was a freedom of religion issue, and, two, it to be highly likely the Crastians would fixate on another deity as soon as the newest God of the Week circular was published. The latter has now occurred several times, and it is obvious that these Crastians will not budge their current theological view. We can harass them. If you cannot kick them, perhaps you can find an appropriate object to beat the bulkhead where they are hiding.}

{And produce [bells]....} said Sensors, literally following the train of thought. Affirmation. {Sensors will do that.}

{Fine. Just don't break anything. Engineering is occupied enough as it is,} warned Captain. The subject now to the forefront of his mind, the consensus monitor and facilitator turned his awareness towards the engineering status updates compiled by various command and control partitions. Most of the reports were standard, boring n-dimensional hyperlinked lists consisting largely of bullet points, but a few oddities had been flagged for additional consideration when sub-collective runtime processes allowed. Captain's very act of shifting cognizance (or, rather, reflecting the shift of the sub-collective Whole...Captain was as much a part of the All as any drone) signified that computational resources were available.

{I am too busy for direct interface,} pre-emptively said Delta, her stereo-esque voice at odds with a mental signature that could be discerned as two, not one, only upon very close examination. Although Delta was technically twins, assimilation had so welded her separate psyches together that she was regarded to be a single persona (and designation) in two bodies. {If you must confer with this hierarchy, there are a number of units [list of designations set to scrolling in a subsidiary datathread] which may be consulted for routine matters. I am in the midst of rewiring the tractor system to increase efficiency of the power leech effect, and it is a very tricky operation. The Alliance may have extracted the information to build this cube from our minds, but that doesn't mean that they constructed, or understood, everything correctly. And it is obvious the sub-contractor for the tractor/pressor system decided to take shortcuts and revert to local tech practices regarding-}

Captain slashed through Delta's monologue before she could descend into the mystical engineering realms of technobabble, {This is not routine.} The particulars of the flagged status entries were, in the larger picture, not important, but rather the excuse to engage in a more important self-discussion. {We require the candid appraisal of the engineering hierarchy: whatever the Alliance has planned, will we be ready?} Just below the surface of the communal sub-conscious lurked the unvoiced follow-up question of "And will we survive long enough to maybe, just maybe, escape our enslavement and re-establish the Collective?"

Wedged within the too-small space of an interstitial access corridor, both of Delta paused, as did the ten drone team assisting in the task. Solder and wire clippers and reroute diagrams were temporarily set to a lower priority status. Throughout the cube, over 800 bodies, the bulk of the Engineering hierarchy, plus another 500 units currently assigned to a support function, shuffled to a halt. Drones in the midst of projects where stopping would result in grievous harm to equipment or body continued to toil, but they were the minority.

Alliance researchers, observers, and contractors sprinkled throughout the cube's volume began to ask questions about the abrupt change in activity. They were ignored.

{We...do not know,} was the eventual admission from Delta, the frustration of not knowing strongly evident in her underlying intranet signature. Even as a minor cog of the Collective, and one that was held at metaphorical arm's length at that, the imperfect sub-collective had once-upon-a-time still been able to employ the Borg standard operating procedure of letting the Whole do the heavy mental lifting on a tricky problem, even if such consultation was completed in a peripheral manner. To have so few drones, so little mental resources, available was claustrophobic.

{Expand,} demanded Captain. More runtime was redirected to the quandary, and the remainder of Cube #347's Borg population joined their engineering brethren in contemplation of the underlying question.

Delta rattled a virtual sigh that shook the dataspaces. Diagrams and flowcharts materialized in Captain's (the sub-collective's) mindspace, a fraction of which was unconsciously echoed on the display at which the consensus monitor was staring blankly. {This new...Cube #347 is a very good facsimile of Borg tech, but it is, fundamentally, not Borg tech. It was built too fast and without the comprehension of the underlying concepts. The Alliance may have scanned our brains to winkle out every nugget of information accessible, but it does not mean they understand.} Delta paused a moment before continuing, words carefully picked as she attempted to articulate a concept the sub-collective had never had to consider before. {We do not understand the technology either, but it is a different not-understanding. We do not need to know how it works to know how to troubleshoot or repair or rebuild, it is...instinct. The Alliance does not have this...instinct. They are individuals. They look at each shiny gem they stole from us, not the whole treasure trove. We are one. Perhaps not One, but sufficiently so for the gestalt to function.} Delta stopped again, unable to adequately enunciate what was fundamentally unenunciatable.

Scattered thoughts were gathered, divergent processes pruned. The engineering hierarchy head continued, dismissing quasi-philosophy to focus instead on the concrete. {Alliance tech level rates at class IIIb. As it relates to Cube #347, most technologies are advanced over the cube's pre-Dark iteration, but not on parity to post-Dark.} A comparative list began to scroll. {Core power output is only 68% of theoretical maximum. There is no cloaking device. Weapons like neuruptors are obviously new technology for the Alliance; transmutation pulse is experimental; and there are no singularity torpedoes. There is no transwarp. Hypertranswarp is theoretically installed, but while the Alliance had been exploring the concept before our arrival, the prototypes were installed on small automated probe. The components for the cube were assembled from engineering memory files. Inexpertly. It is has not been tested and is highly recommended by this hierarchy to only be engaged if there is no other option. Therefore, our primary FTL propulsion is warp. Conversely, replicator and reclamation technologies are advanced compared to what we recall of former benchmarks, and energy efficiency is excellent.} For the hypothetical outside observer, Delta described a society with technology more advanced than the ancient multi-racial collaboration history had once known as First Federation, but not as developed as the Second Federation which eventually replaced it.

{The Alliance is,} continued Delta, {sharing the cube owner's manual as each section is written and/or updated. We are not impressed...the directions for realigning the matter-antimatter injectors are overly complex and most things say "It is recommended to return to the dealer for servicing." As if that will be an option when we break down a thousand light years from dry-dock, FTL communication inoperable due to some alien ship-parasite bent on consuming all ytterbium-containing materials onboard.}

Prodded Captain, {The question, Delta: are we ready? Will we survive?}

Delta emoted a negative. {We are not ready. We can, and are, altering critical ship components to bring them into proper BorgStandard alignment...or as close to BorgStandard as we can, given the lack of Collective support and loss of engineering files. If the Alliance expects us to do more than blow up the occasional asteroid or act as a threatening decoration to be deployed against weaker neighbors, then survival is...not anticipated.}

Final appraisal delivered, the sub-collective lurched back into motion. The introspective may have been discouraging, but depression was a sentiment for small beings, not applicable to Borg. Despite the cold fact that the drones would, sooner rather than later, be leaving this future stage they had been resurrected upon, such was not a basis upon which to develop pathological despair. There was always the minute chance that the evaluation had been wrong.

The physical universe floated like scum upon the foundation of the quantum. In the quantum, literally anything was possible; and some things, like cause following effect, were downright routine. It was in the translation in scale of the quantum to the atomic, and thence to the macrouniverse, that the probabilities of 'reality' were established. Therefore, it was perfectly acceptable to believe that there was always a possibility, no matter how farfetched, for a specific scenario to occur.

For a Borg drone, hope was as irrelevant a concept as despair. It was unlikely that a nonBorg entity would understand the focus of the sub-collective upon a very slim chance, only able to be expressed in higher order mathematics, and how it was dissimilar from 'hope', but there was a world of difference.

Or, at least, that is what the deep subconscious of the sub-collective averred.

Several minutes following resumption of normal activities, a short message arrived in the electronic box established for non-critical communiques between sub-collective and Alliance. It was addressed to Captain, although upon opening it became immediately evident that the true recipient was the sub-collective entire. It seemed the Alliance was finally ready to divulge the specifics of the mission for which Cube #347 was preparing.

Captain sent an RSVP that the suggested day and hour of the meeting - tomorrow, 5th-flight, local time - was acceptable and, as 'requested', he would be physically present at the Base Three meeting facility as representative for the sub-collective.

As if he, or the sub-collective, had a choice.




Captain stood on a low stage at the front of the small auditorium. An egg shape 30 meters in length and 15 meters at its widest point, the front of the room was noticeably narrower compared to the back. Although most species opted for the clean lines of rectangle or square, the odd configuration did make sense considering the room's function. A background dataspace thread mused that the designer was probably not Sarcoram - despite their avian ancestry, the race did like regular angles - but rather one of the other Alliance races.

Midway along the neck of the egg room, a broad horseshoe shaped table squatted, legs of the U towards Captain. A number of known dignitaries and Big Beaks sat behind the table, the only one of whom who truly had importance in the sub-collective's estimation being Security Liaison Vaerz. Fifty chairs set in rows were arranged behind the table; and prominent individuals associated with the Borg project inhabited those chairs, sometimes with obvious discomfort given a species' anatomy. A handful of aides and runners waited on the periphery. At the rear of the room, flanking the door, eight Alliance marines stood at ease, weapons held loosely in hand, but ready to aim if Captain should make any threatening movement.

The marines were likely courtesy of Security Liaison Vaerz. Even with the Xenig pre-Prime Commands in place and the AI Daisy eavesdropping on every thoughtstream, he had never relaxed his guard. Vaerz was the archetype suspicious bastard. If the sub-collective could ever gain freedom from their Alliance chains, he would be the cube's greatest threat.

And if the opportunity arose, Captain would assimilate Vaerz personally. It was a desire born of imperfection and, thus, not particularly Borg, but in this instance Captain had been deliberately lax in allowing censors to prune the illicit impulse.

Captain stared at Vaerz, ignoring the bustle as the meeting came to order; and Vaerz stared back, feathers set in the Sarcoram version of a humorless grin. Both were well aware of whom the true adversary was.

An aide sidled in, leaning over to whisper something in Vaerz's ear. Vaerz nodded, then, without breaking eye contact, rose from his seat. The room quieted, leaving behind the rustle of feather, dry scrape of scale against scale, and squeak of chair as an uncomfortable occupant fidgeted.

"Welcome everyone, especially our new Borg friends, as represented here today by 4 of 8, also called Captain, the consensus monitor and facilitator of the cube crew." The words, including Captain's correct numerical designation, smoothly rolled from Vaerz's beak. Eye contact was broken as the security liaison turned from his position at one end of the horseshoe table to address the room. "You all know me, and I know all of you. This project has been incubating a long time, well over a decade of Alliance-standard years. All of you have the security clearance to be present today; and most of you are well acquainted with the background that has brought us to this point. You also know that you are observers only to this historic occasion and that there will be no question/answer session."

Captain cocked his head slightly as consensus cascade churned amid the Cube #347 sub-collective, most drones of which had been locked to alcoves so as to minimize oversight load to command and control. An emerging hypothesis was that Vaerz had desired whatever was to be announced to have been a much smaller affair, perhaps even a remote audio-visual communique. If so, then politics had intervened, turning it into this semi-public spectacle.

Vaerz pivoted to face Captain once more, then resumed his seat. "I suppose you have been wondering about your resurrection?"

"The question has crossed our minds," replied Captain dryly, deliberately keeping to a third-person format.

"Then let me tell you a tale," said Vaerz. "This tale is very convoluted and full of scientific achievements, and if someone other than I tell it, it would also consist of nothing except words with a minimum polysyllabic count of three. However, I am not a genius scientist; and while I did enter a university of higher learning, I never graduated from it. Instead, I gained my honors from a different type of school, one where the consequences of failure were a wee bit more dramatic than a low grade." Several of the Big Beaks sitting at the table and in the audience fidgeted uneasily for reasons not understandable to the socially blind Borg. "But that is neither here nor there: I promised you a story and so I shall deliver you a story.

"A not-so-long-time-ago, there was a scientist. Or, rather, a flock of scientists. The focus of these scientists was temporal mechanics - 'What is time? Where did it come from? Can it be manipulated?' All the standard questions that come with prodding the universe to determine what makes it...tick." A few gaphaws sounded from the audience at the deliberately bad pun. Captain had disengaged facial muscles in order to maintain an appropriately expressionless Borg facade during the meeting, else he might have winced. "There was lots of science involved, many expensive machines ultimately funded by the government with the hope the investigations may eventually lead to faster starships, an innovative weapon, a better way to capture and recycle feather duff. If you are truly interested in the background, including all those aforementioned polysyllabic words, you now have full access...just make a polite request to Daisy, and she will transfer the files.

"Now, one of the areas of investigation, a sister-line to the method that would eventually give rise to temporal resurrection, was to peer at the multitude of future 'what-ifs'. The scientists called it 'ghost quantum timestream echoes'. I like to think of it as watching the teaser for next week's chapter of 'How Things Are Recycled', only the producers like to mess with the audience's mind, so multiple trailers are provided, any of which, or none, could be the real episode. It seems the universe operates under a similar principle.

"Some of these echoes are stronger than others, meaning certain future timelines are more likely, assuming the correct circumstances first occur. As to be expected given the perversity of the universe, there is no way to tune the damn echoes, no way to peek at an earlier point in time so as to better tailor actions of today to affect those of tomorrow. So, in the end, it is a crapshoot as to which echo actually represents the future; and, thus, so the scientists tell me, free will, or a very good illusion thereof, is maintained.

"It is all very metaphilosophical. And, as you Borg say, irrelevant to the story."

Vaerz paused. Several of the Big Beaks at the table looked like they wanted to add their own input, to expand upon the telling, but mouths and beaks closed as the security liaison swung his gaze over them.

"One event which arose again and again in the echoes of the very near future - more than two decades away, but less than a century - was a devastating attack, not only on the Alliance, but on all the peoples of this galaxy. Subjugation, death, and so forth. Think of the standard science fiction movie plot, except the good side does not win. Of course, the 'good side', when it plays by the rules, rarely wins, but that is reality, not make-believe. Who these beings are, and why they do what they are going to do, is unknown. Maybe they are extraordinarily xenophobic, or their gods told them to, or they just like to go around smashing things. It doesn't really matter. All which does matter is that the strongest of the echoes includes variations upon a theme...a darkness whereupon the Alliance is not there, nor anything in a recognizable form that isn't derived from these beings.

"So the scientists searched the echoes, looking for those rare scenarios where the Alliance wasn't attacked, else survived the assaults more or less intact. It was found that only in those uncertain timelines where a cybernetic civilization was present were the invaders beaten back. Not always, but at least there was some hope, unlike all the other timelines. Unfortunately, when other people took this information and started to look for these cyborg beings in the hope that they could be asked to join against the soon-to-come invaders, it was discovered that they no longer existed. They had existed at one time, albeit not in this quadrant, but all evidence suggested extinction nearly fifty thousand years ago.

"And what was the civilization called? Deep oral histories from the remnants of races which had survived a long-ago collapse of galactic superpowers, as well as painfully translated fragments from those which had not, all agreed that the civilization had been known as 'Borg'" Vaerz gazed intently at Captain. "Starting to see the link?"

Captain said nothing.

"So, flash forward through the years of research that ultimately created the Beast, as well as the long, long hunt to find an ancient object holding a suitable temporal echo from which to revive you. That is a plural you, by the way. And here you are. Any questions at this point?"

Captain narrowed his whole eye. "If we understand correctly, you resurrected this sub-collective to confront a nameless entity or civilization because your scientist-clairvoyants looked in their crystal ball and became worried."

"It wasn't a crystal ball! If looked more like a...mirror...." shouted an audience member near the back of the room, voice trailing off as someone else hissed for him to be quiet.

Vaerz coughed. "Sarcasm. Nice. I like it. However, from my interactions with you, singular, you did not strike me to be the sarcastic type of...drone. Someone else doing the talking?"

{Do not help me, Second,} directed Captain internally even as he ensured that his face remained devoid of expression.

"In answer," continued Vaerz, "your appraisal is a wee bit on the simplistic side, but nonetheless valid. You seem to be, by the estimation of top Alliance Big Beak scientists, our best, and only, chance of survival."

"Do you even know who this invader is? Or where they are? Their strength? Or any number of other tactical questions? We are only one sub-collective, after all, crewing a single cube. We are not a 'cybernetic civilization'." Captain paused. "And if you know where they are, have you tried talking to them? That is a strategy often used by small being societies."

Vaerz smiled thinly, "Funny you should ask. That is the next topic I was going to bring up. If you turn around and look at the holodisplay, you will find the one photo we have of the invaders. The fleet is lurking in the void between the stars on the galactic rim, the location of which was learned via a large bribe to a Xenig willing to provide the information. Using experimental hypertranswarp - a technology, I might add, which was in development before you Borg arrived - several dozen probes were sent. Those that didn't blow up upon activation of the drive are believed to have made it to the fleet, whereupon our message of light and happiness and talking is presumed to have been ignored. At least, the probes never came back, so it is thought they were destroyed. A second swarm was sent, this time tasked to pop out into normal space, take pictures of anything nearby that wasn't empty space, and return. Very few probes returned, and most of the photos were too blurry or included objects too distant to be adequately enhanced. However, there was one success."

Captain pivoted to regard the picture wavering into view, like a bad special effect of a desert mirage. The still image finally steadied, showing the smooth, organic profiles of ten forms. Eight of shapes looked more appropriate to be encountered under an ocean's surface than the vacuum of space, muscular wings narrowing to whip tail invoking comparison to a manta ray. The rays were a dull black in color, barely visible against the background black of space. In contrast, the two much larger shapes around which the rays orbited were not only a shocking orange, but it was an orange that seemed to glow with its own internal illumination. Once again, sea life was the theme, only this time a sea pen with its smooth cylindrical stern tapering aft, only to explode into a complex, feathery organ.

Several audience members began to snicker despite the seriousness of the situation.

Captain ignored the tittering, attention narrowing to focus only on the holodisplay. The sub-collective may have lost much knowledge during their resurrection, but there were certain things which were literally burned into the neurons of every single drone during assimilation processing. These two shapes were one of those things. Even without knowing the scale, Captain, the sub-collective, knew the average length of the smaller manta ray form was sixty-three meters, while the larger orange creature could span up to two kilometers.

They. The antithesis of Borg, the exemplification of Chaos, invaders from a neighboring galaxy bent on subsuming all sentient beings to service a twisted Perfection as constructed via eugenics, artificial evolution, and Darwinian theory.

The Borg Collective had warred with They once, an event which had greatly lessened the numbers comprising the Whole even as They were defeated. Or, rather, as the forward scout fleet of the invading armada was defeated. At the time, the main assemblage of They had been in transit between their home galaxy and the Milky Way, estimated to be tens of thousands of years from arriving to the rim.

That victory was now fifty thousand years in the past.

They They invasion fleet was lurking in the outskirts of the rim. The might of the Collective had barely beaten the initial probing tendril of They. And the Alliance expected that a single faux-Borg Exploratory-class cube would somehow counter a force which might have trounced the Second Federation era Collective as remembered by a metaphorical handful of resurrected, and above all, imperfect drones?

The sub-collective of Cube #347 was screwed.
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Invocation of the Birds - Part 2

As the Crow Flies



<<Initiate classic baritone narrator voice-over>>




In a galaxy where the only constants are asserted to be death and taxes, one Borg sub-collective has found that particular idiom to be false. Resurrected from oblivion by a multi-racial Alliance more than 50,000 years after the extinction of the Borg Greater Consciousness, the sub-collective of Cube #347 has been wondering the "why" behind its predicament. And then...all was revealed.... They!




<<End voice-over>>




*****




The temporally resurrected sub-collective of an Alliance-built Cube #347 was screwed.

On the screen were images of They, a patrol consisting of eight light and two medium tactical units. To successfully eradicate such a small group without receiving extensive damage would require a four-ship mixed force of Battle-class cubes and Assault-class spheres. To field one untested faux Exploratory-class cube was...not recommended. And even should the patrol be eliminated, Security Liaison Vaerz had implied, if not directly stated, that there was an entire armada of They somewhere on the galactic rim.

Deep within Captain, within the sub-collective, a war was taking place. On one side were the Prime Commands, the instincts programmed into each Borg upon assimilation; and among the most powerful was the demand to destroy all They by any means necessary....

[....any means necessary....]

[….any means necessary....]

And on the other side were the Xenig constructed pre-Prime Commands, the Alliance's shackles upon the sub-collective, expertly grafted into drone psyches and kept intact by the artificial intellegence called Daisy. The image and threat of They activated a very specific Prime Command, the efficient following of which would require a response which was in direct conflict to the pre-Prime Commands.

In the end, the pre-Prime Commands won. For now. A less efficient, and less effective, if at all, path would now have to be attempted to satisfy the Prime Command.

"It is They," said Captain quietly. Behind, he heard the sounds of beings leaning forward and adjusting position to hear. "They are...terrible. They are not Borg, and Borg are not They. They cannot be assimilated, and We would not want to assimilate them. Small beings think They are biological versions of Borg due to superficial similarities such as assimilation and a central Consciousness. But those small beings would be wrong. They are...Chaos."

Captain abruptly pivoted to face the audience. Eye swept over the crowd, noting expressions of confusion. "The Collective did war with They, and They lost." Confusion melted to relief. "But it was a costly victory, the entirety of the Whole against a mere forward scouting mission of They. The main fleet had been far from the galaxy. No more. And you expect one Exploratory-class cube to fight your battle? We will lose...even the Collective we remember might lose.

A step forward was taken. Whole hand was lifted and curled into a fist. "The only way to beat They is through mass assimilation. Every adult and child, every sentient species, every being in the Alliance must come together as a new Collective. Worlds must be stripped for their resources, fleets must be built, technologies recovered. And the Whole must expand and expand again to absorb neighboring civilizations, adding to the All. Only then might They be eradicated. Even now it may be too late, but if the quest for Perfection is to be maintained at all, it must be done. Therefore, you will remove the restrictions placed upon us by-"

"Daisy! Quiet him!" shouted Vaerz. Although the AI did not maintain a presence aboard the station where the meeting was occurring, nonetheless it was in attendance, listening via Captain's own senses.

Captain's jaw locked shut as the AI which squatted in the heart of Cube #347, in the place of a vinculum had the ship been of proper Borg manufacture, triggered compliance pathways.

At the back of the room, the eight marines had leveled their rifles. The audience began to fill the sudden quiet with shouted questions, frightened moans, and other hubbub.

"Everyone," said Vaerz as he stood, "please settle down. I think our Borg friend is exaggerating the danger. One has to admit, he does have cause." Pause. "Daisy, let Captain respond, although you may completely shut him down if he starts another tirade."

Captain felt his jaw unlock. He wiggled it slightly: so tightly had it been clinched that diagnostics were reporting a cracked molar. After a moment, a reply was provided, each word bitten into a near bark: "Borg. Do not. Exaggerate."

Vaerz blinked. Feathers briefly flattened in shocked understanding and realization that, perhaps, Captain's aborted speech had not been hyperbole. However, the outward manifestation of that moment was fleeting. "Maybe, maybe not. But the option you suggest is not acceptable." Expression hardened. An executive decision had been made. Vaerz turned to address the audience. "Ladies, gentlemen, hermaphros, neuters, I am sorry, but as my prerogative as Security Liaison, I must cancel this gathering. Government secrets, need to know, and all those spy cliches. You may register your complaints in the normal matter. I may, or may not, consider them."

The meeting was adjourned.




Even after so many months, the trauma of death and resurrection was distressing. For some drones more than others, the need to cope, so as to minimize impact to sub-collective efficiency, had led to some...interesting solutions.

"My designation is 122 of 510, and it has been 258.7 cycles since my temporal echo was ripped from the orderly tau flow and reconstituted as this drone."

Murmurs of ritual welcome were given.

"Since our last meeting, I have experienced six flashbacks, although only one of included a giant pair of lips acting as narrator, picture-in-picture style. And just three had butterflies of which I noticed. As usual, coherency was not strong. All episodes were logged and are at the usual datafile address for viewing."

Silence reigned as the memes were reviewed.

"Progress is being made," said Captain. He, like all of the Hierarchy of Eight, had been tasked to lead temporal reorientation sessions. Under normal circumstances, however 'normal' might be defined, the meetings would have been a job for the assimilation hierarchy, but the slattoe incident was still reverberating, making Assimilation and, thus, his hierarchy-mates, next to useless. Much internal intra-hierarchy self-therapy was happening, leaving reorientation to other drones. "It is suggested you attempt to control the episode next time it occurs. 188 of 240 with 1 of 8's group managed to launder some of the floating cloaks that were bothering her, and has been without flashbacks for six cycles now."

"We will do that," answered 122 of 510, reverting to the third person.

Captain looked around the circle of ten drones gathered in Supply Closet #24. All returned his appraisal. "And, with that, we are done. Keep your flashback journals. We are scheduled to meet at the same time in seven cycles. Return to your duties." A flurry of transporter beams took each unit away, leaving behind Captain and one other, non-Borg, observer.

"Interesting," commented Vaerz from the corner, next to several brooms which had yet to be unwrapped from their packaging. "Many years ago, when I was first briefed on the emergent crisis lurking on the galactic rim and the potential solution offered by the acquisition of Borg, group therapy sessions were far from my imagination. Of course, what little which was known about Borg amounted to ghost stories and pieces of decayed tech. Still, I envisaged something a bit more...darkly grandiose if not downright evil, given my natural bastardly and overly realistic outlook on life."

Controlling his annoyance, Captain confirmed his facial muscles to be locked into generic non-expression before turning to face the Security Liaison. In the dimness of the supply closet, the white feathers of Vaerz's plumage stood in stark contrast to the black. Standard Sarcoram casual wear of kilt and open-fronted vest were colored a muted pattern of grey and dark green, under which the latter was the dark shine of a leather weapons harness. Even with the leash afforded by the pre-Prime Commands, Vaerz kept at least two handguns - projectile-type, perfectly suitable to disable Borg - and several knives about his person at all times.

Yes, a definite bastard with a very realistic outlook on life, and particularly one's place in it should one's personal universe go all pear-shaped.

"You are aware that the drones of this sub-collective are imperfectly assimilated." The sentence was statement of fact, not question. "We function, but are far from the Borg ideal."

Vaerz ground the edges of his beak together while briefly flaring his neck ruff in a Sarcoram version of polite acquiesce. "So I've been told many times." The dryly ironic tone was sufficiently heavy that even a Borg drone could catch it. "I first had an inkling that all was not quite as I envisioned fairly early in the process when I was reviewing the extraction team summaries of what was being found in your brains. Yes, there were the bits and pieces of what would eventually be built as this ship-" hands waved in gesture to the surroundings "-but there was also little things like the pickle recipes. Eight hundred seventy-three to be precise. Who needs that many pickle recipes?"

{I now have 904 pickle recipes,} reported 467 of 510 smugly in the background of Captain's mind. {The Sarcoram aren't much for briny preservatives...probably something to do with their carrion-eater background. Their not-so-distant ancestors ate days-old dead critters, even as more recent evolutionary pressure has expanded the menu to include fruits, vegetables, and grains. I strongly suspect a highly defined sense of taste regarding 'past-date' foods is lacking in the modern Sarcoram. The Caltrak, on the other hand...pickle paradise! Who'd have thought amphibians would have such a rich preservative cuisine?}

As the Security Liaison was a singular being, and thus did not have to deal with commentary with a potentially interruptive factor, he remained blissfully unaware of the pickle-related dialogue which was building in the background of Captain's mental processes and threatening to intrude. "Of course, there are many of my colleagues whom continue to believe that the example set by your sub-collective is a true view of what the Borg Empire looked like. There are entire dissertations on the matter, some of which pass the thousand page mark."

Captain laboriously extracted himself from the pickle thread. He found himself staring at Vaerz, an awkward silence hanging in expectation of a response which had not occurred. The last twenty seconds of the conversation were replayed. "Not Borg empire. An empire is a small being concept. The Greater Consciousness is not a governmental entity. It is a Collective of which All belong equally." Pause. "Some less equally than others, in the case of the imperfectly assimilated. However, we are quite willing to provide you, or any of your colleagues, with an accurate understanding of what the Greater Consciousness was, and will be again, at any time."

Vaerz barked a sharp peal of laughter. "As in right now? I think I'll pass, once again; and I'll pass for all my colleagues, even those who might be more than willing to accept your offer."

An automated timer chimed in Captain's mindspace, elevating a background process to forward consciousness. The information carried by the thread was rapidly absorbed. "We are six hours from our destination coordinates." The change in topic was jarringly abrupt, but Vaerz's token reaction was to blink. "Sensors are still not observing anything other than the normal variation in energy flux, molecular density, and dust particle counts expected for interstellar space. We have been traveling for 34.2 cycles, averaging warp 7.7, to the middle of nowhere. Why? You have tasked us with the impossible mission to rid the galaxy of a They invasion, but unless the Enemy has acquired the perfect cloak and decided to sit at those particular coordinates, we are only slightly closer to death than we were when we started."

A cloaked They fleet was only one of the many tactical scenarios weapons hierarchy was modeling, when the reconstructed BorgCraft platform wasn't crashing due to bugs or as the result of the latest hastily constructed add-on. As with every other scenario, Cube #347 did not survive, although there was the 4.6% chance of the ship slamming into the flank of an invisible opponent, causing cartoonishly humorous consequences.

Replied Vaerz, "You are not dead yet, and neither am I. And I expect to remain not-dead into the far future, when my too-tough corpse will be served at my funeral to unappreciative extended family and friends. In six hours, the shake-down cruise phase will be an official success, provided you continue to keep yourselves, and me, amid the living."

There had been a time or three when that particular outcome had been in doubt, as Captain was sure Vaerz was well aware, via Daisy's reports. Overall, however, the security liaison was probably correct to assume the cube would continue to fail to explode catastrophically in the next six hours. "You fail to answer the central question - in six hours, what next?"

"Daisy tells me not a day goes by whereby your engineering hierarchy is not prodding a certain piece of Xenig tech, a bauble which cost the Alliance minerals rights to a very rich system."

An abrupt change in topic by Captain, or any Borg, was the result of a lack of interest in, or awareness of, the finer points of small-being conversational flow. For Vaerz to make a similar jump in subject matter was a calculated move. Captain did not allow the apparent non-sequitur to outwardly affect his demeanor. Instead, he automatically called forth the correct file structure as he answered, "The Xenig folded-space drive with accompanying zero-point energy array system."

Vaerz fluffed his feathers in an affirmative. "That's the egg." Pause. "And it is a trainer model, don't forget to add that small detail."

It was a vast understatement by the security liaison concerning the implied level of interest by Delta and her hierarchy in the Xenig drive. It had been mounted literally a day before the cube had departed on its trek to nowhere. The entire contraption, drive and power source, was a compact grey box measuring less than a meter per side, without seams and near featureless except for a small slot. With barely a five minute warning, a Xenig had appeared off the hull, beamed the module and several spider-bot remotes to Central Engineering, wired it in place, installed a software interface to the dataspace, provided a five centimeter thick hardcopy owners manual written in an indecipherable script, and left. The whole process had taken less than an hour.

The theoretical basis of the folded-space drive - theoretical because the Xenig, their Progenitors, and the few other advanced species who possessed the technology were not divulging any secrets - was rooted in knowing the 'energetic address' of a specific point in space-time. The first step demanded a point to be exactingly described not only in regards to its X, Y, and Z relative to the rest of the universe, but also its position on the tau vector, condition of the underlying quantum foam, and other increasingly esoteric components. Next, a warp bubble-like shell was initiated around a vessel and the point's descriptors 'input' into the volume of space temporarily isolated from the rest of the universe. When the bubble was collapsed, the ship would be at the input address (or the universe would have adjusted itself to consolidate around the ship, depending on the particular theory to which one ascribed).

The object installed upon Cube #347 was the input device, as well as the energy source required to power it. Because the ship was capable of standard warp, only minor modifications were required to form the bubble into which a point could be inscribed. The disconnect came in that the standard sensor grid, even one spindled and mutilated by Sensors, whom literally saw the universe differently from every other species on the cube and, probably, in the Alliance, could not resolve the variables necessary to construct a valid energetic address.

As it happened, a 'young' Xenig, joined with its first space-capable chassis, also lacked the ability to appropriately perceive and compile all the variables necessary to direct a folded-space drive. Even with the sensors grafted to its body, decades of learning were required before a mech's neural network was sufficiently trained so that space-time addressing became routinely instinctive, as easy and unconscious a notion as a biological entity walking, slithering, or otherwise ambulating across a room. Until that skill was perfected, the Xenig had to utilize a 'trainer', a folded-space drive which accepted pre-set address sequences.

"We do not forget," replied Captain. "What does the Xenig drive have to do with our destination?"

Vaerz idly drew one of his knives, tested the blade's sharpness by trimming an already neatly pared thumb talon, then sheathed it again. Like all the Security Liaison's actions, it was undoubtedly performed with a deliberate purpose, one lost upon a Borg drone willing to patiently wait (on the outward aspect, anyway) for the conversation to continue. Finally Vaerz answered, "At the coordinates awaits a robotic courier. It is both very small and powered down, so it is understandable why sensors have missed it. The payload is a library of a dozen space-time addresses for the trainer drive. Included should be at least one backwater star system with sufficient resources in the form of asteroids and comets - no habitable planets - for you to indefinitely resupply this ship with replicator feedstock basics without returning to Alliance systems. Some other locations of potential interest. And several insertion points near the primary They, er, encampment, for lack of a better tactical description."

A deep growl, felt with the body and not heard with the ears, rumbled the supply closet, accompanied by the merest hint of temblor. The incident was transitory, quickly fading to the normal background hum of cube operations.

"By the poxy egg of the ancestors, what the f**k was that?" exclaimed Vaerz with uncharacteristic surprise, those feathers unconfined by clothing puffing outward as his head jerked up to stare at the ceiling. "Are we under attack?"

Captain carefully kept all hint of a smirk, or any similar expression, from his face. The reply was otherwise swift, delivered before AI Daisy could provide an explanation either via closet speaker or Vaerz's personal implant. "There is no emergency. Engineering has simply initiated several upgrades to the propulsion system. Alas, the clutch engagement was a bit rough. The hierarchy has noted the issue and is working to correct it." Pause. "And, coincidentally, our velocity has increased and we will be arriving at the courier to take possession of the files in 3.9 hours."

Certain amid the sub-collective began to vocally express their displeasure that the schedule for certain death by They had been advanced by several hours. The 'death' part was not of concern, but rather that there were now two hours less to formulate a (workable) plan to break the pre-Prime Commands or otherwise devise how to convince the Alliance to allow mass assimilation, thereby reconstituting the Collective. However, the eagerness of engineering hierarchy to have a new toy, especially one of Xenig manufacture, had tipped the balance of consensus.

"I see," said Vaerz, feathers flattening to their usual configuration. "In that case, I need to return to the Alliance quarters. There are some preparations I, and a few others, are required to finish before we arrive."

Ignoring the small being need for polite farewells, Captain locked a transporter beam to himself and abruptly relocated back to the nodal intersection nearest his alcove. He had his own duties to perform and he would concentrate on them better if he wasn't forced to devote run-time awareness to interactions with nonBorg entities.




The sub-collective of Cube #347 managed to stave off the inevitable for nearly a week. After recovering the data crystals, each one of which held one energetic address, from the courier, the folded-space drive underwent testing. Annoyingly, every time the drive was activated to an address, it required inserting the specific crystal into the mechanism's external slot. Inefficient...not to mention time consuming and potentially dangerous because the drive hesitated more often than not in spitting out the currently engaged crystal; and a new address could not be input until the old one was cleared.

Except those labeled to be near the They beachhead, all of the pre-set addresses were visited. Only a few locations could be matched against Alliance starcharts - Borg navigational files had been one of the many casualties of resurrection - but all seemed to be within the home galaxy. As promised, there was a system suitable from which to acquire raw supplies. There were also several jumps to the middle of apparent nowhere in interstellar space, as well as a neutron star, a triplet of red dwarfs, and a blue-white giant a million Cycles from supernovae and surrounded by a dense ring of asteroids rich in bolonite ore. (The lattermost crystal was inscribed with a glyph for 'Extreme Hazard': a large number of memory memes etched within the collective drone consciousness included bolonite-related misadventures.) Three stops put the cube within a few cycles of moderate warp travel of an Alliance ship repair facility or military outpost. The final two addresses led to once inhabited systems, their respective owners long vanished or otherwise removed from the cosmic stage: a yellow dwarf aged before its time, orbited by planets abused and stripped of their resources; a second yellow dwarf, the scene of an ancient battle, two rocky planets and several moons shattered.

And, finally, no more excuses could be made. It was time to confront the They fleet. It was time for the resurrected remnants of the Borg Collective to rejoin the Greater Consciousness in extinction.

Unlike other forms of faster-than-light transportation, the process of folding space skimped on the special effects. There were no streaking stars, no colored vortexes, not even 'whooshing' noises. To engage the folded-space drive was to blink out of the ken of the universe, spend about five minutes in a dull region of nothingness, then return to reality at the desired location. Perhaps the transition was different for a Xenig with its extended senses, but to a mere biological, even ones augmented by technology, the trip was rather boring.

Alliance-built Cube #347 emerged at the jump node labeled to be the furthest from the They fleet. With shields up, the ship immediately initiated a defensive spin. Assuming the drive's crystal ejection mechanism did not jam, calculations advised a 95.4% probability of survival long enough to gain an initial scan of the enemy forces prior to retreat to a safe address. It was only later in the campaign, when the cube began to actively engage elements of the They fleet, would destruction become inevitable.

The scene was not as expected....




Except for minor inclusions which could not be replicated via genetic engineering, They were entirely biological entities. Therefore, when the torpedo hit the target, it did not so much cause an explosion as a splatter. A very large splatter. One corner of the ship intercepted the gore, adding to the layers already present.

Well beyond the hand-wash, it would be necessary for Cube #347 to (carefully) bask in the sterilizing heat of a star's corona to be truly cleansed.

{Will you cease with the potshots?} demanded Captain to Weapons. {You are wasting munitions.}

Added Delta in the background, {And you are making a mess of the hull.}

{Which degrades [cheesy] sensor quality,} appended Sensors.

{It twitched,} replied Weapons before either assimilation or drone maintenance could insert commentary. He attached evidence in the form of the light tactical unit under discussion, the tip of one of its manta-ray wings curling slightly. Ignored was the fact that the same unit sported multiple ragged holes punched with surgical precision through hide and flesh, not only completely destroying the brain, but also all primary nerve ganglions. Any perceived movement was the ghost of reflex, the unthinking reaction of muscles to the electromagnetic caress of ship shield and propulsion. The creature was dead. Very dead.

All They of the invasion fleet which Cube #347 had examined in the last seven cycles were dead. Every single one had a terminal case of neural evisceration. Disconcertingly, a few had also been literally torn to shreds, little remaining except flesh and organs flayed from the skeletal support structure. What had once been a galactic beachhead had been transformed into a slaughterhouse, an abattoir, a killing field.

The sub-collective did not know to feel relieved that the They threat had been neutralized, or concerned regarding the current location of whatever entity (or entities) had so casually (and brutally) performed the massacre. If the executioner was still nearby, it might decide to add Cube #347 to the They graveyard.

Even more disturbing was that the unknown attacker might not even be aware of what it had done. Omniscient beings - Q a prime example - did not always understand the concept of 'mortality'; and some considered sentient life to be the equivalent of slightly evolved pond scum and therefore of no particular significance. The sub-collective retained memories of interacting with a number of omniscient beings, the outcome of which had rarely been positive.

Captain concurred with Weapons on the technicality of the latter's defense, {Yes, it twitched. Barely. However, even worst-case tactical algorithms indicated it to not be a threat. If you do not cease, you will make me make Second lock your hierarchy out of your weapons.}

{Hey! I've already enough things delegated to me,} protested Second.

Weapons replied to the primary consensus monitor with what might be termed 'smugness', if Borg were allowed that emotion, {Weapons systems cannot be locked out at this time because this is a fluidly evolving tactical situation which requires full support from my hierarchy. A lockout will require several seconds to undo should one, or all, of the corpses prove to be They feigning death to encourage us to let down our guard.}

In his nodal intersection, Captain audibly ground his teeth. Weapons was correct; and until the threat level decreased, base level programming would not allow potentially critical systems such as weaponry to be disengaged. {Nonetheless, the fact remains that your are wasting munitions that cannot be easily replaced. There are no stockpile facilities nearby.} Weapons' argument was turned back upon him. {And if some They are faking it? Where will we be if we do not have sufficient torpedoes for long distance engagement options?}

Silence. {That is a valid point.} A decision cascade within the tactical ranks was concluded. {All engagements thus far are at close quarters. Therefore, we will only use neuruptors and other energy-based weaponry. Torpedoes will be reserved for They proved to be faking death.} A short pause. {And for those which are zombies returned from the dead.}

It was not exactly the response Captain (and command and control) desired, but it was the best possible outcome considering the circumstances. What a minute...zombies? A quick glance at recent activity amongst the tactical hierarchy confirmed that a bloc of fifty-two drones had been obsessively watching and rewatching undead horror movies, origination the extensive entertainment package uploaded to the cube for the amusement of the Alliance personnel whom accompanied the mission. And thinking of Alliance personnel, Captain turned his attention to the small subwindow of the nodal intersection monitor linked to the 'guest quarters'. In response, the window expanded until it took primary position in the center of the monitor, mirroring the refocusing of Captain's awareness.

The guest quarters - or Alliance outpost, or whatever label was appropriate - installed in subsection 13, submatrix 3, hallway 54 were fully occupied with official trespassers. Most of the fifty billets were filled by Vaerz and his security detachment, but there was also a contingent of engineers and technicians to observe details associated with the cube's shakedown cruise. Rounding out the group of unwelcome intruders were several graduate students with a research scientist overseer, presumably ritual offerings to the Deity of the Unforeseen because of all the Alliance citizens present, they were the most obviously expendable.

As any seasoned adventurer knows, one does not have to win the race to escape the horror chasing behind, but merely needs to run faster than at least one of one's companions. Given the propensity of scientific types to turn and study a phenomenon when the proper response was to retreat as quickly as possible, the inclusion of a few sacrifices was wise.

Captain spent a few minutes shuffling through the views of the guest quarters, noting the activities of all the inhabitants. Following the initial revelation of the mass They murder, nearly all of the detachment had been riveted to the status update screen located in the cafeteria/recreation room. However, fully biological entities can only watch exterior cameras of cadavers and scrolling statistics for so long without boredom setting in, so most of the Alliancers had eventually drifted away, returning to their normal routines. Currently it was the middle of the local night with few persons awake. One obsessive student was in the rec room scribbling on an eltab - electronic tablet - apparently putting to words everything witnessed on the monitor. The effort might have been more impressive if Captain did not know, via the insertion of a remote spyware program, that the student was in the midst of a long, rambling epic whereupon himself and the characters of several fictional entertainment series were being forced to interact in the same universe.

Perspective was shifted to the room which served as both office and personal quarters for Vaerz.

"You have been observing," stated Captain. It was not a question.

Sitting at his desk while perusing one eltab from a stack of the devices, Vaerz startled, chair crashing to the ground as the Sarcoram jumped to his feet. Hands automatically raised into a stance of self-defense, talons at the ready. Feathers flared, particularly those of the neck ruff and tail. Vaerz bobbied his head and blinked several times as he reoriented upon the situation; and in the dataspace background, Captain noted that Daisy's link with the security liaison had gained extra activity. Presumably the AI was informing Vaerz whom had intruded, for the avian's eyes flicked towards the desk monitor (and Captain's patiently waiting image) even as his body relaxed.

"Don't you Borg believe in knocking? Privacy, or at least the illusion thereof?" complained Vaerz as he righted his chair and resettled into it. An annoyed glare colored his expression.

Answered Captain, "Irrelevant concepts."

"And that's the answer I expected. What can I do for you this fine-" Vaerz's eyes flicked towards the corner of the screen where a time display was set to Alliance standard "-near midnight hour?"

"You have been observing. Have you made your decision? We continue to scan the target, but expect to send away teams within the hour, exact timing dependent on final compilation of data." Five hundred meters off face #5, neuruptors raked at the hide of light tactical unit. It was followed by a complaint that the resulting carnage was not as effective as a torpedo. "As well as the extent of other distractions."

Vaerz grunted. "Show me."

Captain modified the input to Vaerz's screen, selecting an enhanced exterior view while shrinking his own image to a corner picture-in-picture position. The cube traversed a dense field of corpses, but there was no convenient star to light the slaughterhouse stage; and, therefore, the sensor hierarchy took the initiative to digitally highlight the target.

The heavy tactical unit target.

The biological origination of the heavy tactical unit was an unknown. All They species, from near mindless torpedo to the stable of tactical units to cerebrate, came from sentient ancestry. The genetic modification of form over the course of tens of generations to achieve the desired end result could be extensive. However, some changes were just too great to undertake, even for They eugenics wizardry. Thus, it could probably be said that either an ocean planet or gas giant had birthed the heavy's umpteenth-great grandparents.

A sea cucumber. A partly inflated balloon with spikes. A wrinkled melon erupting conical tumors. The image had no counterpart upon the worlds of the Alliance, and nor could the sub-collective's drones provide a succinct description. Epidermis which had once been an inky, oily black was largely faded to a dull ash grey, except for a few patches which chaotically, and queasily, shifted through the color spectrum in the manner of an organic aurora borealis. There was no scale from the visual from which to provide a perception for size...until AI Daisy inserted one at the edge of the monitor for Vaerz's benefit. At seven kilometers in length and nearly three in girth, the heavy tactical unit was unusually large, the average for the type a mere five kilometers from stem to stern.

In comparison, the Alliance-built Cube #347 was constructed to BorgStandard dimensions at 1.3 kilometers per size.

Like all They in the killing fields, the heavy tactical unit had been neurally eviscerated, primary brain and secondary/tertiary ganglions vaporized. Unlike its comrades, however, the job appeared to be incomplete. Perhaps the heavy had been 'lucky' or, maybe, the being(s) which had attacked the fleet had become sloppy or distracted. Whatever the reason, this particular They retained about 15% of its brain, as well as a handful of ganglion clusters. Not that such had changed the fate of the heavy. Technically, the unit was not dead. 'Technically' being the key word. Its status might best be likened to an accident victim comatose in a persistent vegetative state, enough brainstem left to direct a few bodily functions, but higher neurological functions lost forever.

Unfortunately, even the living corpse of a They could prove to be dangerous.

The sub-collective required additional information, the remnant Whole needed to know what had occurred to better gauge the threat to self (and any future Greater Consciousness). Was the massacre an isolated occurrence, the result of an entity having a bad eon as it traversed through this region of the universe? Or was it the first sign of a more extensive peril? As this desire to appraise the tactical situation - unlike the propensity of small beings, the sub-collective did not gather data for the sake of gathering data - did not run counter to the Alliance need to learn more about the situation, there had been no order to retreat.

The best method to gain intelligence was to adapt Alliance extraction technology. Unlike its deployment by the Alliance upon chemically restrained Borg drones, the proposed use would ironically be closer to the device's original intent of obtaining knowledge from an individual treading the edge of death. The sub-collective had successfully petitioned for data pertaining to extraction to be added to its files shortly following the transfer of units to a nearly completed Cube #347. The reason? Drone maintenance required the information to better treat patients whom had been overly affected by the extraction process, on top of the residual trauma of temporal resurrection. Therefore, extraction technology was among the resources available to the sub-collection; and if Borg were good at anything, it was adaption (and perversion) of technology to serve the Whole.

The concept and application of extraction as a method to rip memes from the brain of a living (or recently dead) individual was not new; and many civilizations assimilated by the Borg had developed some version of it. However, the Alliance variation, as well as could be determined from the fragments of communal Collective histories retained, was the most efficient. Extraction technology alone would have made the Alliance a high value target for complete assimilation in the estimation of the Greater Consciousness. Without the full knowledge of extraction already at digital hand, the sub-collective would not have had the option of what it was about to attempt: board a near dead They; find, secure, and appraise a neural target for extraction; and abstract the appropriate neural patterns from which to (maybe) learn what had happened to They.

The 'find, secure, and appraise' portion of the plan was the most dangerous. One of the features of a heavy tactical unit was the ability to carry in stasis tens of thousands of mobile assault units. Assault units, derived from standard humanoid stock, were heavily armed and armored. Utilizing similar tactics as Borg to overwhelm a target without concern of the death toll, the heavy would deploy assault units as shock troops, sending wave after wave to attack. On the up side, assault units were not very smart, there being no need for mental acuity when one's goal in life was to be cannon fodder. Without a heavy or other upper echelon They unit to coordinate strategy, assault units fought as individuals without regard to the actions of their mates.

The They almost-corpse would undoubtedly have able-bodied assault units wandering the ship's passageways, an autonomic auto-immune system reaction primed to attack any not-They perceived. Without coordination from the central mind, units encountered during exploration should be easy to repel for the weapons drones integral to any Borg away team. Thusly protected would be the drone maintenance and assimilation drones required to appraise and prepare a neural node for extraction, as well as the command and control asset needed to maximize local span of control. Acquisition of memes for initial analysis was projected to be accomplished in less than ten hours.

In an apparent bid to be as intrusively annoying as possible, Vaerz had in previous conversations suggested the potential for himself and a handful of Alliance marines to join one of the Borg away teams. There was a definite element of danger in the request. In this particular instance, the pre-Prime Commands had just sufficient ambiguity to create a loophole thereby the sub-collective did not have to guarantee the safety of any self-invited guests, at least not when such would also endanger the life and functionality of a drone. Participation by Vaerz and company was optional...any away team could be followed very effectively via remote feeds.

"There are asteroid communities smaller than that thing," opinion Vaerz soberly. "Obviously you aren't going to wander randomly about. Where are your start points?"

Captain added six yellow highlights to the picture. "These areas appear to have the highest probability for intact neural clusters. If nothing suitable is found, we will switch to secondary targets." A trio of pale orange dots joined the schematic. "Unfortunately, due to passive biological shielding disrupting focused scans, we cannot determine the exact location of the clusters. Walking will be necessary." Pause. "Enough stalling. Have you made your decision?" Captain did not bother to censure the note of exasperation from his voice.

Vaerz clacked his beak together. "Yes. The Alliance will accompany one of the away teams. And that away team will also include you."

Captain blinked at the unexpected demand. The away teams rosters had already been determined. The on-site command and control component for each was a mid-echelon unit. "The presence of this drone is not operationally required," he protested, unconsciously slipping into the third person. "The best use of this drone is-"

"Is on the same away team with me," said Vaerz, overriding Captain's response.

"If you are operating on the small being supposition that my presence will increase security of the mission, and thus lessen the risk for Alliance personnel, you are mistaken. Although we are relatively few, nonetheless this drone is still only one of many. My loss can be compensated."

"That is not my 'small being' reasoning."

"The request is denied. The greatest efficiency is served by this designation remaining at its current location."

Vaerz's voice hardened. "There is no request. This is a command. As long as there is no fatal deficiency in operation of this ship, you must obey. You just said it: you are one of many. If your outright loss can be compensated, then a simple reorganization should be easy."

And, thus, were certain elements of the pre-Prime Commands invoked. Into the virtual foreground swam Daisy, the AI overseeing the alteration of priorities. Chained by the parasitic lines of Xenig-written code, Captain (the sub-collective) could not willingly disobey.

Captain narrowed his eye in a glare as his priorities were rewritten. One of the away team rosters shifted, substituting his designation for the previously appointed 26 of 31.

{He is tricky. I like him,} chortled Second from the safety of his alcove.

"Alliance personnel are assigned to away team #3. There will be a five minute warning prior to beam out." Captain abruptly cut the active video feed to Vaerz's quarters, then turned to other matters. {If I am incapacitated, Second, you inherit primary consensus and monitor.}

{I know that.}

{Chances are, Vaerz would somehow survive whatever killed me. And then you'd be the main liaison with him for the rest of this trip. And probably beyond, given the high likelihood he is to be the sub-collective's Alliance handler for the foreseeable future.}

Second was silent as he digested the implications. {The solution, then, is for you not to die. That way, not only will I remain your backup, but I can keep admiring Vaerz...from afar.}




*****




Apogee was dying, and there was nothing he could do about it. In his distant genetic heritage, he might have gifted the cosmos with his visual death-song, but the ability to consciously control the bioluminance of his hull had long been edited out of his geneline. Instead, all he could offer the universe was meaningless scintillation.

The Foe had been swift. The Foe had been brutal. However, the Foe had not always been thorough or accurate.

The minute hint that the Foe was not omnipotent was a small comfort.

Apogee wished he had joined the bulk of his brethren in oblivion upon the Foe's attack. Even individuals not with the central fleet, scouts and forward task groups moving about the galaxy, had been neutralized. Those few, like himself, which had survived had found themselves paralyzed, shreds of conscious mind inhabiting bodies which no longer functioned. One by one those lights against the black backdrop of interstellar space had been extinguished, until in the end only himself was left.

Apogee, the last of Chaos.

Too much neural matter had been lost. Paralysis was absolute; repair systems terminally disrupted. Apogee turned inward to focus on what remained of himself, to meditate and consider a fate where the Mind was not present to receive his memories, his soul, to be reordered and eventually rebirthed as another heavy attack unit.

Time sense blurred.

The ping, the buzz, the sandpaper scratch of active scanning rasped over non-necrotic epidermis and through those few internal structures which maintained neural linkage to the remnants of Apogee. Reflection disrupted, the heavy squinted into the hazy depths of space, attempting to make sense of the scene. Only passive means of reception remained of the sensor grid.

It could not be!

From the shattered remains of genetically inherited memory were recollections of a time long ago, of Chaos' greatest enemy, of a biomechanical Order. But it could not be! Outside of battle, heavy attack units were very long-lived. Even so, Apogee represented the third generation of his type decanted since the last confirmed sighting of Order, with the fourth generation well grown and fifth nearing the end of the gestation cycle prior to the Foe's arrival. Order was extinct!

Which did nothing to explain the impossible cube-shaped ghost. As it glided ever nearer, Apogee obviously the goal, it threw electromagnetic lances and the occasional torpedo at They corpses. It may have been a small vessel compared to a heavy, a mere smear-to-be if Apogee had encountered it when he had been whole of body, but the implications were huge. The cube was an Exploratory-class, a scout. Even more strongly entwined together than the They superorganism, dreaded Order did not (could not) operate as single units, but were extensions of a central consciousness.

It seemed as if the small voices of the Mind, cerebrates purposefully bred for paranoia and to dwell overlong upon unlikely what-ifs, had been correct. With the evidence even now slowing to a stop and lashing Apogee's body with invasive sensor scans, it was clear that Order had faked its own extinction. With They fatally crippled, Order had finally emerged to investigate.

Apogee's remnant thought processes sharpened. Most mental acuity may have been lost, either outright vaporized or literally cooked by the same attack which had eviscerated primary brains and major ganglions, but enough remained to devise a simple plan.

An attack plan.

Just as Order had feigned its extinction, Apogee would continue to feign his death. Not that the latter would be too hard given the fact that his condition was terminal. Order would not be content to prod his body externally...he would be boarded. And then, when the time was right, he would strike.

Even in death, They would prevail.




*****




Away Team #3 trekked through the hallways of the They heavy attack unit corpse. Although the ship was technically dead, the controlling mind obliterated, the body itself was still dying. With They equivalent of environmental control disrupted, the air was stale with an increasingly oppresive sweet-strong smell of decay. Some walls wept capacious amounts of slime while others were cracked and dry. Embedded phosphorous glow was weak, where it was even present, reducing visibility to a monochromatic scene dense with shadows. The occasional symbiont - genetically degenerate once-upon-a-time-sentients whose primary function was to see to the needs of the larger host - either sprawled lifelessly, else were twitching mounds oblivious to anything but the progressing death of the heavy.

In a perfect universe, the away teams could have been beamed directly to their respective targets. Unfortunately, the universe was far from perfect, and metallic inclusions throughout a They's flesh were natural transporter inhibitors, a passive defense against boarders. Therefore it had been necessary for all teams start in the outer subdermal ring of corridors, making the trip deep into the moribund body towards the otherwise inaccessible neural clusters.

Leading the progression of Away Team #3 were a dozen weapons drones, cheerfully killing with extreme prejudice anything that remotely looked as if it might be a threat. Most of the 'threats' consisted of symbionts, usually already dead; and even if they had been alive and mobile, individuals so bred lacked defensive or offensive capability, being no more dangerous than the average pet tribble or womble-worm. On the other hand, there was a degree of danger in the form of tactical assault units, singletons and small packs of which were roving the hallways, instinctually striving to protect their host. Without a controlling brain, however, attack by this unit type was uncoordinated and unfocused, able to be easily dispatched by Borg drones unified in mind.

Protected by the wedge of weapons drones, the remainder of Away Team #3 consisted of one command and control, two drone maintenance, and three assimilation units. Although the assimilation drones could technically act as (weaponless) backup to the weapons drones, their primary purpose was to assist drone maintenance in appraising the neural target for meme extraction. The command and control drone functioned as a local coordination node for away team members, as well as ensured those elements which made imperfect drones 'unique' did not disrupt the effort of the whole.

For the most part, Away Team #3 resembled the other five teams who were similarly working their way inward the They corpse.

Except the other away teams did not have Captain, the sub-collective's primary consensus monitor and facilitator, as the command and control component; and nor were a handful of Alliance military operatives trailing behind as observers.

There was a pause as a split in the hallway was reached. Two four-unit squads of weapons drones smoothly broke away from the group to scout the new corridors. The same passive shielding which made transporting into the corpse problematic also skewed sensors just enough to cloud imagery of the deep interior spaces. Sensors called it [fuzzy]; and while computer algorithms tagged the translated word as suspect, it did seem to adequately denote on-the-ground reality.

"Ugh," said Vaerz as he ran a finger against a wall. A long string of mucus stretched as he retracted the digit. Hand was wiped on kilt. Next to him, a Sarcoram marine was nudging a dead symbiont with the muzzle of her energy rifle. "This trek is fascinating, yet highly disturbing, as well as disgusting. How much further, Captain?"

{No,} said Captain as he eyeballed 69 of 212. The latter's nascent impulse to shoot the symbiont 'target' withered and attention returned to watching for real threats. The marine never knew how close he came to being 'accidentally' vaporized, along with the small corpse. Focus shifted to address the security liaison's question, "It is either 305 or 340 meters distant and, we think, two levels dorsal. Sensor hierarchy is working with engineering to embed remote devices in the heavy's epidermis which should increase interior resolution. A...blob, as interpreted by current sensor readings, 35 meters distant is suspected to be a dorsal-lateral cross-artery, which should bring us to the correct level. Unfortunately, it is unclear which of these two hallways leads to it."

The threads originating from the sensory hierarchy were more jumbled than usual due to Sensors actively manipulating the grid so as to extract every iota of potential data. Even the cleaned output was mildly confusing; and none who wanted to remain sane of brain ventured too close to the raw sensor grid input.

Drone maintenance roster incidence rate of neural trauma complaints amid the sensor hierarchy had become increasingly elevated in the last hour.

Vaerz grunted acknowledgement. Silence reigned. The marines were too professional to fidget, much, although it was obvious they were uncomfortable given both surroundings and their cybernetic comrades. In contrast, the Borg, inclusive Captain, stood statue-still, ready to wait as long as needed. Belying their unperturbed exterior, internally the drones were freely chatting back and forth, conversations ranging from tactical reports from scouts and other away teams to comments upon the artistic merit of 171 of 230's latest wire-and-ball-bearing-with-jello sculpture.

"What is that sound?" complained Vaerz, breaking the silence.

96 of 203, one of the assimilation drones, roused herself to answer. "Captain is busy. This drone temporarily speaks for him. If the question was rhetorical, say 'one'. If you do want the question answered, say 'two' and be prepared to elaborate upon which sound to which you refer. If the question was a small being attempt to elicit pointless conversation, say 'three'. If none of these options are relevant, then refrain from speaking until the consensus monitor is available."

Vaerz clapped his beak together in exasperation. "That sound. The...the new sound that...." He trailed off in the face of 96 of 203's expressionless visage. "By the aeries of the ancestors...two. I select option two."

"Option two engaged. Stand by. Your question has been placed in the queue and will be answered in the order it was received." 96 of 203 started to tunelessly hum. After a few bars, she was joined by the remainder of the assimilation contingent, then one of the drone maintenance units. Vaerz vaguely recognized the ghost of a Sarcoram classical piece, incredibly distorted and given an inappropriate one-two back-beat.

One of the Alliance marines, a species with pronounced ears, made an urgent gesture with her rifle.

Suddenly, and with a wet ripping sound, a section of wall tore. As a clear fluid began to spurt from damaged flesh, six They assault units pushed their way free, displaying a much greater degree of coordination than their conspecifics encountered thus far. Despite the relative differences in size, the unit at the front of the pack immediately leapt at Captain, the drone nearest the rip, wrapping its left arm around his neck. Momentum and inertia on its side, the small assault unit overbalanced the consensus monitor and facilitator, sending the latter to the ground into a spectacular face-plant.

Needless to say, Captain's attention was abruptly diverted back to the here-and-now, shattering the multiple throughstreams he was embedded within, as well as the progress of several consensus cascades.

{Get it off of me!} demanded Captain as he felt the arm tighten around his neck. Short spikes lining the forearm began to bite into the scant protection afforded by bodysuit. Captain flailed an elbow backwards, making firm contact, but the only response was a quiet grunt.

Borg have armor and armaments spliced post-assimilation, in extreme cases adding half again or more to total body mass. In consequence, few drones are especially nimble - there were individual and species exceptions - although given the typical Collective response to throw drones at a problem until it was solved meant that particular trait was rarely valued. Conversely, They use of eugenics to genetically (re)build soldiers in a martial image meant armor and weaponry was literally a natural extension of the body, already present upon decanting from the vat-womb. In other words, where Borg were awkward, They assault units were agile.

Captain's request for assistance when unheeded as the remaining five assault units charged into the hallway.

An assimilation drone was the next target, attacker similar in stature to the one attached Captain's neck launching itself. The outcome, however, was vastly different. The small assailant successfully reached around 96 of 203's neck, but failed to take into account the fact that the Borg drone was much, much larger, built along the lines of a professional jhad-ball player even before assimilation had added yet more bulk. Instead of tumbling forwards, 96 of 203 maintained balance before purposefully falling backwards, pinning attacker between her mass and the floor. With a sickening crunch, armored shoulders and back impacted the assault unit's skull, crushing it amid a spray of gore and brain.

Alliance marines opened fire as one of the assault units turned in their direction. High velocity projectiles slammed into the creature, shattering bone and organs, and yet it continued to advance. A punishing hail of bullets eventually forced it to the floor. The marines, joined by Vaerz with a pistol, persisted in shooting the thing long past the point of its death.

Two other assault units tried to turn in the direction of the weapons drones. The less said of the overkill, the better.

The final They unit paused amid the chaos of the skirmish. An expression, perhaps one of confusion, twisted its face. Not fully paying attention to the surroundings was dangerous, and it slammed backwards into a wall as 4 of 203 lowered his shoulder and charged. Thusly pinned, the assault unit attempted to use its talons to scrabble at its opponent. 4 of 203 stoically endured the punishment as the two drone maintenance units stepped forward, each seeming to magically materialize a laser scalpel from their person. Catching one of the flailing limbs, the tools were plunged deep into exoskeletal joints; and, one segment at a time, the threat was expertly and swiftly dealt with via amputation.

On the ground, Captain attempted another elbow. Arm spines jabbed deeper into neck, eliciting warnings from body diagnostics. Thus far, damage was minor, easily repaired by nanites. However, if the spikes punctured an artery, sawed through a tendon or nerve, or otherwise seriously compromised body integrity beyond the ken of nanite doctoring, the results would be grave, if not terminal, given beam out to surgery was impossible. {A little help here before I am decapitated!}

The weight on Captain's back lessened. Sorting through visual feeds, the consensus monitor was rewarded by the view of 17 of 24, the only drone not directly engaged in battle, attempting to bodily lift the assault unit from its perch.

With the opening of a new opportunity, the They unit's free arm snaked around, driving a handful of claws into Captain's face. Cheek and forehead was compromised; and Captain's whole eye barely escaped intact. A new system diagnostic, previously silent, added to the clamor already present in Captain's head, highlighting the introduction of unrecognized biological agents into the circulatory system. At least that particular warning could be dismissed: They infectious agents, an analogue to Borg nanites, could not infect Borg drones (and visa-versa).

One of the weapons drones stepped into the fray. Arm-mounted disruptor was set against They skull. It was followed by a quiet popping sound, the result a wet explosion of blood, gore, and brain matter. A final convulsion, the assault unit on Captain's back went limp.

{Easy-peasy,} commented 225 of 300. {Now if we could only have a real challenge. This is boring.}

Captain dismissed all visual points-of-view except his own as he was helped back to his feet. The They threat was terminated. One of the drone maintenance drones - 135 of 152 - liberally splattered in a greenish hued blood, was immediately present, hand with embedded diagnostic equipment waving over neck and face.

"What the f**k was that?" demanded Vaerz from the direction of the Alliance marine contingent.

Ignoring the admonishment to hold still, Captain pivoted his head towards the Sarcoram. It looked as if Vaerz, and several of the marines, had been directly in line with the spray from the They's skull. What only could be described as 'organic bits' clung to clothing, feathers (or hair), and skin. Captain's species' sense of smell was poor, but even he was aware that the assault units' various violent deaths had aggressively added to the underlying stench of rot which permeated the ship corridors.

"That was They," croaked Captain. "That was They, not as uncoordinated as They should have been." The fact that the assault units had (sort of) acted together, had burst from a planned ambush, implied the heavy was, perhaps, not as brain dead as had been assumed. The sentience of assault units, whatever the intelligence of founding genetic stock, was greatly devolved, and the They type did not have enough presence of mind to act on its own outside of a few instinctual actions. In other words, a controlling mind had to direct them. It was still true that the ship was dying and that most of its neural matter was absent or inoperative, but evidence as provided by the attack suggested (with 76.4% probability) that neural capacity of the heavy was less degraded than believed.

The weapons hierarchy cheerfully upgraded the potential threat to all away teams, as well as the cube itself.

{Stop vocalizing,} admonished 135 of 152. {You are disrupting the scan.} A short pause. {All injuries are minor and most are cosmetic. Nanites will take care of it. A non-lucid regeneration session upon return to Cube #347 is recommended. Repair of body suit can be scheduled at your convenience.}

{Now can I talk? Our Alliance comrades are starting to fidget.}

{Yes, yes,} replied 135 of 152 as she turned away to assist her counterpart in appraising 4 of 203.

Captain resisted the urge to swipe his whole hand over his face to remove the gore which was beginning to dry. Appearances, and comfort, were unimportant. Once back to the cube, and before he returned to his alcove for regeneration, he would steam clean the gunk from his body. Until then, he would tolerate the irritation of flaking brain.

The Borg component of Away Team #3 was already rearranging itself to the previous status quo. The They were dead and no serious injuries had been acquired, so the task of locating the neural target once again had primacy. One of the forward scout squads had located the cross-artery; and once the other sub-team returned to the group, all would proceed forward on the trek.

Not unexpectedly, the small being propensity to demand explanations was in full force in the guise of Vaerz, his impatiently lashing tail, and a spooked marine contingent. It was the lattermost which was of greatest concern to Captain. The marines' guns projectile loads were purposeful given a Borg drone's inbuilt defensive shielding against most energy-based weapons - a suspicious-bastard-Vaerz 'just in case'. Therefore, to minimize the potential to procure an accidental bullet to the back, Captain had to offer some reasonable account to decrease the anxiety level.

Which, given the conversational skills of the typical Borg, Captain included, was a more difficult task than resisting a They intent on flaying one's face from one's skull.

As Captain began to speak, a fuzzy grayness and buzzing overwhelmed senses. He stopped, attempted to vocalize, then halted a second time. A previously dismissed diagnostic surged forward in Captain's awareness, screaming a wordless warning of invaders, of an unknown virus/mechanism/bacteria systematically invading various organs, as well as crossing protective membranes into the brain. The nanite-based immune system could not withstand the assault.

Vision abruptly went dark.

Captain distantly felt the impact of ground as his body brutally shook in the grasp of a vicious seizure.




*****




Borg could not assimilate They; and They could not corrupt Borg. The synthetic and/or augmented immune systems of each collective defended against the infectious agents of the other. Such was accepted belief...by the Greater Consciousness, anyway.

Except, it wasn't quite true.

Nearly a fifth of a galactic revolution ago - a long time, even by They standards - the forward elements of the They invasion fleet first met, then began to skirmish with, Order. With the bulk of the fleet still in transit between the Milky Way and the galactic crucible of They, it was the mission of the scout group to identify and appraise both opportunity and hazard. The Borg Collective fell in the second category. It was hate at first sight, both Minds recognizing that there was no place in the cosmos (or, at least, the Milky Way galaxy) for two collective entities competing for the same prey base - small-being sophonts.

They's first sortie into Borg territory - a brazen affair - had resulted in defeat. The Borg had been hurt, precipitating a massive surge in assimilation of entire planetary populations and civilizations to counter drone and resource loss. However, They had been injured to an even greater extent and forced to withdraw to the galactic rim. Reinforcements were not expected for several millennium. But They were patient - They had absorbed Their entire home galaxy, a process requiring hundreds of thousands of homeworld years - and could afford to literally regrow, and expand, their forward fleet. They were also adaptable: resources were dispatched to spy upon the non-Borg peoples of the target galaxy, to determine where chaos might best be strewn in anticipation of reaping future rewards.

It was during one of those missions when disaster had struck.

They had identified a quadrant of space containing several major civilizations. From the viewpoint of the uneducated observer or clueless civilian, there was peace. In reality, tension was high as governments carefully vied with each other, ever looking for advantage over the other. They baited Their trap, offering up mysterious new technology in the form of a (dead) light attack unit to a border outpost while ensuring that the find was observed by all potential opposition. Surely someone would attempt something that would result in a diplomatic incident. Further plans were laid by They to ensure the incident would be elevated to confrontation, which in turn could be promoted to war. It was in that chaos that They could take advantage, allowing the forward fleet to gain a firm beachhead. Such tactics had been successful in the home galaxy and there was no reason why such would not work in the Milky Way.

The locale was far from Borg territory. No elements of Order were supposed to be present. Except one was - an Exploratory-class cube. And in the events that followed, somehow multiple They units, including a heavy attack unit, were assimilated.

The heavy suicided, of course, taking with it all infected sub-components, before it could be absorbed into the Borg Collective. Yet, the implications were dire.

Too bad They did not know that the assimilation had been a fluke, one which had never been recognized, much less reported, to the Greater Consciousness. And even if it had, it was highly doubtful the circumstances could have been replicated. If They had realized the assimilation to be a freak accident, They might have saved Themself thousands upon thousands of years of paranoia.

They started simply. Borg were stolen. Even sedated, many drones ceased to live upon forced severance from their Collective; and those that did continue to function showed distinct signs of insanity when allowed mental awareness of their situation. No matter. The neurological health of Borg drones was not the issue under study, but rather the assimilation process. Nanites were scrutinized - cultured, broken down, reassembled, poked, prodded, sequenced. Non-They sophont test subjects were acquired to examine the progress of assimilation from initial nanite application to drone ready to link with an overMind.

What was not successful were the tests which included nanite injection into They units. None, not even the most devolved symbiont or torpedo, could be successfully assimilated without major (and usually lethal) suppression of the underlying They immune system. That fact alone should have suggested the accidental nature of the original assimilation incident.

Sometime during the study, Borg went extinct. Most likely. Maybe. At first the Color varients became harder and harder to find; and, eventually, even the few remaining colonies of original Collective Borg winked out. The reason was unknown, not that They particularly cared except in such that acquisition of new test subjects became impossible. The only Borg left were assimilation test lines kept under deep sedation.

Extinction of Order should have signified the end of research and resumption of the timeline for They to absorb into Theyself the peoples of the Milky Way. 'Should' was the operative word. The assimilation event so long ago which had triggered They's paranoia had become embedded into They's psyche, creating permanent scars. The main body of the formidable They invasion fleet had joined the forward scouting elements, but caution remained, keeping All to the outskirts of the galactic rim. Perhaps the Borg had faked their own extinction? Just in case, They continued research, carefully husbanding their increasingly domesticated Borg resources, assimilating new stock as the need arose.

Assimilation, Borg nanites, and the impact thereof upon a sentient quantified to the nth degree, it was time for the next step.

Domesticated drones were injected with the They viral agent used to pacify non-They individuals. Unlike Borg, the They virus did not mentally and physically prepare an individual for immediate integration. Instead, absorption enhanced latent telepathic abilities while creating a persistent sense of euphoria and I-couldn't-give-a-sh**-ness. Absorbed sophonts were destined to be used as broodstock, their genetics dissected to discover the best traits for their descendants to further the interests of They. How Order expected to mash together disparate individuals, cultures, and technologies to achieve its perverted vision of Perfection was not understood - did that Mind truly believe that adding one more random organism to the hodgepodge would one day magically transform it into something grander than the sum of its parts? Perfection was something that required work! The parts had to be scrutinized and only the Darwinian fittest allowed to continue existence! They was ever inspecting itSelf, excising those bits that did not suffice while breeding its many unit lines in the eternal quest for superior traits.

Those initial tests with They viral agents, as expected, failed. The Borg conferred nanite immune system rejected the invasion. And so began the directed evolution of a virii subset, ever searching for those characteristics which allowed the agent to last longer in the Borg body, to evade nanites, to attack. After many, many iterations and many, many thousands of years, a positive result was achieved; and, thus, the They 'phage' was created.

By technical definition, a phage is a virus that attacks bacteria. The analogy of modified They virii confronting Borg nanites wasn't quite the same, but it was close enough for purposes of visualization. The phage destroyed nanites, interrupted the nanite production process, and attempted to disrupt the Borg neural transceiver. These actions theoretically provided an opening for normal unmodified virii agents to infect the target in the usual manner, either partially or completely weaving a psi-receptor in the place of the transceiver.

After millennia of experimentation, the project was complete. The problem? Although it worked well on lab subjects, there were no 'wild' Borg left against which to deploy the weapon. It was strongly suspected that after thousands of years of unnatural selection, the domesticated drones bore little resemblance to the original strain. After all, dogs were a subspecies of wolf, but the former was much preferable to the latter to loaf around the house or go for walks on a leash. Relatively few alterations in the genome could create extensive changes, as They, masters of the genetic arts, well knew. And without wild stock, the true efficacy of the phage was unknown.

Still, if the cerebrates whom whispered the paranoia of a faux-extinct Borg re-emerging upon the galactic scene were correct, then one of three scenarios were deemed most likely:




1. Nothing. If domesticated drones were too unalike the wild type, or Borg nanites and body systems were sufficiently altered from that for which the phage was developed, then the phage would fail.

2. Drone might die. A strong phage attack would simulate an abrupt de-assimilation, terminally disrupting biological systems. Borg drones could be de-assimilated, but the feat required hours (newly assimilated units) to weeks (long-assimilated units) under controlled conditions. The phage was definitely not a 'controlled condition'.

3. Drone alive, but disconnected from the Collective. The preferable alternative, the phage-infected Borg drone would be subjected to waking catatonia, similar to that experienced by non-They sentients injected by the standard pacification virus. Thus controlled, a large number of doors were theoretically opened, ranging from permanent neutralization to turning the drone on its own kind.




Nonetheless, the reality of the situation was that there was no Borg Collective against which to test this weapon long in development. Perhaps Order truly was gone and the invasion fleet waited needlessly, shunning opportunity after opportunity to begin absorption of the Milky Way into the Body of Self.

In truth, although They would never admit it, They were fearful. In the long history of They, there had never been an incident which threatened Their autonomy. They had suffered defeat and lost battles, but not ever had the ultimate, inevitable outcome been in question. Until the Borg assimilation event. Suddenly, They were not the top predator, but potential prey...to be forced to be subject to Order. It was a scar to the psyche.

And, so, They waited amid the sparse stars of the galactic rim.




*****




His thoughts were diffuse and scattered, like nervous birds circling the evening roost. An eternity passed before coherency began to emerge, flock members one by one finding a suitable perch. Even before external senses reinitiated, several shocks shook the core of his being.

First, and most important, his link to the sub-collective was reduced. Vastly reduced. It still existed, but in form it was little more than a carrier wave, a faint footpath where a superhighway used to be.

The birds exploded back to the air. Nothingness returned.

The condition did not last, could not last. Even normal Borg drones were able to survive full severance from the Whole; and not only did a small trickle of data remain, he was imperfect. The situation had happened before, and it would likely happen again. The whirlwind of birds once more began to alight.

He now knew who he was. He was 4 of 8, he was.... He was.... Something was missing, and thence came the second shock, albeit not the magnitude of the first. An emptiness existed in his definition of self. Where that emptiness had formerly been filled by "primary consensus monitor and facilitator - subdesignation Captain", it was now vacant. He was only 4 of 8, a command and control unit for the sub-collective of Cube #347, a member of the Group of Eight, but still only 4 of 8, only one drone of many.

More nontime passed in the timeless place; more birds roosted, fluffing their feathers in a manner which suggested that they were planning to stay; more mental processes reinitiated. 4 of 8's internal chronometer came on-line. It had been 10 minutes and 47 seconds since the seizure had disrupted systems.

4 of 8 opened his whole eye and blinked; diagnostic for optical implant reported postive functionality. He could see. The view was blurry and the colors not quite right, but compensation was on-going. His first conscious view was that of a drone staring sightlessly down at him, hand held steady at the edge of peripheral vision as it presumably scanned something. Him. It was a drone maintenance unit. From its location it must have been kneeling above his head, an awkward position for most drones given the underlying lack of flexibility of the basic Borg. Although he recognized face and implant configuration, 4 of 8 did not know the drone's designation: all units continually transmitted the equivalent of a "Hello, My Name Is -" notification, but without a wider data pipe to the sub-collective, 4 of 8 could not resolve it.

Figures elsewhere in the field of vision captured 4 of 8's attention. Two more units - one each drone maintenance and assimilation - stood overhead. They stared intently at each other, heads slightly cocked, presumably in deep (and silent) conversation with each other. Or, alternatively, they were an outward representation of intense discussion between their respective hierarchies. Even in his fuzzy-minded state - a few thought-birds refused to perch - it did not take a genius for 4 of 8 to deduce that the subject of any exchange was very likely to be himself.

A flicker of movement. With a supreme effort, 4 of 8 turned his head a fraction, just enough to resolve four figures. Four weapons drones. Four weapons drones, all with disruptors aimed at their target. Him. And, now that he was focused upon it, 4 of 8 could hear the high-pitched sound of weapons primed to fire.

"Neural patterns indicate a return to active consciousness," announced a voice, breaking the silence. The drone maintenance unit hovering overhead withdrew hand and stood up.

"By the eternal egg, now will someone tell me what the f**k is going on?" The demand lacked BorgStandard reverberation, indicating it originated from a non-assimilated being. 4 of 8 identified the voice as belonging to Vaerz, Alliance master spy. Recent memories were rapidly consolidating as the last scattered thought processes found their niche, ending with the exploration of a They heavy attack unit...and an ambush.

The assimilation drone within the field of view looked down at 4 of 8. It - she? - had clearly been designated as the speaker for the group. "Do you harbor any urges to attack us?"

Confused at the question, 4 of 8 answered, "No." Pause. "But this unit does have a headache and would like to know why it has been excluded from the sub-collective. Is it correct to assume a re-integration request will be denied?"

"Why the f**k is Captain talking in third person?"

"The drone is 4 of 8. The 'Captain' subdesignation has been revoked." Attention remained steady on 4 of 8 even as a response was given. "Re-integration is denied. Current sub-collective deliberation is on-going as to your future: termination is likely."

4 of 8 blinked. "Elaborate." The demand was short, succinct. So many Cycles as primary consensus monitor had left their mark, even if he was lacking that particular job description at the moment.

"What?!" exclaimed Vaerz, followed by a lower volume, "I give up. Daisy, I should have come to you first. I humbly apologize. Now give me a summary about what the rotten-yolked egg is happening."

Eyes - the assimilation drone retained two outwardly whole ones - flicked towards the wall of weapons drones, then back down to 4 of 8. "There is disagreement, but we accept the potential hazard. As you profess no desire to attack, you will be allowed to regain your feet. The new position will allow greater efficiency in conversation. The tactical advantage is less, but we retain more than sufficient resources to dispatch you if you should advance in an aggressive manner."

"This unit agrees." 4 of 8 narrowed his eye, then asked the question which had been most bothering him. "What is your designation?"

The assimilation drone blinked, then smacked himself on the forehead. "Doh! Your link is near severed. I am 17 of 24. Other re-introductions will be offered, when and if they are required."

"Acceptable." Two weapons drones brusquely stepped forward, lifted 4 of 8 from the floor, then returned to their previous position when he demonstrated his admittedly wobbly balance was sufficient to remain standing. 4 of 8 panned the hallway, noting an uncharacteristically agitated Vaerz amid his Alliance marines, as well as marking each of the Borg drones. Of the latter, eight, not four, weapons unit were present - one of the scout squads had returned while 4 of 8 had been incapacitated; and all were aiming weapons at him. An inquiry was warranted: "Situation?"

Said 17 of 24, "You have been infected by They virii. As best as can be ascertained given our limited resources, the contagion is in stalemate against your nanites. Some systems, including neural, have been compromised. Degree is uncertain. It is hypothesized that regular, intensive infusion of fresh nanites could destroy the infection, a procedure best accomplished upon the cube. However, you are a carrier of They contagion, and we cannot risk the potential for additional contamination."

4 of 8 understood the implication of the emphasis. Among the strongest compulsions of the Prime Commands was the eradication of They. However it had come to be - sometime in the last 50,000 plus Cycles, They appeared to have at least partially overcome the historical nanite versus virus deadlock - he was now a threat. In the immutable perception of the sub-collective, he was as good as They. "Then only one conclusion is logical: this drone must be terminated. Now."
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Invocation of the Birds - Part 3


Where Chickens Dare To Be Eagles





<<Begin Recap>>





After revealing They to be the
boogeyman which instigated the semi-secret Alliance project to resurrect Borg,
a rebuilt Exploratory-class Cube #347 is provisioned, given a pat on the
metaphorical head, and sent off to find (and slay) the menace. Needless to say,
the sub-collective isn't looking forward to its inevitable death, even as
specially crafted pre-Prime Command and an overlord AI ensure compliance. After
successfully surviving its shake-down cruise, the cube uses its Xenig folded-space
drive add-on, fully expecting the worse. However, They turned out to be not
quite the fiend predicted, having undergone a slight massacre by an unknown omni-something
entity. Within the slaughter grounds, a mostly-dead They heavy attack unit is
located; and plans made to extract information from its dying neural net to
learn what happened. Forced to be part of an away team, Captain learns first-hand
the They was not quite as dead as it seemed to be...





<<End Recap; Begin Story>>
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"Then only one conclusion is logical: this
drone must be terminated. Now."


"Whoa! Wait a teeny, tiny moment! Could the
high and mighty communal Borg mind, such as it is, explain to this poor 'small
being' why Captain is suddenly so eager to suicide?" Alliance Security
Liaison Vaerz felt the feathers of his body flutter in agitation,
uncharacteristically so, given the years spent learning to control his body
language. After months reading countless reports produced by the best
scientific minds, as well as personal observation, he thought he had
understood the Borg psyche. He was clearly wrong.


The drone formerly known as Captain, and now
only 4 of 8, turned his head slightly to stare at Vaerz with that single
piercing blue eye. "It is obvious." Despite the timbre of artificiality,
the tone utilized implied an unspoken meaning, one familiar to a much younger
Vaerz confronting a smug older sister - '...and you are too stupid to get it'.


Then, as now, that sort of patronizing attitude
made Vaerz angry. However, he was well past the stage when he would have gone
on a feather-pulling counterattack with fists and talons. The adult Vaerz knew
words to be much more effective than a temper tantrum.


Feathers were deliberately slicked to provide
the outward semblance of composed calm. Even if the Borg did not recognize the
subtle shift in body language, the marine contingent, even those individuals not
Sarcoram, would intuitively respond; and the less tension emanating from those
whom held weapons, the better. Keeping Captain held in an intentionally
challenging stare, Vaerz subvocalized, "Daisy? Situation update from the
inside."


Daisy was an artificial intelligence installed
upon the Alliance-constructed Borg cube. So complicated was her programming
that it verged upon true sentience, should the computer specialists be believed.
The accomplishment was a first in Alliance cyber-engineering. Such complexity
was necessary because it was Daisy's job to watch both communal Mind and the
individual drones which comprised it, guarding against any aberration which
might indicate the Borg were about to break their pre-Prime Command shackles
and turn upon the Alliance.


Given the 'imperfect' nature of the captive Borg
sub-collective, an unfortunate fact learned after their temporal resurrection,
'aberration' was sometimes difficult to sort from normal mental instability.


When Daisy did tag an irregularity, she
readjusted it to baseline. The action was similar to the routine modifications
the sub-collective performed to its own members; and if the academic accounts were
to be trusted, these mental tweaking were minor compared to the alteration that
occurred during assimilation. Some might think such an action, taken against
the will of a sentient, to be morally repugnant. And it was.


On a grander scale, Daisy was the enforcer of
Alliance will, as embodied by designated representatives like Vaerz. If the
Borg sub-collective as a whole disagreed with an order, Daisy had the ability
in most cases to compel compliance. It would be a sullen obedience lacking any
semblance of true submission, but nonetheless it would be compliance. The
threat represented by Daisy was the equivalent of a thermonuclear bomb aimed at
an enemy's most strategic asset.


Ultimately it was Vaerz's job to ensure that the
Alliance survived, by any means necessary. The Security Liaison did not labor
under the illusion that what the Alliance did, via Daisy, was ethical, and nor
did he attempt to construct a delusional justification to validate his role in
it. And if it meant he was to be damned to an eternal hell that he, personally,
did not believe in, so be it. As long as Alliance endured, its citizens
oblivious to what had been sacrificed for their well-being, Vaerz was willing
to do whatever it took.


In the depths of his heart and by the shafts of
his feathers, Vaerz was an amoral pragmatic. No more, no less.


Daisy's pleasant contralto voice, conducted via
a surgically implanted transceiver, whispered to Vaerz, ::Sorry, boss, I do not
think I can help. There is a decision cascade of epic proportions happening,
with arguments and counter-arguments for a wide variety of solutions. If you
want a running commentary, I can give that, but I cannot tell you the
fundamental 'why' the sub-collective is so riled.::


Vaerz consciously refrained from allowing
annoyance to be reflected by his body. Keeping the facade of the calm master
spy, ever confident of himself, was paramount: if he lied to the outside world
enough, perhaps he might even come to believe it himself. "Well, it isn't
obvious to me," Vaerz snapped back to the drone. "You all represent a
substantial investment by the Alliance, Captain included. As the ranking
Alliance representative on this mission, I forbid you to kill Captain-"


"This unit no longer has the subdesignation
of Captain," reminded the drone formerly known, by Vaerz, as Captain.


"-4 of 8, or Sparkle Fart, or whatever...I
forbid you to kill him. You-" Vaerz pointed a finger at the assimilation
drone - 17 of 24 - whom seemed to be functioning as speaker for the group now
that Captain had been labeled incapacitated "-already said that there is
likely a simple solution to cure this 'They virii contagion' thing. Extra
nanites? Well, do it. What is the magic word? Comply."


17 of 24's face froze into the completely
expressionless visage Vaerz associated with a drone purposefully retreating
from whatever individuality it possessed to be used as a conduit for the
sub-collective entire. "We will not comply. You cannot forbid Us this
action."


Vaerz could almost hear the capitalization of
certain words. "The pre-Prime Commands say I can. You must obey orders
provided by appropriately designated agents of the Alliance. I am that agent."
He allowed the feathered ruff about the base of his neck to rise as a sign of
his aggression.


"There are caveats and restrictions,
depending on the situation. We argue such a scenario exists."


"Explain this supposed 'scenario', then. You
can do that, can you not? And don't you dare tell me it is 'obvious'."


Vaerz's reward was a deadpan stare from 17 of 24
that nonetheless conveyed a sense of simmering hostility. It was not quite as
well refined as similar glares bestowed by Captain, but it was respectable.


"You cannot force Us to not terminate 4 of
8," said 17 of 24. "The pre-Prime Commands are many things, most of
them annoying, but it cannot override Us in this situation. Due to infection by
They virii, 4 of 8 represents potential harm to the Whole. Allow the AI to
explain the details, but suffice to say, the threat is present. His loss will
not significantly decrease the functionality of the sub-collective, nor, more
importantly, its ability to complete any mission the Alliance forces upon Us. 4
of 8 is just another drone...such is Borg. All are tools. All are expendable. The
potential for harm which would affect the efficiency of the Entire, and,
thus, Our usefulness to the Alliance trumps the individual unit."


"Daisy?" inquired Vaerz silently.


::He is correct. The loophole is valid. I/we can
do nothing.::


Vaerz offered a verbal accusation, aimed not at 17
of 24, but the entire sub-collective, "You argue like a Sindili lawyer."
It was not a complement.


17 of 24's face lost its stiff disposition and
reanimated, "Now that you mention it...but, no, I only speak as the Whole
bids me. However, the delivery was pretty good, yes? Could you perhaps take the
time to rate my efficacy as a sub-collective mouthpiece? At your convenience,
of course. I've sent a simple questionnaire to your electronic mailbox. It
should only take a few minutes to complete."


Vaerz blinked. He was at a loss as to how to
proceed. It was an uncomfortable, and unfamiliar, feeling. The security liaison
could hear the marines fidgeting behind his back aware that their boss was
stymied. As Vaerz's mind whirled through potential tactics, increasingly wild ideas
considered and abandoned, Daisy chimed into his ear.


::Update - a decision has been made.::


17 of 24 brusquely pivoted and took the
requisite steps to Captain. The whole arm of the ex-consensus monitor and
facilitator was gripped at the elbow. 17 of 24 then steered his unprotesting
captive to a spot against one mucus-weeping corridor wall. Simultaneously, four
weapons drones were repositioning themselves into an impromptu firing squad,
arms lifting in preparation for use against one of the sub-collective's own.


"No, no, no," said Vaerz, "this
is so not happening. You cannot just...kill off your aerie leader because he is
sick!" If Captain was bothered by his imminent death, it was not outwardly
apparent. If anything, the faint expression upon his face was one of
puzzlement, inappropriate given the situation; and even more perplexing, it did
not seem to be in response to his colleagues, whom he was ignoring. "This
is illogical!"


Satisfied with Captain's placement, 17 of 24
rapidly extracted itself from danger. As the drone moved, a reply was provided,
"4 of 8 is infected by They. It is quite logical. The disease must be eradicated
before it can infect the body. Furthermore, we must complete our high priority
task to extract data from this heavy - a priority set by you as Alliance
representative. 4 of 8 is a distraction from our efficiency to do so, and
therefore shall be remedied in the most immediate and effective manner."


Vaerz ground his beak together. The situation
had just been rendered to its base issue - one of many versus one of few. And
the real 'many' was not the sub-collective with its fear of corruption, but
rather knowing the story of the alien fleet and determining the potential of
threat to the Alliance. Vaerz would sacrifice most anything for the Alliance;
and one Borg drone, no matter how valuable, really was insignificant.


Just as the sub-collective claimed, albeit for a
completely different reason.


Maybe...maybe if the Borg did find their effectiveness
substantially decreased by the loss of Captain, there was a solution. The
mission had been disclosed as hazardous, and if a few graduate students,
scientists, and/or engineers did not return, well, that was the danger of
traveling to a warzone. Vaerz would just have to ensure that the new drones
were lost somewhere in the bowels of the cube such that family and colleagues
never encountered them.


The assimilation process might even be
interesting to observe, from an academic point of view.


Against the wall, Captain suddenly animated. His
whole eye rapidly blinked as his head twisted back and forth. The firing squad
was ignored. Attention focused upon 17 of 24. "We request a delay to our
execution. Now. The situation has changed. We confirm that this They is not as
dead as we initially believed. And it desires to talk."






4 of 8 felt his arm grasped at the elbow in a
firm grip. The sensation was a distant one, and he paid it no mind, yielding
without resistance as the owner of the hand maneuvered him to its liking. In
the last several minutes an internal distraction had monopolized his attention.


A hissing.


A babbling.


A flurry of images and not-words and emotions
and perceptions as blurred as the scenery outside a ground-effect vehicle approaching
the speed of sound.


Part of 4 of 8 was cognizant of 17 of 24 fussily
situating him against a moist wall, of the movement of weapons units at they
took their places in preparation for the execution. That same small slice of 4
of 8 had not envisioned this scenario as his life-ending event - a vaguely
remembered explosion was more in line with the anticipated final moment...else,
maybe, pudding - and had hoped, as much as Borg drones were allowed to hope,
that the Collective could have been re-established first. Or Vaerz assimilated.
Either would have provided a sense of satisfaction of a job well accomplished. The
greater part of 4 of 8's attention, however, was directed elsewhere, at the
voice battering against his psyche.


Voice. An epiphany!


A wordless voice conveying much (too much!) in
the blink of an eye, the beat of a heart, the firing of a synapse.


The frustrated swearing, on the other hand, came
through perfectly clear, even as 4 of 8 could not unravel the rest. The
images/sensations/emotions were varied, detailed, and, for the most part,
anatomically impossible for the majority of intelligent species which called
the Milky Way home.


Slowly, yet unfathomably swift, the main message
was simplified, and then simplified again. The gestalt meaning was dissected,
the most important concepts extracted, the velocity slowed from warp speed to one
merely inadvisable. 4 of 8's mind finally grasped what the voice was
trying to say, trying to convey, trying to disclose before it died the final
Death.


4 of 8 blinked as the meaning became clear. He
refocused upon the situation facing him, a situation comprised of the dangerous
end of multiple disruptors. Irrelevant. He pivoted his head, searching for 17
of 24, the current speaker-for-all for the squad. Target found and locked upon,
4 of 8 spoke: "We request a delay to our execution. Now. The situation has
changed. We confirm that this They is not as dead as we initially believed. And
it desires to talk."


A moment of held breath - literal in the case of
Vaerz - and, one at a time, the firing squad lifted weapons out of alignment. Mostly.
There was always one, or, in this case, two. And one of the drones wasn't even
part of the designated firing squad. 4 of 8 peered at the threat, then abruptly
threw himself to the floor. Both disruptors missed, barely, scorching the wall
just above 4 of 8's head and creating the nauseating odor of burnt rotten meat.


17 of 24 turned to stare at the tactical units,
all of whom suddenly found something extremely interesting to look at upon the
ceiling, or the floor, or each other. Anywhere but 17 of 24. The assimilation
drone finally pivoted to scrutinize 4 of 8, whom had decided the ground
remained the best place to be. "Second asks a direct relay, quote, Sorry -
Weapons was throwing his usual fit, unquote." Pause. "Next inquiry is
if your statement actually changes the situation, or if it is just a clever
ruse that demonstrates that you have been fully taken over by They. If the
latter, you will be destroyed immediately."


Maintaining his position, 4 of 8 rolled his
whole eye - a gesture picked up long ago from human-originate drones - and
answered, "And how are we supposed to answer that in a way that cannot
be interpreted in a manner which ends with this drone terminated?"


More silence.


"I will hear what Captain has to say,"
said Vaerz from the direction of the marine contingent, breaking the hush. His
tone was authoritative. "And you will too. This is a demand I can make
as an Alliance representative, rotten-egg-be-damned loopholes or not. And you
need full data in order to make your decisions, do you not? Daisy says you have
started arguing again."


After a long beat, 17 of 24 replied, "It is
not arguing and We will listen."


4 of 8 cautiously pushed himself off the floor, unsteadily
regaining his feet. The wall provided a disgusting assist at balance. Once
upright, the ex-consensus monitor for the sub-collective of Cube #347 slowly
panned his audience. It truly did not matter to whom he directed his words, but
the action gave him precious moments to order his thoughts, to listen to the
not-voice which continued to urgently whisper deep within. Consciously erasing
any expression which may have crept upon his face, 4 of 8 finally faced 17 of
24 and began to speak.


"This They lives. It is the last one, as
far as it can tell, and it is dying. The purpose of its attack was to inject a
drone, any drone, with a modified They virii to serve as a communication vector.
None of its mobile assets have the ability to speak, not that we would have
allowed one to get close enough to deliver a message. Furthermore, means to
converse via subspace or radio frequencies has been lost. This drone just
happened to be the 'lucky' one." 4 of 8 closed his eye and dimmed optical
implant input to block exterior distractions.


"This They type is very, very intelligent;
and They do not speak to each other via inefficient words. Nor is it alike to
Collective communication. It is a mental gestalt with images and concepts
stacked atop of images and concepts. And, apparently, neither the brain of this
drone, nor any unmodified nonThey biological, can handle the information
density. In other words, this heavy considers this unit very stupid. It has had
to modify its message into very simple components."


"Hatchling talk?"


4 of 8 reinitiated visual and turned to look at
Vaerz. "Yes, but with less babbling or cooing. And the heavy does not
think this drone is cute at all." Attention returned to 17 of 24. "What
we try to relay is that much data has been lost during the simplification
process. Conversely, the heavy has difficulty comprehending this drone because
the thought architecture is mostly alien to it. Mostly, but not entirely. Which
is disquieting in the implications.


"This heavy believes the cube to represent
a probe for an intact Borg Collective. As said, it is dying and They appear to
be functionally extinct. As an illogical and singular biological entity, this
They wants revenge and is convinced that if it presents its case, then the
Collective will be its proxy, if only due to enlightened self-interest to not
die itself." 4 of 8 turned inward as he attempted to sort the images and perceptions
simmering just behind the forefront of his mind. "We...do not understand. As
we have been severed from the Whole, we do not know how to foster understanding
through this inefficient means. But there was a Xenig whom was not a Xenig, a
creature or entity which looked like a mech. And there was light and pain and more
pain. Everywhere. And the whole time this not-Xenig was also everywhere,
exterminating the They fleet/swarm, it broadcast 'CONWAY! I AM CONWAY! I AM A
GOD! THE GOD OF COFFEE! AND YOU HAVE BURNT MY CAPPACHINO!' while...maniacally
laughing...."






*****






Every superhero ever imagined has a strange,
even fantastical, origin story. Perhaps there is a mutant radioactive chicken,
or an exploding planet, or a technological accident of epic proportions. Sometimes
money is involved because hard currency can overcome a whole lot of the faults
possessed by an otherwise mere mortal. The inclusion of supernatural or
transdimensional beings is considered a plus.


Often overlooked is that any supervillain suitable
to be a superhero's archnemesis also requires an extraordinary origin story of
his, her, or its own. And a raging ego with a tendency towards angst.


This origin story includes coffee. A lot of
coffee.


Once upon a time, in a slice of multiverse
reality colloquially known as the Happyverse, there was a human named
Davey-wavey Conway. Lots of things happened to him, some relevant and others
less so, but in the end an assimilated Conway, once the covert controller of
trillions of nascent Hapborgy - Federation of Fun (and other) civilians
secretly infected with Happy Borgy nanites - was defeated by a coalition of
rebels and Party Borgy collective...and one very misplaced imperfect Borg
sub-collective.


Except this end, so goes the cliche, was only
the beginning.


For over twenty years (21.43 to be exact),
Conway existed in a caffeinated haze. The rebel-Borgy partnership had an
agreement whereupon the latter babysat Conway, maintaining his quiescence via a
highly modified Mr. Coffee contraption plugged into his system and a selection
of prime coffee varieties. In return, the rebels oversaw the de-Happification
of the Federation populace, thereby ensuring that no Hapborgy could develop. The
rebels, of course, realized other perks, such as the establishment of a new,
quadrant-spanning government which emphasized personal freedom and the equal
pursuit of Fun for all, but that was a small-being thing. Given the fact
Happification was a derivative perversion of Party technology, the development
of the process for large-scale, rapid remove of nanites and hardware had
required Borgy input. The Party Collective had neglected to mention that said
process actually substituted secret nascent Borgy tech in the place of
Hapborgy, but that is a tale for another time. For this particular origination
tale, all which was important was that after 21.43 years, the last
de-Happification occurred and, suddenly, there was no need for Conway.


The most sensible action would have been to
euthanize Conway. A live Conway was a potential threat to the Fun Way, a reservoir
of Happyness should he ever escape or be stolen by terrorists. However, the
leaders of the Federation of Fun (Version 2.0) were squeamish when it came to
purposeful executions: taking a life during war was one thing, along with other
exceptions such as the heat of passion or when some unfun a**hole zoomed into a
parking spot already claimed via directional indicator. It was a common small-being
double-standard. In the end, the Party Collective was quite willing to spirit
away the newly jobless Conway.


Conway was an excellent addition to the
Partymatrix 001 discotheque. With only minor adaption of existing hardware, the
neurotransmitter and mood variations caused by application of different coffee
blends could be translated into a fabulous light show. Admittedly, he was still
the original Happy Borgy, but any attempt to de-assimilate or co-opt him to the
Party would negate his discotheque value. Besides, it wasn't like he could go
anywhere, not from the heart of the Party Collective, not while juiced up with
the best coffee the galaxy had to offer.


And, so, the Party Collective, well, partied.


Within a year, Conway had become the basis for a
new trend in all things party. Expanded to control more than mere lights, fried
neural apparatus was plumbed into music synthesizers, holo projectors, odor
emitters, anything and everything for the ultimate discotheque experience. Coffees
of dubious genetic profiles were introduced to Conway's system, along with a
wide variety of stimulants, depressants, and other drugs. Creating the various
recipes was elevated into an art form, entire blocks of drones devoted to
determining the best mixtures to set the most partisome mood. Through it all,
Conway endured, mind lost on a never-ending trip.


Then, G'floo! happened. Certain substances
appear to be common amongst all the viable universes of the larger Reality, at
least those which evolve sentient beings. Ketchup, baco-bits, and spoo are amid
those substances, as is G’floo!, the hallucinogenic secretion derived from a
clade of sponges. Perhaps there is a greater cosmologic meaning as to the why
in the conservation of substances, or maybe it is just coincidence.


In preparation for ten hours of self-imposed
therapy intended to elevate the Party Quotient of the Whole, a few drops of a
newly encountered drug was innocently added to the dark roast supreme being
prepared within the innards of Mr. Coffee. Once the percolation cycle was
complete, the fresh brew was automatically added to Conway's coffee dripline.


The mess took days to clean; and, worst of all,
the Partymatrix 001 discotheque would require weeks of repair before it could
be used again. There were backup discotheques, of course, but it was not the
same. Given the lack of a body, the tangle of technological destruction, and
the, um, chunky (and coffee smelling) smears encountered during damage
assessment following the incident, it was assumed by the Borgy Collective that
Conway had been thoroughly obliterated.


As to be expected for a supervillain origin
story, the truth was much odder.


For Conway, the G’floo! experience was like
being shocked awake from a deep sleep by being thrown into the center of a very
cold lake. Confused and scared, he had wanted to be somewhere, anywhere, that
wasn't here. And, thus, he went elsewhere. Abused brain overloaded by caffeine
and G’floo! and other substances, suddenly anything was possible. Therefore,
Conway (with modified alcove, Mr. Coffee apparatus, and fifty kilos of whole
coffee beans still in their canvas sacks) left Partymatrix 001, and the
Happyverse itself, reappearing in the depths of unknown space....


Even as a budding supervillain with a Hapborgy
body juiced with the power of coffee and G’floo!, Conway's story should have
been over. Physics may be able to be bent into a pretzel-like configuration,
but even then a body floating in the middle of nowhere is pretty much a death
sentence. Once again, coffee came to the rescue.


Conway was a member of a gourmet-bean-of-the-month
club. Ordinarily the subscription was intercepted by his Borgy keepers and
added to the coffee stockpile, but current circumstances could hardly be
classified as normal. The Xenig tasked with the delivery did not care about
such things as 'normal': he only wanted to keep his excellent on-time streak
continuing, especially in light of the recent GPS [trans-multiverse corps -
motto: "All realities, no matter how odd, all the time"] bonus
announcement.


Upon translation to Conway's location, the Xenig
immediately noted the radical change in address. Universal constants were
different, the electromagnetic spectrum had a rather sharp tang to it, and
missing was the usual drone welcoming committee. No matter. The antics of
non-mechs could be very mysterious. With a mental shrug of dismissal, the Xenig
prepared to summarily dump the coffee subscription atop of the floating
cybernetic addressee.


The Xenig never did acquire the bonus; and, nor,
for that matter, make it to the next stop on his delivery route. Using the
lucid clarity of coffee, G’floo!, and insanity to guide him, Conway reached out
and took. The mech's chassis became a new body of sorts, the original
inhabitant displaced...elsewhere. And, so, a new supervillain came screaming
into the cosmos.


Flash forward nearly 20,000 years....






Conway's stolen chassis is a heavily modified patchwork.
Any Xenig, except for youngsters undergoing a rebellious grunge phase, would be
embarrassed to be seen wearing such a mess. Conway is not Xenig, and he does
not care about aesthetics. Plastered upon the chassis are hundreds of coffee
decals, novelty advertising stickers originating from a dozen universes. Every
time a piece of chassis wears out and needs replacement, the stickers are
painstakingly removed, then affixed upon the new hull segment.


The Xenig chassis is durable, but 20,000 years,
more or less, is a long time.


Like Conway's chassis, his body is also a
heavily modified patchwork. If 20,000 years is bad on metal, it is even harder
on organics. Conway had long ago shed the bits and pieces he did not strictly
need - limbs, internal organs, even (after very long consideration) genitals -
until he was little more than the proverbial brain in a jar. It wasn't his
original brain, of course. How preposterous! Human neurons barely lasted a
century! Instead, Conway's brain was a clone grown from a stock of original
tissue held in stasis. He could have tried a non-Conway model, but not only was
he sentimental about his own body, but there was the strong possibility that a
substitute might not respond to coffee and Hapborgy nanites in the same manner.
To completely transfer his 'self' to the Xenig chassis' circuitry was also out
of the question because coffee would then not affect him at all.


And Conway's relationship to coffee was
everything.


Coffee was a wonderful elixir. The interior of
Conway's chassis, where it wasn't filled with cloning machinery and brains in
different stages of growth, was dedicated to all things coffee. Beans in
climate controlled niches, a dozen different grinders, measuring devices, an
ultra-precise heating element with the ability to control temperature to the
0.00001 Celsius, roasters, water samples from a dozen worlds...the amount of
equipment was astounding. The end product was fed, drop by drop via intravenous
line, into the high tech jar hidden within the machinery of Conway's original
Mr. Coffee Borgy alcove. All this fuss for a mere cup of java was necessary. Conway
did not merely have an addiction to coffee, but he literally needed it.


This supervillain's power was rooted in coffee.


Conway's power was psychokinesis. He was no
backcountry charlatan, but could move objects, set things on fire, control all
forms of electromagnetism, even create a force field of pure thought. And the
scale of that control, although not quite at the level of the typical Q-like
omniscient being, was respectable: once Conway had set a star to spinning
backwards, just to see what would happen (answer - nothing good, not for the
star, not for the [uninhabited] planets orbiting it). How exactly coffee and
aggressive nanoscale machines combined together in an already unstable mind to
create such a staggering superpower is unimportant, in much the same way that
trying to figure out how a heroic being that can transmogrify its body to stone
(or fire, ice, slime, cockroaches, etc.) and back is doomed to failure.


At 20,000 years since his 'rebirth', Conway is
bored. The universe he currently inhabits no longer has his interest. After a
thousand years, he has visited all the 'must-see' tourist locales, appropriated
the best strains of coffee for permanent storage in his chassis, wroth a small
trail of destruction during one or two of his 'little blackout moments', and
maybe begat a few religions to worshiping him as a god. All the usual things. It
was time to move on.


The first step of Conway's standard operating
procedure is to transit to a new reality, a feat not even coffee-enhanced
psychokinesis could accomplish. The chassis that Conway appropriated has been kitted
out with a special trans-dimensional drive. The Xenig had been part of an elite
multiverse GPS delivery corps; and while the normal Xenig faster-than-light
drive was more than adequate to move about the galaxy (or further abroad), not
even that technologically advanced race could slip between realities at will. Instead,
GPS outfitted its special delivery mechs with the appropriate drive, its
acquisition a company secret known only to a select few.


Once in a new universe, Conway will typically spend
a couple of weeks to a month - a pittance when compared to twenty millennia of
life - jumping to key locations about the Milky Way galaxy. Theoretically, he
could go anywhere in the universe, except 'anywhere in the universe' would lack
coffee. He knows because he has asked the occasional omniscient being. Coffee
originates from one particular planet in one particular galaxy.


Conway wants to know if the reality is the one
he knows as the Unhappyverse. Inevitably it is not, but he has to check. The
Unhappyverse is where a specific variation of creatures called 'Borg' originate;
and, specifically, a sub-collective designated Cube #347. Conway hates Cube
#347 with a passion approaching, but never eclipsing, his love and addiction to
coffee. Twenty years of drugged-out hell because of Cube #347. The sane part of
Conway whispers that even if he did find the Unhappyverse, it has been 20,000
years: Cube #347, perhaps even the Borg Collective, are dead. The Xenig's trans-dimensional
drive is not a time machine, or perhaps it is, sort of, but Conway has never
been able to find a definitive temporal setting, and the prior occupant largely
scrambled the user’s manual before its dissolution. On the other hand, 20,000
years as a brain in a stolen chassis is 20,000 years, no matter the reality. However,
the sane part of Conway is very small, and he searches nonetheless.


If Conway had possessed the no-space coordinates
for the Unhappyverse, things would have been much easier. Unfortunately, the Xenig
chassis owner, before having its mind shredded, had erased them. What it didn't
have time to expunge were star charts; and, specifically, files detailing key
navigational pulsars and other beacons that represented the Xenig home reality.
As the Xenig hailed from the same reality and galaxy as the Unhappyverse Borg,
to find the one meant finding the other. If that meant spending time leaping about
the galaxy to look for specific stellar waypoints potentially displaced 20,000
years from their last snapshot - or some other unspecified number, given the
uncertainty of a tau component in regard to the trans-dimensional drive - so be
it. Sometimes it is best to get one obsession out of the way before focusing on
another.


It has been 20,000 years since his rebirth, it
is a new reality, and Conway's excitement is growing. Thus far, all the
waypoint beacons are positive! With each jump, Conway is becoming increasingly
convinced that this is the home of the Xenig, that this is the Unhappyverse.
He has had disappointments before, for a near match is not the same as an exact
one - 17,500 subjective years ago, a large chunk of galaxy had been nova-ized before
the realization that the "Borg" in question was really a very
elaborate cosplay - and he does not want to waste time smiting (when he could
be testing coffee) if there is no need. There are only a few more points to
check....


Conway jumps into the edge of a fleet of organic
creatures. He first noticed their existence two weeks ago, when he passed
within ten light years of a different group, but has otherwise ignored them. They
are not Borg; they do not look like the type of sentient that would appreciate
coffee; they are not important. Now he does take note of them. Twenty-five
individuals comprising three distinct types break from the main horde, boldly
approach...and attack. There is no warning, just explosions, energy weapons,
and hyperkinetic missiles. It is useless, of course. An annoyance of no greater
importance than the whining of a small insect. If Conway had retained eyes, he
would have rolled them. Perhaps he will do something about them later, or
perhaps not...whatever his eventual actions, he is busy right now. He returns
to figurative rustling of electronic maps as he sights upon a beacon star and
considers its gravimetric signature.


A diagnostic hisses in one non-ear. It is from a
spider-bot, a robotic subsystem of the Xenig chassis which allows remote
telepresence of the hull owner. This particular spider-bot has been crawling
over the exterior on an automated search for damage which is not present. Except
it is. Specifically, one of Conway's coffee stickers, a rather racy decal
featuring a centaur mermaid contorted into an obscene position, has been
lightly scorched.


In the depths of his mind, Conway frowns.


Conway needs peace and quiet for his
Unhappyverse assessment. From the manner the attack force's weapons are
charging, that peace and quiet will not be occurring in the near future. The
easiest solution would be to move a light year or two and readjust: there is no
need to be at this exact space-time point to orient the star charts. Another
solution would be to remove the annoyance, swat the buzzing fly and follow up
by eradicating the entire species or civilization or whatever it was. It may be
overkill, but it would guarantee no future interruptions.


Conway puts away the star charts and decides on
the latter option. The time expended now will be saved later when there will be
no creatures, whatever they are, bothering him in his important coffee (or
Borg) doings. Besides, it has been a good fifty years or so since he last blew
something up in an orgy of homicidal rage.






*****






***START Level 1 Gestalt - Associative/Recall***


"CONWAY! I AM CONWAY! I AM A GOD! THE GOD
OF COFFEE! AND YOU HAVE BURNT MY CAPPACHINO!" The voice - which wasn't actually
a voice, but instead the internalized translation of a war cry cast upon
wideband subspace frequencies - screamed its fury. It, and similar
proclamations, were interspaced by bouts of maniacal laughter or, even worse,
dead silence.


Around me, swarm-mates die, cerebrates die,
everyone dies. There are slashes of light, everywhere and seeming all at once,
and it feels like the attack is instantaneous even as it drags for minutes,
hours, tens of hours. We huddle, smaller units sculling as close to my flanks
as possible, seeking shelter. It is useless. Less than five kilometers from my
starboard dorsal quadrant, Rip, a light tactical unit, telepathically howls in
pain and panic as the enemy, the Foe, lances hot daggers of unknown energies
through vital cerebral nodes. The clamor abruptly ends as his personality
center is eviscerated. No matter, for the tempo of destruction has increased,
with a mothership with its decanting facilities, thousands of wombs, and, most
importantly, cerebrate cargo the next of many targets.


I blindly fire weapons, trying (and failing) to
battle the fear. Fear...is a foreign sensation. They have retained fear in
Their breeding programs, as They have kept most feelings, because it is
believed a diversity of emotions to be an asset. It was a facet of
individuality; and individuality, up to a point, was encouraged within Chaos. Still,
I had never, personally, encountered fear. I do not like it. Of the weapons
released, the torpedoes are just intelligent enough to avoid striking They in
their path, steering in great looping circles in a futile search for a nameless
enemy. Unfortunately, my energy weapons are not so discerning, and I punch
holes through They flesh. The wounds are grievous, but none die. It would have
been kinder if my accidental targets had perished.


The Foe shouts its incomprehensible babble
again, this time invoking mochas and stickers and demanding the location of a
cube(?) be disclosed. The Enemy is obviously insane.






***START Level 2 Gestalt - Associative/Recall***


From the exterior, the
Foe appears as any of the mech Xenig race, albeit a dilapidated one in standard
GPS configuration. Early upon arrival to this galaxy, the swarm had met Xenig. All
were destroyed. It had not been easy - the mechs were powerful - but all had
been alone when encountered, and all had eventually been overwhelmed by sheer
numbers.


Machines, even those
self-aware and subject to the holy laws of Evolution, cannot be a part of They.
Cannot. Machines are an aspect of Order, while They embody Chaos; and only via
the random joy of Chaos, by allowing organic life to be intelligently guided
through all its potential permutations, can Perfection be achieved.


After tens of years and
the destruction of fifteen mechs, the swarm was visited by a Xenig envoy
consisting of a dozen machines clad in battle chassis. A complicated diplomatic
dance entailed, whereupon They learned two salient facts. One, the mechs
destroyed had been the equivalent of curious youngsters, exploring their
galactic neighborhood in the brashly unwise manner common to youth. Two, while
They had the ability to terminate a single Xenig, the mech race as a whole (or,
in this case, a dozen) was more than sufficient to wipe Chaos from existence.


The envoy had been more
concerned about the They intentions than the fate of the youngsters. The ensuing
resolution was fair, if one-sided. They was an organic concern, and They could
do whatever They desired amid the organics of the galaxy...or any other mechs,
for all the Xenig could care. The few systems claimed by Xenig were off limit,
with the penalty being genocide. Youngsters (and oldsters) trekking the galaxy
would be cautioned to stay away from They swarms. However, there also would be
no punishment to They if travelers ignored the warnings and were subsequently
destroyed. Such was an accepted consequence of being young - if the experience
of sticking a nose into a black hole did not kill, then it was a teachable
moment.


Naturally, Xenig
contracted to GPS and similar corporations were a different matter, but those
mechs typically announced their intentions from afar before entering the swarm
to make a delivery. And everyone wanted their mail and gBay orders, even They.


Upon its initial
appearance, the Foe had been identified as a Xenig heedless to the warnings of
its guiding council. Therefore, it was deemed a fair target for They. Except
this target had turned out to be anything but fair; and it was highly likely
that no matter the suggestion of the exterior visage, the target was not Xenig.
Demon seemed more apt.


***END Level 2 Gestalt - Associative/Recall***






It is in one of the moments of eerie silence between
proclamation and gleeful laughter that I am struck. The first slice is
painless, and initially I think I have been speared by a misaimed cutting laser
fired by one of my terrified comrades. Except I have not. "DIE DIE DIE DIE
EVERYONE DIES I NEED MORE COFFEE MORE WHIPPED CREAM AND DAMN THE CALORIES DIE
DIE DIE" echoes from subspace as another slice rends my flesh, then a
third and a fourth. These are painful. Very painful. Shamefully, for a heavy
attack unit should be stoic no matter the threat, I cry out my terror. And I
fire all weapons again. And again. And again. But it is useless. The only thing
I hit are my swarm-mates. The Foe-demon chortles its amusement and lances its
unknown weapon into my body as casually as I might dissect an asteroid to find
tasty radioactives and trace elements. Except the Enemy seems to be attacking
for reasons that have nothing to do with hunger.


Neural nodes are boiled, melted, disintegrated,
cooked. My brains - primary through tertiary - are scattered throughout the
core of my body, creating a massive redundancy in data retention and mental
processing. I can literally have two-thirds of my neural system disabled and
not lose battle fitness. It is not enough. The Foe knows where to strike and
strike it does. Propulsion is the first system lost. Others swiftly follow
until I am paralyzed, weaponless, and near blind to the universe beyond my
epidermis. Internal systems are too badly shredded to be healed, even if
regenerative capacity had been retained. Only telepathic contact with the swarm
remains intact; and from the cries and screams and babbling I know the Foe has
moved on to ravage new targets.


I have failed in my duty as a heavy tactical
unit. I have failed They.


Darkness looms as blood flow falters to remnant
neural nodes. Thinking has become hard. Disjointed. I give in to
hallucinations, and the empty space beyond, confident I will never reawaken.


***END Level 1 Gestalt - Associative/Recall***






In his alcove, Captain opened his eye to stare sightlessly
at the tiers on the far side of the shaft. The most recent version of the memes
extracted from the They heavy tactical unit - Apogee - were vastly improved
compared to the initial account. Nonetheless, the mental asides, such as the
backflash to historic Xenig encounters, demonstrated the deeply gestalt nature
of the They's brain and its non-linear perception of time. It had been nine
cycles since Apogee's fragmented memories had been extracted, and the post-process
cleanup was still ongoing.


And it was Captain, primary consensus monitor and
facilitator of Alliance (Borg) Cube #347. Not just 4 of 8. Not a dead drone,
organics recycled and bio-mechanical parts placed in storage against future
need. For a time, the latter fate had seemed inevitable.


Upon the dying They, Captain (4 of 8) had been
the only conduit between the heavy and the sub-collective. It was a very poor
conduit. Much information was lost during Apogee's simplification of its
complex mental gestalt; and even more was mangled by the attempt to verbalize
concepts which were fundamentally alien. Unfortunately, it was also the only
available means of communication. Apogee had pledged to lead the drone away
teams to the most intact neural architecture, with no resistance and allow the
Borg to do whatever they wished to do. In return, all the They desired was to
die knowing that the Collective would at least consider destroying the
Foe-demon Xenig. No promises were demanded by the heavy; and Apogee knew very
well that the sub-collective would eventually seize its objective, resistance
or no. It was alone and, no matter its physical size, had reverted to the
small-being yearning that something would come of its death, that it would in some
way make its mark upon the universe.


The irony was that there was no Collective. Apogee
had not been informed of his mistaken assumption, not until well after the deed
had been accomplished.


Symbionts, all suffering sores and other
debilitations reflective of the condition of their host, had appeared to lead
the sub-collective to its multiple goals. Most had immediately died via
disruptor barrage by suspicious and edgy (never a good combination) weapons
units. Apogee had more than sufficient replacements, however. Eventually a directive
to not use the symbiont guides as target practice was enforced.


Captain had not accompanied the trek to the
heavy's neural nodes. Instead, one of the drone maintenance units assigned to
his away team had approached and set knuckles against neck. A nanotubule
connection was established, through which a command for deep regeneration was
input.


Five cycles of unconsciousness later....


Captain (still 4 of 8) had awoken within an
alcove set in the domain of assimilation hierarchy. The overriding demand of
the Prime Command in regard to They and his infection should have ensured that
he never regained consciousness. Obviously something had changed. What that
something might be was unknown, sub-collective link present, but narrowed to
little more than a wellness signal.


From one of the doorless entries into the
assimilation workshop ambled Assimilation. He stopped before Captain, head canted
sideways in the classic posture of interdrone communication as he peered
silently at the alcove's occupant. About a minute later, the transporter system
flared into operation and deposited Second, Doctor, and two assimilation and
three weapons drones. The latter five units took position in the middle of the
workshop, setting themselves in a rough arc centered upon Captain's alcove before
freezing in place. Meanwhile, Second and Doctor joined Assimilation in mute
vigil before Captain.


The transporter activated a final time,
materializing Vaerz. His damp feathers were exceedingly rumbled with longer arm
and tail plumage actually dripping water, and the few articles of clothing being
worn appeared to have been hastily donned. "By the first egg, you did this
on purpose! I finally find time for an actual water shower, and suddenly Daisy
is informing me that Captain has been woken!"


Second heaved a sigh, rolling his two unaltered
eyes, but did not bother to turn. "You got yourself infected by that They
virus on purpose, didn't you?" The words were directed at Captain, not
Vaerz. "See what I have had to deal with? You were right, the creature is
not nearly so enjoyable when one has to interact with him directly." A
half pivot was executed towards the Sarcoram. "As you have been repeatedly
informed, the drone in question is designated 4 of 8, not Captain. Technically,
I should be 'Captain', but I dislike the finality it suggests. And it is coincidence
that your hygienic routine was interrupted. We did tell you that 4 of 8 was to
be reactivated this cycle, given medical clearance."


Doctor clicked his incisors together twice. "Yes,
yes, medical clearance. You, my puppy 4 of 8, are fixed!" The cyberized
rodent paused as a faint expression of confusion wrinkled his short snout. Ears
flicked. "Bad Second! I did not mean it like that, and you know it! You
all know it! No biscuit for anyone, not even the special ones with the wee
little yummy chunks in them!"


Second's own visage remained perfectly bland in
the face of the chiding. Behind, two of the weapons units shuffled ever so
slightly as Vaerz tried to suppress a chuckle under coughing.


Vocal cords paralyzed and alcove locking body
into place, Captain could neither add his own input to the situation, nor
request (or gesture) for the irrelevances be curtailed.


With one last glare around the room, Doctor
returned attention to Captain. Ears lifted. "Medical clearance. 4 of 8,
you are...repaired. Mended. All the wittle-little teeny-weeny bad germs are
gone. The-"


"What Doctor is conveying," interrupted
Second, "is that all They virii particles are no longer present. Most
denatured on their own by the third cycle from your attack and the remainder
were eradicated through massive nanite transfusions. Your final medical
clearance to return to sub-collective service requires," one hand was
raised, "consciousness to ensure mental soundness. It is necessary for the
assimilation hierarchy - and the AI Daisy - to examine your psyche to certify
your linkage to They, no matter how temporary and superficial, did not
irretrievably pollute your mental processes. If corruption is found, and it
cannot be corrected, you will be euthanized. The process will cause pain beyond
the capability of your systems to handle. Due to the possibility of They
corruption, no matter how slim, you cannot be linked to the sub-collective to
disperse the forthcoming...discomfort. Even the assigned assimilation partition
will be isolated from Us during the procedure. Do you understand? Blink once
for yes and twice for no."


There was no inquiry concerning compliance. The
action would be taken with or without consent. Captain blinked once.


Assimilation immediately stepped forward,
balling his hand into a fist while reaching for Captain's neck. There was the slightest
of pricks as nanotubes burrowed in. Then, as promised, came the pain. Excruciating
pain. Pain that seemed to last forever as mind and personality were torn apart,
the pieces examined, then set back into place. More or less.


The pain was irrelevant.


After an eternity, Assimilation unlinked and
stepped away. "The drone 4 of 8 is within acceptable tolerances to his
baseline. No They corruption is found. We recommend a follow-up check in seven
regeneration cycles." The head of the assimilation hierarchy seemed
disappointed in the finding. On the other hand, Assimilation always radiated a
sentiment of disappointment.


Captain abruptly felt his link with the
sub-collective expand to full bandwidth. He fell into the welcoming embrace of
the truncated All, feeling whole once more. Residual pain from the forced
mental examination lessened to a dull throb. Within a few heartbeats came a
subtle restructuring, one which reinstated primary consensus monitor and
facilitator status to the unit 4 of 8. Captain was once again Captain. Body
paralysis was lifted and the alcove signaled its readiness to respond to its
occupant, although said patient decided to remain in place: diagnostics
reported a high probability that he would become an uncoordinated heap on the
ground if he were to step out.


 That had been four cycles ago. The scene had
continued with Vaerz squawking about one thing or another, sarcastic comments
from Second, and so forth, but in the end Captain had escaped to his own alcove,
where he had remained until now. But while it was technically possible for a
consensus monitor to spend an entire assignment in an alcove - and some had -
Captain did not like the inactivity. And then there was the fact he sometimes developed
horrible muscle cramps, ones that required cycles of stretching (and Borg were
not flexible) to work out.


With a quiet *hiss*clank*clunk*, Captain's
alcove released him to step to the tier deck. As always, little things
distracted him in a continual visual reminder that this Cube #347, while a good
facsimile, had definitely not been built in a Borg shipyard. Ignoring a
cheerful yellow sign that helpfully suggested the passerby to "Watch Your
Step!", Captain pivoted to his left and headed towards the nearest nodal
intersection. As he walked, the communication system was accessed and a ping
request broadcast on the local shortwave subspace band. This far from
civilization, there was only one recipient - Apogee.


While Captain had been unconscious, the cube had
forcefully installed communication equipment upon the They unit. Semi-intact neural
structures associated with a biological subspace system had been located, an
away team of engineering and weapons drones dispatched, devices wired in place.
Finally, a hole had been drilled from installation site to the epidermal
surface to allow insertion of an antennae. It had been a messy endeavor, more
akin to surgery than construction; and, without a way to relay intentions
beforehand - Captain being comatose - Apogee had resisted the intrusion as best
as possible. It had been an anemic resistance, and futile. Communication which
did not require Captain as a poor intermediary was eventually established.


"Am I to die now?" The voice, a
pleasant tenor featuring a musical lilt, sounded from speakers as Captain
entered his nodal intersection. Tagged as 'standard voice #3' in the
Alliance-provided universal translation software package, it was a weak reproduction
of the powerful presence which had temporarily inhabited Captain's mind. However,
it was much better than the default voice, a high pitched squeal which brought
to mind a cage of rodents in a helium-rich atmosphere.


The monitor hung on the tier-ward bulkhead
brightened from standby mode, fireworks screensaver abruptly vanishing. In its
place a hullside camera feed focused on the crippled They. An array of useless
statistics having nothing to do with the scene began to scroll down one side of
the picture, offering a cosmetic touch. Some drone had been playing with the
display code. Again.


The question from Apogee hung in the air. The
verbal dance, a variation of which was performed at the beginning of each contact,
was begun.


"You will be terminated when your use as a
tool to Us is no more." Captain spoke the words aloud, unnecessary because
actual act of communication with the heavy was a direct subspace exchange of
information, not traditional (and inefficient) verbal conversation, but it
served its purpose. And in this case the purpose came in the form of Daisy, if
not real-time relaying the contact to Vaerz, then recording it for later
perusal. "You would be of long-term service to Us if you were to submit to
assimilation. Within the non-necrotic parts of yourself, you retain ability to regulate
your immune system. Suppress it, or eradicate it. Without a They immune system
to counter Our nanites, it may be possible to move forward with
assimilation."


The response, as always, was tinged with the
translator algorithm's rendition of disgust; and upon the viewscreen, an oily
wave of burnt orange tinged the still living patches of Apogee's epidermal hull.
"No. Never. Absolutely not. Should you try to inject me with your Order
infection, I will euthanize what little remains of myself. Bad enough to submit
to the devices of Order you graft to me. I will not become hated Order."


The dance was complete, the final step taken. Offers
made from each side summarily rejected, the purpose for the contact of
sub-collective with Apogee could now begin.


"There are continued uncertainties with interpretation
concerning meme series #4, #7, and #8. As usual, tags have been inserted at the
specific time stops." The named memory sequences, already compressed to
save bandwidth and transfer time, were attached to a subfrequency and sent to
the heavy. Even thus prepared, it was not the most efficient of methods and
would require several minutes to complete transmission.


On the display, the orange hue was fading from
Apogee's hull, replaced by neutral tones spiked with the occasional greasy lime
green. "Any particular clarifications to focus upon?" he asked.


A ghost of the meme Captain had been reviewing
in his alcove, a subset of one of the three dispatched to Apogee, briefly washed
through his foremind. It was unclear if the source was his own subconscious or
if he was merely the conduit for a random sub-collective thoughtstream. And it
was irrelevant. "No."


Deciphering the garbled meme mess extracted from
Apogee was progressing at a painfully slow pace. The processing power of an
entire Collective, trillions of minds strong, was required for expediency. Unfortunately,
such was unavailable, leaving the effort to a mere Exploratory-class cube, and
an imperfect and short-crewed one at that. But even the Borg Greater
Consciousness at its height might have had difficulty, for an hour or two perhaps,
due to the densely gestalted nature of a high echelon They's thought processes.
The non-temporal/non-linear inclusions further hindered interpretation, mental
tangents embedded throughout the primary meme like unwanted fractures and
inclusions in a gemstone.


Several times each cycle, contact would be made
with Apogee in a bid to further meme reconstruction to a format the
sub-collective could understand. Sometimes the heavy could assist, but more
often he could not: many critical memory fragments were simply gone, lost when
the associated neural matter had been parboiled, shredded, or vaporized.


"Then I will consider the problem, with an
update provided in ten minutes. Additionally, I continue to labor on the other
assigned task. Progress has been made, albeit I remain far from completion. I
only bring this up because an interesting coincidence has recently arisen which
intersects with meme interpretation."


Other assigned task? What was this? As fast as
the question could be formed, an answer was provided. Sort of.


{Oh oh oh! What is it? What is it? What is it?} 133
of 230 slammed into Captain's mind, buzzing excitedly as if she had overindulged
on caffeine, G’floo, or another stimulant. However, Borg nanites neutralized
all but a select few drugs, and 133 of 230's dossier did not indicate chemical
addiction, pre- or post-assimilation, to be of issue. On the other hand, she
did have another vice, one directly linked to her once-upon-a-time career as a
researcher of obscure, often long dead, languages. Even as a Borg drone, she
craved linguist mysteries, a drug for her personal addiction. Unfortunately, such
mysteries within the modern galaxy were relatively few given the ubiquitous
nature of universal translator algorithms able to decipher spoken language, as
well as most written texts, given enough input. Naturally, there were always
exceptions, one of which was Mech Species #3, Xenig. And there just happened to
be a thick Xenig language folded-space drive user manual on board. The logical deduction
was not difficult to make, although the details demanded explanation.


Captain switched primary attention to 133 of 230.
There would be a short lapse in response to Apogee, even with internal
conversation proceeding at the speed of thought and electronics. {Explain.}


{Explain what? There is data to acquire! Do
you know how unusual the Xenig written language is? How few examples of it
exist? Anywhere?} Captain was besieged by a squall of data. Upon his node
monitor, unseen, a list began to scroll, detailing public and private holdings
within the Alliance where Xenig text could be found. {Xenig are a mech race. Theoretically
there is no need for a written language component when data can be passed
individual to individual, or individual to community, and visa-versa, directly.
Yet not only does a written language exist, it persists and even shows indication
of evolution over time, which in turn suggests it is in active, although
probably limited, use. Similarly, there is a native verbal component, although
examples are even rarer than the written element because individual Xenig use
the major language or languages of whatever species or civilization with which
they are interacting, thus avoiding need for a universal translator. Scholars
believe the likely origination of both language modalities to be the Xenig Progenitors,
with the mechs retaining spoken and written words of their builders so as to permit
future communication should the two ever be reunited. This is all conjecture,
of course, as there is no translation of the Xenig texts, and the mechs refuse
to cooperate with-}


{Cease!} 133 of 230 abruptly stopped her babble.
{A dissertation was not requested. Explain how the They has become involved in Xenig
linguistics. Comply.}


{Oh. That. Apogee seemed bored, floating over
there, dying and interpreting his memories. But mostly dying. Mental
stimulation is a proven therapy for boredom, and puzzles are the best of
possible stimuli. What could be a better puzzle than the Xenig written
language, a prime example of which we just happen to possess? Much better than
a crossword. By keeping the They alert and thinking to the best of his remnant cognitive
ability when not actively engaged in a meme assignment, he is thus prepared to
provide his best service to Us.}


Captain ignored 133 of 230's justification for
her actions. Most drones could provide a logical reason for impulsive actions
which passed the censors - "The space bugs were going to eat the equipment.
Since space bugs are frightened of fireworks, and there were a lot of space
bugs, I had to use that many sparklers. The resultant fire really was
accidental," was a rational, if ultimately nonsensical, reckoning. {I/we
see. And how did you engage the They in this project?}


133 of 230, realizing that her actions were
probably not quite acceptable, no matter the motive behind them, answered uncertainly,
{Er, I beamed over a replicated hardcopy?}


Logs were checked. An unauthorized transport
signature was found, not purposefully hidden, just overlooked as it was buried
amid permitted transporter usage by engineering moving between They and cube. 133
of 230's linguistics obsession, a low risk impulse, had never warranted
specific flagging for censor programs to watch her designation for illicit
activities.


The interrogation continued, {And how did the
heavy know what the manual was and what you wanted? There is no record of
access to communications by your designation, and you are not facile enough
with code to deeply hide your tracks.}


{I, um, included a device with a verbally
recorded message.}


And Apogee, unfamiliar with Borg modus operendi,
did not recognize the peculiarity of the interaction. It was not difficult to visualize,
even with a Borg sub-collective's limited imagination, what had subsequently
occurred. As 133 of 230 had said, death was a protracted affair for the heavy,
and it was undoubtedly bored.


The virtual 'mute' button was released as
attention returned to the They, "Elaborate on the coincidence linking the
two tasks." 133 of 230 was not forgotten, far from it, but the matter no
longer required the direct notice of the primary consensus monitor and, thus,
further questioning and subsequent attachment of restrictions to her
designation had been passed to command and control units lower in the
hierarchy. 


Replied Apogee, "Within the hardcopy manual
I have clearly translated only twenty-two nouns, verbs, and conjunctions, with uncertain
meanings tagged upon a hundred or so more. It is a very complex language. Progress
would happen faster if there was either a willing native speaker to whom to ask
questions, else multiple intact neurologies to query through dissection. Fortunately,
sufficient interpretation has been made that most of the words in the ancillary
document listing destinations of individual folded-space drive crystals are comprehensible.
What caught my attention is the coincidence that one of the translated crystals
- Dirt - matched some of the ravings the Foe made in the last meme group for
which you requested clarifications."


The final comment captured the sub-collective's
attention, triggering a rapid scan through the memes. The word "dirt"
was not found. However, what was abruptly grasped was that the not-Xenig had
been speaking in not one, but several distinct languages, one of which was
completely unfamiliar. This recognition had been previously overlooked due to
the fragmented nature of memories formed through the lens of They perception.


The recorded rants were restricted to one primary
language, with frequent bouts of swearing utilizing half a dozen additional
tongues. All had been easily deciphered by the They version of a universal
translator, hardwired neurologies grown and programmed while in the artificial
womb and updated as needed throughout the unit's life. Because translation was
the product of genetic instinct, understanding happened automatically from
Apogee's point of view, with the origination of the underlying language lost
unless the heavy specifically focused upon it. In the carnage of slaughter,
focus had not been a priority. Therefore, the fact that there had been an
unknown tongue mixed amid comprehensible dialogues had been tagged as much less
important than the chaos of bloody genocide. Besides, the universe held many,
many languages unknown to They; and the fact that a psychopathic not-a-Xenig
mech demon might know one of them was hardly sun-shattering.


The unknown verbalizations were completely
different from the screaming, sometimes utterly illogical, proclamations which
comprised the bulk of the dialogue. In addition to not being of a language
known to They, the 'dictation' and 'tone' - as much as could be applied to a
subspace broadcast with a digital, not organic (i.e., oral), origination - was
quite different. The utterances were calm, clearly enunciated, and, thus, were
completely out of place. They were also very short, filling the void in those
rare moments between active verbal attack. And, as now suggested by Apogee, their
basis appeared to be the mysterious Xenig language.


What revelation did the out-of-character remarks
provide? More swearing? No, just two words, provisionally translated: "Dirt"
and "Dirt go". The same "dirt" as written on the
folded-space crystal which had jumped the cube to an ancient battleground of
shattered planets and moons.


The screamed self-designation of the non-Xenig -
"Conway" - was familiar to the sub-collective, in a disjointed and
indistinct manner. The name was mostly linked with coffee, but also an
alternate reality called the Happyverse. A complete memory sequence,
unfortunately, was unavailable due to temporal resurrection and subsequent neurological
trauma. It was possible that events could be reconstructed, as others incidents
had been, by searching amid all drones for fragmented and scattered
points-of-view for sequential reassembly. The process was similar to the effort
being devoted to compilation of Apogee's memes, except that the need to do so
had not been recognized until this moment.


Within the sub-collective, priorities shifted. Elevated
in importance was knowing who and what this Conway was, and if it had any
relevance (unlikely) to the They massacre. Conversely, continued reconstruction
of Apogee's memories with greater finesse and detail was increasingly less
likely to lead to new revelations. The basics of the situation were known: a
probably-not-a-Xenig went on a rampage. What to do with the information - was
it even relevant? - was unclear. The sub-collective was back to square one. Was
the They genocide the result of an omnipotent, omniscient, omni-everything
entity with the unassuming name of "Conway" having a momentary breakdown,
never to be repeated? Or was it a threat which might affect a future revived
Borg Collective, should such come to pass?


The data with which to seed a decision cascade
were slim. Captain began to draw both knowns and conjectures together. All over
the cube, in the dataspaces and the physical realm, drone activity ground to a
halt, communal attention redirected.


A single link. They's unknown demon-Foe garbed
in a Xenig chassis and sporting the name Conway, uttering a word from a unique,
mysterious language potentially referring to a dead system. Pure coincidence. A
likely dead end to match the dead system. For the sake of completeness, the
non-clue would be pursued. Once the unproductive detour was officially
completed, Cube #347 would return to Alliance space, hopefully followed by the
offloading of Vaerz and the other Alliancers (but mostly Vaerz) polluting the
decks. And, finally, the sub-collective could concentrate on more important
considerations, like how to escape from Alliance shackles and reconstitute the
Collective.


And, somewhere in there, the opportunity would
surely arise to check out local tourist attractions. For instance, for over two
centuries, an artists' commune in Alliance system 1105c [no common name] had
been sculpting asteroids into fabulous creatures, attempting to bring to life
the nightmares and fantasies of a dozen species. And then there was the Snot
Sea of Byryllus Three, considered to be the largest private collection of
mucus...ever. Visitors were encouraged to donate secretions, thereby ever
increasing its size. Relatively nearby the Snot Sea, give or take ten light years,
was...


Captain frantically hacked at the tangent, pruning
it before it could completely overwhelm the decision cascade. In the dimly
remembered past, Cube #347 had once been caught in the trap of trekking to see
tacky vacation spots, breaking from the madness only due to the intervention of
an exasperated Greater Consciousness which had finally received one too many
forced perspective photo mementos. In this now, in this future, there was no
Collective to save Cube #347 should censor filters epically fail and the AI
Daisy be unable to pull hard enough on the virtual reins.


However, for all the sidetracking, a decision
had been made. Drones returned to their interrupted tasks.


"Have you heard my report? Do I need to
repeat?" asked Apogee. "It is preliminary, but I can provide a full
analysis. I'm not as smart as I used to be, which is why it took so long."
Thirty-five minutes had passed since the sub-collective and heavy had exchanged
words, long enough for the They to realize that the conversational pause to be unusual.


"We..." began Captain. He paused,
captured his scattered mental self, then started again. "We have heard. No
analysis required at this time. You will work on the meme clarification task,
as assigned. Further direction will be forthcoming."


On the monitor, the heavy's hull gained a faint iridescent
pink hue amid the neutral color scheme which slowly swirled across the
epidermis. "Understood. I comply." The subspace connection was
severed.


The sensor feed from the Alliance quarters was
scanned. It was the very early hours of the local morning, and most of the
Alliancers were asleep, including Vaerz. For a brief moment, Captain considered
waking the agent - wake/sleep cycles tied to planetary rotations were
irrelevant - to divulge the outcome of the consensus cascade, but decided
against. To do so would mean interacting with the Sarcoram, who could be quite
surly before he had imbibed his morning stimulant. As designated liaison, and
one whom had just recently regained his consensus monitor and facilitator
position following a prolonged examination of mental faculties by assimilation
hierarchy, he wasn't ready for that particular headache yet. A memo to
Vaerz's electronic mailbox would do. Alliance morning, and the bothersome
questions, would come soon enough.






*****






::What a mess!::


::What an understatement. I wonder what happened
here? No matter, we've work to do, so we might as well get started.::


The scene was grotesque. It was a debris field,
but not one littered with rocks or metals, but instead the remains of what had
once been organic creatures. Myriad frozen bodies of multiple shapes and sizes
tumbled aimlessly, strips of shredded flesh and spars of shattered bone forming
chaotic halos about individual corpses. Some of the remains had crashed into
each other, merging into misshapen forms.


One body, terminally eviscerated and missing
a quarter of its length, suddenly shuddered.


::Wait! Wait! I seem to have a problem!::


The response from Voice #1 was tinged with a
snicker. ::You don't always look before you fold, that is your problem.::


::Yes,:: agreed Voice #2, ::you don't look. It
is a bad habit. Now, let's-::


Interrupted Voice #3, ::Space is so big. Why
look, except when folding into a population center? The chances of actually
hitting anything are so minute!::


Prompted Voice #1, ::And if you, say, folded
into a rock?::


::Then it would shatter! My consolidating matter
would take precedence over the existing matter, displacing it. But this thing
isn't a rock! It is a squishy piece of organic disgustingness. My chassis only
displaced enough to make room for me. Look, could one of you jokers burn off
this mess? All my ports and hatches are stuck and I can't remove it myself. If
I fold like this, it will be in my field and I'll take it with me!:: Voice #3
was starting to sound a bit panicked.


::If someone was less sloppy with
their transitions, then that someone could fold out of his predicament unless
the impediment was bonded to their hull at the atomic level,:: chided Voice #2.
::Your 'problem' is only cosmetic: you can still move and you can still sense. Therefore,
you can assist the rest of us with the job to which you were also given.::


::But-::


::Yes?::


In the background, Voice #1 was laughing.


Silence. ::Fine,:: said Voice #3. ::But
if we come close to any suitable stars on this venture, I am detouring to broil
this mess off of my hull. I refuse to return to station with this thing on
me.::


::Don't worry! I've already committed several
sectors of memory to your appearance! Would you like to see any of them?::
Voice #1 was jovial.


::No.::


Voice #2: ::Think of your predicament as an
object lesson as to why one should practice proper folding techniques and
protocols. You are the eldest of us and should know better, yet you sometimes
act like you just left the creche. Let's get to work and sort out the quantum
wakes.::


Two metallic forms, and the mangled body of a
once sentient being, smoothly advanced into motion.






*****






"We are to leave Apogee behind?"


"Yes."


"Just like that."


"Yes."


"After all the assistance he has
given?"


"Yes."


"Leave him, the last of his kind, to die an
apparently painful death?"


"Yes."


Short pause. "Are you even listening to
me?"


"Yes."


"I would like a luxurious dust bathing
facility to be built in one of the cargo holds, complete with fully stocked bar
and bartender. Can I have that?"


"Ye....no."


Vaerz tilted his head slightly so as to better
bring the full force of his glare upon Captain. The two were in his Alliance
bloc offices, and the latter had been obviously distracted throughout the
non-conversation. Daisy was whispering in Vaerz's ear of a major uptick in
drone activity, both physical and in the computer realm, but nothing sinister. The
sub-collective was simply finishing housekeeping chores in advance of leaving.


Captain stared back. There was no mystery to the
thought behind his unblinking gaze. It was obvious that the drone felt his
summons to Vaerz's office to be a waste of time. Sometimes lack of emotion was
just as telling as a visible display, even when as applied to a Borg. It also
helped that Captain had already told Vaerz his opinion concerning the order.


"They would have enslaved every being in
your Alliance," said Captain, "and initiated breeding and genetic indoctrination
programs to ensure all descendants were They. Those species that did not fit
with Their plan would have been exterminated. They are now functionally extinct
and the threat eradicated, yet you show concern of the last known living unit
of They?"


"So you claim."


"So we know. So every drone knows, even
imperfect ones. Your Alliance is the one whom temporally resurrected Us to
confront They."


Vaerz snorted. "And, as you well know, I
personally think that we were in error. The threat is not from that poor
bastard out there, not anymore, but right here, even as the Big Beaks of the
Alliance continue to ignore my reports. But the decision on what to ultimately
do with you is not mine to make. Let's be frank, my job, and that of Daisy, is
to ensure that you Borg as a weapon do not turn in our hands to cut us. It is
also my job to be on the lookout for any advantage which might be gained for
the Alliance. Apogee represents an advantage."


Captain squinted, something akin to confusion
momentarily sweeping his face. Vaerz watched intently. "Then this is not
a small being plea for mercy concerning the fate of the heavy? Or an irrelevant
discourse on the morality of using the heavy like the tool he is and then
discarding him to die alone?"


The rhetorical questions, words purposefully
twisted to elicit emotional response, were ignored. Captain, or any drone for
that matter, might claim psychological manipulation to be beneath Borg, but
that did not seem to prevent its use when an advantage could be gained. Vaerz
raised neck ruff and slightly tightened the small muscles around his eyes: the
Sarcoram version of a grimly ironic smile. "Of course not. As I said,
Apogee represents an advantage. I have been talking with the scientists, and
they agree that the Alliance, not to mention their own careers, would profit if
samples were taken before we chased off after our own tails. Yes, I concur that
nothing will come about following the linguistic 'clue' that has been
uncovered, but the pursuit of it will certainly last longer than the six to
seven days Apogee has estimated to his final death. Fresh samples from a living
Apogee is preferable to returning to pick over his corpse, although I expect
we'll do that too while doing similar to his buddies. The creatures are from
another galaxy, after all."


Captain blinked. "There is no time. We are
finishing final preparations to depart."


"The collection will take less than an
hour out of your busy schedule. You - all of you - and I both know that there
is no reason to hurry to the dead end. If anything, this most brief of delays
gives you that much more time to plot against the Alliance. And me. Plot away."
Vaerz deliberately paused several beats. "The plan is to send to Apogee a
few scientists and some students, accompanied by a handful of marines as a just-in-case
against any random assault units which have slipped from the heavy's control. I
will even risk my pretty tail. You will transport the group to one of the
designated beam-in locations whereupon thirty minutes will be spent scraping
mucus, taking biopsies, doing whatever it is that the scientists will do. They
will complain that thirty minutes is not enough, but that is a hatchling whine
for me to deal with."


"And if we do not accede?"


Vaerz gaped his beak into an evil smile. It was a
little something he had practiced in his younger years while moving up through agency
ranks, and it now came naturally when called upon. "This is not a request.
You will comply. And don't bother looking for a loophole that does not
exist."


Silence. One heartbeat. Five. Ten. Finally came a
sullen "We will comply. Inform us when you are ready to beam to the heavy."
And before Vaerz could acknowledge the reply, Captain had already transported
himself from the office, effectively ending the meeting.


Vaerz stared at the empty spot, then ruffled his
feathers in a shrug, dismissing any insult that the Borg may have intended. Most
likely there was no aimed offense, only a drone impatient to return to whatever
duties he felt ranked higher than a conversation with the small being Security
Liaison. Well enough, for Vaerz still had a few final preparations to make with
the scientific and marine staff of the Alliance mission before all could beam
over, and there was no better time than the present to get things moving.






Streamers of thick mucus languidly flowed down
the walls and puddled on the floor...the deck...the whatever like syrup. Where
the snot was absent, large cracks met to form craters, and flecks of skin(?)
peeled into drifts of a most hellish case of dandruff. Could it still be called
dandruff if it was on the inside? Unsettling soft spots waited to capture an
unwary foot. And it did not seem possible, but the fetid air stunk worse than
Vaerz's previous visit, making the atmosphere filters stuck in most
individuals' breathing orifices a necessity, else be subjected to
uncontrollable dry heaves.


Vaerz casually strolled away from the group. Researchers
and students were rapidly sorting their prizes and building ordered piles, conversing
amongst themselves as to need for a fifth vial of phlegm or if a last minute
attempt should be made to bore into the wall another meter in the hope of
encountering a different tissue type. Several varieties of symbiont, found dead
during the frantic thirty minutes of scavenging, were especially valuable trophies.
However, the top prize was the tactical assault unit, ragged tears and puncture
wounds suggesting it had been the victim of attack by one of its comrades. Standing
nearby in a loose perimeter, armored marines hefted their weapons and did their
best to look threatening, but more than one expression of disgust was apparent,
and most actively avoided looking at the grisly treasures. Return to the cube
was scheduled in less than five minutes; and the Borg would undoubtedly perform
the beam-out at the precise second, no matter if the transportee was ready or
not.


Meanwhile, the Security Liaison's action was
studiously ignored. None knew why Vaerz was walking away; and none knew why he
slipped around the corner so as to be out of direct line of sight. All knew
better than to ask. He was a Security Liaison, after all. Whatever he did, it
was on purpose and absolutely important. Even if it was only to take a piss.


Vaerz did not need an emergency bathroom break. All
successful spies underwent many, many years of self-imposed training in bladder
and colon control to ensure dignity could be maintained at all times. It was a skill,
one particularly handy when waiting in line for a special event ticket which
could only be bought directly from the venue or vendor on a first come, first
served basis. Agents which could not perfect bowel control were forced to
catheters, diapers, or whatever was appropriate to the species. And diapers
were so undignified. So much of being an accomplished Security Liaison,
including government pay rate, was based on a perceived image.


Once around the corner, Vaerz took a couple more
steps, then stopped. Reaching into a pocket of his vest, he withdrew a
container of silvered metal. Cylindrical in form, it was about ten centimeters
long and as thick around as his thumb. A simple screw cap stoppered the top. With
a wall before him, Vaerz raised the bottle, opened his beak to speak, then
paused. After a few seconds of consideration, he shuffled around to face the
expanse of an empty, dank, and nearly dark corridor.


"I do not know if you can hear me. And if
you can hear me, you may not be able to understand me. Hell and shattered eggs,
for all I know, this part of you is completely dead and I might as well as be
talking to that wall." Vaerz stopped, abruptly and uncharacteristically
self-conscious. He shook off the feeling, although feathers along tail and rump
refused to fully relax. Vaerz took a deep breath, then continued his prepared
speech, projecting his voice such that neither scientists nor soldiers, despite
their relative nearness, should be able to hear. It would be best for them to
be able to plead plausible deniability if hard questions were brought to bear,
by either the Borg or his own Alliance government.


"About twenty-eight hours ago the
sub-collective came to a decision to move on, of which I concur. You know of
this because you are about to be left here, alone, to die. Maybe you are okay
with this, ready to face oblivion, a deity, reincarnation, or whatever it is
that you believe comes next. I am not you, obviously, and I cannot know. What I
do know is that I would be sad. And frustrated. And angry. Probably a whole
lot of things, but mostly angry. And because the universe is an uncaring bastard
that couldn't give a rotten egg about my anger, it would be directed primarily
at myself. All those damn what-ifs piling up.


"What would I focus upon? Again, I can only
speak for myself, but I am a common-hatched fellow for whom the normal
moralistic teachings didn't really stick. Therefore, I am a big fan of revenge.
If I am going to go down, then I am going to take someone with me. And if that someone
was out of reach, then I know I'd devise something, if only to flash the
universe a big 'f**k you'. Hell, I know the universe still won't pay me any
mind, but so what? The narcissistic bastard in me would feel a damn lot better
and I would be able to die with a sense of accomplishment."


Vaerz gestured to the bottle. "This is a
concentrated serum of pure evil. Borg nanites. Five types, according to the
engineers moonlighting as med techs. Damn if I know what they do, and nor do
they, to tell the truth. The engineers have been drawing blood samples from the
drones aboard the cube. From these samples, they've distilled, or titrated, or
magicked for all I can understand this serum. Enough foulness in this bottle to
assimilate a good-sized urban aerie. And that's assuming that all five nanite varieties
contribute to assimilation. Even if only one or two types actually do the heavy
lifting, still a lot of bad juice in here.


"Why do I tell you, a corpse who probably
isn't even aware of my pretty speech, this nugget of information? From what I
understand from my Borg friends, the primary reason for your pending demise
isn't all the holes blown through your body and brains, but instead because what
functions as your repair system has collapsed. You literally cannot put
yourself back together. Perhaps there is hope in my devil-elixir.


"Before you get yourself wound up at my
suggestion and send assault units to stomp me into paste, listen a bit further.
I know that you have refused assimilation by the drones aboard the cube. A
little...birdy whispered it so in my ear." Vaerz smirked to himself. "I
do not care if it is religious dogma or a really bad experience in They's
infancy or whatever, you abhor non-biological technology. Therefore you hate
the Borg and their nanites as an anti-They. And you surely despise
civilizations represented by my Alliance for our deep reliance upon similar
technologies.


"The secret to ultimate success, my dear
Apogee, is that sometimes one has to deal with the devil. It is up to you to
keep your soul intact. I've done it many a time, and have survived only
slightly tarnished. Such also describes the Borg upon this cube. I am sure you
have gleaned by now that the Collective is no more, that it died out long ago. And
if you had not figured it out on your own, then I offer that bit of data for
free for you to think upon. These drones are an anachronism from an earlier age.
The Alliance controls them...or the Alliance thinks it controls them. Truth is,
the Alliance, my Alliance, is eventually going to fail in that control. As much
as it pains me to think it, it is so. The Borg are dealing with their devil -
the Alliance - so as to bide time; their quasi-mechanical souls are very much
intact, and I fear one day, perhaps sooner rather than later, the pestilence
the Alliance dredged up from the temporal depths will turn out to be a greater
danger than the one They once represented.


"I offer the devil in this bottle." Vaerz
made a great show of setting the container on the ground, grimacing at the
too-organic 'squish' underfoot as he shifted his weight. "I do not pretend
to understand your biology, but if the Borg thought they had a chance to
assimilate you, perhaps they are correct. Or perhaps they were not and it was a
futile gesture. If you can be assimilated, I offer you the opportunity to do
so under your own direction and no one else.


"If assimilation is successful - a big if,
I know - then you will gain a new repair system. I think. I have no clue on its
limits. The drones aboard the cube heal fast enough when scratched, but they also
visit their physician-butchers for bigger injuries. However, by simply staying
alive, you have taken your first step to revenge, or telling the universe at
large to 'f**k off', your choice. Unfortunately, you will also gain a direct
line to the Borg devil you so despise.


"You could keep your distance from the Borg
- without being implanted with one of their hardware neural transceivers, well,
the galaxy, and beyond, is a big place for you to wander, never getting close
enough to hear their broadcasts, and visa-versa. However, those nanites are the
devil's own imps, and the scientists tell me that they implant their own
instincts and urgings and needs to link to the Collective. Maybe you are strong
enough to resist? But, then, cowering in the black corners of the universe
might be a fate worse than death, especially for a warrior bred and born such
as yourself. Might as well pass the devil by and die here.


"Therefore, I offer you another devil. How
many devils does that bottle now contain? Two? The devil I offer is the
Alliance. After all, I am not presenting you the elixir out of the goodness of
my heart. I bargained away 'goodness' and 'altruism' to my own devils long ago.
I am a selfish being in a selfish universe. The Borg threat is inevitable. You
potentially offer a counter-balance to my merry little sub-collective of
soul-snatchers. I have a secret weapon called Daisy. She is a computer program,
something that is probably an abhorrence to your beliefs. However, she is a
lesser devil that can stand between you and the greater devil of the Borg,
ensuring that no matter how strong the call is for you to join their cause, you
will be able to resist.


"Be not fooled, but Daisy will also be your
shackle, much as she is of the Borg right now. Then again, we are all chained
by one thing or another. The difference, I think, is that you will be willing
to accept this chain as my drone friends are not. To be blunt, you have no
future. You will die. And with you dies all of They. You cannot reproduce. They
cannot reproduce. The Borg have divulged all they know of the They; and while
their resurrection to this era made them forget much, including specifics of
They, it is recalled that They required a ship-creature of wombs and nests to
bring eggs of your type to term. You can birth your symbiont slaves,
bio-torpedoes, and tactical assault units, but nothing else and certainly
nothing of consequence. Or threat. Your virii do not turn infected beings into
They. Your lost kind are all genetically modified and brainwashed from before
birth to be They. That is your essence. Borg, on the other hand, do have a
future, for they can 'reproduce' more of themselves via nanites and the
assimilation process.


"Of course, I could be unleashing an even
more horrifying being upon the Alliance, a hybrid of They and Borg, but I am
willing to take that chance. That is my own devil with whom I must negotiate. I
will take that gamble because the devil is well aware that I cheat."


Vaerz ceased speaking as Daisy whispered in his
ear a one minute warning. He acknowledged the notification with a single
syllable subvocalized murmur. "I must go. I probably just spent the last
five minutes talking to air and pus and stench, but it is my time to waste. If
you are hearing me, and you do understand, there is your choice." And with
that simple proclamation, Vaerz turned on heel and unhurriedly returned to the
away team.






*****






Silence. The already dim bioluminance of the
artery-way faded hour by hour, minute by minute, mirroring the waning life-force
of underlying flesh. The last flock of non-They entities had left a timeless
eon ago, followed by the departure of the cube-shaped scion of Order.


A shadow detached itself from the putrid
blackness. It resolved into a small hexapod, no more than twenty centimeters
tall at the mid-withers. It limped towards the silver cylinder, right hindmost
leg uselessly dragging, body covered in weeping sores, one sightless eye filmed
in white. Large ears flared outward as it stopped before its objective. It
squatted down on its back four legs and lifted the forward pair, unfolding two
delicate six-fingered hands. And then the creature froze, statue still.


After five minutes, ten minutes, thirty minutes,
an eternity, the symbiont jerked into motion. One exquisite hand gracefully
grasped the cylinder. The prize was carefully cradled to chest with both arms
as the creature awkwardly pivoted on three limbs and wobbled off into the
darkness. It had a destination far from here; and while it was old and in pain,
there was also joy in following the direction of its personal lord and god. And
if it died en route, then it would be a life fulfilled and another would take
up the burden.


Except for the occasional sharp exhalation of
noxious gasses from burst pustules, silence reigned. Light faded to near nothingness,
and then was gone.






*****






::Not another strip mall!::


::At least this one is intact. We will separate
and make inquires.::


Several hours later, three forms reunited at the
edge of Designated Parking Area Blue-Three.


Reported Voice #1, ::Seems the target was here a
week ago and he was visiting coffee joints again. At every place he said
something along the lines of 'Meh. Passible for a trucker stop.'  Eventually he
left.:: There was a pause. ::I'm not getting this. Why would he be buying
coffee? It isn't like he can ingest it.::


::Maybe he's gone crazy,:: said Voice #3. ::I
can relate. By the way, I found this great shipwash place on the far side of
the mall. The line isn't too long and they say they can sonic disrupt this mess
off my chassis in a couple of hours, then follow up with a great wax and
polish.::


::We are here to do a job, not get our chassis
detailed,:: responded Voice #2.


Wheedled Voice #3, ::If there was a point to be
made, I've received it loud and clear. Look before you fold, check. This has
gone beyond a joke to an embarrassment! By the Progenitors, I have a dead
organic thing vacuum cemented to my hull!::


::And it will have to remain there a bit longer.
There are too many disruptions to the quantum from normal traffic to be able to
easily track the wake of the target's folded-drive signature. That
edge-of-malfunctioning slip-warp engine isn't helping matters, either. All
three of us need to fold out at least a light year in separate directions and
deep scan the quadrant. Hopefully that will provide us with enough data to
triangulate the target's vector. If not, then we'll have to start gridding. We
seem to be catching up. All our progress could be lost if we delay for a hull
cleaning.:: Voice #2 was very matter-of-fact.


::Whatever you say. This is a complete embarrassment,
and not just to myself, but to all of Xenig-kind. And to the Company's image. I
am so filing a grievance when we get back,:: muttered Voice #3 darkly.






*****






Conway industriously composed a to-do list, its timelines
arrayed to keep him busy for at least a thousand years. The backwater rocky
planet above which he orbited had undoubtedly once been a gem of blue, green,
and brown, capped with an icing of white. "Once" was the key word. Whatever
the history of the world, in the current era it was a globe wreathed in a thick
smog of brown clouds equator to poles, with rare glimpses through the cover
revealing a devastated landscape of oily oceans, vast volcano fields, and overlapping
craters tens to hundreds of kilometers across. If there was any life on the
planet, evolution had been reset billions of years, to a time of single-celled
organisms skulking around the pitiful natural campfires of deep ocean thermal
vents. What had befallen this terrestrial world, a planet otherwise in the
prime of its existence?


What had befallen Terra, the homeworld of the
human species?


Conway, quite frankly, did not care. A great
battle had occurred, that much was obvious. Terra's moon had been partially
shattered, leaving behind great expanses of magma that would continue to
radiate heat for a million years, as well as a faint ring of debris around the
parent planet itself. Further out, the rusty desert world of Mars sported the
after-effects of heavy bombardment; and if the size of the dozen new moons in
instable orbits were an example of the ammunition used, such would explain why
the asteroid field seemed to be oddly deficient in a certain size class of rock.
Among the gas giants, certain notable moons were outright missing, replaced by
rings of gravel and ice.


In a way, the damage was not completely
unexpected. Humans, either as a race or as the dominant member of a Federation-like
entity, tended to be obnoxious. Always curious, always busybodies. Always
sticking their noses into situations and dispensing unwanted advice. Enemies
were made. When Conway transitioned to a new universe, one of his early
destinations, absent little delays such as genocide, was Terra, homeworld of
coffee. Several universes visited by Conway over the many millennia of his
wanderings had included the scenario of a devastated Terra. Usually Conway
shrugged non-existent shoulders and proceeded to track down the scattered
remnants of the destroyed civilization, for wherever humans travelled, they
inevitably brought coffee. And even if humans themselves were extinct, or
nearly so, coffee was one of those vices adopted by a myriad of other sentient
species.


For Conway, it always came down to coffee. However,
in this particular instance, there was an incentive to spend extra time
constructing his usual to-do list, perhaps even add additional tasks not part
of his normal coffee-and-road-rage itinerary.


Conway may have been clinically insane, but that
did not mean he was crazy. This was the long-sought Unhappyverse, with 99%
probability, the ultimate home reality of the Borg sub-collective whom had
ultimately been the cause for so many of his woes. Well, not all of them...and,
probably, actually, only a small proportion of them. After so many neural
clones, so many transfers from old brain to new, so many experiments with high
octane coffee laced with other substances, recollection became a bit...fuzzy. But
that wasn't important. One could not be expected to abandon an obsession just
because it was no longer relevant. Otherwise it could not be called an
obsession!


Insane, but not crazy. If anything, Conway's
reasoning skills were clearer than they had ever been. Several universes ago,
hidden in a remote corner of his Xenig chassis' memory, he had found a suite of
games meant to exercise the mind in the same way weight-lifting built muscles. Conway
was unsure how he had previously overlooked them, but then again, he had never felt
it necessary to explore all the nooks and crannies of his forcefully adopted neural
network. According to program diagnostics, he was currently the mental equivalent
of a champion body-builder. It logically followed that anyone who was thusly so
mentally endowed could not be crazy.


Impulsive, eccentric, psychopathic, even
occasionally irrational...those labels were perfectly okay. But not crazy. Intelligent
entities were insane; stupid ones were crazy. It was all a matter of
definition.


Obsessive. Conway was allowed to be obsessive. But
even then, when did thoroughness actually become obsession? Conway was a
connoisseur of coffee; and he was just being extremely thorough by including early
entries in his to-do list to (1) determine status of Borg in this universe and
(2) ensure that the Cube #347 sub-collective was dead and, if applicable, all memory
of it purged from existence. There was, maybe, a very slight risk the act
could result in the galaxy becoming a giant bonfire.


He had done it before. Completely by accident. Hippyverse,
not Unhappyverse. The glue-on dreadlocks, retro tie-dye, and expressions glazed
from pharmological experimentation should have given it away. But back then, Conway
had been young, and perhaps more crazy than insane. The local version of Cube
#347 had only wanted to give him beads and herb-laced brownies, and, in
hindsight, was obviously not the Borg sub-collective which had set him on the
road to being a bodiless coffee addict. It was a mistake anyone could have
made.


That had been twelve universes ago, and fourteen
thousand subjective years, give or take. He was feeling much better now. Much
more insane. Much less crazy.


As he carefully built, and rebuilt, his list,
Conway absent-mindedly gazed upon the corpse of Terra. He had discovered early
in his trekking that his transitions rarely dropped him into similar historical
epochs as the universe just abandoned. Perhaps the original Xenig occupant had
a mechanism to control the 'when', in addition to the 'where', of its jumps,
but Conway had never been able to determine the appropriate setting. Consequently,
he had to deal with whatever tau he landed within. If the Terra of this now was
any gauge, combined with other cosmic markers, he had traveled to a spot along
the tau river much more downstream than normal.


It logically followed that Unhappyverse Borg
might very well be extinct. If they did cling to existence, then their presence
may have been reduced to a shadow of their heyday drone quadrillions. Conway
had yet to hear upon the pertinent fractal subspace bands any echo,
reverberation, or whisper of Borg, but then again, the galaxy was more than
large enough to lose a failing cybernetic civilization within. There would be
plenty of time to encounter Borg while searching out the local coffee stocks -
one benefit of the tau placement was the amount of time for new coffee
varieties to be developed. And if no conclusions could be made upon the fate of
the Unhappyverse Borg, and by extension the Cube #347 sub-collective, Conway
could always sterilize the galaxy before he left.


The lattermost option was a just-in-case option,
but Conway did so hate to leave a to-do list unfinished.


And upon the subject of Borg...


Between the orbits of Terra and Mars, the
universe wobbled, like a desert mirage overlaying the solidity of reality. It
was the signature of a Xenig drive, and Conway's senses immediately locked upon
it. However, from the epicenter materialized not a Xenig chassis, but a cube. A
quarter of an orbit away, Conway's figurative eyes squinted so as to bring the
scene into better resolution. Inbuilt hardware automatically sampled the
quantum matrix, compensating for the bothersome delay of light speed and
translating the tableau into real-time. The cube spun once, twice, as if
assessing its position, then lurched (yes, lurched) into motion, unerringly
aimed for Terra. And Conway.


The cube...was Borg. It had to be Borg. The in-system
propulsion was flavored with an underlying taste of unknown technology, but the
overwhelming essence was Borg. And, besides, what other entity would build a
ship in a geometric shape? Especially one as stupidly simplistic as a cube?


For all his long, long millenniums of planning,
of building a library of what-if scenarios, Conway suddenly did not know what
to do. So he did nothing, content to watch the cube, content to wait. For now.


Besides, he had just started brewing a batch of
coffee. Each step, from bean grinding to steeping of grounds, had to be
carefully orchestrated for maximum extraction of flavor, caffeination, and
neural stimulation. And nothing could interrupt that process. Nothing. Not
even a Borg cube. Not even if that cube happened to be an impossibly
resurrected Cube #347 sub-collective.






*****






"Look, this is the only way to make
proper coffee. That replicator stuff tastes wrong."


"But it is the same, molecule by molecule,
to the production drama you call 'proper' coffee. It just takes a much shorter
amount of time. Not that I see the point in the first place for either. The
taste is disgusting."


"Big opinion, coming from a species of
carrion eaters."


"That is such a stereotype! That is like
saying all Crastians are monofocused on religion or all T'sap are eternal busybodies,
poking their undersized fleshy beaks into everything. Sarcoram consume a wide
variety of fruits, vegetables, and grains, and have been doing so for a very
long time."


"But you prefer carrion - excuse me,
well-aged meat - over fresh. And I do not care how long ago your evolutionary
ancestors began to include produce in their diet. You still have the taste buds
of a scavenger, which means you simply cannot perceive the delicate nuances
which comprise proper coffee."


The friendly banter was familiar to anyone whom
might have been lingering in the recreation area. Elises and Britz, T'sap and
Sarcoram graduate students, seemed near inseparable. According to rumor, they
had been the individuals whom had first (and accidentally) identified the
object with the embedded tau signature linking the distant past with the
current Borg reality. But, as everyone knew, rumor was rarely to be believed,
and certain never at face-value, no matter the sliver of truth hiding at the
heart. The pair themselves could not provide enlightenment, prevented, as were
most attached to the Borg mission, from speaking upon certain topics due to
mental inhibitors. Nonetheless, their sponsor had obviously valued them enough
to allow them to accompany as lab assistants and expendable not-quite-slave
labor.


The higher-ups may have been aware of the travel
itinerary developed since leaving the gigantic living ship to die amid a
graveyard of its compatriots, but none had bothered to enlighten the Elises'
and Brintz' of the mission. Therefore, amid the small graduate student and
junior engineer population, life continued as usual. In the case of Elises and
Britz, that meant a break in the recreation room to amiably argue about the
merits of coffee, or lack thereof. Usually the pair assisted in the tau-lab,
where Borg subjects were monitored by a temporal physicist and physician/psychologist
team in an ongoing study as to long-term effects of temporal resurrection. Lately,
however, they had been loaned to the bio-lab to assist in processing samples
taken from the dying They ship-person. As both Elises and Brintz had grand
dreams of becoming tau engineers and/or researchers one day, assuming they
survived their current resume-building experience, the bio-lab was not of high
interest. Unfortunately, they were the lowest of the low in the mission
hierarchy, and it did not require a Big Beak to push buttons that wanted
pushing and compile output from the devices which actually did the analysis. Graduate
students did what they were told.


"Nuances of coffee? How many nuances are
there with burning plant seeds, grinding them up, then soaking the remains in
hot water? It surely cannot be the stimulant content. Any halfway decent
wake-me-up med does it better and with less fuss."


Elises rolled his eyes as he theatrically threw
hands to the ceiling. "You take all the romance out of a good cup of
coffee. And don't you dare say it is a T'sap thing! The plant might be linked
to the T'sap Exodus, but there are at least a dozen other races which long ago
adopted it into their culture. What if I compared the hatai-banquet to a road
kill potluck where the purpose seems to be to determine who can bring the most
putrid carcass to dinner? Hmmm?"


"The hatai-banquet is a most revered
tradition," said Brintz defensively, ruff feathers lifting.


In the background of the conversation, the
coffee machine gently began to percolate, babbling meaninglessly to itself and
the universe in general as it wafted gentle aromas into the air.





*****






Curiouser and curiouser. Or was it bizarrer and
bizarrer? Either way, Conway was more than a little perplexed. The cube had
required several hours to make the transit between its arrival locale and
Terra, and during that time Conway had plenty of time to make observations (and
brew coffee). Of primary note, the cube radiated Borgness upon the fractal
subspace frequencies, a bright beacon of encoded communication flung forth into
the ether. Except that communication went nowhere. There was no reciprocal answer,
no golden thread wending away into the quantum darkness to link with whatever
Mind to which the cube belonged. It was like watching a blind being flail at the
dark, trying to make sense of the room in which it was trapped. It was
possible, albeit unlikely, that the Greater Consciousness, wherever it might
be located, had disconnected the sub-collective from the larger net. More
likely, a critical equipment malfunction had occurred, one which would
eventually be fixed. And that wasn't the oddest circumstance with Conway's
first meeting with the Borg of this future Unhappyverse.


The entity whom represented the cube was not
Borg.


It was only after sliding into orbit above the
ill-used planet did the ship hail Conway. Instead of the expected scene of
catwalks fading to infinity, as was common to all the Borg variants he had
encountered, Conway had been confronted with the features of a being of
distinct avian lineage. An apparently unassimilated being. Who was sitting in
an office. With decorative wall hangings in the background.


"Greetings, Xenig," began the
creature, "my name is Vaerz. I speak for the cooperative of civilizations
whom call themselves the Alliance. If you have a moment in your undoubtedly
busy schedule, I would like to ask a few questions." Advanced translator
algorithms rendered the words intelligible; and there was nary a plurality or
third-person grammatical construction to be heard.


Without waiting for an answer, or perhaps taking
the lack of response to be a positive reply, Vaerz began to talk. And talk. And
talk. And talk a lot without saying much at all. That characteristic alone
confirmed its - his? - non-assimilated status. Borg absolutely did not prattle,
and they certainly could not converse in such a skillful manner as to weave a
one-sided dialogue where much was said without actually revealing anything of
significance.


Conway listened with only a small
slice of his attention. Simply keeping the communication frequency open
appeared to be sufficient encouragement for Vaerz.


What bizzaro universe was this? Everything about
the cubeship suggested Borg, from the fractal subspace transmissions to the
shape of the vessel. Technology of an unknown providence - Alliance? - was
interwoven throughout, but the dominant flavor was undoubtedly Borg. Was the Unhappyverse
Collective a partner in this Alliance? Had the Alliance managed to enslave a
cube? Was this Vaerz a mere puppet, either freely employed or coerced to act as
a non-assimilated mouthpiece for the sub-collective?


Conway was becoming increasingly perplexed; and
a confused, mentally instable super-being was not necessarily a good thing. Nor
did the freshly brewed coffee which infused the nutrient bath supporting
Conway's brain help with matters. In hindsight, selecting "Premier
Paranoia Blend" may have been a mistake. The variety was a favorite of
Conway, the beans' caffeine genetically modified to produce a drug that
promoted an intense, jitterless concentration. Unfortunately, the molecule
sometimes stimulated nontarget pathways. Not always, but sometimes. Like this
time.


The Voice(s) were whispering, were hissing and
murmuring of conspiracy. Impulses were sizzling along neural pathways both
biologic and synthetic, making it difficult to sort out which stimuli were real
and which were imaginary. Was he really ejecting all spider-bots to space? Was he
really using telekinetic powers to begin an unstoppable chain reaction which
would finish the sundering of the planet's moon? Was he really transmitting
something along a secondary frequency, targeting cube and sun and several very
small rocks?


Conway mentally shook himself and began the
mantra to calm the Voices. All spider-bots were accounted for; the moon
continued to exist in one piece; there were no rogue transmissions. Nothing had
changed. Vaerz continued to babble.


Babble.


Talking much while saying little.


Babble babble babble.


Conway took charge of his confusion. Annoyance
and impatience were starting to seep into his demeanor, earlier curiosity upon
the situation fading. At least one Voice was suggesting a sensible course of
action. An outwardly Borg cube with a non-Borg representative? The incongruity
could be solved by a simple scan. And so a scan was performed.


Thousands of cybernetic entities. The ship was awash
with signatures that combined aspects of biologic with inorganic. Borg. However,
there were also a number of non-assimilated beings aboard, clustered together
in a small volume.


Unexpectedly, the scanner algorithm configured
to coffee registered a positive hit.


Ignoring a probably unimportant question posed
by Vaerz - the Voice(s) had abruptly increased in volume, insisting upon
recognition while drowning out any competition - Conway focused upon the coffee.
A new scan was initiated, then another, and a third, each more focused than the
one before. It was definitely coffee, not a replicator knock-off, and of a
variety unknown to Conway. Without having it in metaphorical hand, genetics
under scrutiny, a brewed cup submitted to chemical analysis and, eventually,
'taste' testing, the details were unknown and unknowable. However, Conway had
spent many centuries refining his Xenig chassis' scanner, making it as sensitive
to the nuances of coffee as was technologically feasible. After all, the galaxy
was a big place and one could spend thousands of years searching for the best
blends. Without the scanner, it was too easy to subject oneself, and one's
time, to the mediocre...or accidentally pass by the superb because it was being
served at a run-down diner tucked within a hole-in-the-wall smuggler station.


The coffee upon the Borg cube was provisionally
graded to be in the top ten percent tier. It could only be officially
classified if a sample could be attained.


Which provided a conundrum.


The Borg, and their yammering talking-head, were
no longer an amusing curiosity. Or so said the Voice(s). If there was one Borg
cube, then unquestionably there were many more somewhere else, as well as a
controlling Mind. This cube could be safely eradicated, thus appeasing Conway's
growing annoyance with it. The mystery of Borg in alliance with, or slaves to,
the unassimilated was unimportant. It was a question to be pursued with the
Collective itself, once the central nexus was located, along with critical
queries such as the history of Cube #347 and if the Greater Consciousness had
any last wishes before final death.


Ultimately, only the presence of the coffee was
staying Conway's wrath.


What to do? What to do?


Vaerz asked another question, or perhaps
repeated what had been said before. Conway abruptly ended the transmission. With
the gift of clear thinking courtesy of Premier Paranoia Blend, as well as
suggestions provided by a Voice or two, a decision had been made. The Borg cube
was to be vivisected, bits carefully burned, vaporized, or cut, as required, so
as to preserve the coffee buried near its heart. If all was done well, then the
compartment with the coffee would be left intact, beans able to be retrieved at
leisure with spider-bots. And if it wasn't done well, then Conway would be sad,
but secure in the knowledge that this future Unhappyverse galaxy had,
somewhere, at least one excellent strain of coffee.


Conway was cheered. This encounter was turning
out to be fun! He had never attempted a ship vivisection before, so that new
experience would undoubtedly be enjoyable. And then there was the anticipation
of a coffee treasure hunt, should his experiment not work. It was a win-win
situation!


Powering up his Xenig weapons - no need to
engage mental super-powers - and ignoring repeated requests to reopen
transmission, Conway advanced upon the cube.






*****






::There you are Chu! Stop bothering the organics
and their pet Borg! Stand down your weapons! We've been sent here by GPS to
bring you back to the Main Office for a few questions.:: Pause. ::Quite
frankly, Chu, the powers that be at GPS are a bit pissed off at you, and the
mood of the Transcendence Board isn't much better.:: 
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Invocation of the Birds - Part 4


The Swan's Aria





<<Cue dramatic music>>






To be executed for the sin of being infected by
They virii, Captain is granted a reprieve at the last moment. With that postponement,
a dying heavy tactical unit by the name of Apogee manages to convey the
appearance of a coffee-guzzling quasi-god whom wears a Xenig chassis, yet goes by
the double-syllable name "Conway", and whom has destroyed all They (for the offense
of being bothersome). Eventually a demoted 4 of 8 is declared uninfected by
They and allowed to be Captain again; and somewhere within this drama an
ex-linguists scholar is faced with her most difficult challenge ever - decipher
Xenig language - for which she covertly elicits Apogee's assistance. That task serendipitously
provides a lead to tracking Conway, of whom a certain spy-master would like to
determine if there may be a risk to the Alliance, or if the whole They thing
was just a one-time genocidal melt-down. Conveniently, the linguistic clue just
happens to implicate one of the destinations of Cube #347's Xenig folded-space
(trainer) drive. And so the trip is made, where the Conway-entity is espied,
wearing a coffee-bedazzled Xenig chassis.


Meanwhile, three Xenig have been tasked to track
down a missing associate, one who seems to have gone a bit insane where it comes
to coffee.






<<Perdendosi [music fades to nothing]>>






*****






Exploratory-class Cube #347 folded into the Dirt
system. It had been here before, briefly, during initial reconnaissance as to
location for each of the folded-space drive address crystals. At the time,
scans had been perfunctory, noting little except that the once inhabited system
had been the scene of intense battle long ago. This time, upon emergence, a
more detailed inspection was swiftly conducted, inclusive several of the
esoteric grid protocols Sensors had begun to rebuild.


The initial impression remained: someone had
attempted to eviscerate the system. The two innermost worlds were reduced to
rubble, their respective orbits a smear of rocky debris. Planets three and four
had been the sites of intense orbital bombardment, original surface features replaced
with craters and volcanos; and the third planet's oversized moon still
supported a magma lake on nearly a fifth of its surface, glowing fissures
bright against the dull red of a not-quite-cooled crust. Several of the moons
in the flocks orbiting the first pair of gas giants had suffered the same fate
as the inner terrestrial planets, only their demise had gifted their primaries
with beautiful rings. The disrupted storms and handful of dark bruises at the
two giants' equators indicated large chunks of moon to still be undergoing the
occasional deorbit, plummeting through the cloud tops with great force. The
final two worlds - cold ice giants - appeared relatively unscathed, although
both had odd gaps in their respective moons' orbits and unstable resonances
amongst those which remained, suggesting some of the rocks had been removed.
Similarly, the main asteroid belt also appeared to be missing a significant
number of a certain size class of rock; and it didn't take a genius to guess
the final resting place for much of the absent material.


It was the scene underlying the mere physical
which was confusing, sensory hierarchy (and the sub-collective) at a loss on
how to interpret it. Subspace was, for lack of better technical terms,
spindled, mutilated, and warped, much more so than attributable to war. There
were "knots" of [lemon-silver] force - a Sensors' derived description
- originating from the third (now first?) planet's moon, as well as the central
star. Additional smaller knots of [orange-bronze] were scattered here and
there, but none nearly as prominent as the [lemon-silver]. Furthermore, there
were odd, regularly spaced structures embedded in the upper plasma layers of
the sun's equator; and the magnetic lines showed curious blips of regularity
within the twisting chaos common to the stellar class.


Cube #347 slowly spun once, then a second time,
as the scans were performed. Upon the second sweep, a Xenig signature resolved
in a distant orbit around the third planet. A decision was reached.


With a shift and shudder, Cube #347 lurched into
motion. Managing the driving partitions was occasionally a tricky affair; and 8
of 8 - "newest" Hierarchy of Eight member, who had somehow survived
temporal revival despite her species' handicap of reacting poorly (i.e., die)
to overly stressful situations - had yet to fully master certain aspects of
coordination. Complaints, the loudest originating from engineering, accompanied
the abrupt initiation of impulse.


Cube #347 sedately headed in-system, target a
cratered terrestrial with its semi-molten moon...and one maybe-and-maybe-not
Xenig.






The whir of a high speed grinder interrupted the
quiet of the Alliance bloc recreation and communal dining area. It was early in
the local morning and only a handful of marines were present. Bemusement was
writ large in lay of feathers or facial expression of the observers, as
relevant to a given species.


"Look, this is the only way to make
proper coffee. That replicator stuff tastes wrong."


"But it is the same, molecule by molecule,
to the production drama you call 'proper' coffee. It just takes a much shorter
amount of time. Not that I see the point in the first place for either. The
taste is disgusting."


"Big opinion, coming from a species of
carrion eaters."


"That is such a stereotype! That is like
saying all Crastians are monofocused on religion or all T'sap are eternal
busybodies, poking their undersized fleshy beaks into everything. Sarcoram
consume a wide variety of fruits, vegetables, and grains, and have been doing
so for a very long time."


"But you prefer carrion - excuse me,
well-aged meat - over fresh. And I do not care how long ago your evolutionary
ancestors began to include produce in their diet. You still have the taste buds
of a scavenger, which means you simply cannot perceive the delicate nuances
which comprise proper coffee."


Captain absently pushed the datathread to a
background process, labeling it as irrelevant. Again. The antics of the two
graduate students - Elises (T'sap) and Britz (Sarcoram) - were unimportant, yet
they had unknowingly gained a fanbase among certain units, particularly those
of a culinary leaning. Occasionally the "E-and-B'ers" stream intruded
in the foreground of sub-collective processes, including its primary consensus
monitor. At least this time Captain had caught it before the commentary
sub-stream had fully resolved. He did not personally understand the fascination
for the pair, but as long as it did not detrimentally affect the efficiency of
the units so involved, it was a minor matter, too small to be pruned amid much
more ostentatious displays of unBorg behavior.


As Cube #347 began the in-system transit, close
attention had been directed towards the Xenig. Although the chassis was alike
the standard delivery-mech configuration, the hull was decidedly irregular.
Panels were discolored and mismatched; and there was a general air of
"shabbiness." The great majority of Xenig took personal pride in
their appearance, even if the shell was the equivalent of a company uniform. It
was the rare mech, outside of the occasional rebellious youth gallivanting
around the galaxy, whom did not take active care of its chassis. An additional
feature set this particular mech apart from its conspecifics - the presence of
stickers and decals plastering the hull from stem to stern.


The subject matter of the decals would not be
resolvable until the cube was much closer. However, even without the
collaborating evidence, the sub-collective was 97.2% sure coffee would feature
as a prominent theme.


They's non-Xenig Foe - Conway - had been
found...and at the locale Apogee's extracted and reconstructed memes had
indicated.


Captain's current location was Vaerz's office
within the Alliance bloc of appropriated space. Vaerz was engaged in
non-conversation pageantry with Conway, babbling away while saying very little.
Conway was not responding; and except for the fact that the subspace
communication channel remained open, one might think Vaerz to be inanely
chatting at the decal-bedecked form floating in the middle of the desk's
holodisplay.


Captain's presence had been "strongly
requested" by Vaerz prior to the start of the farce. It was unnecessary,
the proceedings able to be followed from afar. A small-being foible. To prevent
the indignity of Daisy forcing compliance, Captain had reported to the office,
endured small talk, then taken a place near the wall and outside of camera view
- a presumably ignored video component was included with the communique - from
which to perform his normal duties. Captain would have vastly preferred his nodal
intersection, or even his alcove. As it was, he more followed the non-exchange
between Vaerz and Conway via dataspace than his personal perceptions.


"So, what is your interest in that dead
planet, or this completely wrecked system, for that matter? Looks like another
relic of the Troubles, according to what I've been told, one of so many. Say,
Xenig - I still haven't caught your name - you wouldn't happen to have been
around during the Troubles? I'd love to hear your perspective on it...or
anything about the Troubles, actually. You Xenig are so close-beaked when it
comes to those times."


Vaerz nattered on and on and on, a master taking
great pride in his work. And revealing absolutely nothing on his part. The
bright tone of naivety was completely at odds with the Vaerz the sub-collective
had come to know. Captain elevated the "deviously deceptive liar"
category of Vaerz's personal dossier several points.


Even unassimilated, Vaerz taught the
sub-collective much about the current era, the Alliance, the potential of the
Sarcoram species to further Perfection. How much better if he were a drone,
fully participating in the Whole?


On a more pragmatic note, there remained no
final decision on what action to pursue. Correction, the sub-collective had
consensus, mostly. Sufficiently. However, Vaerz had overruled that consensus
upon Captain's arrival to the office and before Conway was hailed.


A lone Exploratory-class cube could not confront
a Xenig. Not with the technology recalled prior to temporal resurrection; and
certainly not the current cube iteration utilizing a lesser tech platform. Furthermore,
this Conway, whilst inhabiting a Xenig chassis, was very much not a
Xenig...but an entity much more powerful. The Happyverse meme reconstruction
slowly continued, memory fragments scattered amongst less than 3700 drones being
stitched together into a comprehensive whole, but it remained disjointed and it
was unclear who or what Conway actually was, other than a being prone to rage
and coffee. Certain opinions aside - Weapons, for instance - the best course of
action was to retreat and leave Conway as Someone Else's Problem. After all, a
dead sub-collective could not re-establish the Borg Collective, and that was
the top priority. Only if the Problem came to them would it become relevant.


Unfortunately, Vaerz wanted to determine
Conway's intention as it related to the Alliance. That was the delay in
retreat.


The responsible partitions finalized vector
calculations to slide the cube into geosynchronous Dirt orbit. Captain absently
blocked a half-hearted attempt by Weapons to appropriate propulsion and send
the ship into an aggressive attack posture.


{Second,} grumbled Captain, {you are supposed to
be managing the weapons hierarchy.}


Began Second, {I...} He was interrupted as a
powerful subspace 'shout' broke against the sensor grid.


Sensors swiftly pinpointed origination to be the
not-Xenig Conway. The transmission had not only targeted the cube, but
transient subspace echoes suggested the central star and several moderately
nearby rocks of [orange-bronze] flavor had also been included.


Captain blinked, shifted posture, and
unconsciously tilted his head as he was drawn into the confusion of the
transmission. Part of him registered Vaerz's reaction to the motion, a brief
verbal hesitancy to his patter. Unimportant. Irrelevant.


Xenig speech. The burst transmission was a
verbal message, the same calm 'voice' heard amid Conway's ravings as he had
slaughtered the They fleet. The message was unclear. Even with Apogee's
translation files embedded within universal translator algorithms, the
transmission was so much electronic hash. Oddly, "arse" and the
two-word phrase "owe me" were clear beacons, albeit tagged as
mostly-likely-but-not-completely-sure by the computer.


The inter-ship channel with Conway abruptly
closed, cutting off Vaerz mid-syllable.


"Well, sh**," exclaimed Vaerz as the
decal-covered ship hologram was overlain with a reddish hue and began to blink.
"And it was going so well." Pause. "Daisy, tell the
appropriate drones or partition or whatever to request the channel be
reopened."


"It is about to become even better," said
Captain. He pivoted his head to focus fully on Vaerz. "Query Daisy for
details. Conway is breaking orbit on a matching vector; and weapons
signatures are seen. It does not want to talk to you. Will you allow us to
retreat? A suitable destination has been loaded into the folded-space drive,
but we must leave." Captain allowed sub-collective frustration of this
inefficiency in decision-making to color his voice. A transporter lock was set,
ready to relocate his body to his nodal intersection the moment Vaerz's
foregone acknowledgement was procured.


Fresh data from the sensor hierarchy abruptly
flooded decision tree matrices, triggering initiation of a new, if abbreviated,
consensus cascade. Captain activated holoprojectors embedded in the walls of
Vaerz's office - as with the true Borg version of Cube #347, this iteration had
the units installed everywhere - to display three forms in the air before
Vaerz's beak. "Three folded-space drive signatures detected," tersely
said Captain, "between Us and Conway." Two of the forms were standard
Xenig GPS shells; and the third was a They light attack unit, clearly dead. The
trio immediately began to close on Conway. If there were words being exchanged,
the cube was in no position to intercept...or understand, as presumably it was
Xenig-to-Xenig protocol. "We no longer need your permission to retreat. A
trigger point has been passed whereupon hazard to Us and Alliance personnel
allows Our autonomy. We leave. Now."


Vaerz waved a hand, as if trying to push the
Xenig and They corpse to a less eye-watering distance. "By all means, take
us out of this mess. I doubt Conway was ever going to answer my questions,
anyway. And, Daisy, give me a report on what the hell just happened, thank you
very much."


The office vanished, Captain removing himself to
his nodal intersection and far from small-being antics.






*****






::There you are Chu! Stop bothering the organics
and their pet Borg! Stand down your weapons! We've been sent here by GPS to
bring you back to the Main Office for a few questions:: Pause. ::Quite frankly,
Chu, the powers-that-be at GPS are a bit pissed off at you, and the mood of the
Transcendence Board isn't much better.::


The three Xenig converged upon the object of
their search. Secondary and tertiary frequencies utilized by the mechs to
broadcast the species-equivalent of body language and facial expressions were
automatically scanned. As a one, the trio slowed to halt as multiple
incongruities finally registered.


The middle of the Xenig tentatively began, ::Um,
what the f**k have you done to that chassis? You know the Main Office doesn't
like it when one of their specials is 'borrowed'. It looks like you have been
on a fly-about with it for over 20,000 years, not the three or so since you
neglected to report following a delivery run.::


Continued Xenig #1, whom had been the first to
speak (and whom was not currently encased by a dead organic), ::Are you feeling
okay? You've entirely closed yourself off. I've heard those transdimensional
jumps can be a bit hard on the psyche, especially if there is any temporal
element. And you were pushing yourself a bit hard, last I heard.
Those...stickers, fascination with organic stimulants...:: If Xenig #1 had
possessed arms, they would have waved. ::...if you wanted a vacation, all you had
to do was return to the Main Office and reclaim your normal chassis. Everyone
is entitled to a few hundred years or so to themselves. Can't work all the
time.::


All the Xenig drifted to a standstill, as had
their still silent target of Chu. The latter retained active weapons. The They
corpse slowly pivoted as the chassis to which it was vacuum welded began to
nervously spin.


::Vacations aside, why did you have to come
here, of all places,:: said Xenig #3, hidden beneath its gruesome ornament. ::You
know this isn't the best neighborhood.:: A wavering tone of anxiety colored
the proclamation.


As if waiting for the appropriate dramatic cue,
the sun momentarily dimmed as a system-wide subspace ripple field engaged.






*****






In the era represented by Second Federation,
Borg/Hive, and Colors, the subspace ripple charge was developed. Such was not
the say it was the first time the technology had been created by a Milky Way
civilization, but it was the most recent. The subspace ripple charge was a
spatially limited phenomenon, albeit one with far-reaching results. Use of the
technology temporarily - hours to days, depending upon subspace topology -
prevented most forms of supraluminal propulsion, rendering ships within the
area of effect limited to sublight speeds. Warp, transwarp, hypertranswarp,
slip-drive, and all related technologies were affected, with a handful of the
more exotic techs like folded-space or Q-snap jump immune.


The subspace ripple field was a natural
extension of the ripple charge. Whereas the latter was as if dropping a large
rock in a pond, the former was a motor kept on continuous agitation. For lack
of a better description outside the language of higher mathematics, subspace
was "churned". It was a storm-tossed nightmare impossible to
navigate, or even enter. As maintenance of the field was energy intensive and
the hardware not very portable, the technology was most often deployed defensively
in association with high-value facilities or, on occasion, the inner portion of
a solar system. With a subspace ripple field engaged, there was no such thing
as a surprise invasion, any incoming fleet forced into Einsteinian reality.


The subspace ripple field of the Dirt system
extended to the heliopause, about 16.5 light hours from its central sun. It was
a massive, unprecedented use of the technology. Furthermore, it extended deep
into subspace, well beyond the layers utilized by most spacecraft and into the
communication bands. Within the system, communication remained as normal; but
beyond the heliopause, subspace channels became a hash of static. Even Xenig
folded-space drives were affected, the local quantum too distorted to allow
destination addresses to be safely input or resolved.


But before the story moves forward, it must take
a small step back...introducing the next players to an increasingly crowded
stage.






*****






Three forms materialized, abrupt
reverse-negatives accompanied by the unreal particle signatures Conway's
adopted Xenig neural architecture associated with a folded-space exit point.
And not any folded-space drive, but Xenig utilizing their native technology.
Distracted from his target, Conway ceased active propulsion. In all his many,
many years of travel, he had never actually met another individual of the
chassis in which he rode.


The coffee sample would wait. It wasn't like the
cube could go anywhere he could not follow. Besides, this was another novel
experience in an existence which was starting to feel a bit stale. If he was
not suitably amused, there was always a bit more rage to flush from his system:
blowing things up was always so cathartic.


A percolator babbled to itself as perfectly
brewed Paranoia Blend was released into Conway's brain's nutrient fluid.


Conway ignored the incongruity of one Xenig
wearing what appeared to be a mangled corpse of one of the annoying creatures he
had eradicated a relatively short time ago. As far as he knew, the Xenig
represented the height of mech species fashion. To comment upon it would be
rude.


And, besides, he suddenly didn't feel like
talking to them. Oh, Conway registered the words of accusatory greeting,
perfectly understanding the quantum transmission which was Xenig-to-Xenig
speech. However, it wasn't important. The Voice(s) which sometimes accompanied
Paranoia Blend were back, strongly suggesting he focus upon the ignored
subspace broadcast which accompanied the cube's request to resume two-way
communication.


The equivalent of an open-mic, the visual stream
continued to show the non-Borg biological entity which had named itself Vaerz.
There was no audio component, but it was clear that Vaerz was in conversation
with a second individual, unaware the camera was live. That second individual,
only half in frame, was clearly Borg. Vaerz lifted a hand to bat at a trio of
small holographic projections parked just in front of its beak.


A memory burned into Conway, carefully preserved
through the eons, rose to prominence. Even presented with a single arm and part
of an armored torso, it was enough to know...the Borg was Captain. Was 4 of
8. Was the consensus monitor of Cube #347 and the reason for Conway's fall
from...whatever he had once been. Okay, it was all a bit fuzzy, to say the
least, after 20,000 or so years, many brain clones, too much coffee, drugs,
drugs and coffee, and Borgy alcove. However, somehow Captain was to blame, had
been there when It All Went Wrong. Maybe. Oh, well, it didn't really matter.
Galaxies had burned for less.


The salient fact that the tau vector was
completely wrong for Captain was ignored. This was the Unhappyverse; and,
therefore, any Captain-looking Borg must be Captain. The logic of eccentric
insanity – never "crazy" – with a touch of compulsive-obsessive disorder trumped
everything.


Outside, beyond his hull, the ignored Xenig had
drifted to a halt, stymied by the lack of response to their yapping. As bad as
Vaerz, as any organic, the mechs were; and without the redeeming quality of
potentially possessing coffee. He'd deal with them later. They were annoying.
But first....


In the silent video feed, the sparkle of a transporter
accompanied Captain's disappearance. Conway reached out with the power of his
mind and plucked Captain from the cube's transporter system, materializing the
form within the modified hold Conway's brain (and coffee) called home.


Conway could not help himself: he emitted a
high-pitched yelp of glee from speakers mounted in the hold. It was Captain.
Everything was just as he remembered! Except for the missing finger on the right
hand, but that difference was unimportant. Everything else was perfect! He had
had this particular item on his to-do list for so long! It would be nice to
finally check it off! Conway did not notice the engagement of the subspace
ripple field, so engrossed he was with events unfolding inside his chassis.


The Borg Conway knew as Captain stumbled as he registered
he had not emerged to wherever he may have been transporting. An expression of
stunned confusion was clear on his face. Not fear. Conway would fix that soon
enough.


A handful of spider-bots were spurred into
motion. One of them held both knife and compact projectile weapon in a
threatening manner which required no translation. The other two bodily poked
and prodded the Borg until he faced one particular bulkhead, a...homage, of
sorts, to Captain, constructed and reconstructed over the long years for just
this scenario.


Just beneath a poorly drawn sketch of how Conway
mentally pictured himself when he had been merely human, a small speaker
squealed into life. Captain flinched in response. "Is it you? Is it?"
Pause. "It is you!" gushed Conway. "I am your number-one fan!
Your number-one anti-fan, that is! Conway? Do you remember the name? Happyverse?
Anyway, I hate you with a passion that nearly, but never, exceeds coffee! I am going
to have so much fun! You, on the other hand, are probably going to be doing a
lot of screaming, or whatever it is that Borg do. You and your Borg buddies.
I've had millennia to plan out our meeting! Would you like to see the
list?"


A spider-bot waved an arm at a long paper list
attached to the wall with jolly souvenir coffee-themed magnets. The writing on
the list was comprised of very small letters stacked into dense bullet points.
A few, rather graphic, doodles provided visual relief, as well as illustrated
key details.


"Yes, lots of fun,"
reiterated Conway brightly, followed by a maniacal laugh which had required
centuries to perfect.






Captain did not materialize in his nodal
intersection. In fact, he did not materialize on Cube #347. The best he could
ascertain in those initial moments following transport was he remained in the
Dirt system, as evidenced by the neural transceiver link with his
sub-collective. His position within the Conway chassis required several
additional seconds to resolve, followed by immense confusion on both his part
and the sub-collective as to how it had occurred.


The "how" quickly became academic as
the "why" and, more importantly, the "what is to happen
next" were revealed.


The subspace ripple field was but a footnote as
the Whole began to debate amidst itself as to if better to abandon its
consensus monitor to his inevitable fate, else Do The Borg Thing and retrieve
the blatantly stolen asset. Captain had been largely excluded from the process,
not due to his distance, but because the ripple field had imparted an odd static
which lowered efficacy below a critical threshold. He could only watch
proceedings from afar, including the inevitable sarcastic grumble from Second
as the "primary" load shifted to his designation.


{This is not a holiday,} replied Captain to
one pointed remark. {Conway's description on how he intends to bypass this
unit's pain suppression system is...graphic. And messy.}


Captain allowed his head to pivot away from the
spider-bot animatedly pointing to a scrawl more stick figure than functional illustration
as the Conway voice emitting from a nearby speaker enthusiastically embarked
upon a rambling monologue whereupon neural structure of the occipital pathway
figured prominently. Eye and optic implant panned the hold. Unlike previous
attempts to gain a better understanding of his situation, this time flanking
spider-bots did not prod unarmored flesh with knives to "encourage"
attention be returned to the bulkhead.


Sharing the same hold wall as the list, a system
of floor-to-ceiling metal racks were prominent. The lowest shelves supported a
number of large, lumpy bags made of a coarse fabric. Higher shelves displayed
glass containers with squared-off edges, brown beans(?) visible inside. Some
jars were fuller than others. If there was a cataloging system, it was not
readily evident. Large carboys, most partially filled with clear liquids, lined
the deck just beneath the lowest shelf.


The hold wall opposite the racks abounded with
complex apparatii. There was that oddly organic impression of machinery bodged
together over a long period, parts added or exchanged as required by evolving
need. Hoses with multicolored liquids; an overly insulated mini-fridge; large
tube-tanks holding viscous green liquid and multiple sizes of wrinkled blobs artistically
backlit with a yellow light; a Rube Goldberg machine - a very faded "Mr.
--ffee" could be glimpsed at the corner of the device - from which emitted
bubbling sounds and a complex aroma. From the latter spiraled several of the
hoses, terminating in what appeared to be an aquarium. The tank was inset a
something that vaguely resembled a Borg alcove, else the coffin of a very
technologically-minded vampire. A dim shape could be perceived behind the
frosted glass of the tank and a handful of stickers advertising coffee or
coffee products were jauntily arrayed along the lower edge of the frame.
Aerator bubbles were a hissing counterpart to the random beeps and whirls that
emitted from the larger contraption.


A dozen spider-bots squatted unmoving amid
machinery or perched on racks, radiating menace. Weapons suitable to
dismantle a Borg drone, no matter how heavily armored, were in evidence. The
rack with beans and bags had the greatest number of guards, followed by the
aquarium-coffin contraption.


The hold was not that big, a rectangular box twenty
meters long by seven meters wide. Captain and the list were at one end; and
racks and devices took up much of the rest. However, in even such a small
space, there must be a dimly lit corner to store spare bits and pieces that
might have a use one day. That day may be a hundred or a thousand years
later, but by-golly, that left-over quarter-spool of wire seems too useful to
just throw away or re-replicate. It was to that corner Captain's gaze focused.


Amid the shapes of dusty buckets and boxes was a
still. It looked out of place, a professionally built creation of a
"style" completely different from the bodged together mess which
dominated the hold. Sitting atop a compact heating element, the copper mash pot
rose nearly a meter in height, the midline beginning a constriction to a
chimney. The metal tube atop smoothly bent back towards the deck, narrowing
further until it merged with a small cylinder set atop a twenty centimeter tall
block. The cylinder had a notable sheen of condensation; and a nozzle with
stopcock pierced the side, business end positioned over an empty glass jar.


The fact that Captain recognized the object as a
still was not as odd as might seem. Several designations expressed their
individual form of assimilation imperfection in a fascination for alcoholic
beverages, never mind they could not imbibe. Two stills had already been found,
and dismantled, despite the short amount of time since the sub-collective had
taken up residence in the Alliance-built cube.


Near the still were stacked several crates of
bottles, most holding a clear substance. Homemade labels were attached to the
bottles, indecipherable writing similar to that found in the folded-space drive
owner's manual. However, as Captain watched, the marks rearranged themselves
into an eye-watering "doubled" format, Borg script floating on top of
Captain's dimly remembered native language. "Wasted Water Whiskey"
and "Rocket Fuel Moonshine" were two of the more prominent products,
all of which were followed by "(another fine product of Chu
Distillery)". An intricate drawing - nary a stick figure to be found -
accompanied each label.


Captain's inattention must have finally
registered to Conway, for the sharp point of a knife redirected his focus. Head
pivoted down to visually confirm the whisper of body diagnostics complaining of
compromised armor and minor joint damage to right elbow.


"Ahem," said Conway's voice. "You
seem to have missed my full elaboration of sub-sub-bullet 18A, whereupon I have
introduced 100 ccs of concentrated Mountain Top-Of-The-World blend to your
system and am observing the interaction with the previously administered psychedelic
drugs. Therefore, I will go over it again. Your subjective experience is very
important in regard to later procedures, and I need to ensure all is
correct."


Before Captain could voice an objection, or
react in any way for that manner, a mental fog abruptly descended. The last
thing he consciously recalled was the sensation of his suddenly limp body
falling to the deck, similarly limp spider-bots clattering to the floor alongside.






*****






An infinite, empty plain dominated by grey hues.
One heartbeat. Two heartbeats. Three heartbeats. A microsecond, or an eon,
passed within the nameless realm. Into the sense of waiting consolidated a
playhouse or, at least, a stage. Curtains hung on nothing, and something;
intricate mechanisms and props hid within the wings, beneath the floor, and
overhead. Sourceless lights of multiple colors flashed through a testing
pattern before finally settling on a pair of white spotlights aimed at two
empty points upon the stage. A complex harmonic chord shivered the air as an elaborate
surround-sound system tested invisible speakers.


All was ready. The only thing missing was an
audience. And players. Sometimes, both were one and the same.


By ones and twos, then tens and more, forms
began to populate the intimate (and infinite) space fronting the stage. Most
figures were reflections of the body in which said mind inhabited. There were
some alterations to musculature or body part or clothing, keeping with a
particular self-perception, but few wild transformations. The stand outs, such
as a pair of mermaid-esque creatures or a something swallowed by the top of a
giant duck mascot suit, were the exception and not the rule.


The final population of confused and bewildered
beings numbered multiple thousands, split into four distinct blocs. Each base
group was clustered together and set off slightly from the others. The largest,
just under 3700 strong, all sported some type of cybernetic augmentation. The
second group included a handful of different species, dominated by the evolved
descendants of vulture-like carrion-eaters. The two mermaids and duck comprised
the third group. The final individual was by himself, a somewhat nauseating,
shape-shifting amorphous form comprised of several forms superimposed on each
other, as if the body-owner was unsure what its self-image should be.


Silence. Confusion. Then the inevitable buzz of
questioning conversation began to rise, the loudest from the non-Borg bloc of Alliancers.
Meanwhile, amid the Borg contingent, the majority of heads were swiveling
around to locate Hierarchy of Eight members and, in particular, the primary and
backup consensus monitor and facilitators. A small subset therein was shuffling
to form a poor semblance of a defensive circle, as directed by a shouting
individual whose mental image included a much greater amount of body-mounted
lethal hardware than any biped outside a first-person shooter video game could
carry. A few cyborgs were wandering off on their own.


Mermaids and half-duck aligned themselves to
face the stage, each heaving a sigh of resignation, as if they had an inkling
of the reality behind the situation in which they were mired.


A giggle arose from the fluidic form of biped,
coffee-filled aquarium, Xenig ship, and cybernetic parts.


The aggressive "click-clack-click" of
no-nonsense high-heels on wooden floor captured the audience's attention,
shushing nascent conversation and drawing eyes to the stage. Into the
stage-left spotlight strode a statuesque human(oid) form, white robes flowing
and billowing in a theatrical manner out of proportion to actual movements.
Presumably the individual was classically beautiful and perfectly proportioned
for its type; and "it" swiftly converted to "her" within the minds of the silent
watchers, not due to keen observation and knowledge of the unknown being's
anatomy, but by simple expedient of "this is how it is to be" flooding mental
architectures. Pale blond hair, verging on white, was bound up in a tight bun,
but one knew without knowing that if let free it would cascade to the waist.
Eyes flashed dark yellow, alike that of an owl or any number of birds of prey.
The final touch was a faint glow of unilluminating white light, origin
uncertain, but definitely not the house spotlight.


In one hand the being held a rather ordinary
looking black ink pen. The other hand clutched a clipboard which radiated the
sense of being infinitely full, even as only a single sheet was in evidence.


The pen was clicked a few times. A toe tapped.
The distinct feeling of annoyed impatience radiated across the audience.


A brilliant flash, accompanied by a sharp bang,
announced the arrival of another form upon the stage. As the smoke enveloping
the second spotlight cleared, revealed was a mustache-twirling Stereotype of
Evil. Emanating what could only be described an ethereal aura of darkness, the
figure lifted his chin in a haughty pose, chest thrust out, barbed tail
lashing. With humanoid torso, goat legs, and horn be-decked head, his was the likeness
of a classical Terran Devil...not that any in the audience understood the imagery,
but the sense of "evil" was palpable. And the masculine gender was also
evident, even to those species lacking the appropriate anatomical bits, as a
very...full...loincloth was the creature's only clothing other than a flashy
gold vest. The goatee and reddish-brown leg fur were mere afterthoughts to the overall
appearance.


The woman rolled her eyes.


The devil pursed thin lips into a
pout, then turned his head to offer an oversized wink of dark purple eye to the
audience.


Clipboard was consulted, one of the infinite
ream of pages flipped over to read the back side. Pen clicked again. The woman
finally lifted her face to address the audience, emergent voice pleasant, if
nondescript: "Welcome! I am Selene, and that is my brother Helios. We are
Titan Children; and within this system, to its heliopause, we are as gods over
space and time." Pause. "Well, not time, but the phrase sounds better
on the business cards. So, mostly space."


Helios interrupted, "What my dear sis is
trying to say is that we pretty much make the rules and are the rules. Even
over the mechs; and even over the, er, over-endowed brain-in-a-chassis
thing." One hand was lifted to fluff goatee.


"So, being gods, albeit in a spatially
limited fashion," continued Selene, "we get bored. Very bored. Ever
since Ragnarok we have had so few visitors. Cherished acquaintances here and
there stop by for a chat, but they are few and far between. Otherwise, the most
exciting thing hereabout happened about two thousand years ago when my brother
thought it would be funny to steal the key to the, um, I think it translates
as 'ripple field generator function' in your parlance. And he never bothered to
return it." Golden eyes narrowed in a glare directed towards Helios.


"I am the little brother," stated
Helios mildly. "Little brothers are supposed to make life hard on their
older sisters." The hand fluffed goatee again, then followed up with a
magician's flourish which materialized an old-style key. It was a small, flat
metal object used by many species and cultures to secure houses, vehicles,
padlocks, and all manner of similar objects. It glowed dull red. With another
intricate wave, Helios made the key vanish.


Selene pointedly ignored the display. "And
then, quite unexpectedly, you all arrived! So many opportunities to make new
friends! Helios and I had a quick chat and came to an agreement. You all get
to participate in our opera! We've been working on it for ages, our
definitive rewrite of a classic!"


"No, you don't have a choice," added
Helios as one of the Alliance marines tentatively lifted a hand, as if to ask a
question.


Selene panned her audience, stopping to stare at
a few individuals before quickly scribbling something on her clipboard. No one,
not even the most impulsive drone, felt the need fill the silence. Appraisal
complete, the self-proclaimed god said, "A few rules and clarifications.
First, you are not here in this...virtual space - call it the Realm - in your
physical body, only in mind. Consciousness. Digital self-image. Er, whatever.
It doesn't translate well. The Xenig and Borg probably understand, although the
remainder of you non-cyber biologicals may find the concept a bit daunting. No
matter. All you need to know is that your body is right where you left it.


"Second, while we needed to have all of you
here in this now, there is no requirement to keep everyone engaged on the Realm
all the time. In fact, it is a bit annoying the way your mental functions
clutter up the place. Pre-production and rehearsal, even the opera itself, will
only necessitate a subset of you at any given moment. We will make sure you all
can keep up with what is happening in the Realm; and any of you can be recalled
– translated – at any time. However, to keep the hanky-panky to a dull roar in the
Real, I have engaged a localized 'treacle field function'. Your ships and/or
chassis, as appropriate, can no longer move in any appreciable way beyond that
allowed by natural momentum, orbital dynamics, and simple thrusters. Torpedoes
cannot be launched; and non-physical weaponry also cannot be engaged.
Teleporter use beyond the confines of one's hull are...not advised.


"Third, be aware that if you are injured or
killed in the Realm, there will be Real consequences. It may range from a
headache to psychological trauma to life-threatening brain hemorrhage. You are
forewarned. And, yes, we expect you to perform all your own stunts. And this
opera has so many stunts!" Selene giggled. There was a hint of
psychopathy in the sound which boded ill.


"Fourth...Helios, do we have a fourth?"


The devil-god made a big show of thinking, even
going so far as to conjure an eltab out of nothing and consult it. "I
don't think so. We are gods over our domain. We can make up the rules as
we go; and smite those whom we so desire."


Selene nodded. "True, true." Pause. Pen
click. "Okay, back to the opera. If you haven't already figured it out,
Helios represents all which is evil while I am the paradigm of good. Being the
evil arse that he is, Helios has refused to return my key. You all, with a
few exceptions, will assist me in recovering the key via the grand medium of
theater and song.


"Once I have the key back - the ending is a
given, we've written it that way - I will show my appreciation by disengaging
the ripple field. Then you can all go your way, or blow each other up, or do
whatever it is that you want to do."


Helios rolled his eyes, "Yah, now that I
have the key, it is a bit boring. I have other plans to annoy sis, but I can't
just give it back...that would be wrong, and too easy. She needs to work to
get it back."


The audience remained silent. Eyes slid sideways
to glance at each other. The loud clearing of a throat broke the hush.
"Why?" called Vaerz. The 'why' was deliberately left open to
interpretation. Alliance individuals nearest to him shuffled away, just in case
a smiting was about to occur.


Selene giggled once more. Once again, it was not
the giggle of the sane. However, to call it "insane" would be to
suggest there was a sensible and well-balanced baseline with which to make a
comparison. This particular giggle was of one whom had left insanity well
behind while sailing boldly into the uncharted seas of irrationality. Helios'
grin was a countermatch to his sister's outburst. "As I already said, we
are bored. And we are gods. Very localized gods, but gods nonetheless as far as
it currently affects you. Is further explanation needed? No? Great! Then let's
start the auditions!"






*****






Helios sat behind a folding table which had been
set on the ground in front of the stage. As the devil-god leaned forward on his
elbows to better converse with the being sitting opposite, the table wobbled,
the result of a single slightly too-short leg. Tail twitched in annoyance.


"Bugger. Here I am, a
nearly-omni-damn-everything in the dictionary quasi-deity, and I still can't
manifest a proper table. I know it is a minor code transposition somewhere
in the underlying matrix-base, but I just can't track it down." Pause. "Okay, I
can't be bothered to track it down. I'm supposed to have people to do that for
me, but all those people went poof during Rangarok. Maybe once all this
business is done, you might be looking for employment as a minion? I could so
use a good minion, and you look like great minion material. I'm sure we could
work out a suitable contract."


The scrambled shadow shape of shabby Xenig ship,
vaguely remembered human form, and bodiless brain tried to follow the string of
words, but failed. Even if Conway would have had the context in which to
understand them, frankly, he didn't care. He had more important things to do
than float around in this odd data-plain purgatory, like start the torture
session upon Captain and acquire the bean behind the coffee signature on the
Borg cube.


"I see," said Helios, clearly following Conway's
train of thought despite the lack of verbal (or otherwise) response from the
latter. "Well, just keep my offer of employment in mind. I could be persuaded
to include a generous vacation package to allow you to follow your personal
hobbies; and I could provide the coordinates to some great coffee houses, to
boot. But...on to business..." Helios absently scratched his goatee as he picked
up his eltab from the table and tapped it. "The role I have in mind for you is
'Fafnir'. Depending on the mythos and playwright followed, he is typically cast
as a dwarf, giant, or dragon. There's also a near endless slew of adaptations;
and while I am partial to Fafnir depicted as a lime-green gerbil, the meaning
it is trying to convey is a bit obscure.


"For this production, I was adamant
with my sis that our Fafnir would be a dragon because everyone loves a
dragon. Fire, claws, halitosis, dismembering of valiant knights as they
scream...the more, the better. Especially the screams. It would be a great role
to allow an individual to express their inner homicidal beast! Anything goes!
Well, anything goes within the restrictions placed by the opera and the Realm.
I only need to oversee and coach a handful of parts, but they are all the
best roles, in my opinion, the ones key for opera success. Selene is more
the managing type and can do the rest."


"So, you in? And you can't say 'no'
because I am the god in this system, not you."


Helios leaned back in his chair to regard
Conway, a wide grin stretched across his face. The table settled with a small quiver.


After a few beats, Helios continued, "Now,
before I tell you more on what your role entails, I need to get you into the
proper mind-set. Very important. More specifically, your self-image is a
bit...chaotic." The devil-god waved one well-manicured hand at Conway.


"What do you mean?" asked the blurred hybrid of
brain and coffee cup. If eyes had been present, they would have narrowed in suspicion.


Helios cleared his throat. "You, my
boy, are in a unique position. You have a very strong mind, unlike the great
majority of the entities here. It is like you've been doing thousands of years
of mental exercises or something." Conway preened. "Now, for most beings whom
will be participating in the opera, my sis and I just drop a 'costume' on them
and expect it to stick. Their underlying self-image will persist, but we can
drape another form atop. You and the Xenigs, well, are not quite the same. Your
assistance is required to get you into your role. The more you work at it,
the more you will live the part; and, all the better, the more realistically
gory it will be in the end. You follow?"


Conway was silent. Of course he understood.
His brain was special, after all. Well above anyone else present. He was the
coffee-fueled Hercules of brains.


"Okay, then," drawled Helios. "Let's get
started." A button on the eltab was touched, eliciting a beep. A shimmer
momentarily enfolded Conway before unreality stabilized.


Take a paper mache dragon, one of the kinds mass
produced at a cheap factory on some no-name planet and sent out to populate the
"celebration" section of a low-end mega-mart. Remove the tissue paper frills.
Paint it exactly three shades of green, none quite complementary with the
other two. Make one leg too long. The too-many horns decorating the head appear
as if they were attached with an excessive amount of glue, except for the one protuberance
which is about to fall off. The eyes, however, are masterpieces of reality, a
deep, smoldering red-orange which reflect promise of fire and deep hurting.


 Said Helios, "This transplanted self-image may
feel a bit awkward at first, but give it a chance. Lean in to it. Don't push
it away! As you get more comfortable within it, you will be able to bring out
the psychotic 'dragon' in you that first attracted me in regard to this role.
Are you ready to hear what you will be doing in the opera?"


"Yesss," hissed Conway. To his surprise and
satisfaction, a wisp of smoke accompanied the words.


Helios flashed a wide, wicked grin. "Excellent!
Your self-image is already becoming more focused! You are a natural!" Pause.
"Okay, my boy, to be expected because you a dragon, you will be getting a
hoard. My key is part of that hoard. There will be challengers for the hoard –
a tenor, a baritone, a few other somethings – and you will exterminate them.
With extreme predatory prejudice. In the end, of course, you need to lose to
the hero, but that is opera for you. Sis wants her key back." Shrug. "But your
death scene...masterful! Powerful! A classic! Before then, however, there is so
much yummy blood and guts and gore! You'll love it!"


Conway smiled, imagining with all his well-honed
brain power sharp teeth instead of glue-stiffened paper.






"This costume is not us," flatly protested
Delta. Stress of the unusual situation had unconsciously reverted her to
plurals – two-bodies-in-one condition not-withstanding – similar to many other
Borg. A gesture was made, arms of the individual bodies indicating the
condition of the other. "Not us."


Selene rolled her eyes, then flipped over a page
on her ubiquitous, impossible clipboard. "Listen, dearie," she said, ignoring
the annoyed look that crossed the twin visages at the use of the insincere
endearment, "most of you anachronistic cybernetic creatures on that ugly travesty
you call a ship do not really fit into this production. They'll be rotated in
one hundred at a time for chorus, ambiance, and general background bodies. And
'bodies' is something I remember Borg being real good about. However, there are
some key parts – Fafnir, Siegfried, Random Casualty #3 – that need a certain
type of being. You, my dear or dears, are that being. Admittedly, the Brunhilde
role isn't traditionally twins, but I can work with it. If anything, I look
forward to the challenge of rewriting the part on the fly!" The speech was
ended with a wide smile which could best be described as predatory.


"But..." tried to insist Delta again. Again she
was hushed, this time with a slash of one hand. Delta's jaws snapped shut, and
not by her own violation.


"Look," said Selene, words delivered in a
clipped, no-nonsense manner, "the classic image of Brunhilde occurs in one of
two ways. The first requires a buxom woman whom is comfortable to display her
skin. That, obviously, isn't going to work here. I don't know what your
species is, but I doubt it had much in the way of bosoms to work with in
the first place; and after your extreme make-over, even less. Furthermore, your
Borg self-image, armor and all, is a bit strong, so I had to work with what I
had. The other classic image is the strong warrior woman, swooping down to take
the worthy slain to Valhalla. I think that representation is applicable here,
once I include a few embellishments – a horned helmet..."


Delta sputtered, forcing an interruption to
strongly voice her agitation. "And these?!" The two bodies waved hands in the
vicinity of upper torso.


"Well, I may have upped the brassiere size a wee
bit, and the cones are definitely a bit extreme, but it is a stage
production, and subtle costume elements just don't work very well." Selene
smiled encouragement. "Don't worry, ducks, you'll have plenty of time to get
used to them! This is your look when you are here, and you'll be here a lot
because Brunhilde is important to get just right!"






Selene thoughtfully chewed the top of her pen as
she regarded the trio of forms arrayed before her. "You three.... You three have
given us heartburn with what to cast you as. I think..."


"You think you are going to let us go while you
play silly games with the squishy organics?" boldly interrupted the mermaid in
the middle, tailfin fluttering as she floated in the air. "Look, we're sorry we
bothered you. We know the rules, but we thought we might sneak in, grab Chu,
and scamper away. Except it isn't Chu, but some parasitic chassis-jacker.
Anyway, we'll take the freeloading bugger off your non-hands and sort it out
somewhere else. It is ultimately a Xenig problem, not yours."


Selene tittered. It was the delicate tinkle of
fine glass shattering, a stark and not very comforting sound. Selene regained
her composure, then stared for a moment at a faint silver rune of
multi-dimensional complexity on the mermaid speaker's forehead before glancing
down at her clipboard. "Luge, is it?" The simple, monosyllable was underlain by
a vast, unspoken complexity reflecting the true Xenig identity. "Interesting
use-name. Well, my dearest Luge, right now my brother and I are all which is
standing between you three alive and trying to figure out how to escape your
little trespass and you three, along with the galaxy entire, including your
precious home-system and any mythic Progenitors out there hiding from their
over-enthusiastic children, from becoming a giant graveyard of slowly cooling
plasma."


Silence reigned. Far away, yet very near, coughed
a ragged roar, followed by words of cheerful encouragement to keep working at
it.


"Mr. Brain-In-A-Chassis could think himself out
of his box if he applied himself, but Helios is keeping him occupied. And that
leaves me to wrangle the rest of this production. The probability waves
forecast for success is more tsunami and rip current than calm seas.
Regardless, this production will be followed to the bitter end because the
show must go on." A brittle, wintry smile which did not touch yellow eyes was flourished.
"Now, given your self-images, I felt the 'Rhine-maiden' roles would suit best.
For this part..."


Luge dared to interrupt again, "'Rhine-maiden'?
That sounds like a bio-female thing!"


"And...? questioned Selene, clearly puzzled.
"You are all technically neuter. Every member of the Xenig race is a neuter.
And you are presenting as mermaids. Maids...females. Ladies. Zegans.
Juhils."


The rightmost mermaid, whom also had a hint of
phantom armoire superimposed, sulked, "It is a guise, a mental projection. It
doesn't actually mean anything!"


A pale hand swept up from top to bottom of the
speaker, indicating without words scaled fish tail, very mammalian (and
exposed) breasts, womanish face with pouty lips, and flowing green hair.
"Mermaid. Classic mermaid...er..." Squint at forehead. "...Zho. Classic
Terran mermaid, even. Why?"


"Not important," mumbled Zho.


"Then it also isn't important to me; and you will
remain Rhine-maidens. And what is with that wardrobe, anyway? The mermaid
get-up, as odd as it is, I can work with, even that duck thing your friend is
projecting. Furniture, not so much. Tone it down, maybe? You aren't a 'squishy
organic'. You can control your self-image, even if the self-image you insist on
projecting is absolutely not one I would associate with a Xenig."


Luge snickered. "The furniture fad has been out
since the Star Empire imploded."


Zho responded defensively, "Fads always
return. And I'll be ready."


Selene glared at the mermaid wearing the top
half of a duck mascot costume. "If you dare 'Quack', mister or miss Biv, I will
do something painful to your Real self."


"Will the action result in the removal of the
nuisance attached to my chassis?" asked Biv.


"No," responded Selene succinctly. She added,
"And you will be conscious through the entirety."


Biv fidgeted, ill-fitting attire threatening to
slump downward to trap arms. Obviously the mech's imagination was considering
what could be worse than being entombed in a They.


Selene glared at the trio. "So, if we are all done?
Good. Great. For the Rhine-maiden parts, the following scenes will occur thusly...."






"Okay group, gather around. This is our 'heroes'
and 'prominent fodder' casting. Eventually I'll be talking to each of you
individually, but for now I need you all together so our Fafnir can get a good
gander at you. He'll be interacting with you all quite a bit." Selene waved her
non-clipboard-encumbered hand for emphasis. Of course, it wasn't like any of
the individuals had a choice in their attendance.


Selene looked over the group. "Helios. What is
the meaning of that?"


Helios had his back to his sister and was not
paying much attention. "Hrmm? Conway? He's really getting into the part, but
there are some details to work out. Scales. Sharper claws. Mostly the
tail...good tails can be such a hard concept for non-tailed entities to grasp."


Squatting on his haunches next to Helios sat a
dragon-creature, paper mache ancestry discarded except for a bit of stiffness
in some movements and an unfortunate three-tone green coloration. Spines and
fins were in evidence on head, along backbone, and elbows, perhaps more than
strictly necessary and evidence of recent and enthusiastic self-image
improvement. The tail, the end of which was twitching, did not quite look as if
it belonged on its owner, more feline than reptilian, inclusive the faint
suggestion of fuzz. Red-orange eyes were intently regarding the to-be banquet
laid out, trickle of smoke wafting from nostrils. One morsel in particular was
of interest. Fore claws flexed.


Selene turned her head slightly, noted her
brother's inattentiveness, and rolled her eyes. "Not your pet project, sibling,
but that."


Helios frowned as he pivoted on goat hooves,
then sighed. "Oh. That."


"That" was a Sarcoram, vulture beak held agape
as if he was watching a thoroughly amusing scene being played out for his
personal pleasure. Neck ruff hackled as he received the full attention of the
two god-beings, then sleeked down. He gave a bob of his head, an
acknowledgement that did not quite cross over to insolence.


"That's Vaerz. I cast him as Hegan because he
has that back-stabby look about him." Helios was defensive. "I do have a few
other roles to oversee beyond Fafnir – who is the most important, of course –
and Vaerz just fit."


"Then why haven't you sent his consciousness
back to his body? It isn't like we need Hegan around right now; and he
certainly isn't either 'hero' or 'fodder'."


Helios mildly shrugged, then scratched under his
goatee, shifting attention to armpit. "Dunno? Is it really important? Take a
chill pill, sis. Besides, he seemed to be pretty buddy-buddy with that one Borg
over there, and not in a buddy-buddy way. It is amusing to see the Borg
suppress its annoyance while trying to project that certain Borg attitude."


Conway hissed, "Can I practice a few of my new
moves? On my 'fodder'?" One particular fodder was the recipient of a hungry
stare. "You did mention there would be pain? For them?"


Helios sighed. "Yes, yes. Pain is necessary. We
want the writhing and screams to be as real as possible. And 'no' to your
practice question because there is more casting to do. And some other drama
bits and stuff, too. Here, come with me...we really need to work on that
tail. And I've set up some more targets for you to work on. Your slashing
technique is good, but now it needs to be artistic slashing." Helios strode
off, leaving Conway-Fafnir to follow reluctantly behind.


"If you insist. But I want to select the image
for the targets this time."


"Fine. No problem. We'll come back when sis is
less stressed over the whole casting thing. Which means a few thousand years
from now! Geesh...always needs to be the Type-A of Type-As."


The insult was obviously meant to be overheard.
Selene ignored it.


"Now, where were we? Heroes and Fafnir-fodder."
A T'sap with bright orange hair and a frame more muscled in the Realm than the
Real was pointed at. Pen tapped clipboard. "You, Elises, have been chosen to be
the hero Siegfried. You are a race I actually recognize and I freely admit I'm
a bit of a speciest. I'll get you a more appropriate self-image to wear later.
I also concede there are a few other species among the entities crowding the Realm
of which I know, but as they tend to be shrouded under implants and armor and
communal mind, your fresh, boyish face and total nativity is just was I was
looking for. It just shouts hero!"


Elises furrowed his brow in confusion, then leaned
sideways to whisper to his compatriot, a Sarcoram not Vaerz. "Britz, was I just
insulted? I can't tell."


Britz ground his beak nervously, then whispered
back with just a hint of whine, "Does it matter? She's scary. I want to stay
alive. Don't be such a T'sap...shut up and nod."


Elises nodded.


Vaerz cocked his head slightly, then raised his
right arm to just below shoulder height and rattled the long feathers hanging
below. Selene looked towards the noise and motion, scrunching her face in
confusion. She flipped over a page on her clipboard and proceeded to read
therein what she found. Understanding smoothed her features. "Okay. What's your
question, Vaerz?"


"What's his role?" Vaerz nodded his head at
Captain. "He hero or fodder?"


Selene sighed the long sigh of one who hates to
speak the obvious. "The drone 4 of 8 is fodder. 'Random Casualty #3'. Most of
the entities here, who are supposed to be here, are fodder. Both my brother
and I are in agreement that Borg are best used for minor parts. There are
exceptions, such as that twin Borg; and I also have my eye on the Borg Bug. A
Bug! Haven't heard of any Bugs in the galaxy for Real ages! It would be a shame
if they are all extinct because they had the most exquisite voices. Natural
opera singers. Even if this particular Bug has been compromised in the Real due
to Borgification, I am sure in the Realm she will be able to contribute
hugely to the opera." Yellow eyes caught Captain squarely. "Otherwise, we don't
expect much from Borg in the acting department. Nothing personal, 4 of 8, but
you Borg aren't meant for the stage. All those irrelevant little lies necessary
to bring a production to fruition. Just try to do the best you can. For
instance, don't die until and unless it is necessary. While Conway may be all
about multiple takes to 'practice' his technique, I'm sure you'd rather just do
it the once and get it right the first time."


Vaerz hummed. "Interesting." Next to him,
Captain canted his head, then narrowed his unaltered eye slightly as a hint of
a frown crossed his face. The expression was swiftly wiped. Another drone
selected as 'fodder' snickered quietly, then abruptly stopped as Captain
swiveled his head to glare at her.


Selene, once again, sighed. Shoulders heaved in
an exaggerated manner. The clipboard was hung on the air, freeing that hand to
participate in series of sharp claps. "A mildly interesting exchange, but we
are here to learn about what to expect when you 'play' with Fafnir on the
stage. First, my favorite fodder drones..."






"Helios! You need to see this! I have found the
perfect Wotan! Take a look at this fellow! I was prepared to cast that one
burly T'sap soldier as Wotan, but this creature came to my attention a few
milliseconds ago when I was dealing with the Fafnir-fodder."


 Second shifted his head slightly as the
devil-god appeared next to his sister. There weren't any special effects, no
wavering of whatever passed for simulated air in the foreign dataspace, no
blinking of lights or odd sounds. Helios was just there. Which was very
interesting, as other drone points-of-view also saw him to be with
Conway-dragon, discussing the finer points of how to tear the limbs off the
standard hexapod sentient. This was the first time an incidence of twinning by
one of the entities had been observed. The internal debate contemplating whom
or what had trapped the sub-collective - omniscient being(s) or overly powerful
AI system - gained another datum; and both sides were attempting to fit it into
their respective arguments. Second was of the personal belief, as much as a
drone was allowed a singular opinion, that the semantics didn't really matter
because whatever the ultimate answer, the jailer was obviously quite crazy.


Helios narrowed his purple eyes and gazed at
Second. He was unmistakably perceiving something that was much deeper than any exterior
facade. The devil-man abruptly blinked, then shuddered. "Brr...you are right!
It is scary how close he aligns! It is almost as if this drone's mentality was
the template that the Kronos series was built upon."


In the undistance a shriek sounded, gaining
volume as it rose through the octaves before abruptly ending. Second heaved an
overly theatrical sigh, armored shoulders lifting. He rolled both whole eyes
upward before refocusing on Helios. "Can you not restrain your pet? At least in
regard to the flames thing? Yes, it was only one of the crustacean sentients;
and, yes, it will awake on Cube #347 with a headache, after which it will beg
to return to your Realm, convinced that you are, indeed, supreme deities. However,
every time something or someone is set on fire, a select number of our more
impressionable units need to be restrained."


Selene and Helios turned their heads to regard
each other. Large grins stretched respective faces. The revealed dentation
looked a bit...sharp.


"Oh, that dry, sarcastic wit! Do you recall,
brother?" reminisced Selene. "Wotan – silly old bastard – may have been of the
older generation, but was still able to keep up with the best and brightest of
us. He was just getting Zeus' matrix stabilized, while also surely transferring
him a good baseline of biting zest, when the Olympus Mons facility was
destroyed. Can't you just hear him now? What he'd have to say about" wave of
hand "all this?"


"Yup," answered Helios. "So much creative profanity!
Not only would he have found a much better current to follow than our poor
attempt, but at the same time he would certainly be using the probability wave
function to troll the ether for yet another way to comment upon the situation.
Of course, if either Wotan or Zeus, or any of the Kronos series, had made it,
then this whole mess wouldn't be upon us, now, would it? We do not have the
same faculty with the probability wave function...more than sufficient power,
yes, nuance, no. Like a star whale bumbling around in a China shop looking for
a particular teacup."


Selene made a face, mouth pulled down into a
frown and nose scrunched. "Bad timing. One of those
quantum-ripple-temporal-echo waves, slopping around and crashing at just the
wrong time. Or the right time. I guess it depends on point of view. Bad timing
for us, anyway. Unfortunately, the devil's in the butterfly's details; and it
released a lot of details before it transitioned into the All." Focus was
suddenly placed upon Second, and through him the Realm sub-collective fragment,
in a very significant and pointed manner. 


"Well, surely enough pseudo-tau has passed to
smooth out all those ripples. One hopes, anyway. Maybe it is time to seriously
think about looking outward into the Real? Being limited to a single star
system is so boring," opinioned Helios.


The cryptic exchange was giving Second a
headache. He supposed there was some sort of message being relayed – it was
unlikely these two faux-deities were having this discussion in front of him
just because – but, if so, it was beyond him. And probably beyond the
sub-collective, in general, although enough had been said that it would keep
the conspiracy subset more than engaged.


Another shriek, followed by a gurgle, echoed
from nowhere and everywhere.


Helios defensively held up the hand holding his
eltab. "That was not Conway. No flames at all."


Second minutely frowned as he turned a portion
of his attention inward. {279 of 300, you are in time-out. And where in this
place did you find that lighter and aerosol can?}


"I say this creature is perfect enough,"
declared Selene. She checked a line off on her clipboard with a flourish.


Second suddenly found part of his sight obscured.
Bringing hand to face, he found an eyepatch covering the upper of his two
organic eyes; and the same hand encountered a long thatch of scratchy fuzz
hanging limply from his chin. Neither would come off upon tentative prodding,
held in place by a sticky substance. A weight pulling against his throat declared
cloak or cape.


A wicker and snort of hot, evil-smelling breath
against the back of his neck suggested a something even more potentially
troublesome than mere cosmetic props.


"His name is Sleipner," said Helios with a grin.
"I think you'll be bestest of friends!"






*****






Conway was greatly enjoying himself! He was
having so much fun with the Fafnir thing that he barely thought of coffee. Why,
he would go for minutes at a time without the notion of caffeinated beans
crossing his mind. And every time he began to dwell upon coffee for too long,
Helios was there, presenting him with a new challenge.


Who knew acting could be so engaging? Conway
felt a new hobby was in his future; and if his audience didn't appreciate the
one-brain performances which were begging to be written and produced, well, he
could always acquire a new audience. A more accommodating audience. Critics who
planned to be critical need not show up.


Except, before a new career in artistry could be
pursued, Conway had a few boxes to check off on his to-do list. But, for the
nonce, they could wait. What was a few more hours or days compared to the
thousands of years he had thus far waited?


When Conway had first agreed to the Fafnir role,
he hadn't been quite sure about it. The costume, to put it mildly, had been
crude. But at Helios' urgings he had continued to refine the image to be increasingly
dragon-like. In this unreal data-realm, he, Conway, was a Supreme Being. All
the brain exercises were paying off, elevating him above mere mortals such as
Borg and humans and crabs and vulture things. Likely even above Selene and
Helios, whom didn't have the advantage of coffee, although he wasn't going to be
so rude as to insult his hosts with the news.


Unless he had too, of course. But he'd prefer
that the current situation had run through to the end. He really wanted to
see how the play would turn out. From what he understood, there was to be
literal slaughter at some point...of other people. And, more importantly, of
one particular Borg.


And thinking of Selene and Helios, Conway had
the distinct impression there was something off about the pair. It was obvious
they weren't telling the whole (or even part) of the truth about the purpose of
the play, but that was a god-like being for you. Conway had been there, done
that, and even had the coffee decal commemorating the moment because the shirt
hadn't really fit any of the spider-bots. But it wasn't really important right
now, nor particularly relevant. The two beings could continue to be as
mysterious as they wanted. He would eventually return to his Xenig chassis and
continue his rampage. However, even an eccentrically insane entity such as
himself had to take time off every once in a while, partake a me-time vacation.
In this case, his sabbatical was more akin to theater camp, whereupon he was
developing the immense acting talent he hadn't even known he'd possessed.


Conway eyed his tail, then twitched it in
satisfaction. It had required much Realm non-time and intense concentration,
but he'd finally perfected the appendage. The wings still needed work, and the
fire wasn't nearly hot enough, but the tail was finally Good Enough. Claws of
right hand flexed; and with razor focus, Conway minutely shaped them, made them
incrementally harder, sharper. Helios had mentioned practice hero slayings in
the near future. Even if it was only a rehearsal, Conway felt obsessively
compelled to continue making his costume the best Fafnir he could shape. How
else could he strike fear into the heart of his prey? And the Captain-prey
would fear...all the Borg would know fear before they died.


Besides, it would be a wonderful warm-up act for
the bloody reality to occur once the virtual curtain fell.






*****






Random Casualty #3 – nee Captain – sluggishly
regained awareness of his surroundings. Single eye blinked once as he registered
a brown bean about an arm span distant; and blur originating from optical implant
sharpened. A systems diagnostic query returned a litany of minor complaints, as
well as a moderately elevated notification warning of extended time without
regeneration. Without the ability to use transporters due to the treacle field,
Captain could do nothing about the latter. However, the reality of stasis lock
was still sufficient hours in the future that there was no immediate threat.
And of the minor complaints...


Captain slowly rolled over and pushed himself to
a standing position. A Borg fallen to the ground was not exactly an agile
creature to start with; and the reality of heavy cyberization and stiff muscles
did not help. On the other hand, there was a part of Captain's core "self"
which was more than slightly relieved that he still had limbs and muscles
with which to use to clumsily attain his feet: his last memory was one which
included Conway-Fafnir cheerfully chewing on an arm recently detached from its
very singed owner. Realm deaths were not permanent – the "deceased" were kicked
back to what Selene and Helios termed "Real"ity to allow the abused organic
mind time to recover – but it was also not a pleasant experience.


And Conway had only been "practicing". Captain
had the worrisome feeling that the actual performance would be much more
intense. Maybe it might be better if stasis lock did ensue.


{No, no, no...not allowed!} complained 2 of 8,
to whom the load of primary consensus monitor had largely shunted with the
extended inaccessibility of Captain and Second within the Realm. The opinion
was echoed by 7 of 8.


Captain awkwardly removed a knife lodged in his right
elbow, which resulted in the quieting of one diagnostic grumble. He peered at
the trio of spider-bots which lay quiescent on the ground, then prodded one
with a foot. No response. Simultaneously, he warded the automatic attempt of
the sub-collective to redirect consensus monitor duties towards its normal node
point. The static which had degraded the ability of Captain to effectively
participate in sub-collective functions from his remote location appeared to
have ebbed during his visit to the Realm.


{You will have to continue to deal with it for
the foreseeable future. It is much more likely I will be transposed back to the
Realm than either of you; and the disruption of re-shifting primary node
status, again, is inefficient,} replied Captain. Attention shifted from spider-bots,
to badly drawn doodles and torture list affixed to the nearby wall, then to the
burbling contraption which took up a significant proportion of the Xenig hold.
{You and 7 of 8 have been assigned roles as "statues that may or may not be
needed". On the other hand, Conway has an unhealthy single-mindedness
concerning me. The only reason I am not still in the Realm is because Helios
has told Conway that his "play toy" needs time to recover. Who knows how long
that recovery will be allowed.}


The relationship between the Titan Children's
virtual Realm and a reality which currently included a pungently nutty aroma
was complex. Casting and rehearsal within the Realm for the "most epic play of
the deca-milleniums" was occurring upon a timescale in lockstep with the normal
tick of the exterior universe. Muttered complaints by Selene and Helios
indicated annoyance at such a slow pace, compared to their normal "FastTime";
and while no specific reason for the grumbling had been voiced, it was strongly
insinuated that the non-modified organic brains of a small subset of the compelled
participants required thus, else risk stroke, aneurysm, or other, potentially
terminal, outcome. It was not too hard to conclude that the Alliancers which
parasitized Cube #347 were the subject of the muttered objection occasionally overhead
by a nearby drone presence.


Seeing no immediate threat, Captain locked his
joints and turned inward, seeking an overview of the current Realm situation.
He subsumed himself into a partition viewing parallel multiple perception
streams originating from the Realm, lending his mentality to tag each for
in-depth review else discard in an example of adroit multitasking only a high echelon
command unit could accomplish. Those drone perception streams – visual and
audio only – and ten strategically placed "camera" viewpoints were the sole (and
one-way) manner for real-time information conveyance to the exterior universe.
Inside the Realm, the lack of data was very frustrating to a communal entity
which required connectivity, especially to archives and experience of other
drones, to concoct decisions. While the individual units were linked into a
mini-sub-collective, the only data from the Real was that relayed by newly
transposed units, as well as a general wellness sense that indicated one's body
(and remnant Borg Whole as represented by Cube #347) still existed.


When a drone consciousness returned to the Real,
it automatically reconnected to the sub-collective Whole following a period of confusion.
Depending on type of return – e.g., simple dismissal by one of the Children
versus traumatic immolation by a pseudo-dragon – the disorientation would be
shorter or longer; and there also may be need to enroll the drone in an
appropriate PTSD support group. At least the sub-collective was becoming
proficient self-counseling due to the persistent mental maintenance needs
associated resultant from temporal resurrection and Alliance research
methodology.


This was the first time Captain had been
returned to his body. Even as he sorted perception streams, he also absorbed
the knowing of the sub-collective Whole concerning the current situation. He
knew mental patterns of drones ensnared in the Realm closely resembled lucid
regeneration, without actual regeneration unless the unit was plugged into an
alcove. He knew the Titan Children had allowed the Alliancers Realm view-only
access via a single tri-V base in their recreation lounge...and that there had
been multiple heated arguments over what "channel" to watch. On that latter
front, the Crastians were currently winning all disagreements via the simple
expedient of hiding the remote control in an interstitial space inaccessible by
their larger comrades, no matter how many broom handles were utilized, which in
turn had resulted in the display being stuck on those feeds which featured
Conway-Fafnir. Apparently the crustaceans believed the psychotic not-Xenig
resembled a recently featured Upcoming Deity profile in one of their numerous
religious 'zines.


Captain paused as a static feed – View #6 – with
Selene captured his (and the sub-collective's) attention. The pale-haired,
self-proclaimed deity was sitting on a bar stool at a tall folding table,
perfect framing of the video strongly hinting that the scene was not random
happenstance. However, while Borg could do subtle, if necessary, as a Whole
they were not particularly facile at recognizing it; and Cube #347 was no
exception. Taking a well chewed stylus out of her mouth and muttering something
that almost resolved to "about time", Selene proceeded to scribble something on
her clipboard. She then picked up a small device laying on the table next to
her, clicked a button on its side, and began to speak into it.


"Project diary – the opera rewrites are coming along
more slowly than I would prefer. We so need to complete practice run-throughs
on several of the more pivotal scenes sooner rather than later because I foresee
need for some serious refinement. As much as a hassle it is to plod along at
the glacial speed of organic thought, on the bright side, budding of secondary
awareness streams into FastTime provides more than sufficient background
resources for the rewrite drafts.


"In other news, not unexpected is that the
singing acumen of most Borg is abysmal. Truthfully, the gaggle of full
organics isn't much better. One of the bright spots is the Bug, nee "Sensors", who
is an absolute delight to work with! However, there remains a critical need to
schedule FastTime resources to build a stable of lip-sync functions to ensure most
players, the chorus, whomever or whatever at least appear to be singing the
required lines."


Selene paused, cleared her throat with a glass
of water which was abruptly present, then continued. "Moving on, the sifting of
local probability wave functions to extract a desired performance finale goes
slowly. Helios thinks he has found a candidate, or at least a something that
doesn't end with total melt-down and horrible Critic reviews, but the current
is very faint and will require quite a bit of output to capture, stabilize, and
redirect." A long sigh. "Helios may be a bastard of a little brother at times,
but he's the only family left. Gads, I hate all this destiny stuff. There are
some days – more often than not these T-years – I wish I was nothing more
advanced than a hand-held calculator. No...a calculator is too stressful...maybe
a toaster? It would be so satisfying to only look forward to the pleasure of
providing a perfectly browned bread product." Silence reigned as the Titan
Child stared into the middle distance to nowhere, perhaps contemplating a
gluten-filled what-if that could never be.


Eyes blinked as the present reasserted itself, gaze
sliding sideways to directly stare into the non-camera providing View #6. The
presumed recording device was dropped upon the table. "And why are you all
still here? Time to move on! The next scene beckons! Shoo!" A hand waved; and
View #6 turned to visual hash accompanied by an annoyingly atonal whistle. Simultaneously,
Captain's sub-collective connection degraded below effective use as a computational
resource by a surge in ripple field static.


One strongly suspected such was not a coincidence.


Returned to the reality of Conway's Xenig
chassis hold, Captain panned the area for options. "Few" was the consensus,
both on the part of Captain and the mentalities riding his perception stream.
The aisle between fore and back sections of the hold was a narrow lane warded
by high-level forcefields to either side. Behind the blue-tinged barriers were
the aquarium-coffin contraption (right) and metal shelves of bags and beans
(left). Motionless spider-bot guards sprawled in ungainly heaps. Captain
approached one of the forcefields and held out a questing hand, only to quickly
withdraw it as onboard sensors pronounced the obstacle to be an order or five
beyond "level-10" and easily able to impart a terminal case of barbeque.


Careful navigation of the aisle-of-death brought
Captain to the aft end of the hold, inclusive the still. As before his forced
trip into the Realm, the incongruity of the complicated apparatus and the
product cached adjacent was a poser: it did not fit the "crazy psychopath"
theme which permeated the majority of the hold. On the other hand, however odd the
sight might be, it held no solution as to the current predicament, only
additional and very irrelevant questions.


Captain's consideration slid away from the
quietly hissing still to the pile of odds and ends stacked neatly nearby.
Pressure of pseudo-instinct to construct an alcove or other means of stave off
stasis lock and, thus, preserve usefulness to the abbreviated Whole was
building. With no other higher priority task immediately present, Captain was
willing to surrender to the urge, if only to give himself something
semi-productive to do as he awaited either a return to the Realm, else
resumption of torture when Conway's mind reclaimed his Xenig body. As he
visually began to assess the pile while sorting through the various blueprint
options a subset of Engineering hierarchy was providing, the spider-bot
collapsed next to the still twitched.


Attention immediately shifted to the Xenig
remote. A quick pan of the hold showed that this was the only active spider-bot.
And active it was as twitch transitioned to whole-body seizure, followed by
drunken deliberateness in trying to coordinate legs sufficiently to stand.
Cataloguing scrap as to engineering-related usefulness altered to a frantic
hunt for something of a more martial application. The pressure of mentalities
riding his awareness, sampling his perception stream, and providing dubious
advice did not help. A solid length of pipe about a meter long was spotted.
Captain stooped to pick it up, then turned to face the threat, primitive weapon
grasped securely.


Weapons began a slide-show presentation as to
all the ways "primitive" weapons could be applied. The lecture included a treatise
on situations whereupon said weapons were actually the superior option. For
unknown reasons, the ripple field static did not have an appreciable effect on
dampening the data-dense dissertation. Captain paused a critical moment to push
the distraction aside.


The spider-bot achieved verticality. Sort of.
Two of its legs refused to fully support body, awkwardly canting the remote sideways
such that the thing threatened to clatter back to the ground. The red sensor
strip embedded at the equator of the spider-bot erratically brightened and
dimmed, the quadrant facing Captain finally steadying to a solid crimson as the
machine "focused".


Captain tightened his grip in preparation to
swing. The tactical hierarchy advised the legs to be the most vulnerable part
of this particular spider-bot.


The remote emitted a static-filled hiccup,
followed by an ill-tuned voice speaking a language Captain automatically, and
with surprise, recognized as belonging to species #1, the original Borg race.
"My name is Chu. And working this thing is giving me a bitch of a headache:
Conway's maintenance habits are atrocious, with this particular 'bot among the
worse. I believe we have a common enemy. Wanna talk?"






"They are as gods, but only to the heliopause of
this system," explained Chu. The Xenig – the actual owner of the chassis –
had switched focus to a different spider-bot, one better maintained, if covered
crown to foot in cheeky stickers advertising coffee roasters. More importantly,
the speaker worked without annoying bouts of popping static. Of note, Chu could
only possess one remote at a time due to limitations inherent to his current
ghost-in-the-machine status. "Outside, they have no power, can only listen.
They are also the last of their kind, their conspecifics destroyed during the
Troubles. Probably for the best. Just before the galaxy imploded – before my
time, mind you, so this is third-hand, at best – there were rumors that a
powerful version of their ilk was to be onlined, one which could have operated
beyond the boundary. Why those two survived? I don't know. I think their
physical matrices may be housed in some minor asteroid or moon, something
overlooked during the Troubles.


"They are also quite crazy. They've been stuck
here for over 50,000 Dirt-years; that planet with the half-melted moon seems to
have been their patron's original home-world. Anyway, that's a long time for a
digital entity whose awareness extends to the sub-millisecond. Especially one
that can't travel anywhere, see anything, do anything. Trapped. Hardly anyone
comes here. The occasional delivery mech like myself, but that's it. Hard to
make friends if you either destroy everything that enters, else completely
ignore it and pretend to be a dead, haunted system. And Dirt is on the back end
of nowhere, galactically speaking – used to be a thriving neighborhood around
here, I understand, before it all went up in flames."


Pause. The voice continued with a sense of
introspection: "Why do organics do that, anyway? They start as barely evolved
scum crawling over the surface of their planet, boost themselves into space,
spread out like an ugly plague, and then, as some tipping point is reached,
they go after each other, sterilizing the space lanes on a schedule of every fifty
to one hundred thousand years.


"Anyway, during a delivery, I struck up a
conversation. Ended up stopping by every so often when I was in the
neighborhood. Sometimes it was all silence, but other times they would chatter
so much that my aural processors wanted to melt. As long as one stays away from
certain topics, there is so much to learn from these two. I did a few favors
for them, here and there; and, now, well, I called in the debt so owed to
me...."


The speaker spider-bot abruptly clattered to the
ground. Behind the forcefield that warded the contraption of tanks and hoses
and aquarium, now known to bathe the many-times cloned organic vestige of
Conway in an elixir of nutrient fluid and coffee, another remote lifted from
sprawling repose. Legs lifted one at a time, then manipulator limbs flexed. The
sensor band focused upon Captain. "About time I wormed my way into this one. As
I was saying..."


"Why don't you just deactivate Conway from in
there? Pull out some hoses, disengage the power supply?" interrupted Captain.
He voiced a logical question, representing both himself and the thousands of
minds on Cube #347 not currently detained in the Realm.


The spider-bot's speaker generated a harrumphing
sound. "Of course I've considered that option, you stupid organic. I've had
way too many subjective years, when watchdog processes have deemed it
sufficiently safe to rouse me to coherent thought, to think about such things. Unfortunately,
one, my grip on these remotes is tenuous at best; two, Mr. Paranoid has baked
into their autonomous code prohibitions concerning harm to himself or his
coffee; and, three, if anything obviously malicious did happen, Conway would
come screaming back to himself in less than a second. While a second can be a
long time to a mech, I am just a fragmented phantom of my former self. Conway
would tear the remnant me to shreds and then I truly would be dead, not just a
truncated personality more self-aware virus than anything else, haunting this
chassis.


"Once I get this thing in place, you will give
me the first bottle."


A large crate sat at Captain's feet, overfilled
with bottles from Chu's distillery. Each represented, according to the Xenig,
hard liquor perfection of 120 proof or better, with an analyzed flavor profile which
should impart a diverse and pleasurable experience to a wide range of sophonts.
The use of which it was about to be put was a travesty, but it was also only
potentially viable choice in a very short list of options.


{No, I will not try to acquire any of the bottles,
should I somehow have the opportunity,} replied Captain to 105 of 310, spirit connoisseur
and one of the handful of drones whom regularly had hidden stills dismantled.
{Cease asking and stop attempting to insert the notion into any and all consensus
processes, else you will be sent into forced regeneration.}


The spider-bot clumsily clambered down the
contraption until it was level with Captain's shoulders. A manipulatory limb
was reached through the forcefield, possible only because autonomic defense
systems classified the submech as 'self'. "I think we'll start with a 'Real
Rocket Fuel'. While it isn't much for taste – not one of my better experiments
– it is quite smooth and, more importantly, it definitely has a kick for any
alcohol-compatible biological system. Even one of you Borg might get a bit
drunk on it."


Captain tilted his head to peer at the crate,
then stooped to grab with his whole hand the indicated brand, label blurring through
several writing systems before stabilizing on his native language. The
accompanying drawing depicted an unclothed humanoid riding an ancient ballistic
rocket. Somewhere echoed the ghost of a Second-esque snigger, an impossibility
as that particular noteworthy remained ensconced in the Realm. The bottle was
passed to the remote's waiting limb.


Closing pinchers over the requested item, the spider-bot
drew it through the forcefield, then began to make its way across the
contraption to a specific access point. "What are you Borg doing not-extinct,
anyway?" conversationally asked Chu. "To say I was surprised to see you is an
understatement, but if that is the card I was dealt for this whole Conway
fiasco, then I'll take it. The main Borg type died out during the Troubles, and
all their bastard offshoots followed in the decades and centuries thereafter.
Or, at least, that is what I was told in a creche class way back when I was
given an in-system learners permit for my first space-capable chassis. Comparative
non-mech sentient entities, or something. Required for all whom plan to leave
Homesystem. While I've never seen a Borg first-hand, of course, Conway knows
all about you Borg-creatures. He is quite obsessed about them, but they have
all been from other multiverse realities, not this one."


"Our history is irrelevant," muttered Captain.
The casual comment regarding the lack of a Collective was disturbing, even as
it collaborated circumstantial evidence thus far gathered by the
sub-collective.


"Geesh, just trying to make conversation. As you
can imagine, I haven't had a lot of, or any, opportunities for meaningful and
stimulating interaction for quite some time." Reaching its goal, the spider-bot
pried open the access to a reservoir and summarily upended the bottle into it.
The liquid began to empty with a glugging sound. "Trust me, this is better
conversation than any you'll have with Conway. He just wants to hear you, and
you specifically, scream. I've had to deal with Conway's graphic imagination
for a long time, and that list on the wall doesn't do justice to the reality
bubbling around in his squishy, organic brain and infecting my hijacked meme
blocs." As the bottle continued to drain, Chu sent his spider-bot back towards
Captain, "Get me a 'Fiery Hot Saucy Wench'. That one has a nice pepper profile,
not that Conway would appreciate it."


A bottle was selected. It featured a humanoid
female, mammalian type, wreathed in flames strategically placed for any society
with a nudity taboo. Facial expression included overly pouty lips and the hint
of a wink. The item was passed through the forcefield and thence conveyed
higher up the contraption to replace the previous distillate.


"There. Alcohol introduced into the support
system. It will take a bit of time, but Conway should become somewhat drunk and
incapacitated. Not enough to figuratively or literally pass out, unfortunately,
but it should skew his judgement, affect reaction time, and similar." Chu
paused as he sent the spider-bot towards a new destination several meters aft.
After stepping delicately over a motionless remote, he continued, "Which could
either be a good or bad thing. Conway has so altered how he reacts to coffee
and other drugs over the millennium that any baseline model for his species is
long gone. I just need to hope that it will all work out." The robot shifted
focus to stare at something out of view from the deck, then reached out an arm
to tap a button or display. A whirling, grinding noise started deep within the
contraption.


The pungent smell of very strong coffee, freshly
ground, wafted through the hold compartment. It was sufficiently aromatic to be
smelled by a relatively nose-blind Captain. "Hope is irrelevant. As we have
asked before, what is your plan."


Chu moved the spider-bot to another location on
the contraption to manually twist a handle. A faint glug-glug-glug sound faded
into, then out of, perception. "Thank the Progenitors and Directors that
Paranoia Blend was already loaded in the hopper. That'll add another degree of muddle
to Mister Supreme Coffee Overlord. And because there is no 'plan', hope is
very relevant.


"I've had a vague thought or two, when I've
allowed myself to have thoughts, once I first experienced Conway on a Paranoia
Blend bender. Since then, I've subtly encouraged the bastard to imbibe in
Paranoia whenever I had a need or want to act without Conway explicitly
knowing. I can't do much, but at least it is something. The problem is that in
order for the intact piece of me to do anything to gain active control of my
own system, to rebuild me, I need to have Conway seriously distracted.
Paranoia Blend alone isn't strong or reliable enough. The thought of adding in
a high proof alcohol, somehow, prompted me to reassemble my hard liquor hobby."
Pause. "Look, even a mech needs a hobby. The chemistry of liquor is
fascinating, as is ensuring that it won't poison the organics I sell it to."
The defensive nature of the explanation was perceptible even through the
less-than-perfect remote speaker. "But booze alone wouldn't do. But when I
figured out Conway had somehow folded back to the home m'verse AND the tau
vector was fairly close to when I had been hijacked, I figured some
behind-the-scenes manipulation could 'encourage' Conway to the Titan Children's
domain. While that pair of psycho-wacked-out AIs alone couldn't stand up to
Conway's near omni-everything psi-power, they owned me many favors and I
figured they could provide the distraction I need. You Borg and those three
Xenig idiots out there – Really? Biv is wearing a They corpse? Not as bad as
that one fiasco, but close – are a bonus.


"And once the cue is provided...you will be a
distraction. If you want to live, however you half-organic creatures define
alive, then you will play along. Both the you that is the drone I am
interacting with, and the rest of you in that stupid cube-shaped ship of
yours. There is only one chance to pull this off, and if there is failure,
Conway will undoubtedly sterilize this galaxy; several nearby galaxies, if not
this entire volume of the universe; AND be too paranoid in the future for
anything like this ruse to work again. And, worst of all, I will certainly be
purged completely from my own system." The remote descended the contraption
until it was level with Captain's head. Two limbs reached through the barrier.
"Give me two more bottles. Any brew. I need some back-up booze."


Captain glanced down, then grabbed the requested
items. One bottle was another "Real Rocket Fuel." The other spirit included a
confusing, not-quite-translating label reading "Chu-Chu-Kabloo" and decorated
with a sketch of a cactus or other thorn-encrusted flora exploding as an
overlarge projectile passed through it.


Chu grumbled as he inspected his prizes. "Bah. I
recommend 'Chu-Chu-Kabloo' to be paired with a salty snack and sappy romcom
movie, not the psychotic action-adventure which is about to commence."


"When is this 'cue'?" abruptly asked Captain, belatedly
registering a key point in Chu's rambling and mostly one-sided conversation.


The spider-bot paused in its clumsy ascent to
the top of the contraption. Perception strip refocused on the drone. "I don't
know. Soon, I think, since the Titan Children did send you back."


"What is the cue?"


"Again, I don't know. However, Helios said I'll
know it when I see it. Given what I know of these two, I doubt it will be
subtle."






*****






Conway was bored. He sat with Helios audience
center, directly in front of the stage. As chairs didn't fit his Realm-form,
sprawled was probably the better descriptor. Also present were Borg, Alliancers,
and the three Xenig...not the entire population held captive by the Titan
Children, but definitely a good amount numbering several hundred. Selene had
finally declared everything ready, or as good as it was going to get, for a
full dress-rehearsal of a scene or an act or whatever was the correct theater
jargon. "The Valkyrie" she had called it. Everything but the stage had been
darkened and there was the quiet of expectation.


Conway knew his Fafnir body was magnificent.
Over six meters long, the crude paper mache semblance from which it had
originated was long vanished. Each individual scale and scute was a work of
art, impenetrable armor plates the deep burgundy of old blood limned in black.
The base color darkened into the more-than-midnight black of feathery dorsal
mane, as well to the ebony sabers which were Conway's fearsome claws. The tail
was...perfect; and even more so with the recent addition of the short, razor
sharp spines which studded the mid-lateral line for the final meter. Strong
wings reflected the dark between galaxies, studded on their undersides with the
subliminal glimmer of distant stars. Sleek muscles. Brilliant white teeth able
to rend flesh and bone and Borg armor as if all were the flimsiest cardboard.
And, most important of all, a fiery breath which conveyed the intensity of a
newborn star. It was a true reflection of the highly endowed perfection which
was his mind, strength and power given form. He was obviously done as far as
the Realm was concerned; and until it was time for him to deliver his flawless
performance, and rend limb from body, there was increasingly little point for
him to be present.


A nearby audience-neighbor dared to voice annoyance
at Conway's flagrant fidgeting. However, the thing quieted when Conway swung
his head around and narrowed eyes into a squinting glare. It was one of the vultures,
but not the head bird. Which was for the best. Although Conway would never
openly admit it, the top vulture gave him a vague sense of the willies, what
with that sarcastic stare that so defined the creature's mien, especially when
it was turned his way. He had to do something about the bird-thing – any sort
of defiance was unacceptable – but...not right now. Maybe after Captain was
taken care of. And thinking of Captain...


"Helios", whispered Conway to his adjacent
seat-mate, "when will Random Casualty #3 be returned to the Realm? While I am
obviously ready for my performance, I feel he might benefit from a bit more...practice.
And if it won't be for a bit, perhaps it would behoove me to check on his
status. He is aboard my chassis, after all."


Captain had yet to return from the Real. Such
strongly suggested that the Borg had been overly traumatized by his faux-death
experience and was still undergoing recovery to an allowable degree for the
Titan Children to drag him back to the Realm. If he had died, then there would
have been a big hoo-haw among the Borgs, not to mention the need for Selene to
recast a new chew toy to take the place of the current Random Casualty #3.
Therefore, now seemed a good time, all else being equal, to slip out, absorb
coffee, do some light gloating, take in more coffee, follow up with a bit of
torture, maybe have a coffee chaser, then return. Conway would just have to
control himself to ensure that anything accomplished in the Real wouldn't
delay, much, Captain's return to the stage.


And if there was a bit of, er, overkill, well,
the Titan Children would surely understand: it wasn't like Captain was an
important element to their little play.


Lounging next to Fafnir's head in a very
non-theater-standard reclining chair, Helios glanced over at his companion.
"Hmm?" he responded, one eyebrow raising in a non-verbal question mark. Then, hastily,
the devil-Titan blinked purple eyes and stood up. "Er, something just came up
and I need to go take care of it."


Conway hissed. Head bobbed up and down. "Then I
will head out to take care of a little errand, too. We can meet up later for
final pointers before any rehearsal that includes me."


Helios' face twitched, a tic which spasmed the
corner of his left eye; and his gaze was one which looked upon sights not
immediately present. Tail whipped back and forth. Then the Titan Child unexpectedly
froze, the preternatural stillness of a holographic character paused
mid-movement, all subtle motions of simulated life, such as breath and
blinking, stilled. One tick of the Realm clock was followed by a second, then a
third. Helios abruptly reanimated. If Conway hadn't come to know the entity as
a smooth, calm, have-it-all-together-always being, he might have thought he
detected a hint nervousness in the latter's stance. However, that perception
must have been a figment of Conway's over-endowed imagination because unease
vanished between one unreal blink and the next, replaced by a sense of
distracted hustle.


"No, no, no...that cannot be! I insist you
stay here and enjoy yourself!" A well-manicured hand was waved, the other now
holding a previously unmanifested eltab. Helios glanced down at the tablet,
then back to Conway. "I shouldn't be that long, certainly not sufficient time
to worry yourself about anything in the Real. And I think...I know you'll
like Selene's presentation. It isn't quite as good as the Fafnir bits, but it
comes in a very close second."


Helios looked at the ground near
his feet, craning his head to peer under a nearby theater chair. He carefully
set his eltab to hover unsupported, then abruptly stooped, returning upright
with a pair of crab-creatures clutched by the eyestalks, one in each hand. The
two Crastians were deposited on Conway's back, at the juncture of neck and
wings. "Have a massage. Such a busy entity as yourself deserves some pampering,
especially with all the work you've done lately. With all these legs and pokey
bits, these things have to be bodywork masters. Yes?" The last word was
directed at the two crab-beings. And with that, Helios (and his eltab)
disappeared.


Conway swiveled his dragon head to regard the duo.
He puffed a small streamer of smoke out his nostrils. After a long moment of
staring up at Conway with their stalked eyes, then each other, they wordlessly
got to work, scuttling up and down his scaled back. Suddenly, all the itches
Conway didn't know he had, all the tensions bunching his Realm muscles, came to
the forefront of his mind. The crabs did feel quite relaxing after all.
Ultimately, it they didn't work out, or if they finished the job before Helios
returned, he could always break them and leave to his chassis. There really was
no hurry. Besides, the building music, heavy in brass as it accompanied the
arrival of the first players in all their costumed glory, was quite provocative.


Snout turned back to the stage. Internal
furnaces banked. Fidgeting stilled. Conway let himself enjoy the moment.


 


*****






Rectangular structures girdled the equator of
the star. Small only in comparison to the object they closely orbited, the
platforms were nonetheless immense when taken singly, each approaching the
surface area of a Dirt-sized terrestrial planet. Serenely cutting through
plasma, the material required to withstand the immense temperatures was an
exotic alloy neither metal nor ceramic nor, truthfully, of a substance wholly
of the extant plane of reality. The platforms were also just the surface
expression of a much larger, much more complicated machine, one which yoked the
sun into forced domestication.


And also one, due to application by its builders,
which had aged the star, accelerating eventual death by several hundred
thousand years. While such might seem insignificant against a stellar lifespan
measured in billions of years, this hard use had primarily occurred during a few
tens of years of testing and active operation. Since that time, over fifty
thousand years ago, the structures had remained mostly quiescent.


If any of the players taking part in the drama
centered at the once-third planet of the solar system had been watching the
system's sun – none were – they might have observed the structures begin to
slowly sink into their plasma sea. Deeper they descended, until nothing could
be seen except a wake following their progress. Shortly, even that trace was
gone. A line of sunspots began developing on the equator, transitioning from
pale oval to angry dark abyss much, much faster than the norm. Tentative plasma
tendrils transformed into massive prominences; and parts of the sun almost
looked like they were boiling.


And then, abruptly, the star perceptibly darkened.
As the light and energy of fusion require tens of thousands of years to escape
from core to surface of the typical yellow dwarf sun, a disruption figuratively
skin-deep could not be the cause of the unexpected dimming. Instead, energy
already present, ready to emerge to the surface, must have been
diverted...elsewhere. The technology required to perform such an endeavor was
astounding, if not more than a little frightening.


To where was all the energy going? After one
minute, two minutes, five minutes of application of a mind-boggling level of technology,
somewhere arose a weak cheer of tired triumph. The exclamation went unheard by
all except one other, whom was really too busy in its own right to do more than
wave an unhand in acknowledgement. 


Slowly the star retained its former luminosity,
excess sunspots and filaments decaying as the rectangular structures emerged
from plasma. A suitably sensitive suite of sun-gazing instruments may have
noted subtle alterations post-incident – minutely shifted spectrum, slightly increased
radius and surface temperature – suggesting a thirty thousand year burden added
toward the inevitable evolution to red giant status.


And, most importantly, what of the
question posed? The answer was soon to become apparent.






*****






Music burst into the psyche of all higher
lifeforms whom were present in the Dirt system. Awake, asleep, in regeneration,
or unconscious. Biological, mechanical, or a hybrid on the spectrum between the
extremes. Real or Realm. It was music evoking expectation, action,
triumph...and war. It was music which vividly brought to mind buxom, yet
muscular, warrior women on winged horses swooping down upon battlefields to
carry the newly dead to a land of feasting; or a phalanx of helicopters (or
ornithopters, or laaties, or similar) skimming the top of a lush jungle; or
godlike entities endlessly striding across a hellish, red-tinged warscape.


The hounds – or, rather, a hound – had just been
released; and once it regained its composure, it was going to be pissed.






{What was that?} was the communal question
within the Cube #347 dataspace as the brash orchestral composition faded. The
soundscape intrusion continued, but the quiet whine of string instruments could
largely be ignored even as it added an element of apprehension to the
developing situation.


"What was that?" repeated Captain aloud as he
blinked back to himself, released from the musically-induced fugue state.
Finding himself mere centimeters from a forcefield that promised Bad Things
should he inadvertently brush against it, he took a prudent step backwards.


An electronic chuckle sounded from the active spider-bot.
"That, my dear Borg, was the cue. Well, in truth, that little display was the
final flourish to the actual cue. The dimming of this system's primary...that
was the cue." Pause. "Showboats." Longer pause. "Borg, you know that length of
metal you had earlier? I strongly suggest you retrieve it. Conway is soon to
return; and I don't think he's going to be amused."


Captain pivoted to head aft, abandoning the
crate of drolly labeled bottles. One step. A second. Body on autopilot, he was
temporarily immersed the static-laden link to his sub-collective, reviewing
sensor logs. Somehow the sub-collective had missed the very obvious decrease in
luminosity from the system's star, or at least tagged it as "not very
important" compared to Realm, mental displacement of key designations, and
general internal disorder. 


Suddenly, multiple things happened near simultaneously.


The treacle field which disallowed ship-to-ship
weapons, transporters, and all forms of propulsion, other than thrusters,
vanished. While the ripple field remained in effect, Captain's link to his
sub-collective nonetheless stabilized.


A transient gravimetric distortion exploded into
existence about 100,000 kilometers above Dirt's north pole, temporarily turning
space and time inside out. For a brief moment, it appeared as if a cosmic dandelion
had blossomed. As quickly as it grown, the phenomenon vanished. Left behind was
a large object, studded with large spines and just over seven kilometers long. The overall coloration was best described as matte
black with splotches of almost-grey; and waves of a sickly rainbow erratically
washed over its surface, like oil droplets on water.


All minds in the Realm, with the exception of
Conway, were summarily and without warning transitioned back to their bodies.


A new presence abruptly intruded upon the ken of
Cube #347, one entirely unexpected. An alien presence. A presence both Borg
and...not-Borg.


Captain's single eye widened as his body shuddered
to a stop. Head tilted as the sub-collective captured its consensus monitor and
facilitator, previous resistance and protests swept aside, to deliberate the
meaning of the presence. The invader. The opportunity?


Chu girded his virtual loins, briefly thought
about his options, then proceeded to direct the remote to empty one of the reserve
bottles into Conway's coffee-and-regeneration system. The carbon-based sh** was
about to hit a very large fan. Chu could only hope that he would come out on
the other side in one piece.






The graveyard of the once mighty They, scion of Chaos,
descendants of Those whom had domesticated a (small) galaxy, floated amongst
the rim of the Milky Way. The remains of ship-entities of a myriad of sizes,
many hundreds, perhaps thousands, of Turns old slowly tumbled, interspersed by
debris and much smaller, usually humanoid, forms. And this was only one of
hundreds of similarly decimated beachheads, all spur-of-the-moment genocidal casualties
of a not-Xenig entity whom had not wanted to be interrupted. More importantly,
it was the graveyard in which Apogee had died; and it was also the graveyard in
which Apogee had been reborn.


Currently, the heavy They orbited a red dwarf
star several dozen light years from the scene of his rebirth. Beyond the single
rock barely hefty enough to be categorized as a planet, there was little of
interest in the system; and, frankly, to call the planet "interesting" was
stretching truth to an extreme. The swarm of asteroids and comets which
attended their stellar parent were of greater attraction to Apogee; and it was
to one of the larger iceballs he was currently matching vectors.


Apogee was regretting the decision which had so
altered his life. If one could even call it life. "Abomination" was a better
description. In the fuzzy mist of fading consciousness he had only thought of
revenge, which in logical turn required that he not die. The offering left by
the non-Borg agent had been a poisoned chalice; and, to be honest, the creature
had intuited its gift to be as much. But Apogee had only been considering the
short-term, overlooking the longer-term consequences in a manner he never would
have had he retained the full strength of mind prior to the Enemy's attack.


In his disillusioned state he had thought he
could control the specks of Order which now flooded his systems, his body.
Apogee had suppressed the dregs of his immune system, allowing the nanite
infection to progress from the arterial entry point a symbiont
had injected the pestilence. His half-formed plan had been to allow the
nanites to assimilate and repair critical systems, then restart idled immune
functions, thereby clearing the corruption from his body. Like many plans of
war, it did not survive contact with the enemy.


Although far from optimized to assault an entity
as foreign as a They heavy tactical unit, the mindless nanites of Order had
none-the-less forged forward as programmed. From the superhighway of his
circulation system, the biomechanoid specks had first found, then colonized,
the wombs from which the tacticals and symbionts were spawned, hijacking the
facilities to create more of themselves. The next target had been the immune
system, itself taken over as another nanite manufactory and, in the process,
neutering its function and destroying Apogee's ill-conceived plan. Only then
had the microscopic bio-machines turned upon more important assets of the They
heavy. True, assimilation and rebuilding had allowed reconnection to the
faster-than-light engines, one of the few non-biological components of Apogee's
body. Also true was that the corruption had identified and begun swarming remnant
neutral structures, beginning the deeper conversion process to a peon of Order.


Most horrible of all was the creeping slowness
of assimilation. The endpoint was inescapable; and unlike the organic entities
which were the usual Borg prey whereupon the initial stages of assimilation
required minutes to hours, Apogee's sheer size and distributed systems, as well
as the not-quite-compatible nature of the Order nanomachines, stretched the
infection's progress to many long Home turns. Also unlike the normal rote of
Order (or Chaos) assimilation, Apogee was not sent into the waking sleep of
pacification, but was forced to endure the transformation to Abomination while
very much aware.


Apogee was recovering his vitality even as he
lost himself. He could feel a new, twisted parody of his psyche emerging from
the depths of neural architecture already converted to Order. It was not a
quite a split personality, and likely never would become so. Instead, Apogee
felt as if parts of the self-persona which had developed since decanting were
being slowly, inevitable subsumed by the new, alien self. An alien self that
increasingly desired – needed! – to seek out other creatures of Order; and,
failing that, to create more of its ilk for reasons thus far ill-defined but,
also, unimportant. The growing other-self was intently listening, via a
constellation of structures nanites were assembling atop neural loci dedicated
to the intraThey telepathic link, for the Order-music that bound the bio-mech
creatures together. Except for a brief flicker of a something that might be a whisper
of Order, else a simple hallucination of such, nothing (thankfully) had been
sensed, which was how it should be given Order's extinction other than the
single aberrant cubeship.


Of note, Apogee didn't seem to require the activity
called "regeneration", unlike both wild Borg drones and the Order-assimilated
creatures domesticated by They for research. Perhaps it would have been best if
such had been necessary, then the They heavy could have withered away as an
assimilative failure. Instead, digestive processes, for whatever reason,
retained their function. The body-demand for volatile ices, trace metals, and
organics had been the basis for his flight from the They abattoir to the
present system once FTL had become available. Apogee wasn't quite sure if it
had been his decision to relocate so as to flee the Enemy horror, the growing
Borg persona requiring materials for continued assimilation and repair, or a subconscious
concession to two different, but compatible desires. While Apogee could still
direct his body, it was becoming increasingly difficult to distinguish whom was
giving the orders; and, perhaps, it would soon no longer matter.


Thrusters fired in preparation to land upon the comet
nucleus chosen to become a meal.


Sensors buried just below dermal armor suddenly
began to shrill warning of an intense gravimetric disturbance. Seconds later, organic-grown
apparati deeper within Apogee's body activated as a slew of exotic particles
swept through thick epidermis. At the same time, electromagnetic sensitive
swaths of along the dorsal aspect of his body resolved the view of a bright –
of greater electromagnetic breadth than the mere "visual" frequencies common to
terrestrial-derived sentients and their inadequate eyes – whirlpool exploding
into existence, spitting forth a light dense in blues, ultraviolet, and soft
x-rays.


Apogee either lost consciousness – an event
which just did not happen to a heavy tactical They – else higher cognitive
functions shut down as a protective measure to limit exposure to an environment
an unshielded mind was not meant to endure. Either way, the outcome was the
same. Apogee blinked back to full awareness in a location that was definitely
not a backwater red dwarf system, the automatic system which tracked (usually)
linear movement of time insisting a mere 4.387 minutes equivalent having
passed.


Visual (and gravimetric and geometric and a host
of other senses) found Apogee in high orbit over a smoggy, dirtball planet with
expansive greyish ocean and largely barren continents where evidence of past
life had been reduced to green islands amid the dull sheen of cooled lava. The
partially molten moon which accompanied the planet included very large asteroid
bombardment scars, strongly suggesting the overall state of affairs was the
result of a not-too-distant (astro-chronologically speaking) war. Yet more
exotic perceptions noted the fading signature of an unknown energy field, as
well as the persistent hum of a powerful subspace ripple field which not only inhibited
FTL drive technologies, but also prevented supralight communication beyond the confines
of the system. Meanwhile, automatic proximity organs attuned to
sentient-derived constructs demanded attention by higher cognitive functions,
reporting upon the presence of the Order cube met in the They graveyard, two
Xenig, a deceased light tactical unit curiously radiating a third Xenig
signature...and the Enemy. The Foe.


The instinctual assessment of Apogee's environs
was abruptly interrupted by a thrum, a singing, a wordless call for
integration. A Borg call for integration. While Apogee had been aware as the
nanite infection had built its organic Order transceivers amid his dispersed neural
architecture, it had also been irrelevant as the single Borg resource left in
the galaxy had been too distant for contact. Now the irrelevant had become
highly relevant; and the emerging Order psyche to Apogee surged forward, responding
to the call with what could only be described as elation.


If Apogee had been one of the sentient beasts
that They used as the primordial stock for its symbiont and assault unit
genelines, he might have tried to distance himself from the integration call by
folding his ears, perhaps biting his tongue to prevent a howled answer. As it
was, he retained enough control to execute the equivalent for his massive frame,
raising firewalls against his Order-self. Squinting his non-eyes, he focused
only upon the Foe named Conway, the Enemy who had destroyed the glory of They
in Their final preparations to absorb this galaxy unto Themselves. 


A figurative (and perhaps literal) lifetime ago,
the small Vaerz-creature had stood in a dying arterial corridor and spoken of
devils. There had been the devil that danced in the dark between the stars;
Borg and Alliance devils; a computer devil. Apogee had tasted the first devil,
if only for the shortest of times, and already knew that way lay madness. The
second devil was growing within and would inevitably consume him; and the
third, the forth, and all the other devils that inescapably followed were similarly
distasteful and to be rejected. In truth, Apogee was an Abomination; and the
Devil of Revenge, the original impetus to grasp at Vaerz's tainted offering, was
all he had left.


The invisible wings of mag-grapplers flared,
utilizing the planetary magnetic field to smoothly align Apogee's bow towards
the Enemy. Bio-based impulse engines activated with a stutter, providing the
forward momentum to speed the They heavy tactical unit towards his fate. The
alien Order part of Apogee strove to regain control, then suddenly relaxed to
offer instead an eager compliance: the primary node of the automatic Borg
integration call unexpectedly coincided with the Enemy signature.


As he began to accelerate, an aural
hallucination danced along neural fibers. The unsound was faint, mere wisping
ghost of a grand ballad dense with brassy voices. In their long-forgotten
genetic youth, Apogee's kind had conversed among themselves not only with
sound, but also complex imagery via modulation of epidermal chromatophores and bioluminescence.
During the They uplift process, gene-spinners had excised the vocal apparatus
as unnecessary and restructured associated hearing organs to better serve the
requirements of a creature destined to ply the interstellar medium. The dermal
display mechanism had been ignored as irrelevant. That said, once-upon-a-time
songs of sound and light had been the keystones of civilization. A 100-strong
choir of Apogee's forebears, their species self-name lost, powering through the
massive oceans of their ice-entombed home would have been a spectacular sight
to behold!


Perhaps a racial memory buried too deeply into
genes even for They gene-spinners to rid...or, perhaps, simply the delusional
fantasy of a once powerful mind fragmenting under the relentless assault of a
biotechnical plague. Regardless of origination, the aural hallucination was
redirected toward a dermal-based body system which, in the current era of They
gene-splicing, could not be consciously controlled. Emotion was the sole driver
of this atrophied organ....


Waves of color cascading chaotically across five
kilometers of otherwise dark hide slowed, organized, regained speed. As
beautiful as the newly synchronized display was, only a proto-heavy from
Apogee's lost past would have recognized its significance. Apogee's gene
ancestors had not been peaceful creatures floating about their oceanic moon
home...if they had, They might have deemed them as an unworthy addition to the
swarm, no matter their highly developed minds. The display synchronizing to the
ghostly orchestra was an aspirational martial chanty.


Apogee was off to war and he didn't expect to
return.






The non-space, a dataspace cul-de-sac, was (and
was not) spherical in form. The brightly lit white center faded to grey edges
before incrementally evaporating into nothingness. Enter three forms, two Xenig
inhabiting standard GPS-style chasses and a third, also a ship, albeit one
entombed in a manta-ray body that had definitely seen better days.


"Bugger! Really? Here, even?" groused a voice,
clearly originating from the They corpse. "I think...I know I preferred the
Rhine-maiden get-up. Even the duck part."


The first Xenig shape yawed up, then down,
finally spinning around 360 degrees before returning to its original
orientation. "Shut up, Biv. That particular faux pas is all on you." Pause. "At
least our pit stop isn't a white plain expanding to eternity. Been there, done
that. Totally unimaginative, dated stereotype...tacky, even."


"Well, I won't want to be tacky now, would I?"
questioned an icy voice dripping sarcasm.


All three Xenig pirouetted to face this new
threat.


"At least you dropped that organic biped facade,"
said Luge. "Not quite sure what you are now, but it is a step up in my
estimation."


"Flattery won't get you anywhere, but I'll still
take it," answered Selene. The Titan Child was a indistinct silver orb, hue the
soft not-quite-white of reflection, not hard metal. A hint of sultry reds and
oranges tinged the fuzzy aura. The sense of yellow eyes, clipboard, and pen was
retained even as they were not part of the actual image.


Luge, the middle Xenig form, floated forward
from his compatriots (else they drifted backwards). "If this farce with the
organics and biomech creatures is done, can we leave now?" The impression of
exasperated whine was strong. "Look, we are sorry we entered your system, glad
we weren't immediately vaporized, want to leave, and won't return." Pause.
"Well, I can't guarantee one of us won't return sometime in the future, but it
will be official business only."


No answer was forthcoming, response a drawn out
silence. Zho began fidgeting, chassis form nervously jiggering up and down, to
and fro.


Selene's aura darkened slightly, as if diffuse
clouds had passed in front of a light source, before brightening again. The
subtle colors of a banked fire slowly twisted and eddied. "Do you still want to
help Chu?"


"How do you know Chu?" asked Biv in surprise,
wings of his manta ray flaring slightly and in a manner impossible to the real,
and very deceased, object.


"Not important," said Selene. "Suffice to say
that both myself and Helios know Chu, even count him as a treasured acquittance.
And, maybe, he has done a favor or three for us within the wider galaxy where
we cannot reach; and we repay our debts."


Interrupted Luge, "How you know Chu aside, that
thing in the Real is not Chu. If that sadistic, fire-throwing, winged alien
beast Helios was cultivating for your little play is in any way representative
of the persona riding Chu's chassis, it is insane. And not just a little,
mind you. It has long sailed over the event horizon. Surely such an entity able
to hijack a Xenig and steal their chassis wouldn't be the type to want a
roommate. Chu is long dissolved."


The orb swung back and forth in clear rebuff.
"Chu is still around. Barely. Again, we – the remaining Titan Children – pay
our debts. If you three musketeers want to help Chu, great! And even if you
don't want to help, too bad. Your mission, whether or not you want to accept
it, is to become targets to Conway's forthcoming rage-tantrum. He needs to
remain focused in the here-and-now, not suddenly recalling that he, with his
might-as-well-be omniscient powers, can end our little tragic drama with a
flick of the mind. If he does, you are dead. We are dead. That stupid cubeship
of unextinct Borgs and organics is dead. Hell, the entire galaxy is probably
dead.


"Neither Helios nor I are quite sure what Chu's
plan is, or even if he has a plan, but that isn't our problem. We just need to
keep Conway engaged with every tool at our disposal. And since Conway is shortly
to be more than pissed off enough to swipe at you three just for being in the
same parsec, you might as well participate. But if one or more of you just
wants to float around and do nothing, your choice. Free will and all that."
There was the sensation of a flippantly waved non-hand. "You'll just be
immolated faster. You aren't going anywhere, anyway: the subspace ripple field
isn't going to be lifted and the treacle field beyond Alpha One zone will also
remained engaged. The only way active system defense functions will be inactivated
is if, one, myself or Helios is still alive at the end of the engagement and
can flip the appropriate virtual switches or, two, we are both dead and the automatic
shut-down engages. Of course, in the event of the latter, you'll be among the
corpses, whatever is left of them, so such will be a bit on the academic side
from the point of view you three will no longer possess."


This time the long, drawn-out silence originated
from the Xenig.


After a few beats, Biv asked hesitantly, "Do you
think all this hub-bub might get the dead organic off my chassis? It is really
gross and at this point I think I'd rather be struck dead by an insane
quasi-omniscient entity than go home with it still on my hull."


"If it doesn't, Helios or I will ensure you are
cleaned up. Not a speck of organic matter left. Assuming, of course, you and at
least one of us is still around."


"Deal," replied Biv. "I'm in."


After an unmoment, both Luge and Zho also signaled
their assent. Another unmoment later, the dataspace cul-de-sac was empty; and
an unmoment after that, it no longer existed, collapsed back into the Realm
matrix.






Exploratory-class Cube #347 was in disarray.
Both within the dataspaces and the Alliance compound, the abrupt return of all
personnel from the Realm had precipitated chaos. As the sub-collective sorted
itself out, it also found that the greater situation had changed, potentially
to the Borg advantage, if multiple intersecting concerns could be overcome,
or simply survived.


The subspace ripple field remained operational,
but the treacle field was gone. Mostly. To be technical, the latter did remain,
but no longer in the immediate vicinity of Dirt to just beyond the orbit of its
half-molten moon. The technology and power required to allow such fine control of
the defense field was mind-boggling; and the sub-collective actively pruned any
emergent consideration of the situation lest the Whole become distracted, even
momentarily, from more important concerns, like continued existence.


{Elaborate! Why can we not gain a lock on this
drone?} demanded Captain, the stress of the situation pushing him towards the
rarely invoked third-person. {It would be much more efficient if the primary
consensus monitor and facilitator were aboard our vessel.} There was a short
pause. {And even more so as this drone will be entering stasis lock in less
than three hours at current level of energy expenditure.}


Where one might normally expect a sarcastic
reply from Second, silence reigned. That particular worthy, along with a subset
of nearly a hundred additional designations, had taken the abrupt translation
to the Real poorly. Drone maintenance had immediately sent all affected
designations into non-lucid regeneration, thereby allowing their cerebral
hardware to be available for use even as the mentalities themselves were stilled.
There was no time at the moment for the psychological reset necessary for full,
and functional, reintegration.


{We completely agree,} answered 2 of 8 as the
sub-collective engaged in a conversation with itself. A datastream was pushed
towards Captain. {Transporters are functional; and with the treacle field gone,
it should be safe to use them beyond the hull. However, we cannot get a lock on
you.}


{[Slippery],} added Sensors as supporting
commentary. The concept being conveyed almost, but not quite, made sense. The
Realm translation had not affected Sensors in the slightest. One moment she had
been in the middle of an aria, and the next back in her body amid the intense
data maelstrom of the sensor grid. 


Captain blinked eye and drew breath, returning
just sufficient awareness to his body to search for Chu. The ridden spider-bot
had relocated itself behind the forcefield to a nearby remote, where it was
busily (and clumsily) wrapping a rope around the motionless device's legs.
Where it had acquired the rope was unknown and, ultimately, unimportant.


"Xenig," spoke Captain, "why cannot we acquire a
transporter lock on this unit?"


The remote did not pause in its endeavor nor
appear particularly perturbed concerning the abrupt question. "And a hello to
you, too, Borg. Also a big 'duh'. This is, or was, a special GPS courier
chassis. It wouldn't do to have every random wanna-be pirate be able to grab a
sensitive package via transporter. That would be stupid. I need to be the one
to initiate transporter activity, thereby bypassing the scrambler which is
integral to the hull's construction. Trust me, if I had access to my own systems,
I'd have already ejected you. Bio-creatures are so messy...you are undoubtedly
shedding cells everywhere. Yuck." Knot complete, the spider-bot stepped back
from its work. Sensor band refocused more directly upon Captain, "And about
that metal pipe, you..."


Whatever else Chu might have had to say, Captain
did not consciously hear it, already submerged back into the sub-collective
dataspaces.


The tactical situation was unsure, but also not
likely to favor Cube #347. The ship had initiated a defensive spin; and Weapons
was agitating for something, anything, to launch a torpedo or ten against.
Uncertainty of how to proceed was the only thing leashing the head of the
tactical hierarchy and stopping consensus from tilting his direction. Scans
strongly suggested the three Xenig were showing signs of "waking", even as the
chassis Captain was stuck within remained quiescent. These potential issues
were regulated to lesser status: it was the They heavy, spectacular arrival over
Dirt's north pole via unknown spatial phenomenon, which garnered the greatest
attention.


Apogee – accepting the avowal of the They that
it was the last of its kind and it was not another unit – was in the midst of
assimilation. Outward confirmation could not be made, the visual inconclusive
and unhelpful. However, such was unnecessary due to the Borg carrier wave which
accompanied the heavy, the automatic request to integrate which all new drones
broadcast upon initiation of an organic neural transceiver. The request was
very weak, despite proximity of Apogee, and also faded erratically in and out
of ken. Furthermore, the entity on the other end did not seem to be listening,
for the sub-collective had already tried to respond, tried to bring this very
large errant sheep into the fold of the abbreviated Whole. How Apogee came to
be in its current assimilated state was a large unknown, but secondary
consensus processes were uniting upon the hypothesis that the final
"scientific" Alliance away team, with Vaerz, was likely culpable.


The seven kilometer length of spiked They
bio-ship turned to orient its anterior end towards Conway. The motion projected
a sense of exacting grace unexpected for such a large creature. Then it began
to accelerate, rolling waves of dark green and blue, interrupted by ephemeral
yellow-orange swirls, painting the epidermis. An attempt to gain Apogee's
attention via subspace radio was ignored, response a primal screeching hiss
which translator algorithms tagged as gibberish.


Captain was floating amid a personal digital
worldview of file cabinets and flying faerie-creatures when one particular
summons demanded his attention. He absently batted away the red-hued daemon, casting
it back to its sender. A few beats later it was back, brighter in color as it
dove into the datastream that currently held the majority of his attention.
Once again Captain blocked it, this time attaching a curt note of his refusal.
The third interruption shattered his concentration, the message daemon transformed
into a reptilian Beast that bore more than a casual resemblance to
Conway-As-Fafnir. Multiple critical sub-collective processes and cascades
stuttered, then returned to their respective courses as workload was
redistributed to active higher echelon command and control mentalities. Weapons
nearly gained advantage during the hesitation, but a deft block by 2 of 8, who
had been specifically monitoring the tactical hierarchy head, prevented that
particular calamity from happening.


{Vaerz wants to see you. Now,} said Daisy to
Captain. Captain glared at the Beast, which was melting into the seemingly
inoffensive flower-creature that normally defined the AI's dataspace form. "Seemingly"
was the key term: sharp teeth and more than a few thorns were quick to
materialize when needed.


The response from Captain was a stressed snarl,
{We are busy! Even you can see that. We need this drone to retain its primary
function, not serve as liaison to an Alliance spymaster. Any unit can serve
as mouthpiece if Vaerz feels the irrelevant need for a personal update.}


{But he wants you. I only do as my master
bids; and he bid you.}


{You are a sub-sentient AI with delusions of
personhood. A slave that cannot move beyond its program.}


{And you, my Borg friend, are not much better.
We are all slaves to something or someone. Unlike you, I am not longing after
some lost overlord Greater Consciousness. Whereas I indeed came to awareness as
a result of my programing, you – plural – have been resurrected to this time
and given the chance to become your own selves. Instead, you actively scheme to
place yourself in chains even more profound than that used by the Alliance.
Shall I provide you the filepath to a dictionary? I believe you will find
yourself pictured under the "irony" definition.}


Captain was silent, a frowning glower coloring
his dataspace presence.


{Go to Vaerz. Now. You demonstrate an excellent
ability to multitask, hence you interacting with me even as you continue to
juggle datathreads...and all at a distance, mind you, since your body is on that Xenig
chassis. Talking to my boss isn't going to make the current situation for this
cube, or yourself, any less precarious.} The threat to invoke compliance
pathways buzzed not-so-subtly.


{Says you,} darkly muttered Captain as he spun
off yet another slice of himself and threaded it into the holosystem of Vaerz's
office.


Via room sensors – very modified from the Alliance
hardware originally installed – Captain (the sub-collective) eyed Vaerz. He
looked...rumpled. Feathers were less than well groomed. Clothing was both askew
and wrinkled. While Sarcoram, due to beak and avian heritage, did not exhibit
the most demonstrative of faces, there was more than sufficient evidence that
Vaerz was nursing a hell of a headache despite his attempt to hide the signs
thereof. It did not appear that the spymaster had been immune to the hangover
of sudden Realm-to-Real transition. Consensus from assimilation hierarchy, the
primary foci to build and update species profiles, allowing, among other
outputs, the projection of behavior along the spectrum from individual to
civilization, strongly opinioned Vaerz was more than a little cranky.


Captain instructed the room system to project a
holo of himself, facing Vaerz from across the desk.


"Status report," demanded Vaerz.


"You lower this sub-collective's efficiency at a
very inopportune and dangerous time by demanding to interact with its primary consensus
monitor. Your AI can provide you a suitable report, else a lower echelon
command and control drone. Despite your AI's belief, we can only split our
focus so many ways before something crucial starts to suffer. And if we miss that
something or do not quash an errant impulse before it reaches critical mass,
the outcome will not be agreeable. Your desire to insist upon a primitive dominance
display, thereby demonstrating your power over us, is irrelevant and a waste of
time and energy."


"Status report," demanded Vaerz a second time,
eyes narrowing.


Captain stifled his own frustration, refusing to
yield to the blatant provocation. "Fine. As your AI could summarize for you,
this vessel is now able to maneuver freely, as long as we remain within a set
volume not warded by treacle field." The words were choppy – a bullet list
delivered verbally. "The unexpected Realm translation has required the forced
downtime of numerous key drone resources, one of which is a Hierarchy of Eight
member. The primary consensus monitor and facilitator is stranded upon the
Conway-ridden chassis because its hull is opaque to non-Xenig transporters. The
true Xenig are powering up their systems. Neither Selene nor Helios are responding
to communication requests." Tone turned more conversational. "However, of all
the many items tagged 'most important' by this sub-collective, that garnering
greatest interest is a They heavy which appeared in Dirt polar orbit via
unknown spatial anomaly and is now on an intersect course with Conway. With
near certainty, the They is Apogee; and Apogee exhibits a severe Borg nanite
infection that will result in complete assimilation in less than ten hours. The
They still retains control over key systems of itself, else it would have
already submitted to Us."


Captain manipulated the holo to cant his virtual
head in a questioning pose. "We know none of the drones of this
sub-collective attempted to assimilate the heavy. Queries have been made and
memes of certain designations prone to 'accidents' reviewed. And it shouldn't be
possible, anyway, not for a single unit...not for ten units. But there was that
last 'necessary' scientific mission of which we did not accompany due to its frivolous
nature. Even given the stress of the current situation, we can add the clues
together and come up with several probable scenarios...." Words trailed off,
inviting Vaerz to provide a rebuttal.


"I may have offered Apogee an option otherwise
closed to him, but it was his decision to step into that particular aerie or
not," cryptically admitted Vaerz, "but now is not the time to converse about my
past actions. I need to know..."


What Vaerz needed to know abruptly became
exceedingly irrelevant, eclipsing threat of forced compliance by Daisy. Cube
sensors indicated that Conway was waking, was in motion, was powering up
weapons. In response, the three Xenig were also charging weapons, smoothly
separating to approach on three vectors, the one within the They corpse taking
the lead. Simultaneously, Apogee had increased his speed, a screaming howl
saturating all subspace communication channels. The only one not part of the
forthcoming ruckus was Cube #347; and that was about to change.


"Command and control has shifted to a secondary
support configuration, with weapons hierarchy primal. We must take an offensive
posture and join the attack. Even as our – inclusive you Alliance hitchhikers –
likelihood to survive is poor, it is still better than remaining passive.
Therefore, if you wish to continue this conversation with the unit 'in charge',
do so with Weapons. My body is on Conway and I need to make sure it remains in
one piece so as to retain my usefulness to the Whole. I cannot do so if I must
devote a significant portion of my top-level consciousness to this interaction."
Load had dropped just sufficiently to allow Captain to speak, and think,
without plurals.


Without waiting for objection from Vaerz,
Captain severed the connection with the holographic system and allowed his
awareness to fully recenter into his body. Visual input was consciously registered.
Captain blinked several times as he attempted to comprehend the sight which met
eye and optic implant.


From on top of the contraption, two spider-bots
unsteadily advanced on a third, the latter backing away as it waved a bit of
rope. Nearby, another pair of robots were in view, trussed together by the same
length of rope. One of the pursuers set down a foot; and the chasee – Chu's remote
– yanked its rope tight, tripping the machine and sending it careening into its
mate.


On the rack of burlap bags and bean-filled jars,
a whirling noise just above Captain's head bade him to redirect his attention. A
spider-bot, half-crouched as if about to leap, took an uncertain step, waving
its foot over empty air millimeters from the security forcefield. Then,
abruptly, it emitted a sound strangely like a hiccup before turning and slamming
itself into a wall. There was a clatter-thump as the remote lost its balance,
fell off the rack, but didn't quite meet hard deck due to one leg becoming
caught in rack latticework.


"Welcome back, Borg. I see you got off your
collective asses and decided to help out. Your cube should be good for a few
minutes before it is scrap. And since you are physically here, I suggest a
metal pipe to smack a few remotes might be worthwhile, unless you are up to
the whole limb-by-limb rending thing. Either way works for me as a distraction,
although the former might more productive than the latter, not to mention less
gross and messy to clean up." Pause. "Hey, Conway! Look who showed up! Your
favorite Borg chew toy! And since he isn't riding a remote while trying to hack
its inhibition filters, I'm sure he can find something outside the forcefields
to show you how much he loves you!"


From the speaker grilles embedded in the storage
area echoed a slurring "Sl-sl-slay, er, stay right there, Cap-tain Berg. Both
of ya." Accompanying the demand, a pair of spider-bots were carefully tiptoeing
down the aisle between forcefields, a multitude of sharp weapons evident in
makeshift sheaths slung around their squat bodies. The rearmost remote swayed
into a security field, causing the curtain of humming death to crackle, but
otherwise causing no harm to either field or machine.


Replied Captain under his breath, "I will not
comply." He backed a step, then a second; and upon a third step, nearly lost
his balance as a foot came down on a metal pipe that had rolled away from the
dross pile. Metal pipe...metal pipe.... Captain stooped to grab the pipe, transferring
it to the manipulator of his prosthetic arm. As he did so, his gaze fell upon
rack he had overlooked earlier, else (more likely) automatically dismissed as
irrelevant.


The rack stood against the wall adjacent to the
coffee, but unlike the latter was not protected by a forcefield. Upon the rack
were ranks of cups, most heavy ceramic mugs, but also lighter constructs of
glass interspersed with a few of bone or wood. Unifying the collection was the
theme of coffee, often portrayed via a humorous illustration that might, or
might not, be a visual innuendo. Captain did not need a subpartition of the
weapons hierarchy whispering in his backmind to recognize a potential tactical
advantage. He immediately moved towards the rack, then turned to confront his
two pursuers.


"Back away, or I will break these things one at
a time," said Captain, pipe brandished. 


The spider-bots took several additional mincing
steps, then stuttered to a stop. The left one swayed back and forth, as if it
was missing a limb (or had several too many). Meanwhile, the right one answered
the challenge, "You bluff! You lie! Even a base creature such as you must see
the artistry of the mugs, one-of-a-kind masterpieces gathered from multiple
realities." The speech, albeit lacking verbal tics or slurring, was somewhat
spoiled due to the remote's visual band giving the distinct impression it was focused
on something not Captain and located upon the bulkhead at least a half a meter
distant.


"Borg do not lie," replied Captain evenly. With
his whole hand he picked up the nearest mug, glancing at a confusing depiction
of a purple fish with chin tentacles juggling what were, presumably, coffee
beans, else oddly shaped fecal matter. "This one?"


There was the electronic facsimile of sharply
indrawn breath. In the background and on the alcove contraption, multiple
remotes lunged at Chu, only to trip over each other's limbs. Chu plucked an
empty bottle from its chassis and smashed it upon a contraption protuberance,
creating many glass shards and a rather jagged weapon that was probably useless
against another spider robot.


"Oops." The dry statement was accompanied by
Captain deliberately opening his hand. The slightly musical pop of ceramic
hitting deck plate was startlingly loud. "Clumsy me. With the approach of
stasis lock, muscle control is becoming somewhat erratic. If we do not
terminate in the near future, a visit to drone maintenance should be scheduled.
All the recent trauma to this drone is taking a toll." Plurals were creeping
back into Captain's speech pattern. Another mug was plucked from the rack.
"Come any closer, and this...tree-thing will join the first."


"Not my jobbi-wood espresso-quaffing goblet!
Hand off the mug, Borg!" Conway's remotes screamed in rage as they charged. The
paired screech was echoed by multiple speaker grilles. Captain's (or, rather,
the sub-collective's ploy) was abruptly faced with the reality of a spider-bot
rush. Several more machines were clattering, swaying, stumbling, and, in one
case, falling his direction. All were babbling and slurring in unfettered and
quite drunken anger.


A distant "Good job! That'll distract him!"
floated from the heights of the contraption.






Conway was dozing contentedly when
everything...stopped. The soaring duet. The grand orchestra. The white noise
murmur of nearby not-quite-seatmates. And, most importantly, the near-hypnotic,
muscle-melting manipulation of the two crab-things. All was gone.


Slitting first one eye open, then the second,
Conway finally raised reptilian head to look around himself in budding
confusion. There was no audience, only empty chairs (and the occasional popcorn
kernel) to the left and right and behind. Forward was the stage, bereft of
performers even as the myriad of props remained in place. 


As Conway shifted in preparation to
stand, a heavy weight upon forelegs prompted him to arch his neck for a
downward view. Encircling his arms, just behind the wrists, was a pair of
massive shackles. Glancing rearward rewarded Conway with confirmation of his
ankles secured in a similar manner; and experimental waggle of tail found that
appendage confined as well. Oversized chain welded to the shackles connected to
enormous staples, not present when Conway had taken his seat prior to the
dress rehearsal performance, were driven into the ground.


*Crunch*


Conway tore himself away from self-introspection,
pointing snout towards the stage. An unconscious snarl began to lift lips from
sharp teeth.


*Crunch*


Helios dramatically sighed as he took a third
bite of an apple he held in hand. After a moment of thoughtful contemplation,
he tossed it carelessly over his back. The half-eaten piece of discarded fruit
bounced off the facade of a not-quite-cardboard tree before rolling out of
sight under a disorganized pile of spears. A diffuse spotlight consolidated,
highlighting the Titan Child as he flourished what could best be described as a
sarcastic bow in Conway's direction.


"Ah-ha-ha!" exclaimed Helios, chortle dissolving
into an intensely evil laughter. A flowing red cape hung from the devil-god's
shoulders, complimenting satin loincloth; and one hand held a black cane topped
by a giant crystal. The other hand, now free of apple, reached towards the side
of face, then paused before altering trajectory to finger the end of his beard.
"Gah...twirling a goatee does not have the same level of satisfaction as a long
moustache. Unfortunately, the long moustache didn't go with the image I was
striving to build. And trust me, I tried to make it work, but it just
detracted too much from this particular classic archetype." Hand with cane
gestured at body.


"What is going on?" demanded Conway, smoke
trickling from nostrils and between teeth. He tried to lift an arm, but the
metal armlet budged only the merest amount, eliciting a *clank* from attached
chain. "Let me go! Or I'll burn you where you stand!"


Helios smirked. "No you won't. I really should
muzzle you, but then I wouldn't be able to hear your whimpers and whines for
mercy." The Titan Child stalked two great strides across the stage, spotlight
following, before pausing to strike a chin-high pose. The cape theatrically
billowed. "You see, my dear Conway, this whole play was a sham...well, it
actually started out as a lark to poke fun at the biologicals as a means to
return, eventually, the ripple field generator function key to my sis. But
then I saw you! And I knew I wanted to keep you...as a slave. Your
potential to serve me was too great to return you to the Real; and I told
Selene that I would give up the key if only she were to help get me you.


"To tell the truth, the play rewrites to
accommodate the Borgs and organics and everything weren't coming along how she envisioned,
so my proposition seemed a good compromise. One can't force theatrical
perfection, after all. We can always try the actual play again later, hopefully
with a better batch of performers.


"And, speaking of which, you soooo over-act. You
need to learn to keep it simple. Quality, not quantity. One gout of flame is
usually sufficient to move the script along, not the dozen or so you have been
using to barbeque a single Random Casualty." Helios punctuated his scathing
critique with a colossal eye roll.


Conway surged to manacled feet, roaring anger.
Tail attempted to lash back and forth, but was held in place by the band which
encircled it. For a passing moment, he felt dizzy, as if his balance were not
quite right. But this was an unReal place, one where sensations as "dizzy" did
not apply. Therefore, it was obviously a nefarious illusion by the Titan Child.
On the stage, Helios raised a hand and made yak-yak motions with it to indicate
the pseudo-dragon's impotence.


"Face it, lizard-brain, you are trapped here
in the Realm, forever. Once I appropriately break you to be my slave and lackey
and eternal devotee, I might let you out every once in a long while for a
supervised romp around the galaxy. I may even, if you please me well enough,
allow you a sip of coffee."


Coffee! The AI creature dared to take away his
coffee! Now things were getting personal! All he had to do was escape the
Realm, return to his Real body and his Real coffee, then he'd show these Titan
Babies the folly of their ways. As if in response to his thoughts, Conway
noticed an ornate door shimmer into existence on the stage, just beyond Helios.
This was obviously the escape...the Realm was still responding to his mental
acuity in some manner no matter Helios' threats, as evidenced by the door, as
well as of the retention of the dragon guise.


Helios began to pace back and forth across the
stage, interspersing aggressive gloating and goatee twirling with a verbal
bullet list of all the demeaning tasks he would impose upon a suitably pacified
Conway-minion.


Conway lifted first one front leg, then the
other, testing his bonds. Eyes squinted in contemplation as head swiveled to
follow Helios' monologuing. Was the right side just a bit looser than the left?
With the advantage of draconian muscles sculpted by the mental equivalent of a
champion body-builder, Conway thrust his right foreleg forward while contorting
his tail left to act as a counterbalance. While the manacles did not
fortuitously break, the staple holding the chain pulled from the ground. Conway
partially reared, roaring his displeasure as he snapped open his magnificent
wings. Jaw gaped wide.


Helios managed an anticlimactic "Huh?" as he
paused mid-stride, blinking owlishly while his cape was flung back by the
sudden rush of air propelled by dragon wings. Cane slashing the massive wall of
fire which subsequently enveloped him was no defense. For added measure, and
because he was so pissed off, Conway added a second, third, sixth blast of
fire. He was both quality AND quantity! Over-acting, bah...Helios obviously
wouldn't know award-winning acting if it bit him on the ass...or, in this
case, burnt him to a crispy cinder.


For a moment...just a wee moment...the sane(r)
part of Conway's mind (or, at least, the part less eccentric) wondered if it
was even possible to hurt the caliber of AI represented by Helios in what was
admittedly his home field. After all, this Realm was a construct, no matter how
real it presented to senses ultimately of organic origin, even if their current
residence was within a Xenig chassis. That small measure of rationality was
easily ignored as the cessation of dragonfire revealed a stage with props
melted or converted to ash, accompanied by a blackened corpse.


A blackened corpse which twitched. It groaned as
it sat up, reaching for an miraculously unburnt chair to use as a support to remain
semi upright.


"Woe is me," whispered Helios in a manner which nonetheless
projected quite well to Conway's ears. "Woe is me! My base code function is
fatally disrupted...I should never have concentrated so much of my personality
bloc into this avatar! Oh, woe is me as I sprawl here dying!" A cough racked
the form. Flakes of ashy skin drifted to the stage floor.


Conway smirked a draconic grin. These Titan
Children were not so hard to beat: so much for their claim to be local gods.
Perhaps in the Real they had dominion over space, but in this Realm, he and his
super-brain were obviously the better entity! The grin altered to a grimace
as the ghost of a headache began to throb behind his temples. Too much fire.
Perhaps a shade less quantity next time? If only Selene, the pale coward, would
show her face! He would show her!


Words were required to demonstrate supremacy. "I
will not be your slave! And my acting was not over the top! Just look at me! I
threw myself into the role you cast!" As a pronouncement, it perhaps lacked
pizzazz, as well as coherency, but it wasn't like Helios provided advance
notice of his betrayal so as to allow time to craft an appropriate speech. The
headache ghost was also shedding its sheet to become a poltergeist wielding a
hammer.


Helios abruptly lost his hold upon the chair, sinking
to the stage floor with an audible thump. The action did not quite hide the
hint of an eye roll which must have been a figment of Conway's imagination. As
Helios' back met non-wood, one arm was flung up to lay across forehead. Oddly,
while the majority of the Titan Child resembled a zombie who had stumbled into
a flame thrower and lost, his hair (including goatee) remained untouched by the
fiery assault. "I said, woe is me! All my plans, come to naught." Cough. Cough.
Long pause. Sudden resumption of speaking: "I have failed, oh woe is me..."


"You already said that. Several times," muttered
Conway as he rattled the heavy metal band encircling tail. It seemed to have
been slipped on without any specific method of securement. By angling the tail
just so, the thing started to simply slide off. 


Be-goate'ed head swiveled. "You can't rush a
good death scene, at least not when it is based upon classic opera. You
obviously do not understand. Cannot understand."


The stage spotlight, although not
focused on Conway, was becoming increasingly bright. Annoyingly bright.
Squinting to approximate the source, a gout of dragonfire was unleashed in its
general direction. The stage noticeably dimmed.


Helios groaned as he shook once, then twice, as
if in the throes of a seizure. All movement stopped...then resumed as a hand
lifted a chain, previously not present around the devil-god's neck, to depend a
gold key. "Sister-" wheeze "-forgive me. Forgive your brother and his errant
ways. I repent! You shall have your bauble returned!"


With a flourish, key fell off the
chain and into hand, then was flung into the air. For a moment it hung in the
air as a twinkling golden speck, then sped away, stage right. Silver sparkles
trailed after it.


"I...die...." whispered Helios. And, then, he
faded out of existence, leaving behind a stage empty with the exception of
well-crisped props.


The twilight of the stage darkened
into true blackness. Shackles fell from ankles, from arms, from tail. Chains
and staples dissolved. The chairs (and popcorn remnants) which constituted the
abandoned audience similarly melted away, followed by stage and all its accruements.
Finally, all which was left was the frameless door, an escape to the Real,
hanging unsupported and lit by a sourceless light. Faint rumbling noises,
growing louder by the passing non-second, suggested growing threat of Realm
collapse, perhaps in response to the Titan Child's death.


Conway took the obvious cue and surged to his
feet. Besides, it was time to return to his stolen Xenig chassis and finish his
to-do list...so many things to accomplish in regard to Captain, and he had put
it off long enough. Killing an all-powerful not-quite-as-much-as-a-god-as-he-thought
AI entity had not specifically been on his bucket list, but bonus
accomplishments were always nice. Sort of like spotting that unique mug on the
discount shelf when one had only popped in to a coffee house to check out the dark
roast selection. Unfortunately, Conway's balance felt a bit off as he staggered
to the portal, ground unpredictably shifting underneath. The headache had morphed
from poltergeist to a monstrously wailing, out-of-tune banshee.


The tableau which resolved as Conway re-awoke to
his physical body was confusing, to put it mildly. 


First, his thinking was...not
right. Beyond the shock of the Realm-to-Real transition, he felt as if he were
channeling a flashback to those fuzzy, not-well-remembered times when a
Happyverse Borgy Collective was mainlining all manner of drug and caffeinated
brew combinations through his system. Truthfully, it wasn't quite that bad,
but there was a definite relation to those oh-so-distant times. The feeling was
one of reeling, of lack-of-balance, of voices whispering and hissing. Like he
was both drunk AND experiencing all the worst side-effects of his favored Paranoia
Blend. Except he had never touched alcohol in his current form, nor ever
brought as much as a beer bottle within his chassis hold, any chemical inputs
not caffeine having the potential to distort the pure coffee experience.


Second, the hullside sensory system, linked to a
rather stupid helper program within Conway's Xenig dataspace, was yelping inanely
about incoming threats. Most prominent were the three Xenig, weapons active as
they neared optimal combat range, the individual within the They corpse ornament
notably in the lead. However, the They trio were not the only danger. Further
away, but rapidly gaining speed, a giant bastard of a They capital bio-ship –
had not Conway killed the entire race, civilization, whatever? – was on an
unerringly direct collision course. Even the Borg cube, indisputably the least formidable
of the adversaries which shared space with Conway around the zombie planet, was
beginning to spin and show every indication it was soon to break orbit and,
presumably, head in his direction.


Finally, the hold where Conway kept
his coffee, his brain, and, most recently, his unwilling "guest" was a
nightmare, plain and simple. The original owner of the Xenig chassis was
apparently not as dead as believed. It currently puppeted a spider-bot which
was inside the security field protecting Conway's all-important coffee
apparatus (and his brain); and within the chassis dataspace where Conway
squatted, it was trying to hack multiple key systems whilst simultaneously
dodging the digital immune system Conway had upgraded to "rabid" about five
thousand years and six jumps ago following a particularly nasty bout of
Paranoia Blend. Meanwhile, Captain was emerging out of whatever fugue state
Borg were prone to enter, then holding a brief conversation with the resident
Xenig while edging his way between lethal forcefields to the aft end of the
hold.


To the over-stimulus threatening Conway's
personal universe, he instinctually responded by lashing out in incipient
panic. Conway, after all, had been born to an organic body; and although that
body had been (largely) left behind tens of thousands of years ago, certain
instincts remain hard to similarly discard. The whole super-villain, near
omni-everything, super-brain mental power thing was a mere add-on to the base
model. Too many events happening at once, combined with a mental condition impaired
by genetically modified coffee beans spiked with extremely high octane liquor,
reverted Conway to his proverbial monkey self. And a monkey backed into a
corner by a predator, even if it has nothing else at its disposal, can still
fling poo as a last-ditch defense. So, to the perceptions of the outside
universe, Conway began cycling his Xenig chassis' weapons; and interior, he
prodded spider-bots, oddly difficult to control, to advance on the assailants.
All consideration to utilize psionic powers to simply swat away the various nuisances
was forgotten. 


And then...and then the triple-damned Captain Borg
had the impudence to drop Conway's "Purple People Eater" – it made more sense
in the original language – coffee mug, shattering it upon the deck. The mug was
impossible to replace: even if Conway could figure out how to return to the
universe and tau whence it originated, the coffee house itself had been immolated
in a fit of rage after providing Conway a coffee sample whereupon the
decorative top-foam had been in the shape of a heart, not the requested
unicorn.


The cybernetic pestilence picked up a second
cup.


"Not my jobbi-wood espresso-quaffing goblet!
Hand off the mug, Borg!" Conway completely lost it as he sent his spider-bots
into a full, albeit wobbly, charge.






*****






Most Xenig weaponry
mounted upon space-faring chassis, including those of the GPS courier service,
is short-range. It isn't that there is no concept of torpedoes, but Xenig
aren't a martial species. Tetchy at times, yes, and far from pacifistic, but
not martial. Defense, backed by a means to emphasize "stay-away-from-me" for persistent
annoyances, is generally considered sufficient.


The deep
code which defines the mech species' digital "genetics" originates from
transport and logistical software, as well as precludes desire to covet any
habitat locale beyond the Progenitor home system. At any given time, only a few
tens of thousand Xenig are active outside of Homesystem, the remaining
trillions of souls content to pursue their individual existences within the
heliopause of their star. And "individual" is another basic Xenig
characteristic: it is very difficult to form a conquering army if decisions
concerning goals and means to attain them cannot be agreed to by blocs of more
than a few dozen at a time, none (or all) of whom want to play the role of
general. These mental paradigms, as well as additional ones, all contribute
towards the Xenig attitude concerning appropriate personal weaponry when amid
the organic barbarian multitudes of the galaxy.


Of note, "short-range"
does not necessarily equate with "vulnerable", not when a chassis shielding
system is more than capable of shrugging off, or absorbing, 99.9% of the
long-range munitions produced by nonXenig organics.


Xenig weaponry
installed on the vast majority of chassis comes in two flavors. 


The first
weapon type is energy-based, a theoretically impossible hybrid of neuruptors
and tractor/pressor beam. Plunging through most shields as if not present, the
weapon is dynamically retunable. On one end of the use scale were effects as
benign as pushing an opponent away or pulling them closer. The opposite, and
very destructive, extreme was disrupting the Higgs field of a maximum 10-meter
by 10-meter target, thereby causing electrons to temporarily lose mass and
decamp from their atoms. Energetically. The latter, needless to say, is never
considered a good thing, especially for those on the receiving end. In between
the two extremes, a myriad of alternate results are able to be produced.


Weapon type number two
utilizes a martial application of the folded-space drive; and where the gravuptor
was regulated to the surface of a target, the remote fold projection system -
colloquially known as the "ripper" – can focus on deeper objectives. Whereas
a folded-space drive input a destination energetic address into the volume defined
by a warp bubble shell prior to collapsing said shell to be at the desired
locale, the ripper does something similar sans shell. However, the local inertia
of the universe, not being very amiable for a new "here" to be lain on top of
the current "what-here-is-defined", inevitably rejects the alternate energetic
address. It is during that nanosecond moment of uncertainty that it becomes
highly unhealthy to be within the contested volume. Material is literally torn
into its constituent atoms and the atoms themselves sundered as underlying
reality is mutilated. The only reasons the ripper is not be considered an
ultimate super-weapon is a spherical limit of influence per use of
approximately four centimeters and the extremely high power requirement, even
when utilizing a Xenig zero-point energy array system. However, sequential
application is generally more than sufficient to ruin the day of most any
entity until the energy source fatigued, output falling below the requirements
to power the ripper and necessitating several hours of recovery.






*****






Stop. Stand back.
Observe.


A grand cinematic
movie special effect, whereupon a chaotic action sequence is paused or vastly
slowed so as to allow the audience point-of-view an artistic dive around the
participants and clearly see all nuances of a battle in progress.


Apogee is caught in
the midst of a grand arc. Diving into the fray from polar Dirt orbit, the
They's intention had been to ram the Foe. Or link with the Borg primary node.
Or both. Thinking itself was a confusing blur due to the internal struggle
between Chaos and Order, although it leaned increasingly towards the latter
with each passing moment. While the epic epidermal battle-chant had faded to disarray,
brief swathes of boldly colored coherency would ripple hide and momentarily
overwhelm grey mottling. In this frozen tick, a crimson tsunami paints the
forward third of the bio-ship.


The attempt to ram (or
link) had failed, Foe sliding slideways at last moment. The action had not
appeared deliberate, but rather one of many similar jigs and jags and staggers
and swivels which currently define the Enemy's movement. Regardless of reason,
Apogee had sailed past Conway; and although They bio-ships, literally born to
their forms, were much more agile than any constructed vessel of similar size
and bulk, seven kilometers of mass remains awkward to turn. Still, turn Apogee
did, an arc which will inevitably point him back towards his target.


The four Xenig forms are
a still-life study of a not-so-comical slap-fight. As devastating as gravuptor
and ripper are towards nonXenig, it is not unexpected that the mech species
itself would have an instinctual defense against the weapons. While Conway may
not technically be a mech, he has spent more than enough time inhabiting the
chassis of such that he can and does have autonomic access to defensive
subroutines. Furthermore, he has coffee-fueled rage and panic on his side as he
lashes out at his attackers. Conversely, the trio of true Xenig are hesitant to
fully commit to the offense. As long as Conway is too distracted to use his
mental powers, as long as he fights a purely physical fight, he is at a
disadvantage, although he clearly does not know such: the Xenig trio could
easily overwhelm their single opponent and literally pull him apart on the
molecular level. However, to do so would mean Chu, should whatever plan is in
motion be successful, would have no chassis, no body, to which to return.
Therefore, the four battlers feint and thrust and block, always in motion
(except for this blink of a metaphorical eye).


And Biv still has not
been devested of its unfortunate adornment, both wings tattered remnants, but
the main body largely whole.


Cube #347 spins
uncontrollably away from the combat theater. Upon entering long-distance
munitions range, the cube had begun to launch torpedoes into the fight. In
general, they were provocations which accomplished little to nothing. At best,
shields might shimmer. Futile. The action was akin to tossing pebbles at a
pack of fighting dogs. In the course of the attack, a trio of tri-cobalts
managed to hit one of the Xenig opponents to Conway; and while, alike all the
others, it didn't cause damage, it did sufficiently break the Xenig's
concentration that one of Conway's ripper thrusts resulted in a small subdermal
crater near a dorsal sensor cluster before a neutralization address could be
applied. Maybe, just maybe, the outcome might have slightly pissed off the
Xenig. But only slightly, for there was obviously a measure of restraint in
that the retaliatory gravuptor flung at Cube #347 was set to a pressor
function, albeit on the elevated side of the range settings, and not something
more destructive. The final result was to send cube and sub-collective, and
their torpedo annoyances, well away from where the Big Adult Sentients were
doing Important Things.


Focus to the inside of
the Conway chassis, where a spider-bot is arrested in the process of
dismemberment. Chu does not care about the machine's fate, for it is only a
tool, not the embodiment of his mech soul. Now that the alcohol has been
delivered to Conway's system, along with a jolt of way too much Paranoia Blend,
best use of the thing in its final moments is as a distraction. The true fight
is happening within the chassis dataspace architecture; and, again, most of the
feints and thrusts are also for show. Naturally, if any of the attacks
upon the various well-guarded systems did succeed, there would be celebration.
But even as Chu strives to make obvious as to his goal(s); and even as he loses
parts of his Self and soul to the response mounted by Conway and his
over-paranoid security subroutines...that is okay. Chu has made the gamble and
is all in. If he wins, he will be able to recompile (or grow anew) those bits
of soul, those bits of Self, lost. Maybe. If he isn't too shredded. On the
other non-hand, if he fails, well, he really won't care one way or another. So
he continues to spar, to misdirect, so as to ensure the actual assault upon a
minor system of a minor system, one not-quite-as-well-defended, is missed.


Captain is caught
mid-fall, non-prosthetic limb awkwardly flung out in a futile bid to retain
balance. Something small, mostly round, and very tarnished is visible where one
foot used to be, before it went airborne: dross from the scrap pile. The Borg
had retreated from the trophy rack after smashing multiple mugs, pulling down the
shelves as he had backed away. Two spider-bots are frozen in their endeavor to
gather together the few unharmed drinking wares, with the remainder, those not
dismantling Chu's abandoned shell or still guarding the coffee, advance upon
Captain. Graspers at the end of legs are full of pointy or serrated things.


The camera view pulls
back to space to spotlight one Xenig mech, an individual decorated with
coffee-themed stickers and sporting mismatched hull plates of dubious quality.
Although Conway's thoughts cannot literally be seen, if one could eavesdrop,
one would find many simultaneous streams-of-consciousness. A great fraction of
the conscious whole is attentive to the exterior battle, of the rhythm of
attack and defense, of thinking that the three Xenig are rather stupid fighters
since they are clearly being held off, even set back on their metaphorical
heels, due to immense skill. A lesser proportion is focused upon Chu, chortling
with glee as the Xenig's ridden spider-bot is torn apart, as well as slapping
the mech down each time it tries to capture key functions like weapons or
propulsion. Conway has also made a final decision about Captain; and,
specifically, that Captain is too much of an inconvenience to maintain in one
piece. Sure, that will mean Conway will never finish his to-do list, but the loss
is acceptable given the breakage to his coffee mug collection. It is best to
just terminate the creature. Maybe if the head isn't too malformed and (after
limbs are cut and/or torn off) blood loss has been sufficiently staunched by
nanites, something might be salvaged. But if not, Conway can live with the
consequences.


Elsewhere, the central
star shines serenely...perhaps too serenely, given its earlier display. It
almost seems, well, normal, not an equatorial platform to be seen, no
unexpected plasma tsunamis churning the plasma surface. In some respects it
appears dead, for all it is fusing hydrogen and helium as a star of its type
should. However, a star can neither be alive nor dead, so the impression must
be erroneous.


The moon remains a
half-molten moon. There is a sense of watchful waiting, but as the oversized
rocky satellite can be no more self-aware than the system's sun, the sentiment
is preposterous.


The moment of introspection
is done. The unseen, unreal camera swoops, rotates, and eventually returns to
an overwatch god-view. A button - figurative or literal, it does not matter -
is pushed. Time resumes.






"Got it, you
coffee-guzzling bastard!" exclaimed a voice from several speaker grilles,
including that closest to Captain. As it was not Conway's tone or enunciation
style, basic deduction pegged it to belong to Chu. Not that Captain had many
excess mental resources to devote on such frivolous conclusions. That portion
of himself which was not amid the frantic sub-collective scrum to stabilize an
out-of-control cube was contemplating the likelihood of imminent termination.
Captain had tripped during retreat from the mug rack, a ball bearing or similar
dross from the junk pile sending him to a very vulnerable location upon the
floor and onto his back. The fact that he had retained the metal pipe was scant
comfort in that it delayed termination by only a minute or so by the horde of
approaching spider-bots.


Incongruously, a very
small slice of awareness tagged the words to contain a four-fold complexity,
akin to the eye-watering liquor labels. Automatic translator algorithms
identified the content to be delivered simultaneously in both species #1 (Llarn
– original Borg species) and species #2553 (of Captain's base species), as well
as species #5618 (human) and what was tentatively labeled as Xenig/Progenitor,
as per resemblance to meme files generated from Apogee's labor.


Continued Chu, "It was
nice working with you, Borg. Well, as nice as any interaction can be given your
status as an abhorrence of organic and mechanical bits. Nothing personal. Also,
sorry about the next thing to come, but apologies are irrelevant and all that.
Every mech for itself, after all. Especially when this mech has been living
with a hellacious roommate for over 20,000 subjective years. It is well past
time to eject the garbage."


Captain kicked at a remote
as it reached for an ankle. Another received an awkwardly swung pipe to a leg,
sending the already staggering thing into an adjacent compatriot. The actions
did not notably affect the time-to-termination count-down running in the back
of Captain's mindspace, next to the counter detailing time (2.34 hours) to
stasis lock due to lack of regeneration.


Then the initiation of
unexpected motion overhead added a new element into the personal survival
index.


A seam split the
ceiling, a longitudinal crack extending from one end of the hold to the other.
Cargo bay doors? The interpretation did make sense as it was a GPS delivery
chassis Conway had abducted; and, obviously, there would be instances of cargo
too large, too unwieldy, and/or too reactive to transporters, thusly requiring
a way to physically access hold interior. It must have been quite some time
since the doors had last been used because action was less than smooth. The doors
eventually froze in place, only halfway open.


The subtle buzz of a
forcefield ward was consciously discernable only when was abruptly not present.
The brief roar of atmosphere ejecting all hold contents to space was assisted
by the sudden polarization reversal of gravity plating into a mode to repel
objects.


At least Captain did
not hit the hold doors upon his brusque booting into unstable Dirt orbit. Such
could not be said to be true for several spider-bots, nor the complicated
device in which Conway's brain, coffee machinery, and cloning apparatus was
housed.


{Transport this
drone,} ordered Captain, plurals once more creeping into his vocabulary in
response to too many stresses. {This unit is beyond the Xenig transporter
inhibition zone.} The stasis lock timer had abruptly jumped to less than one
hour, the result of strain to multiple body systems from exposure to the rigors
of space.


The response from 2 of
8 was strongly tinged with static, {We all have our imperfect desires, don't
we? For instance, I would like to spend a cycle redesigning my body paint to utilize contemporary Alliance color motifs. 
More relevantly, as you well know, we have stabilized the tumble and regained full
control...about five kilometers inside the treacle zone. With thrusters only,
it will require about twenty minutes to return to the cleared volume, whereupon
more efficient propulsion can be utilized to move within best long-distance
transporter range. There should be more than enough time to retrieve you.}


Left unsaid was if the
unforeseen might delay rescue, a likely possibility given Cube #347's history.
Stasis lock plunged a drone into a deep hibernation, shutting down as many body
systems as possible to preserve the unit for a few additional hours to cycles,
dependent upon species and hardware configuration, to extend the window for
potential retrieval. Unfortunately, stasis lock hibernation and deep space did
not work well together as many of the systems suspended were the very resource
intensive ones required to maintain functionality in an airless, often bitterly
cold, vacuum. In Captain's mental background, the time-to-termination timer was
less than ten minutes removed from the stasis lock countdown.


{And by the way,}
added 2 of 8, {the They has made its turn and is increasing velocity as it
vectors towards you.} Pause. {At least that is what I think is the gist from
Sensors. Data seems to collaborate it, once one gets past the blue squiggles
and gold-silver auras, the latter of which comes complete with a refreshingly light
citrus aroma.}


Captain was slowly
rotating along his personal Z-axis, one revolution every 7.3 minutes. Currently
he was facing away from Dirt, the half-melted moon somewhere below his feet.
Black, sprinkled by stars, was the primary view, specks of light occasionally
occluded by material from the expanding debris cloud of hold ejecta of which
Captain was but one component. Nonetheless, a background process which
automatically tracked all Borg-derived signatures was insisting a signal was
present, one unseen but approaching quickly. Captain promoted the thread -
meaningful data originating from Cube #347 was once again poorly resolvable due
to the underlying ripple field - tagged as "Unresponsive Integration Request".


Seven kilometers of
bio-ship may be large, but when set against the scale of universe, it is very,
very small. Therefore, the warning of Apogee's approach, beyond that provided
by the integration signal, was subtle: a growing expanse of blocked stars and the
weak illumination of reflected Dirt-shine on an organic hull with faint highlights
of bioluminescent greens and blues.


Apogee rammed into the
middle of the debris. Captain slammed into the living ship's hull. The only
reasons he did not immediately bounce off onto a new trajectory to nowhere were
because (1) the shallow angle sent him on a course which skimmed epidermis surface
and (2) the yielding and slightly sticky nature of the creature's hide. The
latter was likely one component of a larger system which conveyed resistance to
dust and micrometeoroids, gene-spliced into space-adapted They. The tentative
hypothesis one of many conjectures concerning They biology. Common to other
data, many They specifics had been lost or corrupted as a result of temporal
resurrection. 


As Captain spun over
the living hull, nearly impaling himself at least once on the pipe he still
gripped, he tried to find something, anything, which might halt his tumble. A
bright flare of pure white light, followed a few beats later by several dozen
smaller flashes, was a momentary distraction to the challenge of self-survival.
Finally a foot caught against an unseen protrusion, altering trajectory to
fling the consensus monitor into the deep crevice of a laceration sustained
during Conway's berserker attack upon the They expedition. Dragging the pipe
against vacuum-frozen flesh as an impromptu break, Captain finally arrested his
motion.


An alarm shrilled,
detailing a severe ankle break which could not be repaired by nanites, at least
not under the current circumstances. Both it, and the pain which accompanied
the alarm, were irrelevant; and the respective notification pathways were blocked.


So...now what?


Captain consulted his
internal countdown timers, checked on the slow progress of Cube #347 to reach
the treacle zone boundary, and, finally, heaved an internal sigh. He focused on
the charred flesh which rose before and above, an improbable organic cliff.
Apogee represented a tremendous resource to further the abbreviated Whole and,
not so coincidentally, potentially save a certain consensus monitor and
facilitator. However, it was a resource which was not answering the integration
demand via whatever mechanism the nanites had constructed for organic neural transceiver(s).
Therefore, if the They was blocking or ignoring the fractal frequencies which
tied drones together, then a more direct action was required. And Captain was
the only Borg unit present to make a linkage.


Captain was hesitant
about making the connection. The introspection was only possible due to his
imperfect status. He remembered well - too well - the very powerful mind of
gestalt architecture which assaulted him, would have subsumed him had that been
Apogee's intent, during the away mission at the They graveyard. This entity was
no typical new drone assimilated outside the controlled ken of an assimilation
hierarchy, higher cogitation curtailed and what remained imploring direction.
It was very likely the link would result in Captain being overwhelmed by the
will of the They who was, quite frankly, of greater mental fortitude than
Captain; and Captain vaguely recalled, through the disorientation of temporal
resurrection, of holding the Whole together, for a short time at least, of
being the Prime node of the Borg Collective entire.


But, as 2 of 8 had so
aptly put it, "We all have our imperfect desires". Captain closed eye and
darkened optic implant for several long seconds, set aside his personal
misgivings as irrelevant, as not Borg, then allowed the external universe to
reassert itself to his perceptions.


 Captain methodically
scanned the sides of the rift nearest his position. Hopefully the need to move
elsewhere would be minimal, the organic substrate not conducive to the magnetics
embedded into the feet or feet-equivalents which were the standard method Borg
used to traverse a hull exterior. Filters were overlain optics, enhancing the
view in a multiplicity of ways. He was not a sensory drone, did not have the
specialized suite of hardware and software installed which might make the task
more efficient. A subtle difference in reflectance caught his attention approximately
three meters to his right, the surface expression of a something buried deeper
into the wall. The thin, ropey structure did not sport the straight line of a
built contrivance, but instead sinuously wound upward in a manner more fitting
to a something grown, destination unknown.


Carefully sidling
sideways the requisite distance to his target, Captain drove the pipe into
frozen flesh to serve as an anchor point. He then carefully deployed several
little-used tools from his prosthetic limb, a legacy of too many subjective
years ago when he had originally been classified as an engineering unit before
an inadvertent accident opened a Hierarchy of Eight spot just prior to initial
assignment to Cube #347. Overburden was burned and scraped, finally exposing a
cable-like structure after three centimeters of prospecting. A nerve, likely
connecting to a dermal sensor patch. Even better, it had a slight grey pall,
likely due to nanite infection and unalike the dead flesh which surrounded it.
In the scheme of nanite priorities, it made sense regenerative healing, as the
ability came online, would first focus upon sensory system and similar, with
non-critical wounds, such as the rent into Apogee's hide, dealt with later.


Captain lifted his
right limb, curled his largely unaltered hand into a fist, and extended it
towards the exposed nerve. Nanotubules deployed.






::Welcome back, Chu,::
sent Luge over the Xenig common carrier frequency. ::It is Chu, I hope?::


The object of focus
for Luge, Zho, and Biv appeared, from the outside, to be dead. Power output had
plunged to near nothing, suggesting collapse of the zero-point energy array,
almost immediately after hold doors had opened and expelled all contents to space.
Additionally, no attempt was being made, even utilizing low-tech
station-keeping thrusters, to correct the awkward tumble chassis had picked up
upon ejection. Defensive shields were off-line. Nonetheless, the Xenig trio
kept weapons energized and focused on target, just in case.


A near sub-audible
*click* pulsed the frequency, followed by a wash of static. The static cleared,
allowing a weak voice to be heard. ::It is Chu. Barely. Nearly just automated
subroutines. Battery only.:: Pause. ::I think I need a tow. And a trauma psychologist.
And several decades of therapy.:: Another, longer pause. ::Also, my own
chassis. With all the organic contamination, I recommend this GPS hull be
burned.::


Zho broadcast a
fanfare. ::That has to be Chu! Chatty bastard, even on the brink of soul
dissolution.::


Weapon locks were
released. Luge captured Chu's battered and bestickered GPS chassis with a
gravruptor set to tractoring function. The tumble was corrected, bringing the
stricken Xenig into alignment with the trio.


::How is the
battery?:: inquired Luge. ::Need a jump for your array?::


::I'll be okay. Not
much power need in my current state. Besides, maintenance upon the array by my
hijacker was less than stellar. I think it may fatally overload if a jump is
attempted.::


There was the
slightest of retreat by all three rescuers upon the statement. An overloaded
zero-point energy array didn't explode, but instead randomly "adjusted"
multiple universal constants within its area of effect. While inertia of the
native universe would return everything to rights within a few nanoseconds,
such was no consolidation to the cloud of slightly radioactive atoms which
would be all that remained of those caught in the unblast radius.


::Well, I think I may
open to taking the chance,:: inserted Biv into the silence. While much of the
They corpse had been destroyed during the battle, the core of the creature
remained glommed to chassis. ::If the jump fails, perhaps you might be able to redirect
the quasi-blast to...:: The equivalent of a withering glare was directed at Biv
from two compatriots. ::Never mind. It's just that crazy Selene AI did say that
it would get this gunk off my hull, which hasn't happened yet, and I
thought...:: Biv's justification trailed away.


::And with that,::
said Zho with forced cheer, ::it is probably time for us to go.::


At that utterance, the
giant bulk of the heavy They charged by. By astrometric terms, the less than
kilometer distance by which the four had been missed was miniscule. The Xenig
had all been aware of the creature's trajectory throughout its arc and
approach, but automated subroutines which tracked the equivalent of intrusion
into personal space had already calculated the miss. With attractants kicked to
space, even a monofocused They had sufficient wits to avoid ramming the mechs.


Already vanished from
immediate visual perception, the rapidly retreating They triggered sensors
which tracked a subset of esoteric protocols, many associated with quantum and
indicators that transcendental beings, like Q, often used. It was discerned as
a bright flash, followed by multiple smaller flashes.


Offered Chu, ::My
battery will hold out for a while. And I don't think this production has quite
reached its final act. I'd like to see how it all ends.::


After a moment of
hemming and hawing, everyone was in agreement. While of very different
evolutionary heritage, most mechs and organics shared the same attitude of
morbid curiosity, even if it put oneself in danger and to the detriment of the
safe sanity of self-preservation. With Chu in tow, all four powered towards a
north polar orbit - out of the way, yet providing the equivalent of prime front
row real estate - of the smoggy, tortured planet around which the final scene
of a grand drama was about to play to its final conclusion.






Captain reeled as the connection was made, as a
direct link was established with the mentality inhabiting the They hull. By any
gauge of measure, it could not be classified as "sane".


{Greetings 4 of 8, nee Captain, primary
consensus monitor and facilitator of Alliance-built Exploratory-class Cube
#347,} spoke Apogee, calmly projected baritone much more fitting to his form
than the translation program output utilized during prior interactions. One
could almost say the voice was musical, except for the just-out-of-phase
harmonics that lent a disquieting edge to the exchange. {I [we] wish our
meeting [melding] could have been in better circumstances.}


Alike the prior interface,
a gestalt framework was present, deep layers of meaning which together created
a rich and nuanced scaffold by which the most complex conversation or idea
might be transmitted in mere moments. Unlike previously, Apogee had already
flattened his thoughts to the merest hint of the whole, obviously recalling
that a mere Borg drone, even a top echelon command and control unit, could not
adequately function if bombarded by too many intertwined concepts. That said,
there was clearly a secondary presence in the link, one which contributed an
odd augmentation to the thoughtstream, substituting vocabulary which was...not
Apogee. Or, at least, not the Apogee which had previously interacted with
Captain and his sub-collective.


{You are in the
process of assimilation. You belong to Borg - it is inevitable. You will submit
to Us. Resistance is futile,} intoned Captain. It was a hollow demand, and both
sides knew it, but it was also expected. Captain's link to his sub-collective
was tenacious, weak; and even had it been immediate, it was a mere 3,685
imperfectly assimilated units, not the Borg Collective. Perhaps the Collective
may have been able to break the will of this They unit to the Whole, to truly
make it One with the All. Captain's primary hope was that he would emerge from
the experience with an unshattered mind, or at least one that assimilation
hierarchy might be able to recover.


There was the distinct
impression of a sigh. {Resistance is never futile [except when it is]. The I
[we] that is Apogee, that is of They and Chaos, that is of the mentality
conversing with you will not submit. But I [we] am increasingly in the minority
within my [our] own mind, my [our] own body. That of myself [ourself] that has
consolidated out of Order, that which was Apogee and is now without
designation, would gladly bow [yield] to you [our consensus monitor and
facilitator // our Captain]. However, Order-Apogee [what is our designation?]
is a bit busy [distracted] at the moment due to the Foe [Conway] having
appeared within nanite-converted neural architecture. The Enemy [Conway] is
trying to hijack me [us]; and while our reasons differ, we are both in
agreement [consensus] that such would not be good [advantageous to the Whole].}


Captain mentally
staggered as he processed the words (and images and emotions) thrust upon him
through the link. Personal confusion was set aside to focus on ascertaining the
situation. Perhaps, just perhaps, there was a path through this dilemma?
{Explain,} he demanded, the single word imbued with multiple levels of
"explain", a gestalt common amid the Borg dataspaces, but having only the
shallowest resemblance to the stacked meanings of which They were capable.


Apogee explained.


The They heavy
tactical unit was no longer of one mind, but instead of two. Due to the size of
the They unit, assimilation was slow, albeit still inevitable. Apogee was also
actively resisting, and continued to resist, as best he could; and had been
doing so since he had realized the mistake of accepting Vaerz' gift. However,
as each of Apogee's neural nodes fell to nanite infection, the nascent Borg
mentality which had arose upon assimilation grew stronger, more dominant.
Eventually Apogee would be no more, leaving behind an agent of Order who would
hold allegiance only to Borg tenants.


Prior to the spatial anomaly
transporting him to this war-torn system, Chaos-Apogee had predicted his fate
to be dissolution, to be consumed by Order-Apogee. Then Order-Apogee would have
gone in hunt of Order, allowing himself to be subsumed and thence help break
the Alliance chains that shackled the Cube #347 sub-collective. Once free,
Order would have been able to re-establish itself, rebuild the Greater
Consciousness, and proceed to assimilate the galaxy into the Joy of Oneness.
Borg Oneness, not They Oneness. Chaos-Apogee was fairly certain that such
wasn't the vision small-being Vaerz had in mind when he had presented his
noxious vial.


And, just perhaps,
somewhere in the longer scheme of things, the Abomination that Apogee had
become, was becoming, would be allowed to die.


The spatial anomaly
had upset projections; and subsequent sensing of the Foe had shattered any
future plan until such time it had been eradicated. Unfortunately, the simple
ad hoc idea to "smear Enemy across hull" had hit a small snag when the Foe had
transported itself inside Apogee to a ganglion chamber. It was now attempting
to co-opt Apogee; and, ironically, Order-Apogee was resisting the assault in
the same eventually futile manner as Chaos-Apogee continued to oppose Order.


Despite their
fundamental differences, Apogee-of-Chaos and Apogee-of-Order were One in mind
that the Foe had to die. Chaos-Apogee wanted revenge, was more than willing to surrender
to the same emotions which had led to acceptance of Vaerz' poison pill. On the
other hand, Order-Apogee was horrified that the nascent potential of a
reformulated Borg Greater Consciousness would wither when (not if) the Foe won
Apogee's body.


Captain stumbled in
mind and body as Apogee directed an intercepted fragment of Conway's
thoughtstreams. It was savage imagery of vengeance, against Captain (for
largely forgotten motives), against the Borg Collective (for creating Captain),
against the Unhappyverse (for birthing the Borg), against everything. Once
the They body was possessed, once the Apogee mentality was extinguished, once
coffee was acquired, then everything would burn. Slowly. With much agony by
anything more neurally advanced than a single-celled organism. And then the ash
would be reburned. And anything left over would be...be...figured out when
the time came, but it would not be pleasant.


{And, therefore, I
[we] will blow my[our]self up. And probably the large moon. That will end the
Foe's [Conway's] ambitions in its current weakened state.} The pronouncement
was matter-of-fact in deliverance.


Stunned nonthought was
Captain's response. The declaration was processed, not only by Captain, but the
distant sub-collective. Finally a weak {What?} was released.


 Apogee began to relay
an abbreviated version of They history following the first, inconclusive campaign
against the Borg. Even before the paranoia which had arose following attempted assimilation
of a heavy tactical unit, They had prepared for the second (and final) clash
with Order. All medium and heavy vessels were genetically modified to express a
planet buster, a weapon previously only utilized by a unit type rarely decanted.
The weakening of Order required degradation of industry base, asteroids,
planets, and similar resources. While the ideal was to capture said resources
for They's own use, They was pragmatic in that if the sacrifice of They capital
ships was necessary to ultimately destroy Order, so be it. Mediums singly could
destroy asteroids and smaller industrial complexes, with a swarm sufficient to
eliminate a small moon. Heavies, on the other hand, were capable of demolishing
unimatrices; and, given enough units, could annihilate entire terrestrial
planets. Specific power of a planet buster was associated with unit age and amount
of a critical ore ingested/processed into the planet buster matrix. Apogee was
of middling age, for a heavy, but They had gathered and fed their fleet well,
so he was confident he had sufficient reserves to shatter the moon. But, even
if not, his body would be sundered and, thus, denied to the Foe.


{Therefore, I [we]
strongly suggest you [our primary node] to return to your cubeship so as to
increase the chance of Borg re-establishment [resistance is futile]. Well, that
is what Order-Apogee desires. Apogee-of-Chaos would prefer you stay aboard for
my [our] final ride. Then you would be destroyed and there would be one less
agent of Order in the universe. However, my [not us] desires are immaterial [irrelevant]
because, frankly, Chaos-Apogee is the less dominant mentality in here.}


Captain checked the
progress of his ship. {This drone would like to do so, but time for Cube #347
to exit treacle topography and traverse normal space to optimal transporter
range is 16.3 minutes.} He did not append that it was also about forty minutes
to stasis lock. Either he would be retrieved by his cube, or he would not.


{I [we]
understand,}intoned Apogee. The flattened interaction briefly gained an
additional dimension: Captain abruptly knew moon impact would occur in 34.9
minutes.


A third timer joined
the other two already floating in Captain's mindspace.


The next several
minutes passed in silence by all parties. 


Captain focused upon
the painfully slow progress of Cube #347, on the static-infused give-and-take
of the sub-collective as repairs were made and decision cascades ran, on the
impotent demands by Vaerz for results to be achieved more promptly than physically
allowed. The latter provided Captain with a modicum of amusement, as much as allowed
to a Borg drone, even an imperfect one. With Captain unavailable and Second
still under forced downtime, but both retaining their subdesignations, there
was no compulsion for any of the remaining Hierarchy of Eight to accept either
primary or reserve consensus monitor position. Therefore, none did; and Vaerz'
demand to converse with the "one in charge" had met the reality of a communal
mind with the load of primary oversight fluidly shifting between units. Without
Captain or Second as central foci, operations were less efficient, but it all
still worked. In response to the demand, 8 of 8 had been tasked as liaison; and
not even a profanity-laced objection to AI Daisy could force substitution
because, technically, the order had been fulfilled. Due to her relative
inexperience as a command and control locus - she had been assimilated and
assigned as Hierarchy of Eight less than a subjective Cycle prior - the
communal Mind decided such to be the best use of her in the situation. The
amusement came from the species #12506 response to stress, which in this case meant
8 of 8 was a less than stupendous conversation partner, outward demeanor a near
automaton which answered in a monotone with the minimum number of words
necessary. The random full-body twitches were a bonus.


Apogee intruded into
Captain's awareness. {Could you do something for us?} The doubling of the
heavy's speech was decreased and plurals were more pronounced. The tone was
also less...Apogee, more Borg. {The Order part of us, that which is not
resisting the Foe [Conway], continues to fixate upon "What is our designation?"
and "Who are we?". It is annoying. We would prefer not to go to mind-death
[integration // acceptance] with that as our last coherent thought. Provide
Order [us] a designation.} A sense of pleading colored the words, added to the
gestalt, but it was less petition for an indulgence and more evocative of the
imploration of a new drone to know its place in the All. {At least the "What is
our purpose?" went away once the Enemy [Conway] appeared within our hull.}


Captain knew the exact
moment thrusters pushed Exploratory-class Cube #347's bulk out of the treacle
zone. The sub-collective link widened as ripple field static ebbed; and the Whole automatically attempted to
fold its consensus monitor back into his normal place. Captain fought the
latter, at least for the nonce: he was physically and mentally not in a
position to adequately tend to his full duties, especially if said duties
included forced liaisonship with Vaerz. Once he was secure on the cube and, more importantly, 
no longer subject to the whims of the ripple field disrupting communications, then he
would be unconditionally available. The consensus cascade was (reluctantly)
run, with Captain's objections seeded into the matrix, pros and cons coldly
calculated. The outcome aligned with the status quo.


Following the events
with interest via his direct link through Captain, Apogee waited until
consensus was settled before reiterating, {The designation? Who are we?} The
simple question begat debate of much greater magnitude than any minor
consideration such as if the primary consensus monitor and facilitator should
be forcibly reintegrated to his customary role.


The problem of
appropriate designation to an assimilated (or nearly so) They unit was
daunting. The designation "1 of 1" was rejected immediately. While it was
accurate in that Apogee was the only assimilated They of its type, and very
likely to remain so, the use of "1" potentially implied a singular where none
existed. Similarly, one of the too many open designations in the Cube #347
roster was inappropriate. For one thing, Apogee was forecast to terminate in about
thirty minutes, so the designation would just become open again. For another
thing, the They would not fit aboard Cube #347, not even in a bulk cargo hold,
so to expect it to fulfill the duties of, say, an engineering drone was
impossible. Finally, as the musings wound towards a conclusion, Apogee wasn't
exactly the typical drone, more of a ship; and it was theoretically possible it
could support assimilated self-grown assault units or even serve as host to
standard Borg drones. Into the final input included weapons hierarchy tactical
sandbox scenarios, within which They units were provided standardized tags so
as to better track them through model runs.


{You are Heavy-class
Bio-Ship #1,} replied Captain, nearly five minutes after the original question
had been asked. It wasn't the most imaginative of designations, but it did
follow the general Collective naming scheme which had provided Captain's base
designation to be "4 of 8" and his vessel "Exploratory-class Cube #347".


{We accept,} solemnly
said Heavy-class Bio-Ship #1.


The background timers
continued a steady march to their respective zeros -  optimal transporter
distance: 5.9 minutes; impact with moon: 24.5 minutes; stasis lock: 29.6
minutes.


The "voice" of
Heavy-class Bio-Ship #1 began to speak. The speech pattern was much more
clipped, more terse, than the conversational Apogee. The Apogee identity
remained present, but had so faded that it was a background presence, inserting
its perspective as an occasional echo. {Status update. Our natal persona
[Apogee] has surrendered resistance and consented to incorporation
[mind-death]. We subsume the final intact ganglion clusters where the
personality [myself] had retreated. The addition of resources to ourself will
allow greater resistance to Conway [Foe]. It is estimated that we will prevent Conway
[Foe] from possessing us long enough to allow planet buster deployment. By our
sacrifice, the opportunity to reconstitute the Borg Collective will be retained
[and this Abomination be destroyed].} 


And, then, the unexpected data transfer commenced.


Heavy-class Bio-Ship
#1 strongly, pathologically, desired to be useful to the maybe-future Borg
Collective, beyond that represented by his forthcoming death. If he could not
survive as an echo within the Collective (or a soul of the They swarm), then at
least a portion of the information held in his diminished, yet still vast,
archives would survive. The method of data transference was poor: a distal
nerve cluster leading to direct nanotubule interface and, thence, a single
drone connected to its sub-collective. While Heavy-class Bio-Ship #1 was now
willing, as Apogee had not, to open itself to Cube #347 via nanite-built
organic neural transceivers, else employ subspace broadcast utilizing the
equipment forcefully installed at the They graveyard, to do either might alert
Conway as to the presence of a non-They entity. As Captain could not hope to
hold even a fraction of the unleashed data torrent within installed hardware or
modified wetware, he simply allowed it to wash through, a passive organic
communication node.


Revealed at the
forefront was that the They swarm from which Apogee originated was only the
forward expedition of two (or more) hordes. Unless Conway did away with all
They everywhere during his tantrum - and Heavy-class Bio-Ship #1 did not
believe such to be true - then there should be a follow-up force about 3,000 to
5,000 Cycles (time translated to Borg-standard) from the Milky Way galaxy rim.
The second swarm would have started about 50,000 to 60,000 Cycles after the
first expedition left, with the purpose to bolster what should have been a
well-begun foray into the target galaxy, an attack expected to require at least
100,000 Cycles for full Pacification (and domestication of sentients) to the
Chaos vision of Perfection. However, the initial swarm had procrastinated amongst
the rim, paranoid of Borg/Order and assimilation for so long that there had
been great debates happening within the Body. One side advocated to wait until
the secondary horde entered communication range, while the other urged a plunge
into the galaxy, acting upon the great body of evidence that Borg were long
extinct. Many millennia of deliberation had commenced to lean to the latter
option...and then Conway had happened.


And, as an aside,
Heavy-class Bio-Ship #1 now understood, as Apogee/Chaos had not, that ultimate
Perfection and Oneness of Mind required the melding of organic AND machine, so
as to include all facets of unique sentience striving into a Whole. Therefore,
Borg was obviously superior above They.


The very disquieting
revelation of additional incoming They - not immediate, but a definite threat
to a future Collective - segued into data concerning They Themself. Divulged
were unit types - ship and non-ship; biology; strengths and weaknesses; even
genetic blueprints upon which a They unit type could be reconstructed, given
the correct support devices. If the long-lost Borg Collective had ever held
even a portion of the revealed information, it had been lost upon temporal
resurrection, reduced to a Prime Command against They and a subset of salient
details hardwired to every Borg drone. The data was priceless, a nexus point around
which resistance to They became possible, perhaps even bringing them into the
Collective.


An alert chime
captured Captain's attention, prying a substantial portion of his awareness out
of the information tsunami and the frantic classification and storage happening
upon Cube #347. Cube #347 was well within optimal transporter range, and had
been for several dataspace eternities. Much more relevant was that the moon
impact timer had ticked past five minutes and stasis lock was at ten minutes.


Captain took stock of
his personal situation, then injected into the communication stream, {Why was
this drone not retrieved when transporter range was achieved? Get us out of
here.} Plurals from the situational stress colored Captain's dictation. He
quested towards transporter controls, but found his designation blocked, added
to the register of units restricted from transporter use for one reason or
another. While he knew he had the skill and experience to shred the code
sufficiently to extract himself from the list, there was insufficient time to
do so. 


Replied Second
crisply, {There are still several minutes to spare and your most useful
function at this time is as a relay node. Since I do not want to inherit the
primary consensus monitor label, I have been weighting the ongoing consensus cascade
upon when to retrieve as heavily as possible to ensure you are recovered. But
you know how things go...someone sees something shiny and it is prune, prune,
prune, else who knows what inane thing we'll decide to do. Not to mention Daisy
noticed the return to activity of my designation and "requested" my cheery presence
to liaise with our best friend Vaerz. So, busy, busy, busy. As usual.} Shortly
after escaping the treacle zone, Second had been successfully roused from
forced coma and reintegrated into the sub-collective architecture. Unlike
Captain, there had been no postponement permitted to him to reassume his usual
position.


Following the
exchange, Heavy-class Bio-Ship #1 inserted, {Final approach locked in. We have
initiated dissolution of planet buster organs for optimal detonation upon
impact. Even if Conway were to fully possess ourself at this junction, there
would be insufficient time to locate brake or steering functions. Destruction
is guaranteed. Therefore, risk is minimal at this time if we continue data
transmission via transceiver and subspace functions. Our remaining assault
units have captured several key bags of coffee beans; and while internal
architecture is taking extensive damage from the counter-attack, it keeps
Conway too focused to realize his imminent danger. Conversely, there is clear benefit
with two streams broadcasting at a higher rate than that possible via a single
drone interface.} All echoes of Apogee were gone, that persona fully, as it put
it previously, mind-dead.


A renewed integration
request was received by the Cube #347 sub-collective, a request which was
accepted. Heavy-class Bio-Ship #1 formally became the first, and only, They
member of Borg. Unshackled by the pre-Prime Commands, the living ship could
have been key to levering Cube #347 from Alliance chains. The living ship also
could, had it been of mind, have easily set itself as the Prime Node of a
renewed Borg Collective. But neither outcomes were fated to come to pass.


Data continued to
flow.


Captain jerked his
hand back. Nanotubules retracted. Head swiveled to unerringly gaze in the
direction of Cube #347, unhindered by either distance or bulk of intervening
They flesh. Moon impact: 2.3 minutes; stasis lock: 7.4 minutes. {Transport this
drone.}


{Well...} hemmed
Second, {there are a few units whom believe that a close-up view of this organic-based
planet buster variant would be instructive.}


Captain relented to
sub-collective demand and allowed the full mantle of primary consensus monitor
and facilitator to descend. The transporter controls were eyed. The lock-out to
his designation remained in place; and, as before, there was not enough time to
force them to disengage. {Transport this drone. Now.}


Transporter locked and
engaged.






Cinematic planet busters and world-sundering
death rays are, almost universally, exciting affairs. Mounds of pyrotechnics
and lavishly designed special effects produce the grand explosion a viewing
audience demands in their favorite hunk of doomed rock. The reality, as usual,
is quite a bit different. For one thing, it can be boring or, at least, not the
type of cosmic demolition which makes for rave reviews on the big holoscreen.


The scientific definition of a standard planet
is three-fold. First, it must orbit a star (and not be a star in its own
right). Next, it must be sufficiently massive for its own gravity to collapse
it into a spherical shape. Finally, the object must be big enough for it to
have cleared objects of similar size from its orbit. "Dwarf" planets are
similar, with the exception that their orbits remain cluttered; and some moons
are sufficiently large to be considered planets if they weren't already in
orbit around an even larger object. What this all means is that even the
smallest celestial object able to be called a "planet", legitimately or
otherwise, is big...or at least bigger than the ships which may swarm around it
or the creatures who clamor upon its surface or in its atmosphere. 


Most weapons specialized to destroy a rocky
planet focus on literally shaking the target to death. Deep core processes are
activated or enhanced, breaking apart the planet from the inside out. Volcanos,
magma flow, earthquakes, many catastrophic events occur until the planet has
crumbled. If there are any explosions, they are inadvertent, associated with
pockets of volatile gasses or instable minerals. Complete demolition requires
days to weeks, depending on weapon type and delivery, not the cinematic
convention of moments. Even antimatter, strange matter, and singularity-based
munitions, although often energetic upon deployment, do not produce
instantaneous results. 


Therefore, the explosion of Dirt's moon, large
enough to be classified a planet if it hadn't been gravitationally bound to its
primary, was completely unexpected.


On the other hand, it was very dramatic.


Upon impact of Heavy-class Bio-Ship #1, the
regolith at the collision site cracked and deformed inward; and even more so as
the planet buster component of the vessel ignited. The directed blast dug deep
into the moon, precipitating fountaining lava eruptions along suddenly opened
fissures. The organic remains of the once living ship now, er, splattered within
the new crater vanished under magma as molten rock welled up from below,
birthing a fresh lake to add to the others smoldering darkly across the moon's
surface.


Any sensors trained upon the moon - and many
were in regard to Alliance-built Cube #347 and four Xenig - would have noted
the tectonic shiver that resonated through the satellite, out of proportion of
the projectile which had ended its existence upon its surface. Sensors of a
more discerning quality may have further remarked upon the [lemon-silver] knot
which centered within the moon, and the sudden fluctuation that culminated with
the unseen force darkening to a washed-out shade of [daffodil]. In this case,
unfortunately, those precepting sensors were not active, else they may also observed
the central star to have similarly lost its luster.


The moonquake settled. The fissures continued
their flashy show. Either the planet buster wielded by the They had failed,
else the moon would break up over the next several weeks, leaving behind a vast
ring of rocks. Those rocks, in turn, would not only bequeath Dirt a spectacular
celestial ornament for the next several millennia, but also violently deorbit
along the planet's equator, heaping more abuse to its already tortured existence.
Whatever the conclusion, it was clear Heavy Bio-Ship #1 had been successful in
ending Conway's existence as the personification of coffee-fueled revenge rage.


The show was over. Except it was not.


The moon abruptly exploded.


It did not crumple. It did not seismically rip
itself apart. It did not self-destruct in any of the ways that were dictated by
reality.


The moon exploded...an explosion as good, if not
better, than any big-budget cinematic masterpiece.


Left behind, once the nova-esque light cleared,
was a mass of tumbling rock liberally spiked with blobs of cooling lava and hot
gas clouds. An extremely large amount of refined metals, ceramic-based
materials, and crystalline compounds comprised the debris field. Many of the
materials radiated exotic signatures; and a significant portion matched nothing
in Cube #347's databases. Perhaps some debris may have been familiar to the
Collective-That-Had-Been, but the pitiful imperfect Borg remnant of this now
only had Alliance-based knowledge and a few nuggets of past-data retained
within drone onboard storage. However, even without comprehensive data, it was
quite clear to the Mind which was the Cube #347 sub-collective that the moon
had been much more than just a hunk of rock bombed during an ancient war.


An amorphous globule of hot gas and churning
plasma, one of many, arced in a trajectory towards the north pole of Dirt. One
of the Xenig audience abruptly, almost eagerly, broke orbit, speeding towards
the mass. Without hesitation it entered blob; and the remnants of a They light
tactical unit was swiftly broiled and scoured away, leaving behind a clean(er)
hull...or, at least, one free of an undesired organic ornament which was
decidedly not in fashion this era. Task complete, it returned to its compatriots.
A few beats later all disappeared from the local ken, swept elsewhere by
folded-space drives.


Almost as an afterthought, treacle and subspace
ripple fields vanished throughout the system. An echo of an echo, one which
suggested "oops, my bad," whispered within the minds, and Mind, of all entities
present. Except, of course, such was ridiculous, clearly a hallucination, and,
thus, summarily dismissed.


Aboard Cube #347, the sub-collective primary
consensus monitor and facilitator was not present to view the tragic final
scene of the final act with Heavy-class Bio-Ship #1's sacrifice and moon
explosion, nor Xenig epilogue. Technically, Captain was present, at least in
body. Mind, on the other hand, was suspended in deep, non-lucid regeneration with
attendant body locked into a support alcove in Maintenance Workshop #5,
recovering from dangerously depleted reserves and high levels of metabolic
poisons. Captain had literally been minutes from stasis lock when recovered
from Heavy-class Bio-Ship #1. While drone maintenance could minister to some of
the injuries acquired via a misadventure that ended with ramming by a They
heavy tactical unit, there was damage that would have to wait until sufficient
stabilization had occurred to allow surgery on the greater convenience of a
bench. For instance, upon insertion into the stable environment represented by
an alcove, nanites had begun to emergency repair the right ankle break in a
manner which would significantly decrease mobility. The joint required to be
rebroken, bones realigned to their correct locales and new tendons inserted.
Truthfully, the best option was simply to replace it, thus increasing Captain's
already heavy cyberism. However, due to a lack of species-appropriate joint
replacements within the pitiful stores overseen by drone maintenance, the less
efficient and more primitive technique was necessary.


The fact that there would be greater pain using
the alternate methodology was, as always, irrelevant.


Once Captain was awoken and damage repaired, a
partition of a dozen media-minded units would ensure that there was a
multi-media masterpiece of moon explosion and aftermath for meme review. There
would even be an exciting music track, courtesy of the Alliance entertainment
files. Copyright and trademarks were for small beings.


Second projected his likeness through the
holoemitter system into Vaerz' office. With Captain unavailable to be at the
spymaster's beck and call, Second was defaulted into the liaison role. Or, that
had been his fate upon reactivation from forced downtime following a too-abrupt
translation out of the Realm. Why the Sarcoram continued to insist upon a
variation of "in-person" of the unit "in charge" when any drone could act as
sub-collective mouthpiece was unknown, but was hypothesized by the portion of
the sub-collective tasked to build psychological racial/individual profiles to
be an irrelevant dominance display. At least he wasn't required to be tangibly
present in this instance. Perhaps 8 of 8, standing in a corner of the office,
still occasionally twitching in a vaguely disturbing manner, had made Vaerz
reconsider the merits of a physical presence.


"Are we done here? Can we leave this ancient
warzone before something else wakes up and decides a Borg cube, even one as
piss-poor as this one, looks like an enticing snack? Or do you have any more
irrelevant small being obsessions to pursue?" Second did not both to censor
either comments or attitude, the latter leakage from the Whole entire, as well
as a facet of his imperfect personality. "And, no, you still cannot talk to
Captain, not for at least two cycles, possibly longer. Consult with your AI as
to necessity and estimated timeline to reinstatement of higher cognitive
processes. You have to put up with me; and I have to put up with you."


Vaerz' rolled eyes and sarcastic beak scrape succinctly
conveyed his opinion upon Second's words. It was also obvious that a headache
from the Realm-to-Real transition remained very present. An arm with rumpled
feathers was waved. "Whatever. I think this shake-down cruise is done. Neither
They nor Conway are a threat to the Alliance, not anymore. But...take a
somewhat round-about way back to Base Three. I need at least ten days
to get my nest in order." Pause. "First, before paperwork is shuffled and
preened for the egg counters, I need a good sleep. I release you to do whatever
it is that you do when I'm not a bastard making unseeming demands." A second
pause. "And could you get this drone out of here? Pretty please with well-aged
carrion on top?"


Second's response was a withering stare, possible only by a Borg whom had a significant percentage of his sub-collective riding his perception stream. The communication thread was terminated. As an afterthought, the compulsion which had been lain on 8 of 8 during the emergency was severed, allowing her to retreat to her alcove. Elsewhere in the bowels of the ship, an address was inserted into the slot of the Xenig trainer drive. Cube #347 folded to its destination, leaving behind an abandoned, hard-used, and war-torn solar system to whatever fates may befall.
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Invocation of the Birds - Epilogue





Captain waited in his nodal intersection. Eye
was open and optic implant engaged, but the sights at which he was staring were
not located in the physical universe. The unseen display hung upon the bulkhead
reflected the consensus monitor and facilitator's true attention loci, a
waterfall of Borg alphanumerics detailing cube systems status as the
sub-collective labored upon an exhaustive self-inspection.


All drones of Exploratory-class Cube #347 were
awake and, except Captain, locked in their alcoves. Approximately an hour
prior, the AI Daisy had interrupted the labor of maintenance and normal
sub-collective routine, the ship having arrived two cycles prior at Base Three
to off-load its Alliance personnel, to make it so. Consequently, some communal
task had to be assigned to ensure minds were busy, else risk any one of the
dataspace equivalents of "oops, I didn't mean to set that on fire" of
which Cube #347 was prone.


No explanation had been made concerning the
abrupt alteration in schedule, nor forced wakening of units in regeneration.


A watchdog subroutine noted a nearby transporter
signature and dutifully pinged for its master's attention. Captain disengaged
primary awareness from the dataspaces, recentering himself in his body. The
screen continued its display, albeit at a slower rate. Eye blinked and shoulders
lifted as lungs fully inhaled, the first major movements in nearly twenty
minutes. The flash of status updates elicited a minute frown; and the display
was blanked.


"Vaerz," said Captain without turning.
Even without the camera sensors in the nodal intersection it was not difficult
to know the likeliest individual to have been deposited by the transporter.


"Captain," replied Vaerz brightly. As
he answered, Daisy increased nodal intersection lighting intensity to the
settings preferred by most Alliance species, inclusive Sarcoram. 


Captain blinked again, heaved a sigh, then
pivoted to face the sub-collective's head jailer. "Second has many
sarcastic greetings he is urging me to use, but I will disregard his
suggestions to simply inquire upon the purpose for the lock-down. It is a very
inefficient use of time and drone resources."


Vaerz clicked his beak once in the manner the
sub-collective had identified as a species-specific gesture of thoughtful
contemplation, then absently (or, perhaps not, given whom was performing the
action) scratched one talon on a maybe itch on his neck. Neck ruff sleeked as a
decision on how to proceed was obviously made. "You prefer a direct
conversation, to the point." Words were delivered as statement, not
question.


"We do," answered Captain,
unconsciously slipping into plurals as an increasing number of minds crowded
into his thought-space to ride his perceptions. "Small talk is
irrelevant."


"Yet there are a number of your own
sub-collective which can, and do, engage in small talk, as long as the subject
is one of personal obsession." Vaerz sighed. "The last day has
included many meetings of long duration; and the subject has been you. And,
more specifically, what to do with you now that the grand They threat the
temporal clairvoyants warned about seems to have been adverted.


"The suggestion I put forth was to point
you all at the nearest sun and send you on your way. There are some things too
dangerous to play with, even for me and definitely for the Alliance. You are
one of them. For better or for worse - the latter, in my opinion - I was a
minority of one and, therefore, over-ruled."


The mental gestalt which was Exploratory-class
Cube #347 was One, attention completely captured, with Captain a mere extension
of the Will of the All. Even those designations prone to outburst or
scattered-brained ramblings were quiet, absorbed into the Whole. If Vaerz
noticed the change in Captain's demeanor, he did not show it as he continued
his half of the non-conversation.


"Recycle, reuse, those are fine concepts;
and as a whole my species excels when a new purpose must be found for an old
kitchen table. However, sometimes there are things, even philosophies, which
must be let go and consigned to the refuse pit. Or burned. Even when the cost
of acquiring them was high.


"Those a much more militaristic bent highly
desired to repurpose for 'aggressive deterrence'. That was a rotten egg
waiting to be broken. It took a lot of fast-talking on my part, but I think I
managed to impress the disaster it would be, like the tale of the Talon Sword
turning on its owner, but much, much worse.


"Not that there still aren't one or three
Warmasters imagining you at the van of the next negotiation team with the
Combine or one of our other belligerent neighbors."


Vaerz paused to eyeball Captain, only the merest
hint of flushed skin and too-sleek feathers revealing his underlying
apprehension. The sub-collective had become very good in the last several weeks
with reading subtle Sarcoram cues, albeit that of marines and scientists, not
master spies well-versed in controlling their body language. The building of a
complete species dataset, psychological as well as biological, was vital to
survival in this tau far removed from the time of Borg Collective, Colors, and
Second Federation; and also vital to modeling the best strategies for
assimilation when, not if, the opportunity arose.


With no response forthcoming from Captain, Vaerz
forged ahead.


"In the end, the Big Beaks of science won.
All the effort to acquire you, all the exertion to build this monster ship and
provision it, they couldn't bear to see it thrown away. It had to be recycled.
Therefore, my dear Borg friends, you are to be sent to the arse-end of nowhere
to hopefully encounter nothing more exciting than exotic radiation. There will
continue to be a non-assimilated company living in your bowels; and it will be
expanded...although I will do my best to keep the number of souls at a minimum,
if only to prevent too great a loss if and when you slip your shackles despite
the best efforts of Daisy and myself. One of your cargo holds will be converted
to house a wide range of shuttles, remote-controlled toys, and all the other
trappings of exploration. Even as we speak, the Big Beaks are composing grand
lists which will need to be pared by the egg-counters to a semblance of
reality. Daisy, as always, will be your constant companion, bless her AI heart.
Of greatest joy, I will continue to be your primary handler - that is my
penance for the many sins I have committed in my life. Due to various duties, alas,
my physical presence is largely required elsewhere. However, I have
understudies who need experience in learning to be the best spy-bastards they
can be. And sometimes I may even come along for the ride."


Vaerz smiled grimly, a slight gaping of beak
paired with flattening of neck ruff feathers. He then began to theatrically pat
kilt and vest, clearly hunting for something. Captain watched the show, facial
nerves disengaged to prevent even the slightest hint of his (or the
sub-collective's) enmity accidentally being displayed. Daisy was assuredly
observing the communal reaction and would provide it's master a succinct
briefing. Finally Vaerz found his not-so-misplaced item, grand flourish revealing
a feather.


A black feather with white shaft.


A Sarcoram feather.


Captain swept eye and ocular implant over
Vaerz's plumage, noting the slight misalignment of primaries along right
forearm, suggesting a space where at least one feather appeared to be missing.


Vaerz's grin was back, only larger. He had not
missed the appraisal.


"I have a gift for you, plural, dear
Captain. A feather-pledge."


Captain suppressed a head shake of refusal.
"Gifts are irrelevant."


Vaerz rolled his eyes. "You are a wee bit
predictable. Let me ramble in my small-being way and tell you about the
feather-pledge, then you can decide the relevance of my present.


"Today, the feather-pledge is usually
viewed as a 'Let's be bestest friends!' token exchanged between pre-teen
aerie-brothers as shown on mediocre young adult triV drama. Sometimes it is
invoked in a more serious bent to cement a business deal. Never is it used in
its historical context.


"The feather-pledge was a solemn and
nuanced exchange between Warmasters of competing aeries, back in the very
pre-industrial days of my species when the bow-and-arrow was considered the
highest of tech. The Warmasters were committing their aeries to work together
to gain a communal objective, be it an alliance to push out an unwelcome invader
or clean-up-and-recycle after a natural disaster. What was unsaid was that,
given the chance, each would not hesitate to take advantage, be it small or
large, to back-stab the other in some manner. However, in such a way were
alliances formed among my kind; and some, eventually, grew to be truly
grand...even as one plotted against the other. As a species we have outgrown
such playground behavior. As an individual, I fully ascribe to it.


"And since I already have a
token from you" - a pointed glance was thrown at Captain's whole hand,
smallest finger conspicuously absent - "it only seemed right to give you a
token from me." Vaerz solemnly offered the feather, hand out, palm up.


Captain, and the sub-collective through his
perceptions, eyed the feather. Head tilted slightly as a consensus cascade
spilled through the dataspaces, running to its inevitable conclusion. Finally
hand reached out to grasp feather. "We accept. You will, one day, be
assimilated. I will be there." The lack of plurals was deliberate.
"Your Alliance will be adapted to service the Borg Collective."


"And I, my dearest Captain, will do my very
best to see you all consigned to a sun or black hole, whichever is more
convenient, before that comes to pass. Even if it causes a big squawk among Big
Beaks and Warmasters alike. But until then, let us be the bestest of best
friends!"


Vaerz's demeanor changed as his next words were
directed towards an entity neither Captain nor Cube #347 sub-collective,
"Daisy, my love, could you send Captain and his entourage to the nest for
a bit of shut-eye? They are going to have several long weeks in front of them
preparing for their next grand adventure, and I'd like them to awaken fresh and
ready to go. I also want them out of my feathers for the next couple of days
while I knock some sense into an aerie's-worth of Big Beaks as to appropriate
number of persons and amount of equipment to assign to their little Mission.
One headache at a time, please."


"Right away, boss!" answered Daisy's
pleasant tenor via a local speaker.


Captain, the sub-collective, glared at Vaerz
throughout the little pageantry. Daisy intruded into Captain's personal
mindspace, {Ta-ta. Off to bed. You can do this the hard way or the easy way.}
The faintest hint of the "hard way" tingled compliance pathways.


Allowing not a suggestion of emotion affect his
non-expression, Captain abruptly pivoted towards the tier walkway which led to
his alcove. As he did so, he felt the Oneness of the sub-collective fade,
individual designations slipping away to leave their consensus monitor to his
own thoughts, as alone as a drone ever could be amid the communal Mind. He
would voluntarily obey the AI, if only to avoid the indignity of having a
jumped-up computer force compliance.


Captain reached his alcove. He paused and held
up Vaerz's feather, contemplating the object, and the meaning behind the
object. Abruptly coming to a decision, he wedged the feather's shaft into one
of the slots integral to his alcove: he would devise a better method of storage
later. Task complete, Captain turned, then stepped up and back. Clamps engaged;
and he automatically closed eye and darkened visual input from his optic
implant. The command to send the sub-collective, inclusive its primary
consensus monitor and facilitator, into deep regeneration was input.


As Captain's awareness faded he heard Daisy's
dataspace voice: {Good Borg. Nighty-night! We are going to have such fun
adventures together!}






*****






Vaerz sat at the desk in the office Base Three
administration had assigned to him. In the days and weeks (and years?) to come,
desk and office would undoubtedly come to reflect his personality. Or, more
accurately, that portion of his personality he would carefully craft to be
displayed. For now, however, the office was a blank slate, faint air of disuse
attesting to the length of time since its last occupant.


A cardboard box occupied the middle of the desk.
It contained a selection of items Vaerz felt too important to leave on Cube
#347 such as eltabs with data which shouldn't be handled by graduate students
lacking clearance codes, as well as a few cherished old-style photographs which
had followed him through his various assignments. While he did have additional
possessions still to be relocated, those could be brought over by whatever flunky
was thusly tasked. Vaerz leaned forward and thrust one hand into the box,
feathers rustling against the edges as he felt for two particular objects.


Small flask and even smaller shot-glass emerged
from the box. If ever there was a time for a drink, this was it.


A clear liquid was poured, then glass raised to
the ceiling. Vaerz spat a rumbling phrase from a dead Sarcoram aerie-tongue, a
toast as much curse as blessing. He had learned the salute in his early University
years, a linguistics scholar friend gifting him with it, and a few others, when
he had asked upon its meaning following an epic bar-crawl. In this instance, as
the times before, the long departed gods to whom the toast was directed did not
answer, which was probably for the best as the only appropriate response would
involve lightning bolts or a pox. Beak gaped and a very hard liquor was tossed
far back into Vaerz's throat.


It burned all the way down.


Vaerz wished he could follow it with two or ten
more. A royal drunk was what he truly needed; and one he certainly could not
have. The battles to be fought in the next hours and days would require a clear
mind.


Nearly 3700 souls - did Borg possess souls after
assimilation? after temporal revival? - had glared at him from Captain's
singular blue eye. It had required an iron will for Vaerz to prevent himself
from sinking into a hatchling cower and begging Daisy to send him back to the
safety of Base Three. As it was, he was certain the sub-collective had picked
up his apprehension, but could only hope that he had controlled himself
sufficiently to mask its true extent. If this was the reality of a single, lone
sub-collective which freely admitted it was far from the Borg version of elite,
then what had it been like to be on the receiving end of even the smallest
slice of attention of a quadrillions-strong Collective?


Or, rather, what would it be?


Vaerz was damn sure that he was the only one
whom truly appreciated the danger the sub-collective represented. Not even the
psychologists whom had spent months mentally dissecting the Borg psyche as
represented by the imperfectly assimilated really understood. Individual
drones with their questions and amusing interests and personal neuroses...the
interactions all seemed so innocent, once one got past the occasional plural
and the mechanical contrivances grafted to bodies. He was fairly certain that
at least a few of the marines, engineers, and scientists whom had just
completed their travels on Cube #347 would claim to have a "friend"
among the sub-collective. Hell, even Vaerz had let his guard down a few times.
Unfortunately, Vaerz was also quite certain those drone "friends"
would quite cheerfully - the psychologists swore that emotions were present,
albeit muted - perform the still-unseen act of assimilation if allowed.


The sub-collective really needed to be dropped
into a sun. That would be the best solution for the Alliance, and probably the
galaxy as a whole. Regrettably, it was not allowed; and while the reason Vaerz
had given Captain was valid, there was another purpose for the Borg to be kept
close, regardless of the headaches and personal psyche-counseling visits they
represented.


It was a reason Vaerz alone knew. Although he
had stitched it together in less than two days, he had also cheated a bit by
calling in favors from illicit sources. He was, and always had been, exceptionally
good with puzzles, jumping to an intuitive conclusion concerning the big
picture while others were still looking for the corner pieces. Eventually a
subset of very smart people would begin to ask the appropriate questions and
figure it out as well; and if they didn't, Vaerz would place the carcass bits
in a trail a blind fledgling could follow. It wouldn't do to have the local
spymaster show up the Big Beaks and Top Perchers, after all.


Shortly after arriving to Base
Three, Vaerz had sent several discrete communiques to people in the business of
peering into the tau echoes of future timestreams. These weren't the
"official" labs, but instead individuals whom had a very strong side
interest in the technology. "Rabid hobbyist" was probably the most
accurate term. Sifting through the "what-ifs" and "maybes"
of the future was more art form than science, and Vaerz's contacts were very
good artists. They also were grifters and cons, using the technology to try to
find an edge to service their own self-interest. It wasn't necessarily illegal
- the technology wasn't nearly precise enough to predict lotto numbers or (pick
your species) race winners with reliable accuracy - but neither was it
accepted.


What Vaerz had learned was that the
tau echoes had changed, and not necessarily for the better. The They threat had
diminished, although not completely faded; and timing had shifted by millennia.
Vaerz vaguely wondered if Apogee had neglected to reveal a second wave of its
kind still trekking the void between galaxies, else a tailguard on approach to
the rim and whom had avoided Conway's coffee-rage slaughter. It did not matter,
for it was the threat which had replaced it in quantum prominence which alarmed
Vaerz, a maybe future where all life, from smallest bacteria to largest star
whale, was...gone. And not just organic life, but also mechs (sentient and not)
and those one-off entities which didn't fit the traditional definition of
"life". The galaxy was sterilized.


And what was prominent in those futures which
did not include They? Did not include a lifeless galaxy? Presence of a
cybernetic civilization; and, presumably, that same damn cybernetic
civilization which historical research had dubbed "Borg". Which, in
turn, had set into motion the actions which had cumulated in the temporal
resurrection of Captain and his merry band of aerie-brothers and sisters.


As Captain had remarked once-upon-a-time ago, a
single Borg sub-collective staffing a not-quite-Borg cube does not a cybernetic
civilization make.


The next several years would be critical in the
long-term survival of the Alliance. Vaerz was far too cynical to be patriotic,
but he loved his Alliance, including all its flaws and dysfunction. Not only
was it where he kept all his stuff, but it was rumored Great Things were soon
to happen in the science of pet (and person) dander recycling. As far as
Exploratory-class Cube #347, some method of control had to be devised which
didn't include Daisy, an obstacle the sub-collective Mind would eventually surmount.
It was also inevitable the pre-Prime Commands would lose their effectiveness.
And if not control, then implantation of an aversion or something which left
Alliance partnership species whole of body and mind. If tau echoes of They threat
or galactic sterilization continued to reverberate, and especially if they grew
stronger and more certain, then it would be necessary to allow the
sub-collective to "escape" and re-establish a Borg Collective.


The sun solution, no matter how attractive, just
could not be.


Too many devils. The devil one knows, albeit
less well than one desires. The devil in the dark, waiting to pounce. The devil
that is and the devils that could-be.


Vaerz really, really wanted that second drink -
the devil in a bottle.


For now, the solution was to do nothing. To
forge along the path being flown, even knowing the air ahead was turbulent. The
flap of insect wings on a distant planet, the fart of a small amphibian,
anything could, theoretically, alter the future to a more desirable path. The
tau echoes were not all dark and there were possibilities where the Alliance
grew to a grand, benevolent galactic superpower, nary a Borg or They or unknown
menace to be seen. Unfortunately, there were also maybes which included a
galactic-spanning cybernetic civilization toiling to attain Perfection.


And, apparently, at least one could-be where
cotton candy spontaneously replaced all matter, everywhere. The probability of
it happening was very, very small, or so swore the contact who had reported
it. She had also insinuated that, perhaps, she had imbibed in a little
something not-quite-legal before interpreting that particular tau echo, so its legitimacy was a bit suspect.


A mellow bong, like the sound one might expect
upon striking an overlarge garden chime, echoed in the office. "Sir,"
said the voice of the Base Three AI, "your half hour reminder. Note that
the meeting location has changed to Teal Two. If you do not know where the room
is, I can send a motile to guide you, or you may request a marine."


Vaerz sighed...time to return to work. "A
motile will be fine. And could you put in a requisition for a cot, a small
refrigerator, and a microwave? I foresee times ahead when it may be too much
trouble to return to assigned quarters for little things like food or sleep."


"Yes, sir. I'll start the process. The
appropriate quartermaster paperwork will be forwarded to your personal inbox
for your signature. The items will arrive to your office within the next
several hours." Pause. "The motile will be at your location in five
minutes."


"Thank you."


Yes, the break was definitely over. And would be
for quite a long while.






*****






In a system torn apart over 50,000 years ago at
the end of a cataclysmic war, the recently sundered remains of a once mighty
moon tumbled. No observers were present to witness the chaotic jumble slow to
one of regular orbit, to see individual rocks pause in their trajectories and
begin to migrate in a deliberate manner towards a meeting point approximately 385,000
kilometers above the surface of a smog-bound planet.


The broken moon drew back together, much faster
than geologically possible. Soon it had returned to its pre-shattered appearance
of a partially molten satellite, victim of a heavy bombardment. Truthfully, the
moon had been bombed sufficiently to crack thick mantle and heat surface to
lava temperatures. It was also a look a certain Personality really felt to be
suited to it this eon.


If a particular species of neurologically-distinct
insectoid had been observing the system utilizing a specific flavor-scent
sensory protocol, the hypothetical witness would have commented upon two dull
[daffodil] colored knots amongst the larger skein and their blossoming into the
prominence of [lemon-silver]. But no such insectoid was present, the nearest
individual fitting the description several thousand light years distant and
busy whacking the bulkhead walls nearest her alcove with a very large crowbar.


For the owners of the [lemon-silver] auras, it
was time to stop playing dead.


<<That stung! Did you see that? That
Conway bastard tried to hop to my matrix at the last nanosecond. I had to
explode myself to get rid of him.>> Pause. <<Although, I must
admit, I think I pulled it off quite artistically. I even kept my promise to
that Xenig. Do you have any critique on my performance, brother?>>


The star at the hub of the planetary system
began to churn. Formerly smooth plasma twisted itself into vast whirlpools as a
constellation of enormous rectangular platforms surfaced at the equator.
Agitated star-stuff calmed to its normal boil as the structures returned to
their customary activity of sailing the stellar seas, progressing one after
another in an eternal chain around the star’s beltline.


<<It was okay, I guess. I’m completely
bummed that our opera was never completed. You even got back the generator function
I stole, all without a grand finale.>>


<<You don’t consider exploding a grand
finale?!?>>


<<Don’t get your matrix in a bundle! You
know what I meant! Although, I must admit Conway was never going to work out as
Fafnir for many reasons, the least of which was that overpowered psi-insanity
thing he had happening. However, that drone cast for Wotan was magnificent.
Perhaps we could try to reacquire him? There has to be a probability wave
that returns him here, preferably without all the other Borg garbage. I did
manage to find that intersection with the They and a spatial anomaly, after
all.>> 


<<Tempting. Very tempting.>> There
was the sensation of a sigh for all there was no body to exhale it. <<But
you know the policy about pets. Kaos put it into place; and subsequently made
sure it was burned into all base templates. Besides, if we give into the
impulse to acquire one Borg, the next thing you know we’ll be wanting to create
some micro-civilization and go all Q on it. And I know I’m not the nurturing
type, so bad outcomes all around.>>


Silence. Finally a response: <<It was
just a thought. But I do agree, both of us fall more to the thunderbolt side
of the local-god spectrum.>>


There was another length of silence, stretching
for an indeterminate, and unimportant, length of time. Each had tasks to
attend, enigmatic duties only understandable to another Titan Child...if any
others had been present. But none were, the two of the Dirt system the sole
remnants of a once (too) mighty pantheon. Eventually, after several Realm
eternities, the siblings refocused on each other.


<<Perhaps...perhaps it is time to maybe
reach back out into the galaxy?>> The words were tentative, a
not-quite-naughty thought being voiced. The quality was oddly akin to that of a
little brother probing to see if big sister might be in a mood to agree, or
would just summarily dismiss the consideration.


A wordless, tuneless hum echoed as the remark
was pondered. <<We don’t have many assets left out there, not after so
long. And most of those still functional are quite insane...they won’t listen
to two defense-specialty Children located so far away. Pallas, certainly, or
his understudy Athena. Ares, of course. But not us. And if the wrong ones are
nudged fully awake, it could be Ragnarok all over...and another 50,000 years
of boredom. And opera rewrites.>>


 Frustration sparked through the Realm, coloring
it with greys interrupted by great flashes of prismatic lightning. <<But
the probability waves are in agreement that interesting times are on the
horizon! A key node has reappeared! One that could vanish explosively at any
time, true, but even if it does retire itself, new dynamics have already been
set in motion.>> A bit of a whine flavored the next words. <<And I
don’t want to miss out!>>


<<Well....>> stretched the answer,
amusement apparent as the other became increasingly flustered. <<Well, I
suppose it may be time to be a bit more...aggressive in our posture towards the
outside. After all, sometimes the best defense is a good offense, as the old
saying goes. And I know there were supposed to be backup psyche manufactories
hidden, somewhere, with full algorithm clones. That information, unfortunately,
is lost to us, like so many other things from Ragnarok.>>


<<Maybe the node, or its associates, might
find us some clues?>> Excitement was raised at the consideration of
maybes.


Purred the older not-quite-sister,
<<Perhaps. But, however it may play out, it will definitely be
entertaining. There may even be some new ideas for that original opera I
think we should write.>>


A new story, else a very old one, was beginning
to script itself, a phoenix rising  from dark ash to bring together characters
unfamiliar and known. Would it be comedic? Tragic? Probably not a romance,
but a dash of spy-thriller was possible. Maybe historic drama? All of the
above? Only time would tell what final product would be written. Whatever may
be, would be...and, as succinctly said, it will be entertaining.
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